# Washington University in St. Louis Washington University Open Scholarship

All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs)

Summer 8-22-2013

# Gravitational Waves and Inspiraling Compact Binaries in Alternative Theories of Gravity

Saeed Mirshekari Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

Mirshekari, Saeed, "Gravitational Waves and Inspiraling Compact Binaries in Alternative Theories of Gravity" (2013). *All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs)*. 1151. https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/etd/1151

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs) by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

# WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

# Department of Physics

Dissertation Examination Committee: Clifford M. Will, Chair James H. Buckley Ram Cowsik Francesc Ferrer Henric Krawczynski Sándor J. Kovács Xiang Tang

# Gravitational Waves and Inspiraling Compact Binaries in Alternative Theories of Gravity

by Saeed Mirshekari

A dissertation presented to the Graduate School of Art and Sciences of Washington University in St. Louis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy** 

> St. Louis, Missouri August 2013

©2013, Saeed Mirshekari All Rights Reserved

# Contents

List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	xi
Acknowledgements	xiii
Abstract	xvii
Part I: Foundations	1
Chapter 1. Fundamental Theory of Gravity	3
1.1 From Newtonian Gravity to Einstein's General Relativity	3
1.2 General Relativity in a Nutshell	4
1.3 Alternative Theories of Gravity	6
1.3.1 Scalar-Tensor Theories	7
1.3.2 Massive Graviton Theories and Lorentz Violation	8
1.4 Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory as a Powerful Tool	10
Chapter 2. Tests of Gravitational Theories	11
2.1 The Classical and SEP Tests	11
2.1.1 The Classical Tests	11
2.1.2 Tests of the Strong Equivalence Principle	15
2.2 Gravitational-Wave Tests	17
2.2.1 Speed of Gravitational Waves	18
2.2.2 Polarization of Gravitational Waves	19
2.2.3 Gravitational Radiation Back-Reaction	21
2.3 Other Tests and Summarizing the Experimental Results	23

 $\mathbf{25}$ 

3.1	Gener	ation and Propagation
3.2	Source	es of Gravitational Waves
	3.2.1	Compact Binary Systems and Prospects for Detection 29
3.3	Detect	tion and Data Analysis
	3.3.1	Basics of Interferometer Detectors
	3.3.2	Interferometric Detection on the Earth
	3.3.3	Space-Based Detectors
	3.3.4	Pulsar Timing Arrays
	3.3.5	Data Analysis

## Part II: Methods

39

Chapte	er 4. Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory	<b>41</b>
4.1	The Newtonian Limit	42
4.2	Post-Newtonian Bookkeeping	43
4.3	The Most General Post-Newtonian Metric	46
4.4	The PPN Parameters and Their Significance	48
4.5	Post-Newtonian Limits of Alternative Metric Theories	49
4.6	Equations of Motion in the PPN Formalism	51
Chapte	er 5. DIRE: Direct Integration of Relaxed Einstein Equations	53
5.1	Foundations of DIRE	53
	5.1.1 The Relaxed Einstein Equations	53
	5.1.2 Source, Near Zone and Radiation Zone	56
	5.1.3 Iteration of the Relaxed Einstein Equations	61
5.2	Formal Structure of Near Zone Fields and Expansion to Higher PN Orders	62
5.3	Conversion to the Baryon Density $\rho^*$ and Equations of Motion in Terms of Potentials	68
5.4	Two-Body Equations of Motion	71
5.5	Relative Equations of Motion	73
Chapte	er 6. Parameter Estimation	75
6.1	Gravitational-Wave Data Analysis	75
6.2	Matched Filtering: Theory	78
6.3	Matched Filtering to Parameter Estimation: An Example	81
Part I	II: Motion and Gravitational Radiation in Scalar-Tensor Gravity	85
Chapte	er 7. Introduction and Basics	87
7.1	Introduction	87
7.2	An Overview	89
7.3	Foundations: Relaxed Field Equations	94
	7.3.1 Field equations and equations of motion	94
	7.3.2 Relaxed field equations in scalar-tensor gravity	95

#### Contents

Chapte	er 8. Formal Structure and Expansion of The Near-Zone Fields	99
8.1	Formal Structure of The Near-Zone Fields	99
8.2	Expansion of Near-Zone Fields to 2.5PN Order	102
	8.2.1 Newtonian, 1PN and 1.5PN solutions	103
	8.2.2 2PN and 2.5PN solutions	105
Chapte	er 9. Matter Source and Equations of motion	109
9.1	Energy-Momentum Tensor and The Conserved Density	109
9.2	Equations of Motion in Terms of Potentials	114
Chapte	er 10. Equations of Motion for Two Compact Objects	119
10.1	Conservative 1PN and 2PN Terms	119
10.2	Radiation-Reaction Terms	122
10.3	Relative Equation of Motion	123
10.4	Energy Loss Rate	125
Chapte	er 11. Discussion	129
11.1	General Remarks and Comparison with Other Results	129
11.2	Weakly Self-Gravitating Systems	131
11.3	Binary Black Holes	132
11.4	Black-Hole Neutron-Star Binary Systems	134
Part I with C	V: Constraining Lorentz-Violating, Modified Dispersion Relation Gravitational Waves	s 137
Chapte	er 12. Introduction and Foundations	139
12.1	Introduction	139
12.2	An Overview	142
Chapte	er 13. Gravitational Waves in Lorentz-Violating Gravity	145
13.1	The Speed of Gravitational Waves	145
	13.1.1 Massive Graviton Theories	145
	13.1.2 Lorentz-Violating Theories	146
13.2	Propagation of Gravitational Waves	147
13.3	Modified Waveform in the Stationary Phase Approximation	149
13.4	Connection with the PPE Framework	152
Chapte	er 14. Parameter Estimation in Lorentz-Violating Gravity	155
14.1	Fisher-Matrix Parameter Estimation Method	155
14.2	Detector Spectral Noise Densities	157
14.3	Results	158
14.4	Conclusions and Discussion	163

APPENDICES	167
Appendix A. Evaluations	169
A.1 Basic Facts	169
A.2 Multipole Moments for Two-Body Systems	173
A.3 Phase of the Gravitational Waveform to 3.5PN order	174
Appendix B. Calculations	175
B.1 Sample Derivations and Evaluations	175
B.1.1 Integration of 1PN potentials	175
B.1.2 Integration of 2PN potentials - part I	176
B.1.3 Integration of 2PN potentials - part II	177
B.1.4 Integration of 2PN potentials - part III	179
B.2 Results of Integration of 2PN Potentials	181
Bibliography	197

# List of Figures

2.1	Geometry of light-deflection measurements.	13
2.2	Path of a light signal from a far source star to Earth in presence of the Sun's	
	gravitational field, predicted by Newtonian gravity and general relativity. The	
	deflection of light in general relativity is twice what Newtonian gravity predicts	13
2.3	Schematic configuration for measuring the time delay effect. It takes longer for	
	a light signal to do a round trip from Earth to another planet in the presence of	
	the gravitational field of the Sun. The number of arrows is inversely proportional	
	to the local time delay of light.	14
2.4	The six polarization modes of a weak, plane gravitational wave permitted in any	
	metric theory of gravity. Shown is the displacement that each mode induces on	
	a ring of test particles (gray, dotted circle). We assume that the wave always	
	propagates in the $+z$ direction and has time dependence $\cos \omega t$ . In (a), (b), (c)	
	the wave propagates out of the plane; in (d), (e), (f), the wave propagates in	
	the plane. The red, solid line is a snapshot at $\omega t = 0$ while the gray, dotted	
	line and the green, dashed line are two snapshots at $\omega t = \pi/2$ and $\omega t = \pi$ ,	
	respectively. There is no displacement perpendicular to the plane of the figure.	
	in general relativity, (a) and (b) are the only possible polarizations; in massless	20
	scalar-tensor gravity, (c) may also be present [205]	20
3.1	Schematic diagram of how gravitational waves interact with test particles on a	
	ring. The quadrupole nature of the interaction can be clearly seen. The direction	
	of the gravitational wave is perpendicular to the page. In the middle panel, the	
	arms of an interferometer are shown.	27
3.2	Predicted signal strengths for a number of possible gravitational-wave sources.	
	Different sources emit gravitational radiation in different ranges of frequency.	
	Ground-based detectors are unable to detect low frequency waves ( $<$ a few Hz)	
	while space-based detectors have this ability [146].	29
3.3	Phase evolution of a compact binary system: inspiral, merger, and ringdown.	
	[picture credit: Kip Thorne]	30

3.4	Schematic of an interferometer gravitational-wave detector such as LIGO. Left panel shows a top-view of a simple interferometer while the right panel shows a side-view with more details in an actual interferometric gravitational-wave detector.	32
3.5	Antenna response pattern for a Michelson interferometer in the long-wavelength approximation. The interferometer beamsplitter is located at the center of each pattern, and the thick black lines indicate the orientation of the interferometer arms. The distance from a point of the plot surface to the center of the pattern is a measure of the gravitational wave sensitivity in this direction. The pattern on the left is for $+$ polarization, the middle pattern is for $\times$ polarization, and the	0.0
3.6	right-most one is for unpolarized waves [1]. Sensitivity curves of different generations of interferometric ground-based detec- tors. The sensitivity curve of space-based LISA in low frequencies is also shown for comparison [9].	33
3.7	Schematic diagram of proposed initial-LISA and its orbit about the sun. LISA was consisting of an array of three drag free spacecraft at the vertices of an equilateral triangle of length of side $5 \times 10^6$ km. This cluster is placed in an Earth-like orbit at a distance of 1 AU from the Sun, and 20 degrees behind the Earth as shown.	36
5.1	Position of two compact objects $(m_1, m_2)$ at $\mathbf{x}_1$ and $\mathbf{x}_2$ relative to the coordinate origin, orbiting in quasi-circular orbits around the center of mass of the binary system with velocities $\mathbf{v}_1$ and $\mathbf{v}_2$ , respectively. The vector $\mathbf{x}$ indicates the position of field point relative to the origin. The origin is chosen to be at the center of mass; $r$ is the distance between the masses and $R$ is defined to be the distance between the field point and the center of mass.	57
5.2	Near-zone and far-zone. At one wavelength $(\lambda)$ away from the source, $\mathcal{R}$ divides the spacetime around the binary system to two regions: near-zone $(R < \mathcal{R})$ and far-zone $(R > \mathcal{R})$ . We treat the field points in different zones a bit differently but in the end, the final result must be independent of $\mathcal{R}$ . The quantity $\mathcal{S}$ represents	
5.3	the radial size of the source. Past null cone of a field point. This figure illustrates in 2D how the integration over the whole spacetime for a field point at $(t, \mathbf{x})$ (see Eq.5.14) reduces to integration only on the past null cone of that particular field point.	58 58
5.4	Intersectional regions in 3D. Past harmonic null cone $C$ of the field point $(t, \mathbf{x})$ intersects the near-zone world tube $D$ in the hypersurface $N$ . In the left panel the field point is inside the near-zone while in the right panel the field point is in the far-zone. Region $C - N$ indicates a part of the past null cone that is in far-zone.	
5.5	World tube $\mathcal{T}$ presents the source-zone	60 60
5.6	Iteration Procedure. A simple, algorithmic illustration to show how the method of iteration works to solve the relaxed Einstein field equations in higher post- Newtonian orders by using the lower order solutions.	61
5.7	Illustration of $m$ , $\rho^*$ , and $j$ . $\rho^* = dm/dV$ is the amount of $m$ per unit volume (in the box), $j = \rho^* v$ represents the flux and $m$ is the mass carried by a baryonic particle.	69

6.1	A schematic illustration of different gravitational-wave sources in terms of dura- tion and our knowledge about the waveform [204]. Gray area shows where we can use matched filtering technique with no problem.	78
11.1	For three different combinations of neutron-stars and black-holes in a binary sys- tem, this figure shows how the equations of motion can be able to distinguish between general relativity, Brans-Dicke theory, and general scalar-tensor theories of gravity. In the case of BH-BH all three theories are indistinguishable. For a BH-NS binary, the equations of motion in Brans-Dicke theory and general scalar- tensor theories are equivalent but both differ from GR. A binary system of two neutron-star is the only case where GR, BD, and ST each gives different equations of motion.	136
12.1	Event A is emission of a gravitational-wave signal from an inspiralling binary source with the wavelength of $\lambda_A$ . We detect this signal at A'. After $\Delta t_e$ another signal is emitted by the same source at point B in the spacetime, at a time closer to the merger. The wavelength of this signal, $\lambda_B$ , is shorter therefore it travels faster than the first signal. We detect this second signal at B'. Notice that $\Delta t_e > \Delta t_a \dots \dots$	140
14.1	ET spectral noise density curves for the classic design (dotted) and the new design	
14.9	(solid)	158
14.2	NGO design (solid).	159
14.3	Bounds on the parameter $\zeta$ for different values of $\alpha$ , using AdLIGO and $\rho = 10$ . Vertical lines at $\alpha = (0, 2)$ show where the $\zeta$ correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for systems with different masses	160
14.4	Bounds on the parameter $\zeta$ for different values of $\alpha$ , using ET and $\rho = 50$ . Vertical lines at $\alpha = (0, 2)$ show where the $\zeta$ correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for systems with different masses	161
14.5	Bounds on the parameter $\zeta$ for different values of $\alpha$ , using NGO and $\rho = 100$ . Vertical lines at $\alpha = (0, 2)$ show where the $\zeta$ correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for	101
14.6	systems with different masses	161
14.0	bounds on $\lambda_g$ as a function of $\eta$ for different total masses. This is for Ad. LIGO, with the SNR of $\rho = 10$ and assuming alternative theories in which $\alpha = 3$ .	163
14.7	Bounds on $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$ as a function of $\eta$ for different total masses. This is for Ad. LIGO, with the SNR of $\rho = 10$ and assuming alternative theories in which $\alpha = 3$	164
A.1	A shematic configuration of an inspiralling compact binary system and the related integral variables	169

# List of Tables

1.1	The PPN parameters and their physical significance are shown. Semi-conservative and fully-conservative theories of gravity are two different classes of theories. In the fully-conservative class the four-angular-momentum $J^{\mu\nu}$ and the four-linear- momentum $P^{\mu}$ are both conserved while in semi-conservative theories only $P^{\mu}$ is conserved. In fully-conservative theories of gravity $\gamma$ , $\beta$ , and $\xi$ are the only PN parameters of the theory. [265]	10
2.1	Multipole gravitational radiation parameters in general relativity and Brans-Dicke theory. A complete list of these parameters in other alternative theories of gravity can be found in Table 10.2 of TEGP [265]	22
2.2	Current limits on the PPN parameters. Here $\eta_N$ is a combination of the PPN parameters as given in Eqs. (2.8) [269].	24
4.1	The values of the PPN parameters for general relativity and scalar-tensor theories including Brans-Dicke theory.	51
7.1	Parameters used in the equations of motion at Newtonian, 1PN, and 2PN orders.	92
11.1	Dictionary of parameters used in the equations of motion. DEF refers to Ref. [84, 85]; TEGP refers to Sec. 11.3 of Ref. [265]; PPN refers to the parametrized post-Newtonian limit of weakly gravitating bodies	130
12.1	Accuracy to which graviton mass and the Lorentz-violating parameter $\mathbb{A}$ could be constrained for the $\alpha = 3$ case, given a gravitational-wave detection consis- tent with GR. The first column lists the masses of the objects considered, the instrument analyzed and the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)	142

14.1 Root-mean-squared errors for source parameters, the corresponding bounds on  $\lambda_g$  and  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$ , and the correlation coefficients, for the case  $\alpha = 3$  and for systems with different masses in units of  $M_{\odot}$ . The top cluster uses the Ad. LIGO  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 10, \lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{12}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-16}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in msecs. The middle cluster uses the ET  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 50, \lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{13}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-15}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in secs. The bottom cluster uses a NGO  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 100, \lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{15}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-10}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in secs. 162

# Acknowledgements

Since I started my journey in the field of theoretical physics until today, there have been many people from several universities and institutes who have had undeniable effects on my career and have made all the work presented in this dissertation possible. I want to take this opportunity to acknowledge some of them. I would like to thank the Physics Department at University of Tehran and Washington University in St. Louis for their great undergraduate and graduate programs, specially for their advanced courses on gravitation and astrophysics. I would also like to thank McDonnell Center for the Space Sciences in Washington University for their strong support. I am very thankful to the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Institute d'astrophysique de Paris, and the University of Florida for their hospitality during working on parts of this dissertation. This research was supported in part by the National Science Foundation, Grant Nos. PHY 09-65133 and 12-60995.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my PhD advisor for critically reading this dissertation and for his extremely helpful comments. It was a great pleasure for me to have *Clifford Will* as my advisor during my doctoral studies since Spring 2009. Here I could —and probably should— acknowledge him for all those many unique and precious lessons he gave me, but I keep it short by saying that people like Cliff, make me have a strong faith in a brighter future for science and humanity. I look at him as a role model and I hope some day I could contribute to the scientific community just as he does. I know this won't be easy, but that is my goal.

I also have to greatly thank *Nicolas Yunes*, who has been a collaborator on a part of this dissertation. His advices and comments were always constructive and to the point. I would also like to thank *Frances Ferrer* and *K. G. Arun* for helpful discussions and acknowledge *Leo Stein* for his help in streamlining our Mathematica code. My thanks and appreciations also go to *Emanuele Berti* and *Michael Horbatsch* for their essential argument on a part of this work.

Alongside my advisor, who taught me a great deal of what I know in the field of gravitation, I would like to thank all of my teachers and professors. My first thanks go to my high-school physics teacher *H. Doroodian* for an excellent first impression he gave me into physics. I still keep the Halliday-Resnick book translated in Farsi which I got from him as an award in one of his classes. The same gratitude goes to all my teachers and professors in University of Tehran and Washington University in St. Louis, which I was very fortunate to be a student of them; I would like to thank *Amir M. Abbassi, Mark Alford, Carl Bender, Claude Bernard, Anders Carlsson, Ram Cowsik, Jonathan Katz, Hamid R. Moshfegh*, and *Wai-Mo Suen*, to name a few. As a graduate student in Washington University in St. Louis I had the chance to visit several other universities and research institutes and interact with many excellent professors and researchers in my field of research. I would like to take this opportunity to thank *Scott Hughes* for his hospitality and the great conversation that we had during my visit at MIT in Spring 2011. I need to thank *Luc Blanchet* at Institut d'astrophysique de Paris for his hospitality and helpful discussions. From the same institute I thank *Roya Mohayaee*, and *Jacques Colin* for making me feel at home during my stay in Paris in the summer of 2012. I am thankful for invitations of *Reza Mansouri* at IPM, *Mohammad Nouri-Zonoz* at University of Tehran, and *Sohrab Rahvar* at Sharif University of Technology that gave me the opportunity to present parts of this work and interact with the experts in their institutes. I also have to thank *Steven Detweiler* for his support and hospitality at the University of Florida.

During my doctoral studies in Dr. Will's research group I have been glad to work with several postdocs and graduate students in our group including K. G. Arun, Adamantios Stavridis, Ryan Lang, Dimitris Manolidis, Laleh Sadeghian, Alexandre Le Tiec, and Pierre Fromholz. I would like to thank all of them for creating such a good working environment. I would also like to thank all the people whom I have learnt "new" things from them during my PhD time period inside and outside of the working environment, including James Bendert, Benjamin Burch, Steven Dorsher, Lauren Edge, Daniel Flanagan, Daniel Hunter, Joben Lewis, Matthew Lightman, Faraz Monifi, Ryan Murphy, Danial Sabri, Sarah Thibadeau, Kaveh Vejdani, Kasey Wagoner, and Shannon Kian Zare, to name a few. A special thanks goes to Sina Mossahebi, Morvarid Karimi, Javad Komijani, Morteza Shahriari-Nia, Mehdi Saremi, and Moojan Daneshmand for their warm hospitalities.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my family and friends for all the support and positive energy that they always offer. In particular, I would like to thank my wife, *Laleh Sadeghian*, my parents, *Gholam-Abbas Mirshekari* and *Goli Abedi*, and my siblings, *Fatemeh*, *Masoumeh*, and *Soroush*. I have been very lucky to have so many valuable friends wherever I have lived so far: Tehran, St. Louis, Paris, and Gainesville. It is impossible to list all the names here but I would like them to know that I won't forget their support, help, friendship, brotherhood, and love. to Laleh

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

### Gravitational Waves and Inspiralling Compact Binaries in Alternative Theories of Gravity

by Saeed Mirshekari

Doctor of Philosophy in Physics Washington University in St. Louis, 2013 Professor Clifford Will, Chair

This dissertation consists of four parts. In Part I, we briefly review fundamental theories of gravity, performed experimental tests, and gravitational waves. The framework and the methods that we use in our calculations are discussed in Part II. This part includes reviewing the methods of the Parametrized Post-Newtonian (PPN) framework, Direct Integration of Relaxed Einstein Equations (DIRE), and Matched Filtering.

In Part III, we calculate the explicit equations of motion for non-spinning compact objects (neutron stars or black holes) to 2.5 post-Newtonian order, or  $O(v/c)^5$  beyond Newtonian gravity, in a general class of alternative theories to general relativity known as scalar-tensor theories. For the conservative part of the motion, we obtain the two-body Lagrangian and conserved energy and momentum through second post-Newtonian order. We find the contributions to gravitational radiation reaction to 1.5 post-Newtonian and 2.5 post-Newtonian orders, the former corresponding to the effects of dipole gravitational radiation. For binary black holes we show that the motion through 2.5 post-Newtonian order is observationally identical to that predicted by general relativity.<sup>1</sup>

In Part IV, we construct a parametrized dispersion relation that can produce a range of predictions of alternative theories of gravity for violations of Lorentz invariance in gravitation, and investigate their impact on the propagation of gravitational waves. We show how such corrections map to the waveform observable by a gravitational-wave detector, and to the "parametrized post-Einsteinian framework", proposed to model a range of deviations from General Relativity. Given a gravitational-wave detection, the lack of evidence for such corrections could then be used to place a constraint on Lorentz violation.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> S. Mirshekari and C. M. Will, Physical Review D 87, 8, (Apr. 2013)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> S. Mirshekari, N. Yunes, and C. M. Will, Physical Review D 85, 2, (Jan. 2012)

# PART I

# Foundations

- Chapter 1— Fundamental Theory of Gravity
- Chapter 2— Tests of Gravitational Theories
- Chapter 3— Gravitational Waves: Sources and Detection

This part includes introductory materials to the rest of the dissertation. In Chapter 1 the fundamental theory of gravity from its early days up to date is reviewed briefly. The status of tests of theories of gravity specially general relativity is discussed in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 is an introduction to gravitational waves.

"The fact that we live at the bottom of a deep gravity well, on the surface of a gas covered planet going around a nuclear fireball 90 million miles away and think this to be normal is obviously some indication of how skewed our perspective tends to be."

—Douglas Adams

## **Fundamental Theory of Gravity**

## 1.1 From Newtonian Gravity to Einstein's General Relativity

It is not a long time in the history of humanity that we know where we are in the Universe. Since ancient thinkers until the development of the heliocentric model by Nicolaus Copernicus in the 16th century, the accepted view about the Universe was that the Earth is at the center and the Sun and other planets orbit around it <sup>1</sup>. This popular belief was based on the Ptolemaic geocentric system. The publication of Copernicus' book proposing a heliocentric system, just before his death in 1543, is considered a major event in the history of science. Tycho Brahe (1546– 1601) performed the most accurate and comprehensive astronomical and planetary observations until his time. Brahe's observational data helped his young colleague, Johannes Kepler (1571– 1630), to develop his laws of planetary motion. These works eventually led to the first wellstablished theory of gravitation by Isaac Newton in 1679. We refer the interested readers to [162] for an interesting detailed history of astronomical science before Newton.

Newtonian gravity was the dominant theory of gravity in celestial mechanics for almost two centuries. The first observed deviation from Newtonian gravity in the solar system was recognized in 1859 in the motion of Mercury [246]. Analysis of the best available timed observations of transits of Mercury over the Sun's disk shows that the actual rate of the precession of Mercury's perihelion (point of closest approach to the Sun) disagrees with that predicted from Newton's theory by 43" (arc seconds) per century. All attempts failed to explain this deviation by Newtonian gravity until Einstein's theory of gravity in 1916 [104]. The basic concepts of this theory are briefly summarized in the next section. Einstein showed that general relativity agrees closely with the observed amount of perihelion shift of Mercury. This was a powerful factor motivating the further tests of general relativity.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ In the early 20th century, the discovery of other galaxies and the development of the Big Bang theory led to the development of cosmological models of a homogeneous, isotropic Universe (which lacks a central point) that is expanding at all points.

Although general relativity has successfully passed all the performed tests (see Chapter 2), we are still interested to continue testing general relativity and studying alternative theories, for three reasons: (1) Gravity is a fundamental interaction of nature; deeper understanding of gravity leads to deeper understanding of the Universe. (2) All attempts to quantize gravity and to unify it with other types of interaction (i.e. electroweak and strong interactions) suggest that standard general relativity is not likely to be the last word. (3) Since general relativity contains no adjustable parameter, its predictions are fixed and therefore every test of the theory is either a potentially deadly test or a possible probe for new physics [269].

## 1.2 General Relativity in a Nutshell

The way general relativity describes the cause of motion is quite different from the Newtonian explanation. In general relativity, there is no need to define gravitational forces, as Newton did, to describe the motion of massive objects in gravitational fields. In general relativity, the distribution of matter (massive particles) changes the geometry of spacetime such that massive objects just follow their optimum natural paths through the spacetime (geodesics). Paraphrasing John Wheeler (1911-2008), spacetime tells matter how to move and matter tells spacetime how to curve.

To briefly review the basic concepts of the theory of general relativity, we start from the key concept of the invariant, differential line element ds at spacetime point  $\mathbf{x}$  as

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{x}) \, dx^\mu dx^\nu, \tag{1.1}$$

where  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is a 4 × 4 symmetric tensor (*metric tensor*), and repeated indices imply summation. Two examples are (1) the Minkowski metric in a Cartesian-coordinate system i.e. (t, x, y, z) as  $g_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, 1)$  which has fixed values for its components and describes the *flat* spacetime in the absence of matter (or at very far distances from the gravitational source where the gravitational field is negligible), and (2) the Schwarzschild metric in a spherical-coordinate system i.e.  $(t, r, \theta, \phi)$  which at a distance r from the source mass M is given by

$$g_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} -(1 - 2GM/c^2r) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & (1 - 2GM/c^2r)^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & r^2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r^2\sin^2\theta \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.2)

describing the *curved* spacetime around a static, spherically symmetric mass distribution of total mass M, where G is Newton's gravitational constant and c is the speed of light.

The geodesic equation of motion for a test particle is given by

$$\frac{d^2 x^{\mu}}{d\tau^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{dx^{\alpha}}{d\tau} \frac{dx^{\beta}}{d\tau}, \qquad (1.3)$$

where  $\tau$  is the *proper* time measured by a clock traveling with the particle, and  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  are the *Christoffel symbols* (also known as connection coefficients) defined by

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}(g_{\nu\alpha,\beta} + g_{\nu\beta,\alpha} - g_{\alpha\beta,\nu}), \qquad (1.4)$$

where the comma followed by a subscript denotes a partial derivative with respect to that coordinate, and from which we can define the *Riemann curvature tensor* as

$$R^{\alpha}_{\beta\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\nu,\mu} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\mu,\nu} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\gamma}\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\beta\nu} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\gamma}\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\beta\mu}.$$
 (1.5)

The *Ricci tensor* and Ricci scalar can be defined by contracting two of the indices of the Riemann tensor, and then contracting again,

$$R_{\mu\nu} = R^{\alpha}_{\mu\alpha\nu}, \qquad R = g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu}; \tag{1.6}$$

the Ricci tensor and scalar appears in the famous Einstein's field equations in general relativity:

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \frac{8\pi G}{c^4}T_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (1.7)

where  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor for the matter. The Einstein–Hilbert action in general relativity is the action that yields the Einstein field equations, given by Eq. (1.7), through the principle of least action. It is given by

$$S = \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} \int R\sqrt{-g} d^4x \,. \tag{1.8}$$

The stress-energy tensor can be regarded as having the following qualitative form:

$$T_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\text{Energy Density}}{\frac{1}{c} \text{Energy Flux}} \\ \frac{1}{c} (\text{Momentum} & \text{Stress Tensor} \\ \text{Density}) & (3 \times 3) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.9)

Specifically,  $T^{00}(\mathbf{x})$  is the local energy density,  $T^{0i}(\mathbf{x})$  and  $T^{i0}(\mathbf{x})$  are, respectively, the flux of energy and the density of momentum both in the direction of  $x^i$  (note  $T^{0i} = T^{i0}$ ).  $T^{ij}$  is the *i*th component of the force per unit area exerted across a surface with normal in direction  $x^j$ . The

diagonal elements  $T^{ii}$  (no summation over *i*) represent pressure components, and the off-diagonal elements represent shear stresses.

For more details about general relativity, we refer the interested readers to many published textbooks on this topic including those written by Wald [254], Weinberg [258], Misner, Thorne, and Wheeler [181], Schutz [225], Hughston and Tod [147], Stephani [238], d'Inverno [94], Carroll [63], Kopeikin, Efroimsky, and Kaplan [163], and Poisson and Will [198].

# 1.3 Alternative Theories of Gravity

Alternative theories of gravity are interesting because although general relativity has successfully passed all the tests performed to date, but there are some issues in which general relativity is not quite promising, such as to quantize and unify gravity. An alternative theory might be the solution such that it is compatible with general relativity in certain limits and also can explain the ambiguous sectors like quantum gravity and unifying gravity with other forces. However, so far no alternative theory has been completely successful. The space of possible alternative theories is infinite but the most desirable theories of gravity are those which satisfy a certain number of properties including [295]:

- Precision tests. The predictions of the gravitational theory must be consistent with the Solar system, binary pulsar, and experimental tests that have been performed so far. Namely, (a) there must exist some limit in which the predictions of the theory are consistent with those of general relativity within experimental precision (general relativity limit), (b) the theory must admit solutions that correspond to observed phenomena, including but not limited to (nearly) flat spacetime, (nearly) Newtonian stars, and cosmological solutions (existence of known solutions), and (c) the special solutions described in (b) must be stable to small perturbations (stability of solutions). Of course, these properties are not all necessarily independent. For example, the existence of a weak-field limit usually also implies the existence of known solutions.
- Well-motivated from fundamental physics. There must be some fundamental theory or principle from which the alternative theory derives. This fundamental theory would solve some fundamental problem such as the incompatibility between quantum mechanics and general relativity.

Since Einstein (1916) many various feasible and unfeasible alternative theories of gravity have been proposed to modify or replace general relativity. In this section we shall introduce two classes out of many: (1) scalar-tensor theories and (2) massive graviton theories. In this dissertation, we only focus on these specific classes (see Part III,IV). To have a review of alternative theories of gravity specially those are testable via gravitational wave observations we refer the interested reader to [13, 68, 198, 265, 295].

#### **1.3.1** Scalar-Tensor Theories

One of the cornerstones of every theory of gravity is its action. Although the *Einstein frame* [111, 118] gives the simplest presentation of the scalar-tensor theory, the metric used in this frame is not the same as the physical metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  that governs clocks and rods. Through a conformal transformation can recast the theory into the *Jordan frame* in which clocks and rods measure the physical values of time and distance. The action in the Jordan frame is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \left[ \phi \ R - \phi^{-1} \ \omega(\phi) \ g^{\alpha\beta} \ \partial_{\alpha}\phi \ \partial_{\beta}\phi \right] \sqrt{-g} \ d^4x + S_{NG}(\mathfrak{m}, g_{\alpha\beta}) , \qquad (1.10)$$

where the non-gravitational, matter action  $S_{NG}$  involves the matter fields  $\mathfrak{m}$  and the metric only. Applying the principle of the least action to Eq. (1.10) leads to the following field equations

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi}{\phi} T_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\omega(\phi)}{\phi^2} \left( \phi_{,\mu}\phi_{,\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi^{,\lambda} \right) + \frac{1}{\phi} \left( \phi_{;\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Box_g \phi \right) , \qquad (1.11a)$$

$$\Box_g \phi = \frac{1}{3 + 2\omega(\phi)} \left( 8\pi T - 16\pi \phi \frac{\partial T}{\partial \phi} - \frac{d\omega}{d\phi} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi^{,\lambda} \right) .$$
(1.11b)

If the coupling  $\omega(\phi) = \omega_{BD}$  is constant, then the general scalar-tensor theory in Eqs. (1.10) reduces to the massless Brans-Dicke theory [58] which is the simplest scalar-tensor theory that one could construct. For more details and more complicated versions of this theory we refer the interested reader to [84, 118, 265, 269].

Like general relativity, scalar-tensor theories are among metric theories of gravity and predict gravitational waves. But they predict an extra scalar (spin-0) mode of polarization in addition to the two transverse-traceless (spin-2) modes of general relativity. The emission of dipolar radiation in scalar-tensor theories is not predicted by general relativity.

The form of the action in Eqs. (1.10) suggests that in the weak-field limit one may consider scalar-tensor theories as modifying Newton's gravitational constant via  $G \to G(\phi) = G/\phi$ . Scalar-tensor theories have a continuous limit to Einstein's theory such that in the limit of  $\omega \to \infty$  one recovers general relativity. Because of this, scalar-tensor theories have passed all the performed precision tests. The massless Brans-Dicke theory agrees with all known experimental tests provided  $\omega_{BD} > 4 \times 10^4$ , given by measurements of the time delay in tracking signals to the Cassini spacecraft, while observations of the Nordtvedt effect with Lunar Laser Ranging and observations of the orbital period derivative of white-dwarf/neutron-star binaries yield looser constraints [37]. Massive Brans-Dicke theory has been recently constrained to  $\omega_{\rm BD} > 4 \times 10^4$ and  $m_{\rm s} < 2.5 \times 10^{-20}$  eV, with  $m_{\rm s}$  the mass of the scalar field, through the observations of Shapiro time delay [5].

Scalar-tensor theories have not only passed the precision tests but also are very wellmotivated by fundamental physics. Specially, they can be derived from the low-energy limit of certain string theories. The integration of string quantum fluctuations leads to a higherdimensional string theoretical action that reduces locally to a field theory similar to a scalartensor one [116, 124]. In addition, scalar-tensor theories can be mapped to the general class of f(R) theories which have been proposed as a way to account for the acceleration of the universe without resorting to dark energy. (see [88, 233, 234] for a review of f(R) theories and their correspondence to scalar-tensor theories).

Black holes and stars continue to exist in scalar-tensor theories. Stellar configurations are modified from their general relativistic profile [4, 144, 276], while black holes are not. Hawking [134] has shown that *stationary* black holes in Brans-Dicke theory are identical to those in general relativity. Many extensions of Hawking's theorem have been carried out since then, including [24, 26, 35, 35]. In particular, Sotiriou and Faraoni [235] have generalized Hawking's proof from pure Branse-Dicke theory to a general class of scalar-tensor theories. Recently, Hawking's result has been extended even further to *quasi-stationary* black holes. These extensions have been done in general scalar-tensor theories, through the study of post-Newtonian comparable-mass inspirals [178], extreme-mass ratio inspirals [293] and numerical simulations of comparable-mass black hole mergers [135]. Post-Newtonian calculations, accurate to  $(v/c)^5$ order beyond Newtonian limit, predict no measurable difference between the equations of motion of binary black holes in general relativity and in general scalar-tensor theories of gravity [178].

#### 1.3.2 Massive Graviton Theories and Lorentz Violation

Einstein's theory of general relativity predicts massless gauge bosons i.e. gravitons for gravitational propagation which travel with the speed of light. In the other hand, in massive graviton theories, the gravitational interaction is propagated by a massive gauge boson i.e. a graviton with mass  $m_g \neq 0$ . The corresponding Compton wavelength is  $\lambda_g \equiv h/(m_g c) < \infty$ . For a detailed review of massive graviton theories see e.g. [140].

Like scalar-tensor theories, massive graviton theories are somewhat well-motivated by fundamental physics, especially by theories of quantum gravity. In the cosmological extension of loop quantum gravity i.e. loop quantum cosmology [15, 54], the graviton dispersion relation predicts massive gravitons [55]. Massive graviton models also arise in some alternative theories inspired by string theory such as Dvali's compact, extra-dimensional theory [97]. Other modified theories that imply massive gravitons include Rosen bimetric theory [206, 207], Visser's theory [248], TeVez [27], and Bigravity [192].

Massive graviton theories have a theoretical issue, the van Dam-Veltman-Zakharov (vDVZ) discontinuity [245, 298]. They do not quite satisfy the precision tests. In particular, certain predictions of massive graviton theories do not reduce to those of general relativity in the  $m_g \rightarrow 0$  limit. Roughly speaking, this discontinuity is due to the fact that, in this limit the scalar mode in spin states does not decouple [295]. The vDVZ discontinuity, however, can be evaded by carefully including non-linearities in massive graviton theories [31, 89, 105].

Although the absence of any particular well-accepted action for massive graviton theories makes it very difficult to ascertain many of the properties of these theories, we can still consider certain phenomenological effects [295]. The two main consequences of massive graviton theories are modifications to (1) the Newtonian limit, and (2) gravitational wave propagation.

The first class of modifications corresponds to the replacement of the Newtonian potential by a Yukawa-type potential. In the non-radiative, near-zone of mass M, the Yukawa potential is given by  $V = (M/r) \exp(-r/\lambda_g)$ , where r is the distance to the massive body [267]. The proposed tests of Yukawa interactions include the observations of bound clusters, tidal interactions between galaxies [128], and weak lensing [66]. These proposed tests are all model-dependent.

The second class of modifications can be clearly seen in a modified gravitational wave dispersion relation [179, 267]. Explicit forms of modifications are given in Eqs. (13.1, 13.2). Either modification to the dispersion relation has the net effect of slowing gravitons down, such that for the same observable event the arrival times of photons and gravitons are different (see Fig. 12.1). We will discuss this issue in more detail in Chapter 12.

Although it is extremely difficult (if not impossible) to measure the mass of a single graviton [98], many authors have tried to put an upper limit on the graviton's mass via different methods including the data analysis of binary pulsars and gravitational waves [80, 112, 161, 179, 267]. Table 12.1 shows a list of obtained upper limits on the mass of the graviton by a recent matched filtering analysis.

Although massive graviton theories unavoidably lead to a modification to the graviton dispersion relation, the converse is not necessarily true. A modification of the dispersion relation is usually accompanied by a modification to either the Lorentz group or its action in real or momentum space [295]. Such Lorentz-violating effects are commonly found in quantum gravitational theories, including loop quantum gravity [55] and string theory [67, 239], as well as other effective models [29, 30]. In Doubly Special Relativity [6–8, 177], the graviton dispersion relation is modified at high energies by modifying the law of transformation of inertial observers. Modified graviton dispersion relations have also been shown to arise in generic extra-dimensional models [226], in Hořava-Lifshitz theory [53, 142, 143, 244] and in theories with non-commutative geometries [121–123]. None of these theories necessarily requires a massive graviton, but rather the modification to the dispersion relation is introduced due to Lorentz-violating effects.

# 1.4 Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory as a Powerful Tool

In the 1970's, Nordtvedt and Will [185, 187, 265, 273] developed a general Parametrized Post-Newtonian theory (PPN) of gravity in which general relativity and many viable alternative theories of gravity such as scalar-tensor theories can be described by choosing proper values for 10 independent parameters. The PPN parameters and their physical significance are shown in Table 1.1. The values of the PPN parameters differ for different theories (e.g. see Table 4.1). In general relativity, all the PPN parameters vanish except  $\gamma = \beta = 1$ . In the next chapter we use the PPN framework as a powerful tool to study the tests of gravitational theories, and leave more details until Chapter 4 where we discuss the PPN framework.

		Value in	Value in	Value in
PPN	What this parameter measures	general	semiconservative	fully conservative
Parameter	relative to general relativity	relativity	theories	theories
	How much space-curvature			
$\gamma$	is produced by unit	1	$\gamma$	$\gamma$
	rest mass?			
	How much <i>nonlinearity</i>			
$\beta$	is there in the superposition	1	eta	eta
	law for gravity?			
ξ	Are there preferred-location	0	ξ	ξ
	effects?			
$\alpha_1$		0	$\alpha_1$	0
$\alpha_2$	Are there preferred-frame	0	$lpha_2$	0
$\alpha_3$	effects?	0	0	0
$\alpha_3$		0	0	0
$\zeta_1$	Is there	0	0	0
$\zeta_2$	violation of conservation	0	0	0
$\zeta_3$	of total momentum?	0	0	0
$\zeta_4$		0	0	0

**Table 1.1:** The PPN parameters and their physical significance are shown. Semiconservative and fully-conservative theories of gravity are two different classes of theories. In the fully-conservative class the four-angular-momentum  $J^{\mu\nu}$  and the fourlinear-momentum  $P^{\mu}$  are both conserved while in semi-conservative theories only  $P^{\mu}$ is conserved. In fully-conservative theories of gravity  $\gamma$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\xi$  are the only PN parameters of the theory. [265] "No amount of experimentation can ever prove me right; a single experiment can prove me wrong."

—Albert Einstein

## Tests of Gravitational Theories

2

This chapter is devoted to reviewing tests of gravitation theory. It is important to know that what kind of experiments and observations have been done so far primarily in the weak-field slow-motion regime, the regime covered by the PPN framework. Our results in Part III and Part IV are among the next steps toward providing new tools and abilities to test alternative theories of gravity, using future observations by gravitational-wave detectors. For a review of possible tests of gravitational theories with gravitational-wave detectors see [13, 119, 180]. In this chapter we briefly review the classical tests and tests of the Strong Equivalence Principle. Then we discuss the gravitational-wave's properties that we can use to put alternative theories of gravity to the test. We finish up this chapter with a list of performed tests and a summary of all the obtained bounds on the PPN parameters via various tests.

# 2.1 The Classical and SEP Tests

In this section we focus on three ket tests of relativistic gravity, including: (1) the perihelion advance of Mercury, (2) the deflection of light, and (3) the time delay of light. Strong Equivalence Principle (SEP) tests make up another class of tests for gravitational theories, that we discuss in this section.

#### 2.1.1 The Classical Tests

#### 2.1.1.1 The Perihelion Advance of Mercury's Orbit

An anomalous rate of precession of the perihelion of Mercury's orbit had been a puzzle since 1859 [246]. taking all the possible Newtonian effects into account, the observational results still showed a deviation as big as 43" per century in the perihelion shift of Mercury. This remaining precession

can be explained accurately by Einstein's general relativity, and the predicted value agrees closely with the observed amount of perihelion shift. This was a powerful factor motivating the adoption of general relativity. Based on recent measurements of the perihelion advance of Mercury's orbit and using the PPN formalism for fully conservative theories of gravity ( $\alpha_1 \equiv \alpha_2 \equiv \alpha_3 \equiv \zeta_2 \equiv 0$ ) it is possible to place a bound on the PPN parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  (Eq.7.55 in TEGP). The results agree with general relativity. Using 24 years of observing the perihelion shift of Mercury (1966-1990), Shapiro and his collaborators have estimated the following constraints on the PPN parameter combination [227, 229]:

$$|2\gamma - \beta - 1| < 3 \times 10^{-3}.$$
 (2.1)

Analysis of data taken since 1990 could improve the accuracy.

#### 2.1.1.2 The Deflection of Light

Accurate measurements of the deflection of light near massive bodies like our Sun can test gravitational theories in the PPN formalism by bounding the value of the PPN parameter  $\gamma$ . A straightforward calculation in the PPN formalism, based on the equations of motion for photons i.e. Eqs. (6.14, 6.15) of [265], shows that the deflection angle of a light ray coming from a very distant source which is passing nearby a massive object on its way to our detectors on the Earth is given by

$$\delta\theta = \left(\frac{1+\gamma}{2}\right)\frac{4\,m}{d}\left(\frac{1+\cos\theta_0}{2}\right),\tag{2.2}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the PPN parameter, m is the mass of the body which causes the deflection, d is the closest distance between the light ray and the mass m, and  $\theta_0$  indicates the angle between the undeflected ray and the direction to the source star (see Fig. 2.1).

For the Sun, the deflection is maximum for a grazing ray i.e. for  $\theta_0 \simeq 0$ ,  $d \simeq R_{\odot} \simeq 6.96 \times 10^5$  km,  $m = m_{\odot} = 1.476$  km. For light in the visible band, the effect is detectable from the Earth only at the time of total solar eclipses. In this case

$$\delta\theta_{max} = \frac{1}{2}(1+\gamma)1''.75.$$
 (2.3)

The light deflection phenomenon had been predicted as a Newtonian effect [64, 231] many years before Einstein's general relativity in 1915. The first observational test to measure this effect was performed by Arthur Eddington in 1919 [99]. The level of accuracy was not very high in the first experiment but clearly enough to reject the Newtonian prediction for the deflection angle which is half of what general relativity predicts. Figure 2.2 illustrates the prediction of these theories for the path of a light ray from a far star passing near the Sun. After Eddington, many other groups measured the deflection of light via different methods and techniques such as very-long-baseline radio-interferometric techniques (VLBI). A complete list of performed



Figure 2.1: Geometry of light-deflection measurements.





measurements of light deflection has been presented in Fig. 7.2 of TEGP [265]. A recent VLBI analysis [230] yieldes

$$\frac{1}{2}(1+\gamma) = 0.99992 \pm 0.00023, \tag{2.4}$$

which is much more accurate that earlier measurements in the 1970's (see [241], for example).



**Figure 2.3:** Schematic configuration for measuring the time delay effect. It takes longer for a light signal to do a round trip from Earth to another planet in the presence of the gravitational field of the Sun. The number of arrows is inversely proportional to the local time delay of light.

#### 2.1.1.3 The Time-Delay of Light

The spacetime path of a light ray is affected by the gravitational field that it travels through, in two ways: (1) non-uniform gravitational fields cause the optimal path of the light rays to be curved, not straight (2) for a given distance, general relativity predicts a longer time travel for photon compared to what Newtonian gravity predicts. Here we concentrate on the second aspect i.e. the time delay of light.

For a radar signal, we can measure the time travel of a round trip by sending it toward a far planet such that it passes close to the Sun. The additional time delay  $\delta t$  caused by the gravitational field of the Sun is a maximum when the reflector planet is on the far side of the Sun from the earth (superior conjunction); Fig. 2.3 shows this configuration. It is straightforward to show that [265]

$$\delta t = 2(1+\gamma)m\ln(\frac{4r_{\oplus}r_p}{d^2}) = \frac{1}{2}(1+\gamma)\left\{240\ \mu s - 20\ \mu s\ln\left[(\frac{d}{R_{\odot}})^2(\frac{a}{r_p})\right]\right\}$$
(2.5)

where  $R_{\odot}$  is the radius of the Sun, d is the closest distance between the radar beam and the Sun,  $r_p$  is the distance between the Sun and the target planet, and a is an astronomical unit.

Many different tests have been done so far to measure the time delay of light. With a high level of accuracy all of the tests confirm general relativity. A complete list of the performed radar time-delay experiments is presented in Fig.7.3 of TEGP [265]. Compared to earlier experiment in the 70's, such as Viking experiment [203], a significant improvement was reported in 2003 in measuring the parameter  $\gamma$  using Doppler tracking data for the Cassini spacecraft [38].

Most of the theories shown in Table.5.1 of TEGP can select their adjustable parameters or cosmological boundary conditions with sufficient freedom to meet this constraint. From the results of the Cassini experiment, we can conclude that the coefficient  $\frac{1}{2}(1+\gamma)$  must be within at most 0.0012 percent of unity. Scalar-tensor theories must have  $\omega > 40,000$  to be compatible with this constraint.

#### 2.1.2 Tests of the Strong Equivalence Principle

#### 2.1.2.1 Weak, Strong, and Einstein Equivalence Principles

Besides the classical tests of gravity, there is another class of solar-system experiments that tests the Strong Equivalence Principle (SEP). SEP contains the Einstein Equivalence principle (EEP) as a special case in which local gravitational forces are ignored. EEP is the cornerstone of all *metric theories of gravity* including general relativity, scalar-tensor gravity, etc. In metric theories of gravity, matter and non-gravitational fields respond only to the spacetime metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The only theories of gravity that have a hope of being viable are metric theories, or possibly theories that are metric apart from very weak or short-range non-metric couplings (such as *string theory*). In all metric theories of gravity:

- There exists a symmetric metric tensor.
- Test bodies move along the *geodesics* of the metric.
- The non-gravitational laws of physics are equivalent to the special relativistic laws in local Lorentz frames.

Here we list all the conditions (sub-principles) that are required for a gravitational theory to satisfy **EEP**:

- WEP (Weak Equivalence Principle) which states that the trajectory of a freely falling *test* body (one not acted upon by such forces as electromagnetism and too small to be affected by tidal gravitational forces) is independent of its internal structure and composition.
- LLI (Local Lorentz Invariance) which states that the outcome of any local non-gravitational experiment is independent of the velocity of the freely-falling reference frame in which it is performed.

• LPI (Local Position Invariance) which states that the outcome of any local non-gravitational experiment is independent of where and when in the universe it is performed.

Every metric theory of gravitation satisfies the conditions of EEP, yet does not necessarily satisfy SEP. SEP contains the same principles as EEP but with stronger conditions. **SEP** is satisfied if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- GWEP (General Weak Equivalence Principle) which states that WEP is valid for *self-gravitating* bodies as well as for test bodies.
- GLLI (General Local Lorentz Invariance) and GLPI (General Local Position Invariance) which respectively state that LLI and LPI are valid not only for local non-gravitational experiments but also for local gravitational experiments too.

#### 2.1.2.2 Nordtvedt Effect and Other SEP tests

It has been pointed out [265] that many metric theories of gravity (perhaps all except general relativity) can be expected to violate one or more aspects of SEP (for example see the following equations in TEGP: 6.33, 6.40, 6.75, 6.88). The breakdown in SEP has some observable consequences that many experiments have tested. The Lunar Eötvös experiment to test the Nordtvedt effect is one in which the breakdown in GWEP is the target. The Nordtvedt effect is a prediction of many gravitational theories in which the Earth and the Moon fall toward the Sun with different accelerations. Considering the inertial mass as  $m_i$  and passive gravitational mass as  $m_p$  we have  $m_i a = m_p \nabla U$  and from [265], we find that many theories predict

$$\frac{m_p}{m_i} = 1 + \eta_N \frac{E_g}{m_i},\tag{2.6}$$

where  $\eta_N$  (Nordtvedt parameter) is a linear combination of PPN parameters as

$$\eta_N = 4\beta - \gamma - 3 - \frac{10}{3}\zeta - \alpha_1 + \frac{2}{3}\alpha_2 - \frac{2}{3}\zeta_1 - \frac{1}{3}\zeta_2, \qquad (2.7)$$

and  $E_g$  is the gravitational self-energy of the body. Since for laboratory-sized objects the value of  $E_g/m_i$  is extremely small ( $E_g/m_i \leq 10^{-27}$ ) the existence of the Nordtvedt effect does not violate the results of laboratory Eötvös experiments [107]. This is far below the sensitivity of current and future Eötvös-type experiments. On the other hand, for the Sun, Earth, and the Moon,  $E_g/m_i$  is respectively  $3.6 \times 10^{-6}$ ,  $4.6 \times 10^{-10}$ , and  $0.2 \times 10^{-10}$ . Measuring the Nordtvedt effect for the Earth-Moon-Sun system via Lunar Laser Ranging gives

$$\eta_N = \begin{cases} 0.00 \pm 0.03 & [277] \\ 0.001 \pm 0.015 & [228] \\ 0.00044 \pm 0.00045 & [3, 20] \end{cases}$$
(2.8)
General relativity does not violate SEP and therefore there is no Nordtvedt effect in general relativity ( $\eta_N = 0$ ), but this effect is certainly present in general scalar-tensor theories <sup>1</sup> such that  $\eta_N = 1/(1+2\omega) + 4\zeta\lambda_1$  where  $\lambda_1$  and  $\zeta$  are defined in Eqs. (4.38, 4.37). In scalar-tensor theories of gravity, the internal structure of bodies clearly affects the dynamics of motion and therefore violates the SEP.

Besides the Nordtvedt effect and Lunar Eötvös experiments there are many other SEP experiments that test preferred-frame effects, preferred-location effects, and constancy of the Newtonian gravitational constant. Preferred-frame and preferred-location effects can be tested via two type of experiments: (1) geophysical tests (2) orbital tests. Interested readers can see lots of details in sections 8.1-8.4 of TEGP [265]. These SEP experiments can measure the PPN parameters and therefore put additional bounds on some of them.

#### 2.2 Gravitational-Wave Tests

In the previous section we showed that a variety of tests of gravity in the solar system confirm general relativity. However the post-Newtonian limit of any other alternative metric theories of gravity, within a small margin of error (ranging from 1% to parts in  $10^{-7}$ ) must agree with that in general relativity. Most currently viable theories of gravity, such as scalar-tensor theories, can accommodate these constraints by choosing appropriate values for their arbitrary, intrinsic parameters and functions. Of course, no such adjustments are needed for general relativity. This fact makes general relativity the simplest and the most favorable one. In the other hand, because general relativity contains no adjustable parameter, any deviation from the fixed general relativistic predictions would kill the theory.

In addition to the post-Newtonian tests that we discussed in Section 2.1, new testing grounds where the differences among competing theories may appear in observable ways are also possible. Measuring the properties of gravitational waves, observing binary pulsars, and cosmological tests are new arenas for testing theories of gravity besides the classical and SEP tests. In this section we focus on gravitational radiation as a tool for testing relativistic gravity. Although Einstein's theory of relativity had predicted the existence of gravitational waves as ripples of spacetime, Eddington [103] suggested that they might represent merely ripples of the coordinates of spacetime and as such would not be observable. Forty years later, Bondi and his collaborators [56] showed in invariant, coordinate-free terms that gravitational radiation is physically observable. They explicitly showed that gravitational waves carry energy and momentum away from systems, and that the mass of systems that radiate gravitational waves must decrease.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>except for a particular choice of the function  $\omega(\phi)$ , i.e. Barker's constant G Theory, in which  $\omega(\phi) = \frac{4-3\phi}{2\phi-2}$ 

The *existence* of gravitational radiation is not particularly strong evidence for or against any proposed theories of gravity, because almost all viable alternative metric theories of gravity predict gravitational waves as well as general relativity. Therefore it is not the existence of gravitational waves that will concern us here to test gravity but the detailed properties of these waves, including speed, polarization, and radiation back-reaction.

In the weak-field, slow-motion, and far-zone limit, the predictions of various viable metric theories of gravity might be different from each other and from the predictions of general relativity at least in three important ways. They may predict: (1) different values for the speed of radiated gravitational waves which might not be necessarily equal to the speed of light, (2) different polarization states for generic gravitational waves, and (3) different multi-polarities (monopole, dipole, quadrupole, etc.) of gravitational radiation. Although the detection of gravitational waves is required for tests of speed and polarization, the tests of multi-polarities do not necessarily require direct gravitational-wave detection. The multi-polarities of gravitational waves can be studied by analyzing the back influence of the emission of radiation on the source (radiation reaction) for different multipoles. For instance, the emission of gravitational radiation changes the period of a two-body orbit, such as a binary pulsar. This is because the system loses energy via radiation of gravitational waves.

#### 2.2.1 Speed of Gravitational Waves

General relativity and scalar-tensor theories of gravity both predict that gravitational waves propagate along null geodesics with a speed equal to the speed of light,  $v_g = c$  (in the limit in which the wavelength of gravitational waves is small compared to radius of curvature of the background spacetime). On the other hand, if gravitation propagates by a massive field (a massive graviton), the speed of gravitational waves could differ from c (see more details in Section 13.1). Vector-tensor theories [137, 272], Rosen's bimetric theories [206, 207], and Rastall's theory [202] predict different values for the speed of gravitational radiation depending on the parameters of the theory (see section 10.1 of [265] for details).

The most obvious way to measure (or bound) the speed of gravitational waves is by comparing the arrival times of a gravitational-wave signal and of an electromagnetic-wave signal from the same event, for example a supernova. For an event at a distance D from our detector, the speed of gravitational radiation can be bounded by measuring the time interval between emission and arrival of an electromagnetic and gravitational signal from the same source. According to [269]

$$1 - \frac{v_g}{c} = 5 \times 10^{-17} (\frac{200 \text{Mpc}}{D}) (\frac{\Delta t}{1s}), \qquad (2.9)$$

where  $\Delta t \equiv \Delta t_a - (1+Z)\Delta t_e$  is the *time difference*, where  $\Delta t_a$  and  $\Delta t_e$  are the differences in arrival time and emission time of the two signals, respectively, and Z is the redshift of the source. The value of  $\Delta t_e$  is considered to be unknown in many cases, so that the best one can do is to employ an upper bound on  $\Delta t_e$  based on observation or modeling.

If the frequency of the gravitational-waves is such that  $hf \gg m_g c^2$ , where h is Planck's constant, then

$$v_g/c \approx 1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{c}{\lambda_g f}\right)^2,$$
(2.10)

where  $\lambda_g = h/(m_g c)$  is the graviton Compton wavelength, and the bound on  $v_g$  at Eq. (2.9) can be converted to a bound on  $\lambda_g$  as

$$\lambda_g > 3 \times 10^{12} \mathrm{km} \left( \frac{D}{200 \mathrm{Mpc}} \frac{100 \mathrm{Hz}}{f} \right)^{1/2} \left( \frac{1}{f \Delta t} \right)^{1/2}.$$
 (2.11)

In the above analysis we have assumed that the source emits *both* gravitational and electromagnetic signals and we are able to detect them accurately enough. We have also assumed that the relative time of emission,  $\Delta t_e$ , is either very small or measurable to sufficient accuracy.

Instead of using both electromagnetic and gravitational signals from the same source, Will [267] proposed a method in which a bound on the graviton mass can be set by studying gravitational radiation alone. This has been shown specifically in the case of inspiralling compact binary systems. Roughly speaking, by using Will's method the *phase interval*  $f\Delta t$  in Eq. (2.11) can be measured to an accuracy  $1/\rho$ , where  $\rho$  is the signal-to-noise ratio. Thus, one can estimate the bounds on  $\lambda_g$  achievable for various compact inspiral systems, and for various detectors. In part IV we will discuss this method and a generalized version of it in detail. Other possible gravitational-wave based methods include (1) using binary pulsar data to bound modifications of gravitational radiation damping by a massive graviton [112], and (2) using LISA-like observations of the phasing of waves from compact white-dwarf binaries, eccentric galactic binaries, and eccentric inspiral binaries [80, 157].

#### 2.2.2 Polarization of Gravitational Waves

In principle, a well-designed gravitational-wave antenna, for example AdLIGO, can measure the local components of a symmetric  $3 \times 3$  tensor which is composed of the *electric* components of the Riemann curvature tensor,  $R_{0i0j}$ , via the equation of geodesic deviation [101, 102]. If we show the spatial separation distance between two freely falling test masses by  $x^i$ , based on general relativity, the equation of geodesic deviation is  $\ddot{x}^i = -R_{0i0j}x^j$ . The symmetric  $R_{0i0j}$ has six independent components, which can be expressed in terms of six modes of polarization. Figure 2.4 shows these six possible independent polarization modes. This figure indicates how a ring of freely falling test particles can be distorted due to each of these polarization modes. Three of these six generic polarization modes represent transverse waves and the other three



Figure 2.4: The six polarization modes of a weak, plane gravitational wave permitted in any metric theory of gravity. Shown is the displacement that each mode induces on a ring of test particles (gray, dotted circle). We assume that the wave always propagates in the +z direction and has time dependence  $\cos \omega t$ . In (a), (b), (c) the wave propagates out of the plane; in (d), (e), (f), the wave propagates in the plane. The red, solid line is a snapshot at  $\omega t = 0$  while the gray, dotted line and the green, dashed line are two snapshots at  $\omega t = \pi/2$  and  $\omega t = \pi$ , respectively. There is no displacement perpendicular to the plane of the figure. In general relativity, (a) and (b) are the only possible polarizations; in massless scalar-tensor gravity, (c) may also be present [265].

represent longitudinal waves. Four of them (a), (b), (e), (f) are quadruple modes in different planes while there is one monopolar *breathing* mode (c) and one axially symmetric *stretching* mode in the propagation direction (d).

In general relativity only two transverse quadrupole modes (a), (b) are present, independent of the source. Modes (a) and (b) correspond to the waveforms  $h_+$  and  $h_{\times}$ , respectively. A suitable array of gravitational-wave antennas could describe or limit the number of polarization modes present in a given wave. Any observational evidence for other modes, besides (a) and (b), will be disastrous for general relativity. *Massless* scalar-tensor theories differ from general relativity by prediction of an extra polarization mode beside the general-relativistic polarization modes, namely a monopolar breathing mode (c). Notice that the absence of a breathing mode in future observational data would not necessarily rule out scalar-tensor gravity, because the strength of that mode depends on the nature of the source. In *massive* scalar-tensor theories the longitudinal stretching mode (d) is also possible, in addition to (a), (b), and (c), but it is suppressed relative to breathing mode (c) by a factor of  $(\lambda/\lambda_c)^2$ , where  $\lambda$  is wavelength of the radiation, and  $\lambda_c$  is the Compton wavelength of the massive scalar. More general metric theories predict additional longitudinal modes, up to the full complement of six (see chapter 10 of [265] for details).

Implementing polarization observations has been studied in detail [174, 249, 265]. One important question is whether the current and future interferometric gravitational-wave detectors (ground-based and space-based, or a combination of both types) could perform interesting polarization measurements [60, 125, 175, 250, 259]. The two LIGO observatories (in Washington and Louisiana states) have been constructed to have their arms as parallel as possible, apart from the curvature of Earth. Although this maximizes the joint sensitivity of the two detectors to gravitational-waves, unfortunately it minimizes their ability to detect the two modes of polarizations. Installing the INDIGO detector [284] in India will be a major help in this regard.

#### 2.2.3 Gravitational Radiation Back-Reaction

In addition to measuring the speed and polarization of gravitational-waves, gravitational-wavebased tests of gravity are also possible via studying radiation reaction effects in compact binary sources. In the case of binary pulsars, the first derivative of the binary frequency  $\dot{f}_b$  is measured using radio signals from the orbiting pulsar to measure the orbit precisely, while in the case of inspiralling compact binaries, we are able to measure the full nonlinear variation of  $f_b$  as a function of time via gravitational-wave signals.

Broad-band laser interferometers are especially sensitive to the phase evolution of the gravitational waves. To extract gravitational-wave signals from noisy outputs of the detectors, we need to have an ensemble of theoretical *template waveforms* which depend on the intrinsic parameters of the inspiralling binary, such as the component masses, spins, and so on, and on its inspiral evolution. Data analysis involves some matched filtering of the noisy detector output against this ensemble of templates. For this purpose we need templates, accurate to an appropriate post-Newtonian order.

The evolution of the gravitational-wave frequency  $f = 2f_b$  has been calculated up to the accuracy of 3.5PN order (see [47] for a review). To avoid lengthy expressions at higher orders, here we only show the expression until 2PN order, calculated by Blanchet and his collaborators

Theory	$\kappa_1$	$\kappa_2$	$\kappa_D$
General Relativity Brans-Dicke	$\frac{12}{12 - \frac{5}{2 + \omega}}$	$11 - \frac{45}{8 + 4\omega}$	$\frac{\begin{array}{c} 0\\ 2\\ \hline 2+\omega\end{array}$

Table 2.1: Multipole gravitational radiation parameters in general relativity and Brans-Dicke theory. A complete list of these parameters in other alternative theories of gravity can be found in Table 10.2 of TEGP [265]

[48, 49, 274]:

$$\dot{f} = \frac{96\pi}{5} f^2 (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{5/3} \left[ 1 - \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right) (\pi m f)^{2/3} + 4\pi (\pi m f) + \left( \frac{34103}{18144} + \frac{13661}{2016} \eta + \frac{59}{18} \eta^2 \right) (\pi m f)^{4/3} + \mathcal{O}[(\pi m f)^{5/3}] \right], \quad (2.12)$$

where m,  $\mathcal{M}$ ,  $\eta$  are total mass, chirp mass, and mass-ratio parameters, respectively, given by Eqs. (6.22, 6.23). This rate of change in the frequency is related to the rate of orbital energy loss by Kepler's third law via

$$\frac{\dot{f}}{f} = \frac{3}{2E} \frac{dE}{dt}.$$
(2.13)

In a generic metric theory of gravity the rate of energy loss from an inspiralling compact binary system can be parametrized to leading order in a post-Newtonian expansion, as [265]:

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = -\left\langle \frac{\mu^2 m^2}{r^4} \left[ \frac{8}{15} (\kappa_1 v^2 - \kappa_2 \dot{r}^2) + \frac{1}{3} \kappa_D \mathfrak{S}^2 \right] \right\rangle,$$
(2.14)

where r is orbital separation, and v is relative velocity.  $\mathfrak{S}$  is the difference in the self-gravitational binding energy per unit mass between the two bodies.  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$  are known as *PM parameters*, because of the pioneering work of Peters and Mathews [194], and their values depend on the theory (see Table 2.1). While  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$  represent quadruple radiation,  $\kappa_D$  represents dipole radiation. There is no dipole radiation in general relativity and therefore  $\kappa_D = 0$ , but scalartensor theories predict a dipolar contribution in the energy rate. In general relativity ( $\kappa_1 = 12$ ,  $\kappa_2 = 11$ ), the orbital frequency change induced by Eq. (2.14) corresponds to the leading term —the factor unity in the square brackets— in Eq. (2.12).

Based on above discussion, there are three possibilities that can be suggested to use radiation reaction effects to test gravity:

1. Performing accurate observations with sensitive detectors, we might be able to measure the coefficients of different powers of frequency in Eq. (2.12), leading to a possible test of general relativity. Blanchet and Sathyaprakash have shown that an interesting test of the so-called *tail-effects* (the third term in Eq. (2.12)) could be possible by observing a source with a sufficiently strong signal [51, 52].

- 2. Another possibility is studying radiated gravitational-waves from a system of a small mass orbiting and inspiralling into a spinning black-hole. According to general relativity the spacetime around this spinning black-hole must be a Kerr spacetime which can be uniquely described by its mass and angular momentum (no-hair theorem), and consequently, observation of the waves could test this fundamental hypothesis [196, 209].
- 3. As we pointed out earlier, prediction of an additional dipole-radiation contribution in the energy lost formula, i.e. Eq. (2.14), can be used as a test of the gravitational theory. For example, any observational evidence for a dipolar contribution to the orbital evolution will be disastrous for general relativity in which no dipole radiation is predicted. Many authors have worked on the capabilities of both ground-based and space-based detectors to distinguish between general relativity and alternative theories of gravity and have shown that observing gravitational-waves even in the best case i.e. from mixed neutron-star/black-hole inspirals (which are the most promising type of binary sources among others such as black-hole/black-hole, and neutron-star/neutron-star to observe any difference between general-relativity and scalar-tensor theories, see Chapter 11) is not likely to bound scalar-tensor gravity at a level competitive with the Cassini bound or with future solar-system improvements [33, 34, 167, 218, 266, 275]. On the other hand, such observations would be testing these theories in the radiative regime, as opposed to the non-radiative regime of the PPN framework.

# 2.3 Other Tests and Summarizing the Experimental Results

In addition to classical tests, tests of SEP, and gravitational-wave based tests, there remains a number of tests of post-Newtonian gravitational effects that do not fit into any of these mentioned categories. In some cases, the prior constrains on the parameters are tighter than the best limit these experiments could hope to achieve. Obviously, one might ask why we should bother performing any other test when we already have obtained stronger bounds on the PPN parameters? The answer is that in spite of previous tests, for the following reasons it is important to carry out such experiments: (1) each new test provides independent, though potentially weaker, checks of the values of the PPN parameters and therefore is an independent test of gravitation theory, (2) we should not treat the PPN formalism in a prejudicial way; it reduces the importance of experiments that have independent, compelling justifications for their performance, (3) any result which shows any disagreement with general relativity would be very interesting.

Remaining tests of general relativity and alternative theories of gravity include: the Gravity Probe-B gyroscope experiment [109, 110, 173, 219, 221, 265, 271], laboratory tests of post-Newtonian gravity [57, 126, 166, 183], tests of post-Newtonian conservation laws [263, 265], stellar system tests which include: internal structure dependance [4, 169, 265] and the binary pulsars [82, 165, 236, 265, 296], cosmological tests [69, 70, 87, 212, 265]. Table 2.2 summarizes the tightest bounds on the PPN parameters, obtained by different experiments. Notice that no feasible experiment or observation has ever been proposed that would set direct limits on the parameters  $\zeta_1$  or  $\zeta_4$ . However, these parameters do appear in combination with other PPN parameters in observable effects, for example in the Nordtvedt effect.

Parameter Effects Limit Remarks  $\gamma - 1$  $2.3 \times 10^{-5}$ Cassini tracking time delay  $4 \times 10^{-4}$ light deflection VLBI  $J_2 = 10^{-7}$  from helioseismology  $3 \times 10^{-3}$ perihelion shift  $\beta - 1$  $\eta_N = 4\beta - \gamma - 3$  assumed  $2.3 \times 10^{-4}$ Nordtvedt effect  $10^{-3}$ Earth tides gravimeter data ζ  $10^{-4}$ Lunar laser ranging orbital polarization  $\alpha_1$  $2 \times 10^{-4}$ PSR J2317+1439  $4 \times 10^{-7}$ solar alignment with ecliptic spin precession  $\alpha_2$  $4 \times 10^{-20}$ pulsar  $\dot{P}$  statistics pulsar acceleration  $\alpha_3$  $9 \times 10^{-4}$ Nordtvedt effect lunar laser ranging  $\eta_N$  $2 \times 10^{-2}$ combined PPN bounds  $\zeta_1$  $4 \times 10^{-5}$  $\hat{P}_{p}$  for PSR 1913+16 binary acceleration  $\zeta_2$  $10^{-8}$  $\zeta_3$ Newton's 3rd law lunar acceleration not independent (see equation (58) of [269])  $\zeta_4$ 

A resource letter by Will [270] provides an introduction to some of the main current topics in experimental tests of general relativity as well as to some of the historical literature.

**Table 2.2:** Current limits on the PPN parameters. Here  $\eta_N$  is a combination of the PPN parameters as given in Eqs. (2.8) [269].

"It doesn't matter how beautiful your theory is, it doesn't matter how smart you are. If it doesn't agree with experiment, it's wrong." —Richard P. Feynman

# Gravitational Waves: Sources and Detection

The existence of gravitational waves is one of the direct predictions of general relativity (and of almost all other alternative theories of gravity), produced by the acceleration of mass. No gravitational-wave signal has been detected directly to date. What are gravitational waves? What sources can generate these waves? How do they propagate and how can we detect them? These issues will be discussed in this chapter.

In summary, gravitational-waves can be thought of as ripples in the curvature of spacetime. Why are we interested in their direct detection? First, that would be another verification of general relativity and it would be a major upset if gravitational waves did not exist! Second, and more importantly, the detection of gravitational waves will open a new window to the Universe, as a new branch of astronomy. Gravitational-wave astronomy will provide powerful tools for looking into the heart of some of the most violent events in the Universe in a way that is totally different from electromagnetic astronomy.

It is believed that the reason for not detecting any gravitational-wave signal so far with the first generation of detectors such as initial-LIGO/VIRGO is the lack of strong-enough astronomical sources in the sensitive range of the detectors.

In addition to the references cited in this chapter for specific topics on gravitational-waves, there exist many informative books and review articles including those written by Saulson [216], Maggiore [176], Creighton and Anderson [76], Jaranowski and Krolák [155], Hartle [133], Collins [72] Misner, Thorne, and Wheeler [181], Schutz [225], Sathyaprakash and Schutz (2009) [214], Freise and Strain (2010) [117], Pitkin *et al.* (2011) [195], and more recently by Blair *et al.* (2012) [41], and Riles (2013) [204].

# 3.1 Generation and Propagation

According to general relativity, the presence of any matter will curve the spacetime around it. The proper distance between two neighboring points is given by  $ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$  where  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is the metric tensor. In the absence of matter (or at very far distances from the matter), spacetime is flat (asymptotically flat) and the metric tensor is the Minkowski metric i.e.  $\eta_{\mu\nu} =$ (-1, +1, +1, +1) in a Cartesian coordinate system.

The origin of gravitational waves is implicit in the tensorial field equations of the theory (for general relativity and scalar-tensor theories of gravity see Eq. (1.7) and Eq. (1.11), respectively). To see why, consider a region far from a source, a nearly-flat region where the gravitationalwave perturbs a flat Cartesian metric  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  by only a small amount  $h_{\mu\nu}$ , i.e.  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ where  $h_{\mu\nu} \ll 1$ . Choosing an appropriate gauge condition, it can be shown that this *linearized* gravity yields simple wave equations for the components of tensor h such that in vacuum we have  $\Box h_{\mu\nu} = 0$ . The amplitude of the wave h is related to the perturbation of the metric which is in turn related to the curvature of spacetime. In addition, h can be interpreted as a physical strain in space or more precisely  $h \sim \delta L/L$  where  $\delta L$  is the change in separation of two masses a distance L apart.

From elementary electrodynamics, we know that the acceleration of charged particles generates electromagnetic waves. In the same way, we expect accelerating gravitationally charged particles (masses) to generate waves. However, the existence of only one sign of mass (not two positive/negative types of charge as in electrodynamics) together with the conservation law of linear momentum implies that there is neither monopolar nor dipolar gravitational radiation. Gravitational radiation starts from quadrupole radiation and continues up to higher multipoles.

In general relativity, gravitational waves propagate with the speed of light and there are two possible polarization modes:  $h_+$  and  $h_{\times}$ . The effect of these polarization modes on a ring of test particles is shown in Fig. 3.1. From this, the principle of most gravitational-wave detectors looking for changes in the length of mechanical systems such as bars of aluminum or the arms of Michelson-Morley-type interferometric detectors — can be clearly seen. We will discuss more details about interferometric detection in Section 3.3.1.

The magnitude of the components of a perturbing gravitational signal  $h^{ij}$  produced at a distance r from a source at time t is proportional to the second time derivative of the quadrupole moment of the source (at earlier time t - r/c) and inversely proportional to r [133],

$$h^{ij}(t,\mathbf{x}) \approx \frac{2G}{rc^4} \frac{d^2}{dt^2} [I^{ij}(t-r/c)].$$
 (3.1)

Notice that in the above formula the extremely small value of coefficient  $G/c^4$  clearly shows why the gravitational-wave signals are very hard to detect. The energy luminosity of the source is



Figure 3.1: Schematic diagram of how gravitational waves interact with test particles on a ring. The quadrupole nature of the interaction can be clearly seen. The direction of the gravitational wave is perpendicular to the page. In the middle panel, the arms of an interferometer are shown.

proportional to the square of the third time derivative of the quadrupole moment [133] i.e.

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{G}{5c^5} \langle \ddot{\mathbf{I}}_{ij} \, \ddot{\mathbf{I}}^{ij} \rangle, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\langle \rangle$  represents an average over several cycles;  $I^{ij}$  is the moment of inertia defined as

$$I^{ij} = \int \rho(t, \mathbf{x}) x^i x^j d^3 x, \qquad (3.3)$$

and  $\mathbf{I}^{ij}$  is the symmetric trace-free (STF) moment of inertia or quadrupole tensor:

$$\mathbf{I}^{ij} \equiv I^{ij} - \frac{1}{3} \delta^{ij} I_k^k. \tag{3.4}$$

The energy flux of gravitational waves can be very large. For example, the energy flux of a sinusoidal, linearly polarized wave of amplitude  $h_+$  and angular frequency  $\omega$  is [133]

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{1}{32\pi} \frac{c^3}{G} h_+^2 \omega^2, \qquad (3.5)$$

which for a 100-Hz sinusoidal wave of amplitude  $h_{+} = 10^{-21}$ , one obtains a flux of 1.6 mW.m<sup>-2</sup>. A simple comparison shows that during a short time when the waves of a coalescing binary neutron-star system in Virgo cluster pass the Earth, the implicit energy flux is more than a millionth that from the Sun! As we will see, however, detecting the passage of this energy flux

is a very difficult task. In a sense, spacetime is extremely stiff, in that the "ripples" may be exceedingly small, yet can transmit considerable energy.

Before moving on to likely sources of detectable gravitational waves, it is useful to make a comparison between gravitational and electromagnetic waves:

- Detectable gravitational-wave signals (< a few kHz) reflect *coherent* motion of extremely massive celestial objects, while in contrast, electromagnetic radiation generally arises from an *incoherent* superposition of the motions of charges.
- Unlike photon detection, the detection of individual quanta of gravitation (gravitons) is impossible with any foreseeable tool [98].
- Compared to electromagnetic-waves, gravitational radiation suffers no more than a tiny absorption or scattering (although, like light, it is subject to deflection near massive objects). Gravitational-wave astronomy provides excellent tools to carry information about violent processes, for example deep within stars or behind dust clouds.
- Astrophysical events, where there are potentially huge masses accelerating very strongly, are the only detectable sources of gravitational radiation by the current (and proposed) detectors. The gravitational-waves emitted from the best possible manmade sources are utterly undetectable with current technology. For example, imagine a dumbbell consisting of two 1-ton compact masses with their centers separated by 2 meters and spinning at 1kHz about a line bisecting and orthogonal to their symmetry axis. For an observer 300-km away (in the radiation-zone) the amplitude of  $h \sim \delta L/L$  is  $10^{-38}$  [216], 14 orders of magnitude smaller than the best sensitivity of Advanced LIGO. For a LIGO-scale detector (4-km arms), it means measuring a distortion as small as Planck's length!

# **3.2** Sources of Gravitational Waves

Studying sources of gravitational waves by current and future detectors will uncover dark sectors of the Universe in extreme physical conditions including strong, non-linear gravity in relativistic motion and extremely high density, temperature and magnetic fields. Sources of gravitational waves are expected to emit in a wide range of frequency, from  $10^{-7}$  Hz in the case of ripples in the cosmological background to  $10^3$  Hz for the birth of neutron-stars in supernova explosions. Fig. 3.2 shows the signal strength at the Earth, integrated over appropriate time intervals, for a number of sources. This figure also illustrates the estimated frequency range for different types of sources. The ground- and space-based detectors are sensitive to high and low frequency ranges, respectively. In section 3.3 we will discuss different types of detectors together with their abilities and limitations.



**Figure 3.2:** Predicted signal strengths for a number of possible gravitational-wave sources. Different sources emit gravitational radiation in different ranges of frequency. Ground-based detectors are unable to detect low frequency waves (< a few Hz) while space-based detectors have this ability [146].

There are many sources of great astrophysical interest including the interaction and coalescences of black-holes and neutron-stars, low-mass X-ray binaries such as Sco-X1<sup>1</sup>, supernova explosions, rotating asymmetric neutron stars such as pulsars, and processes in the early Universe. In this dissertation we focus on the inspiralling compact binary sources, which are crucial for our work in parts III and IV, and refer the reader to recent reviews [81, 129, 214, 224] for further reading on other types of sources.

#### 3.2.1 Compact Binary Systems and Prospects for Detection

The coalescence of a compact binary produces short-lived and well defined signals of gravitationalwaves and therefore belongs to the most promising category of sources for detection. A compact binary system has two companions, which could be a neutron star (NS) or a black hole (BH), orbiting around the center of mass of the system. The system loses energy and angular momentum by emitting gravitational radiation. This leads to an inspiral of the two bodies toward each other and consequently an increase in rotational frequency of the system. The dynamics of every inspiralling compact binary have three phases which are illustrated in Fig. 3.3 including:

1. The early *inspiral phase*, in which the separation distance is large and therefore the gravitational field strength at each body due to the other one is weak. Systems could spend hundreds of million years in this phase with a low gravitational radiation power. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Scorpius X-1 was the first extrasolar X-ray source discovered, and, aside from the Sun, it is the strongest source of X-rays in the sky.

emitted gravitational signal in this phase has a characteristic shape with slowly increasing amplitude and frequency. It is often called a *chirp* waveform. A chirping binary could be considered as an *ideal standard candle* in the sky [223]; we can measure the luminosity distance by observing gravitational radiation from a chirping binary. The post-Newtonian approximation is valid in this weak-field, slow-motion regime.

- 2. The merger phase, when the two bodies get very close to each other and gravitational fields get extremely strong. The post-Newtonian approximation breaks down and a full numerical calculation is the only possible tool to obtain the motion in this regime. Studying strong, non-linear gravity and violent phenomena such as tidal deformation and disruption in the merger phase of coalescing binaries has been the domain of Numerical Relativity in the last two decades (for example NINJA project [18]). For a review of numerical relativity see [25, 170].
- 3. The *ringdown phase* (also called *late merger*), when the two compact bodies have merged to form either a single black hole or neutron star. The final, compact object in this phase could still radiate gravitational waves because of its asymmetries. It can be considered as a perturbed, rotating compact object and therefore perturbation theory can be applied to obtain the quasi-normal modes in this phase.



Figure 3.3: Phase evolution of a compact binary system: inspiral, merger, and ringdown. [picture credit: Kip Thorne]

Three types of compact binaries are possible:

• NS-NS binaries — Based on observational data of three NS binaries containing one or more pulsars in our own Galaxy, detected by radio telescopes, it can be estimated that Galactic coalescence rate of NS-NS binaries is  $\sim 9 \times 10^{-5} \text{ yr}^{-1}$  [62]. Any NS binary within the range of 300 Mpc from the Earth should be seeable by advanced ground-based detectors such as Advanced-LIGO which would imply an event rate between 0.1 and 500  $yr^{-1}$  for NS-NS coalescences.

- NS-BH binaries Since no astrophysical NS-BH binary has been observed to date, the estimation of their population is not as certain as for NS binaries. But, there still exist methods that we can use to estimate the event rate of NS-BH binaries in the detectable band of advanced detectors. Population synthesis models [130] give an event rate between 1 and 1500 yr<sup>-1</sup> within 650 Mpc from the Earth (NS-BH sensitive distance for Advanced LIGO, see Section 3.3.2).
- *BH-BH binaries* Population synthesis models are highly uncertain about the Galactic rate of BH-BH coalesces. Nevertheless BH mergers may be promising candidate sources for a first direct detection of gravitational waves because the signal is significantly stronger than for BH-NS and NS-NS binaries.

# 3.3 Detection and Data Analysis

There have been many attempts to detect gravitational-waves beginning with the pioneering work by Joseph Weber in the 1960's. He reported in 1970 coincident excitations of two resonantbar detectors in widely separate laboratories [256, 257]. However, subsequent experiments by other groups (either with the same level of accuracy or better) failed to confirm the reported detections [243]. The first gravitational-wave detectors were metal cylinders and the way that they were supposed to detect gravitational waves was quite simple. If the characteristic frequency of the incident wave is near the resonance frequency of the bar, the response to the wave is magnified and sudden changes in the amplitude of nominally thermal motion of the bar are expected. This effect is similar to an RLC antenna circuit's response to an electromagnetic-wave and we could measure it via piezoelectric transducers.

In the late 1990's, before the first generation of gravitational-wave interferometers came online, there were five major bar detectors operating cooperatively in the International Gravitational Event Collaboration (IGEC) [17]. These bars achieved impressive strain amplitude spectral noise densities near  $10^{-21}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ , but only in narrow bands of  $\sim 1-30$  Hz [16] near their resonant frequencies (ranging from  $\sim 700$  Hz to  $\sim 900$  Hz). Today, narrowband resonance bar detectors are almost completely phased out while the broadband interferometer detectors such as LIGO/VIRGO are leading the effort. Almost all of the current operating gravitational-wave detectors and all the proposed ones use interferometry techniques for detection. In the next section we briefly introduce the basics of interferometric detection.



**Figure 3.4:** Schematic of an interferometer gravitational-wave detector such as LIGO. Left panel shows a top-view of a simple interferometer while the right panel shows a side-view with more details in an actual interferometric gravitational-wave detector.

#### **3.3.1** Basics of Interferometer Detectors

Interferometric gravitational-wave detectors are very similar to the classic 1887 Michelson-Morley interferometer. A simple illustration is shown in Fig. 3.4. The apparatus is composed of two straight, equal-length arms in orthogonal directions. There is a beam splitter at the intersection of the arms which splits the coherent laser beam into two beams directed along each arm. There is a suspended massive mirror at the end of each arm which reflects the beams back to the beam splitter. The returning electromagnetic-wave signals will interfere constructively at the beam splitter, if the lengths of the arms are equal. Studying the interference pattern can show tiny changes in the lengths of the arms due to gravitational waves. The real apparatus is, of course, more sophisticated (see [216]).

Gravitational-wave detectors are better thought of as antennae than as telescopes, because their sizes are small compared to the wavelengths they are meant to detect. For example, the LIGO detectors when searching at 4 kHz have  $L/\lambda$  of only about 0.05. This small ratio imply broad antenna lobes. Figure 3.5 shows the antenna lobes for +,  $\times$  linear polarizations and unpolarized case vs. incident direction for a Michelson interferometer in the long-wavelength limit. As a result, a single interferometer observing a transient event has very poor directionality.

#### 3.3.2 Interferometric Detection on the Earth

One can think of the ground-based gravitational-waves detectors as having three generations.



Figure 3.5: Antenna response pattern for a Michelson interferometer in the longwavelength approximation. The interferometer beamsplitter is located at the center of each pattern, and the thick black lines indicate the orientation of the interferometer arms. The distance from a point of the plot surface to the center of the pattern is a measure of the gravitational wave sensitivity in this direction. The pattern on the left is for + polarization, the middle pattern is for × polarization, and the right-most one is for unpolarized waves [1].

#### 3.3.2.1 First Generation

Prototypes of gravitational-wave detectors since Weber (1960) led eventually to the building of major interferometric detectors on the Earth including:

• LIGO [285] which consists of three independent interferometric detectors: (1&2) a 2-km and a 4-km length detector at Hanford, WA, USA, and (3) a 4-km length detector at Livingston, LA, USA. They all use the same laser type (Nd:YAG) with the same wavelength ( $\lambda = 1064$  nm) and the same test mass mirrors (10.7 kg). The major interferometers share many design characteristic, but also display significant differences. LIGO is sensitive to loud-enough gravitational-waves in the frequency range of 30-7000 Hz, roughly speaking.

Since the first operation in 1999, LIGO has had three phases so far: Initial-, Enhanced-, and Advanced-LIGO during while significant improvements have been made. According to NSF (2008) LIGO is the largest single enterprise undertaken by NSF, with capital investments of nearly \$300 million and operating costs of more than \$30 million/year [286].

• VIRGO [288] which has been operating since May 2007 in Europe, Italy. The VIRGO interferometer has quite similar design to that of LIGO and comparable performance. The primary differences are in the arm lengths (3 km vs 4 km) and laser power (17 W vs 10 W). The Italian/French VIRGO collaboration has also put lots of effort to ultra-stable lasers, high reflectivity mirrors, active seismic isolation and position and alignment control.

While not as sensitive as LIGO in the most sensitive band near 150 Hz, VIRGO is more sensitive at low frequencies (below 40 Hz), because of aggressive seismic isolation. This

lower reach offers the potential to detect low-frequency spinning neutron-stars that are inaccessible to LIGO. VIRGO's sensitivity range of frequency is from 10 to 10,000 Hz. The VIRGO project is founded by CNRS and INFN on an annual  $\in 10$  million budget [106].

- *GEO 600* [283] is a smaller scale interferometer with 600-meter, folded arms (non-Fabry-Perot), built in 1995 at Sarstedt, Germany with a relatively small budget. Although this detector has a lower sensitivity compared to LIGO and VIRGO, it plays an important rule as a testbed for Advanced LIGO technology. It has pioneered several innovations to be used in Advanced LIGO: multi-pendulum suspension, signal recycling, rod-laser amplification, and photon squeezing. Meanwhile, it can serve (1) as an observatory keeping watch on the nearby galaxy when LIGO and VIRGO are down, (2) as a potential confirmation instrument for very loud signals. The sensitive frequency range of GEO-600 is from 50 to 1500 Hz.
- *TAMA* [287] was a 300-meter interferometer, similar to the LIGO detectors with Fabry-Perot arms and using power recycling, located at the Mitaka campus of the National Astronomical Observatory of Japan. It operated at comparable sensitivity to LIGO in LIGO's early runs. It was an initial project by the gravitational-wave studies group at the Institute for Cosmic Ray Research (ICRR) of the University of Tokyo. The goal of the project was to develop advanced techniques needed for a future kilometer sized interferometer and to detect gravitational waves that may occur by chance within our local group of galaxies. The Japanese collaboration that built TAMA is now building the 2nd-generation KAGRA detector (formerly known as LCGT).

#### 3.3.2.2 Second Generation

The LIGO and VIRGO detectors are now undergoing major upgrades to become Advanced LIGO [132, 171] and Advanced VIRGO [2]. These upgrades are expected to improve their broadband strain sensitivities by an order of magnitude, thereby increasing their effective ranges by the same amount. Since the volume of accessible space grows as the cube of the range, one can expect the advanced detectors to probe roughly 1000 times more volume and therefore have expected transient event rates O(1000) times higher than for the 1st-generation detectors.

In parallel, a primarily Japanese collaboration is proceeding to build an underground 3-km interferometer (KAGRA) [168] in a set of new tunnels in the Kamiokande mountain near the famous Super-Kamiokande neutrino detector. Placing the interferometer underground dramatically suppresses noise due to ambient seismic disturbances.

In addition, INDIGO [284] —which is a planned LIGO-type observatory in India— has recently received initial approvals by the U.S.A. and Indian governments. The LIGO instrumentation that was initially scheduled to be installed at the 2-km interferometer at Hanford will



Figure 3.6: Sensitivity curves of different generations of interferometric ground-based detectors. The sensitivity curve of space-based LISA in low frequencies is also shown for comparison [9].

be transported to India to add to the global network of gravitational-wave detectors, providing better source localization and better sensitivity to the polarization of gravitational-waves. Novel types of interferometers including AGIS [93] and TOBA [10] have been also proposed recently.

#### 3.3.2.3 Third Generation

With construction of second-generation interferometers well under way, the gravitational wave community has started looking ahead to third-generation underground detectors, for which KA-GRA will provide a path finding demonstration. A European consortium is in the conceptual design stages of a 10-km cryogenic underground trio of triangular interferometers called Einstein Telescope [282], which would use a 500-W laser and aggressive squeezing, yielding a design sensitivity an order of magnitude better than the 2nd-generation advanced detectors now under construction. With such capability, the era of precision gravitational wave astronomy and cosmology would open. Large statistics for detections and immense reaches (~Gpc) would allow new distributional analyses and cosmological probes. LIGO scientists too are starting to consider a 3rd-generation cryogenic detector, with a possible location in the proposed DUSEL underground facility [96, 204].

The sensitivity curves of these detectors with different types of coalescence binary sources are shown in Fig. 3.6. Space-based detectors are needed to detect low-frequency gravitational-waves.



Figure 3.7: Schematic diagram of proposed initial-LISA and its orbit about the sun. LISA was consisting of an array of three drag free spacecraft at the vertices of an equilateral triangle of length of side  $5 \times 10^6$  km. This cluster is placed in an Earth-like orbit at a distance of 1 AU from the Sun, and 20 degrees behind the Earth as shown.

#### 3.3.3 Space-Based Detectors

Some of the most interesting gravitational wave signals, such as those resulting from the formation and coalescence of black holes in the range  $10^3$  to  $10^6$  solar masses, will lie in the region of  $10^{-4}$  to  $10^{-1}$  Hz. To search for these requires a detector whose strain sensitivity is approximately  $10^{-23}$  over relevant timescales. It has been pointed out that the most promising way of looking for such signals is to fly a laser interferometer in space, i.e. to launch a number of drag free spacecraft into orbit and to compare the distances between test masses in these craft using laser interferometry. The sensitivity curve of LISA is shown in Fig. 3.6.

An ambitious and long-studied proposed joint NASA-ESA project called LISA (Laser Interferometer Space Antenna) envisioned a triangular configuration (roughly equilateral with sides of  $5 \times 10^6$  km) of three satellites (Fig. 3.7). As discussed above, there are many low-frequency gravitational wave sources expected to be detectable with LISA, and the proposed project has received very favorable review by a number of American and European scientific panels. Nonetheless, primarily for budgetary reasons, the project has been turned down by NASA (2012). Subsequently, NASA and ESA have solicited separate and significantly descoped new proposals. The funding prospects for these new proposals are quite uncertain, with ESA having recently passed over a descoped version of LISA called NGO (New Gravitational-wave Observer) in favor of a mission to Jupiter. Beside LISA-like missions, DECIGO [215] and BBO [77] are other existing possibilities for future spaced-based observatories that have been proposed recently.

#### 3.3.4 Pulsar Timing Arrays

Detection of stochastic gravitational waves, potentially, can be done by performing precise pulsar timing via radio astronomy. This could be thought of as an entirely different method compared to the interferometry method in LIGO/VIRGO, for instance. Very-low-frequency (VLF) waves (~ several nHz) in the vicinity of the Earth could lead to a quadrupolar pattern in the timing residuals from a large number of pulsars observed at different directions on the sky [92, 136, 217]. Three collaborations have formed in recent years to carry out the precise observations required: (1) The Parkes Pulsar Timing Array (PPTA-Australia) [181], (2) the European Pulsar Timing Array (EPTA-UK, France, Netherlands, Italy) [181], and (3) the North American NanoHertz Observatory for Gravitational Waves (NANOGrav USA and Canada) [156].

#### 3.3.5 Data Analysis

The most challenging task for gravitational-wave detectors is extracting the signal from noisy data. This issue is less challenging for LISA-like detectors where data is signal-dominated compared to the ground-based detectors such as LIGO which are noise-dominated. Different sources of noise are involved, including seismic noise, thermal noise, photoelectron shot noise. A number of data analysis methods have been derived, which provide useful tools to do this task. The goal of any data analysis method include detection of gravitational waves, inferring the nature of the source from the detailed properties of the wave signal, and testing general relativity. We will discuss this topic in more detail in Chapter 6, focusing on the Matched Filtering method.

# PART II

# Methods

- Chapter 4— Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory
- Chapter 5— DIRE: Direct Integration of Relaxed Einstein Equations
- Chapter 6— Parameter Estimation

The framework and methods that will be used in the following parts are introduced in this part, including the methods of the Parametrized Post-Newtonian (PPN) framework, Direct Integration of Relaxed Einstein Equations (DIRE), and Matched Filtering.

"There are in fact two things, science and opinion; the former begets knowledge, the latter ignorance."

-Hippocrates

# Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory

To compare various theories of gravity and also to analyze the significance of various experiments to test the fundamental theory of gravity, two theoretical frameworks have been postulated: the Dicke framework and the Parametrized Post-Newtonian (PPN) framework. The Dicke framework, suggested by Robert Dicke, is particularly powerful for discussing null experiments, for delineating the qualitative nature of gravity, and for devising new covariant theories of gravity. The Dicke formalism has been discussed in more detail in [262].

The PPN framework starts where the Dicke framework leaves off: By analyzing a number of experiments within the Dicke framework one arrives at (among others) two fair-confidence conclusions about the nature of gravity. These are (i) that gravity is associated, at least in part, with a symmetric tensor field, the metric; and (ii) that the response of matter and fields to gravity is described by  $\nabla \cdot T = 0$ , where  $\nabla \cdot$  is the divergence with respect to the metric, and Tis the stress-energy tensor for all matter and non-gravitational fields. These two conclusions in the Dicke framework become the postulates upon which the PPN framework is built.

In this chapter, we briefly review the PPN formalism because we will need some part of it in our future calculations and also because it will help us to a better understanding of Part III of this dissertation. This formalism provides a framework which is extremely useful for discussing specific alternative metric theories of gravity including scalar-tensor theories and for analyzing the solar system tests of gravitational effects. We will refer to this chapter when we study the equations of motion for compact binary systems in alternative theories of gravity in Part III. This chapter is mostly based on Will's work in [262, 265].

The main advantage of working in a *parametrized* post-Newtonian framework is that, in principle, a wide range of metric theories of gravity can be accurately described in this framework only by tuning the values of the PPN parameters for each theory. The PPN formalism provides a useful framework in which comparing the theories and testing gravitational effects are easier to do with very few *a priori* assumptions about the nature of gravity. The PPN framework is a very

practical tool to test alternative theories of gravity in solar system and beyond. Information given by future gravitational wave detection will also provide lots of useful data that can be applied to test alternative theories of gravity, although the PPN framework is less useful for those types of test.

## 4.1 The Newtonian Limit

Classic Newtonian mechanics works well on solar system scales. The gravitational field is weak enough and characteristic velocities are such small compared to the speed of light that any general relativistic effect will be extremely small. These two conditions are called weak-field and slow-motion conditions, respectively. Nothing prevents using the Post-Newtonian theory even beyond solar-system scales as long as the weak-field and slow-motion conditions are satisfied. In the solar system, to an accuracy of better than part in  $10^5$ , light rays travel on straight lines at constant speed, and test bodies move according to

$$\mathbf{a} = \nabla U,\tag{4.1}$$

where **a** is the acceleration of moving body, and U is the Newtonian gravitational potential produced by rest-mass density  $\rho$  according to

$$\nabla^2 U = -4\pi\rho, \tag{4.2}$$

$$U(\mathbf{x},t) = \int \frac{\rho(\mathbf{x}',t)}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x'.$$
(4.3)

Note that we have assumed c = G = 1. Considering perfect fluids with no viscosity, the Eulerian equations of hydrodynamics are

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{v}) = 0 \tag{4.4a}$$

$$\rho \frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt} = \rho \nabla U - \nabla p \tag{4.4b}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla, \qquad (4.4c)$$

where **v** is the velocity of an element of the fluid,  $\rho$  is the rest-mass density of matter, p is the pressure. Considering a test body momentarily at rest in a static external gravitational field, the body's acceleration  $a^k$  in a static  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  coordinate system reduces from ?? to

$$a^{k} = -\Gamma_{00}^{k} = \frac{1}{2}g^{kl}g_{00,l}.$$
(4.5)

We expect general relativity (or any other alternative theory of gravity) to be the same as Newtonian gravity very far away from the gravitational sources. In another words, we expect the metric in an appropriately chosen coordinate system to reduce to the flat Minkowski metric i.e.

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to \eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, +1, +1, +1).$$
 (4.6)

To keep everything self-consistent in the Newtonian limit the only choice for the metric components including gravity are to be

$$g^{jk} \simeq \delta^{jk}, \qquad g_{00} \simeq -1 + 2U.$$
 (4.7)

Given the stress-energy tensor for perfect fluids as

$$T^{00} = \rho, \qquad T^{0j} = \rho v^j, \qquad T^{jk} = \rho v^j v^k + p \delta^{jk},$$
 (4.8)

this is straightforward to show that the Eulerian equations of motions in Eq. (4.4) are equivalent to

$$T^{\mu\nu}_{;\nu} \simeq T^{\mu\nu}_{,\nu} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{00} T^{00} = 0, \qquad (4.9)$$

where we retain only terms of lowest order in  $v^2 \sim U \sim p/\rho$ .

Beyond the Newtonian limit when we begin to take into account the accuracies greater than a part in  $10^5$ , we need a more accurate approximation to the spacetime metric that goes beyond or *post* Newtonian theory (and this is why we called this theory as post-Newtonian theory). For example, for Mercury's additional perihelion shift of  $\sim 5 \times 10^{-7}$  radians per orbit, the accuracy of the Newtonian gravity is no longer enough, we have to consider the post-Newtonian limits of this problem as well.

### 4.2 Post-Newtonian Bookkeeping

For future use, it is very helpful to first develop a *bookkeeping* system for keeping track of *small quantities* in our post-Newtonian calculations. Because in the post-Newtonian formalism we often do an expansion in terms of small quantity v/c, it would be useful to compare the order of magnitude of the other quantities with v/c. The Virial theorem in its general form i.e.  $2 \times \langle \text{Kinetic Energy} \rangle_t = \langle \text{potential energy} \rangle_t$  in the effective one-body problem immediately yields  $\mu v^2 \sim \mu/r$  which clearly means

$$v^2 \lessapprox U.$$
 (4.10)

The matter making up the Sun and planets is under pressure p, but this pressure is generally smaller than the matter's gravitational energy density  $\rho U$  i.e.

$$\frac{p}{\rho} \lessapprox U.$$
 (4.11)

For instance, in the Sun  $p/\rho \sim 10^{-5}$  and in the Earth  $p/\rho \sim 10^{-10}$ . Other than gravitational energy U, one can also think about other forms of energy such as compressional energy, radiation, and thermal energy. But they are also very small compared to  $\rho$ . Defining  $\Pi$  as the specific energy density (ratio of energy density to rest-mass density),  $\Pi$  is  $\sim 10^{-5}$  in the Sun and  $\sim 10^{-10}$ in the Earth. We can think of the order of magnitude of  $\Pi$  as

$$\Pi \lessapprox U. \tag{4.12}$$

We assign to these above mentioned small quantities a bookkeeping label that denotes their order of smallness:

$$U \sim v^2 \sim \frac{p}{\rho} \sim \Pi \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$
 (4.13)

Later in this dissertation we will neglect the effect of non-gravitational energy density  $\Pi$  in our calculation but we keep it for now to be able to describe all the parameters in the complete PPN formalism. Based on Eq. (4.13), we can conclude that single powers of velocity v are  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{1/2})$ ,  $U^2$  is  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ , Uv is  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$ , and so on. Also since the time evolution of the solar system is governed by the motion of its constituents, we have

$$\partial/\partial t \sim \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla,$$
 (4.14)

and thus,

$$\frac{\mid \partial/\partial t \mid}{\mid \partial/\partial x \mid} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{1/2}). \tag{4.15}$$

Now, we are ready to analyze the *post-Newtonian* metric using this bookkeeping system. The action for the motion of a point particle in any metric theory of gravity can be written as

$$I_{0} = -m_{0} \int (-g_{\mu\nu} \frac{dx^{\mu}}{dt} \frac{dx^{\nu}}{dt})^{1/2} dt$$
  
=  $-m_{0} \int (-g_{00} - 2g_{0j}v^{j} - g_{jk}v^{j}v^{k})^{1/2} dt.$  (4.16)

The integrand in Eq. (4.16) can be considered as a Lagrangian L for a single particle in a metric gravitational field. In the Newtonian limit we can substitute the metric components from Eq. (4.7) to get

$$L = (1 - 2U - v^2)^{1/2}.$$
(4.17)

It is straightforward to confirm that this Lagrangian yields the equations of motion by using the Euler-Lagrange equations. In other words, Newtonian physics can be recovered by using an approximation for the Lagrangian correct to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ . Therefore L to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$  must give post-Newtonian physics.

Since half-integer-order terms, such as  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{1/2})$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$ , contain an odd number of factors of velocity **v** or of time derivatives  $\partial/\partial t$ , and these factors are not symmetric under the time reversal operator, half-integer-order terms must be representing energy dissipation or absorption by the system. But what happened to half-integer-order terms,  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{1/2})$  or  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$ , in the Newtonian Lagrangian? Because of the conservation of rest mass, terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{1/2})$  don't appear and conservation of energy in the Newtonian limit prevents terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$ . Beyond  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ , different theories may treat things differently. General relativity predicts that the first oddorder terms appear at  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2})$ , which represents energy lost from the system by gravitational radiation. Terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2})$  are prohibited by the conservation of post-Newtonian energy in general relativity.

Going one step beyond the Newtonian limit i.e. to first post-Newtonian order (1PN), we have to express L to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ . To do so we have to know the various metric components to an appropriate order as shown in the following,

$$L = \{1 - 2U - v^2 - g_{00}[\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)] - 2g_{0j}[\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})]v^j - g_{jk}[\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)]v^j v^k\}^{1/2}.$$
(4.18)

Thus the first post-Newtonian limit of any metric theory of gravity requires a knowledge of

$$g_{00}$$
 to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ , (4.19a)

$$g_{0j}$$
 to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2}),$  (4.19b)

$$g_{jk}$$
 to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ . (4.19c)

For calculation in the second post-Newtonian limit (2PN) we need to know each metric component to an additional power of  $\epsilon$  higher that what has been shown above for 1PN.

Similarly, it can be verified that if one takes the perfect fluid stress-energy tensor which is given by

$$T^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + \rho \Pi + p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.20)$$

and expand it through the following orders of accuracy:

$$T^{00}$$
 to  $\rho \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ , (4.21a)

$$T^{0j}$$
 to  $\rho \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2}),$  (4.21b)

 $T^{jk}$  to  $\rho \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2),$  (4.21c)

and combine it with the post-Newtonian metric, then the equations of motion  $T^{\mu\nu}_{;\nu} = 0$  will yield consistent *post-Eulerian* equations of hydrodynamics.

### 4.3 The Most General Post-Newtonian Metric

The most general post-Newtonian metric can be found by simply writing down metric terms composed of all possible post-Newtonian functions of matter variables, each multiplied by an arbitrary coefficient that may depend on the cosmological matching conditions and on other constants, and adding these terms to the Minkowski metric to obtain the physical metric. Unfortunately, there is an infinite number of such functionals, so that in order to obtain a formalism that is both useful and manageable, we must impose some restrictions on the possible terms to be considered, guided in part by a subjective notation of *reasonableness* and in part by evidence obtained from known gravitation theories. A list of the restrictions is given in section 4.1d of TEGP, specially:

- The deviations of the metric from flat space are all of Newtonian or post-Newtonian order; no post-post-Newtonian or higher-order deviations are included (see [65] for a discussion on distinction between Newtonian, post-Newtonian, and post-post-Newtonian terms).
- For the field points at very far distances from the matter source where  $| \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x}' |$  is extremely large, the metric is flat (asymptoticly flat condition). This condition prevents the appearance of terms such as  $\int v(\mathbf{x}')^2 \Pi(\mathbf{x}') d^3x'$  or  $\int \Pi(\mathbf{x}') [p(\mathbf{x}')/\rho(\mathbf{x}')] d^3x'$  in  $g_{00}$ , for example.
- The gradients of small order quantities related to matter including rest mass, energy, velocity, and pressure are not allowed in the metric. Terms involving gradients, such as  $\int v_j(\mathbf{x}')(x_j x'_j) [p(\mathbf{x}')/\rho(\mathbf{x}')]_{,i} d^3x'$  in  $g_{0i}$ , for instance, are prohibited by this condition.

We now can construct a very general form for the post-Newtonian perfect-fluid metric in any metric theory of gravity, expressed in a local, quasi-Cartesian coordinate system moving with respect to the universe rest frame, and in a standard gauge as shown in Eq. (4.22). The only way that that the metric of any one theory can differ from that of any other theory is in the coefficients that multiply each term in the metric. By replacing each coefficient by an arbitrary parameter we obtain a *super metric theory of gravity* whose special cases (particular values of the parameters) are the post-Newtonian metrics of particular theories of gravity. This *super metric* is called the parametrized post-Newtonian (PPN) metric, and the parameters are called PPN parameters. The most mature version of the post-Newtonian metric in its most general form is given in [265] as

$$g_{00} = -1 + 2U - 2(\psi - \beta U^2) + \Phi^{PF}$$
(4.22a)

$$g_{0i} = -[2(1+\gamma) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_1]U_j - \frac{1}{2}[1+\alpha_2 - \zeta_1 + 2\xi]\partial_{tj}X + \Phi_j^{PF}$$
(4.22b)

$$g_{ij} = (1+2\gamma U)\delta_{ij} \tag{4.22c}$$

$$\psi := \frac{1}{2}(2\gamma + 1 + \alpha_3 + \zeta_1 - 2\xi)\Phi_1 - (2\beta - 1 - \zeta_2 - \xi)\Phi_2 + (1 + \zeta_3)\Phi_3 + (3\gamma + 3\zeta_4 - 2\xi)\Phi_4 - \frac{1}{2}(\zeta_1 - 2\xi)\Phi_6 - \xi\Phi_W.$$
(4.22d)

where  $\gamma$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\zeta_1$ ,  $\zeta_2$ ,  $\zeta_3$ ,  $\zeta_4$  are 10 PPN parameters and the post-Newtonian potentials are defined to be functions of matter properties as

$$U \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*\prime}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23a)$$

$$\Phi_1 \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*'} v^{\prime 2}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23b)$$

$$\Phi_2 \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*'}U'}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23c)$$

$$\Phi_3 \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*'} \Pi'}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23d)$$

$$\Phi_4 \equiv \int \frac{p'}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23e)$$

$$\Phi_6 \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*'} [\mathbf{v}' \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')]^2}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} d^3 x', \qquad (4.23f)$$

$$\Phi_W \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*\prime} \rho^{*\prime\prime}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} \cdot \left( \frac{\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}''}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''|} - \frac{\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''}{|\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}''|} \right) d^3 x' d^3 x'', \quad (4.23g)$$

$$U^{j} \equiv \int \frac{\rho^{*'} v^{\prime j}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^{3} x', \qquad (4.23h)$$

$$X \equiv \int \rho^{*\prime} | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' | d^3 x', \qquad (4.23i)$$

and the preferred-frame potentials are

$$\Phi^{PF} \equiv (\alpha_3 - \alpha_1)w^2U + \alpha_2 w^j w^k \partial_{jk} X + (2\alpha_3 - \alpha_1)w^j U_j, \qquad (4.24a)$$

$$\Phi_j^{PF} \equiv -\frac{1}{2}\alpha_1 w_j U + \alpha_2 w^k \partial_{jk} X.$$
(4.24b)

where all above potentials are functions of  $(\mathbf{x}, t)$  while primed functions show the same functions evaluated at  $(\mathbf{x}', t)$ . For example,  $\rho'$  and  $\mathbf{v}'$  stand for  $\rho(\mathbf{x}', t)$  and  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}', t)$ , respectively. Notice that  $w^i$  in 4.24 indicates the coordinate velocity of the PPN coordinate system relative to the mean rest frame of the universe;  $v^i$  is the coordinate velocity of matter i.e.  $dx^i/dt$ ;  $\rho$  and p are the density and pressure of the matter both measured in a local freely falling frame momentarily comoving with the matter;  $\Pi$  represents internal energy per unit rest mass. It includes all non-rest mass and non gravitational energy, for instance thermal energy and energy of compression.

In Eq. (4.22) we are in a nearly globally Lorentz coordinate system in which the coordinates are  $(t, x^1, x^2, x^3)$ . All coordinate arbitrariness (gauge freedom) has been removed by specialization of the coordinates to the standard PPN gauge. For more details about applying Lorentz transformations to the coordinate system and also about the standard PPN gauge see section 4.2 and 4.3 of TEGP.

# 4.4 The PPN Parameters and Their Significance

As we explained in Section 4.3, the use of parameters to describes the post-Newtonian limit of metric theories of gravity is called the *Parametrized Post-Newtonian (PPN) Formalism*. A primitive version of such a formalism was devised and studied by Eddington (1922), Robertson [205], and Schiff [222]. In this formalism, which was developed for solar system tests of general relativity, the Sun is considered to be a non-rotating, spherical, massive object, and planets are modeled as test bodies moving on geodesics of the spacetime metric. The metric in this version of the formalism reads

$$ds^{2} = -\left[1 - 2\frac{M}{r} + 2\beta(\frac{M}{r})^{2}\right]dt^{2} + \left[1 + 2\gamma\frac{M}{r}\right](dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2}),$$
(4.25a)

where M is the mass of the Sun, and  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  are the only PPN parameters in this version. In standard PPN gauge, the parameter  $\beta$  measures the amount of nonlinearity of a theory in  $g_{00}$  while the parameter  $\gamma$  represents the curvature of spacetime produced by the Sun at radius r.

Schiff [220] generalized the metric in Eq. (4.25a) to incorporate rotation (Lense-Thirring effect), and Baierlein [21] developed a primitive perfect-fluid PPN metric. But the pioneering development of the full PPN formalism was initiated by Kenneth Nordtvedt, Jr. [185], who studied the post-Newtonian metric of a system of gravitating point masses. Will [260] generalized the formalism to incorporate matter described by a perfect-fluid. A unified version of the PPN formalism was then presented by Will and Nordtvedt [272] and summarized by Will in [262] (hereafter TTEG). The Whitehead term  $\Phi_W$  was added by Will [261].

Although linear combinations of PPN parameters have been used in Eq. (4.22), it can be seen quite easily that a given set of numerical coefficients for the post-Newtonian terms will yield a unique set of values for the parameters. The linear combinations were chosen in such a way that the parameters  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\zeta_1$ ,  $\zeta_2$ ,  $\zeta_3$ , and  $\zeta_4$  will have special physical significance. Evaluating every PPN parameter in a theory of gravitation is equivalent to measuring some specific properties of the theory.

# 4.5 Post-Newtonian Limits of Alternative Metric Theories

The PPN formalism is sufficiently general that a wide range of theories of gravity can be described by this formalism with some specific values for the PPN parameters. The interested reader might refer to TEGP [265] which presents a *cookbook* for calculating the post-Newtonian limits of many metric theories of gravity. However, in this section we only focus on two major classes of gravitational theories i.e general relativity and scalar-tensor theories of gravity. We show the final post-Newtonian form of the metric tensor in terms of the constants and variables of each theory and read the PPN parameters from that.

The field equations in general relativity are given by [see Section 1.2]

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu}.$$
(4.26)

Considering the stress-energy tensor of matter in the form of a perfect fluid and following the cookbook steps in TEGP, the final form of the metric in general relativity is

$$g_{00} = -1 + 2U + 3\Phi_1 - 2\Phi_2 + 2\Phi_3 + 6\Phi_4 - U^2, \qquad (4.27)$$

$$g_{0j} = -4U_j - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{tj}X, (4.28)$$

$$g_{jk} = (1+2U)\delta_{jk}.$$
 (4.29)

Keeping all the calculations in the standard PPN gauge, the PPN parameters can be read off immediately

$$\gamma = \beta = 1, \quad \xi = 0, \tag{4.30}$$

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \zeta_1 = \zeta_2 = \zeta_3 = \zeta_4 = 0. \tag{4.31}$$

Based on table 1.1 and the values of PPN parameters in general relativity one can confirm that this theory is a fully conservative theory of gravity ( $\alpha_3 = \zeta_i = 0$ ) and predicts no preferred-frame effects ( $\alpha_i = 0$ ) as we expect.

In general scalar-tensor theories of gravity, a dynamical scalar field  $\phi$  is introduced in addition to the metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The interaction between  $\phi$  and  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is governed by a coupling function  $\omega(\phi)$ . If  $\omega = constant$  the scalar-tensor theory reduces to its specific form of Brans-Dicke theory [58]. The field equations in scalar-tensor theories are derived from the action

$$I = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \sqrt{-g} \left[ \phi R - \frac{\omega(\phi)}{\phi} g^{\mu\nu} \phi_{,\mu} \phi_{,\nu} \right] d^4x + I_{NG}, \qquad (4.32)$$

where the matter action  $I_{NG}$  is a function only of matter variables and  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . It does not depend on the scalar field  $\phi$ .

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \frac{8\pi}{\phi}T_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\omega\phi}{\phi^2}\left(\phi_{,\mu}\phi_{,\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi^{,\lambda}\right) + \frac{1}{\phi}(\phi_{;\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Box_g\phi), \quad (4.33)$$

$$\Box_g \phi = \frac{1}{3 + 2\omega(\phi)} \left( 8\pi T - \frac{d\omega}{d\phi} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi^{,\lambda} \right).$$
(4.34)

We choose coordinates (local quasi-Cartesian) in which the metric is asymptotically flat and  $\phi$  takes the asymptotic value  $\phi_0$ . Defining

$$\omega \equiv \omega(\phi_0), \tag{4.35}$$

$$\omega' \equiv \frac{d\omega}{d\phi}|_{\phi_0}, \tag{4.36}$$

$$\zeta \equiv \frac{1}{4+2\omega},\tag{4.37}$$

$$\lambda_1 \equiv \frac{\omega'\xi}{3+2\omega},\tag{4.38}$$

and following the TEGP method we obtain the post-Newtonian metric of general scalar-tensor gravity as

$$g_{00} = -1 + 2U + 2[\psi - (1 + \xi\lambda_1)U^2]$$
(4.39a)

$$g_{0j} = -4(1-\zeta)U_j - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{tj}X,$$
 (4.39b)

$$g_{jk} = [1 + 2(1 - 2\xi)U] \delta_{jk}.$$
 (4.39c)

where

$$\psi = \frac{1}{2}(3 - 4\xi)\Phi_1 - (1 + 2\xi\lambda_1)\Phi_2 + \Phi_3 + 3(1 - 2\xi)\Phi_4.$$
(4.40)

Notice that in going to geometrized units, we have set

$$G_{today} \equiv \frac{1}{\phi_0} \frac{4+2\omega}{3+2\omega} = 1. \tag{4.41}$$

Comparing Eq. (4.39a) with Eq. (4.22), the PPN parameters in scalar-tensor gravity are [186, 188]

$$\gamma = 1 - 2\xi = \frac{1+\omega}{2+\omega}, \quad \beta = 1 + \xi\lambda_1, \quad \xi = 0,$$
(4.42a)

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \zeta_1 = \zeta_2 = \zeta_3 = \zeta_4 = 0. \tag{4.42b}$$

Again,  $\alpha_3 = \zeta_i = 0$  and  $\alpha_i = 0$  confirms that scalar-tensor theories are fully conservative theories with no preferred-frame effects. In the limit of  $\omega \to \infty$ , the PPN parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  reduce to their general relativistic values i.e. unity. Table 4.1 summerizes the PPN parameters of general

			<b>PPN</b> Parameter				
Theory	Arbitrary Functions	Matching Parameters	$\gamma$	$\beta$	$\zeta$	$\alpha_1$	$\alpha_2$
General Relativity	none	none	1	1	0	0	0
BD Theory	$\omega_{BD}$	$\phi_0$	$\frac{1+\omega_{BD}}{2+\omega_{BD}}$	1	0	0	0
General ST	$A(\phi), V(\phi)$	$\phi_0$	$\frac{1+\omega}{2+\omega}$	$1 + \zeta \lambda_1$	0	0	0

Table 4.1: The values of the PPN parameters for general relativity and scalar-tensor theories including Brans-Dicke theory.

relativity and one of the most popular alternative class of theories i.e. general scalar-tensor theories including Brans-Dicke theory.

# 4.6 Equations of Motion in the PPN Formalism

We define a *conserved density*  $\rho^*$  by

$$\rho^* \equiv \sqrt{-g} u^0 \rho, \tag{4.43}$$

where  $u^0$  is the time component of the fluid element's four velocity, and  $\rho$  is the locally measured mass density (see Section 5.3 for details). Using the general form of PPN in Eq. (4.22), up to the first post-Newtonian order we find

$$\rho^* = \left[1 + \frac{1}{2}v^2 + 3\gamma U + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)\right]\rho. \tag{4.44}$$

The components of the stress-energy tensor are given to the required order by

$$T^{00} = \rho^* \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{1}{2} v^2 - (3\gamma - 2)U + \Pi \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$$
(4.45a)

$$T^{0j} = \rho^* \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{1}{2} v^2 - (3\gamma - 2)U + \Pi + \frac{p}{\rho^*} \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$$
(4.45b)

$$T^{jk} = \rho^* v^j v^k \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{1}{2} v^2 - (3\gamma - 2)U + \Pi + \frac{p}{\rho^*} \right) \right] + p \left( 1 - 2\gamma U \right) \delta^{jk} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2).$$
(4.45c)

It is straightforward to calculate the Christoffel symbols from the PPN metric in Eq. (4.22). Having the Christoffel symbols and stress-energy tensor components up to appropriate order, one can substitute them into the equations of motion  $T^{\mu\nu}_{;\nu} = 0$  and obtain the PPN equations of hydrodynamics as

$$\rho^* \frac{dv^j}{dt} = -\partial_j p + \rho^* \partial_j U + \left[ \left( \frac{1}{2} v^2 + (2 - \gamma)U + \Pi + \frac{p}{\rho^*} \right) \partial_j p - v^j \partial_t p \right]$$
(4.46a)

Chapter 4. Parametrized Post-Newtonian Theory

$$+\rho^* \left[ \left( \gamma v^2 - 2(\gamma + \beta)U \right) \partial_j U - v^j \left( (2\gamma + 1)\partial_t U + 2(\gamma + 1)v^k \partial_k U \right)$$
(4.46b)

$$+\frac{1}{2}(4\gamma+4+\alpha_1)\left(\partial_t U_j+v^k(\partial_k U_j-\partial_j U_k)\right)+\partial_j\Psi\right]$$
(4.46c)

$$+\rho^* \left[ \frac{1}{2} \partial_j \Phi^{PF} - \partial_t \Phi_j^{PF} - v^k (\partial_k \Phi_j^{PF} - \partial_j \Phi_k^{PF}) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.46d)$$

where

$$\Psi = \psi + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \alpha_2 - \zeta_1 + 2\xi) \ddot{X}, \qquad (4.47)$$

where  $\psi$ ,  $\Phi^{PF}$ , and  $\Phi_j^{PF}$  are given in Eq. (4.22d) and Eq. (4.24). Note that  $\ddot{X} = \Phi_1 + 2\Phi_4 - \Phi_5 - \Phi_6$ .
"If we knew what it was we were doing, it would not be called research, would it?"

—Albert Einstein

#### **DIRE: Direct Integration of Relaxed Einstein Equations**

Direct Integration of the Relaxed Einstein Equations (DIRE) is one of three well-developed approaches to compute analytic, approximate solutions of the nonlinear field equations in general relativity via post-Newtonian methods (the other two methods includes the Blanchet-Damour-Iyer (BDI) approach [42–46, 86] and the Effective Field Theory (EFT) approach [127]). The DIRE approach has been developed by Will and Pati [190, 191] built upon earlier work by Epstein, Wagoner, Will and Wiseman [108, 251, 274, 278–280].

In this chapter we introduce this approach and show, step by step, how it can be applied to solve the Einstein field equations and obtain the explicit general relativistic equations of motion for non-spinning compact binary systems, including black holes and neutron stars. Here we review what has been done in [190, 191] only up to the lowest post-Newtonian order because of two main reasons: First, showing more details of the calculations and technics that the authors in [190, 191] have used. Second, to provide a well-defined, reference framework in which we can compare our new results with, in the next part of this dissertation. In addition, having the structure of DIRE method in GR will avoid repeating many similar, lengthy steps in some future calculations in this dissertation. In the next part, we will generalize DIRE method from GR to a well-motivated, general class of alternative theories of gravity namely scalar-tensor theories.

#### 5.1 Foundations of DIRE

#### 5.1.1 The Relaxed Einstein Equations

The method of DIRE is based on a reformation of the field equations of general relativity into a form known as the *relaxed Einstein equations*. The main idea is to recast Einstein's field equations from their regular form,

$$R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi T^{\mu\nu},\tag{5.1}$$

to their "relaxed" form,

$$\Box_{\eta}h^{\mu\nu} = -16\pi\tau^{\mu\nu}.\tag{5.2}$$

We choose a particular coordinate system and stick with it hereafter in which

$$h^{\mu\nu}_{,\nu} = 0. \tag{5.3}$$

This combined with the definition of  $h^{\mu\nu}$  in Eq. (5.4) is called the *De Donder* gauge condition in the literature. We also can call this specific coordinate system as *harmonic* coordinates, simply because Eq. (5.3) requires all the four coordinates to satisfy the curved spacetime scalar wave equation i.e.  $\Box_q x^{\mu} = 0$ .

In Eq. (5.2) the box operator is the flat d'Alambertian,  $\Box_{\eta} = \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu}$ , and  $h^{\mu\nu}$ , referred to as gravitational field, defined as

$$h^{\mu\nu} \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} - \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}, \tag{5.4}$$

where

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\nu}.\tag{5.5}$$

Equation (5.2) is in the form of a flat spacetime *wave equation* and therefore its solution can be treated via well-known *Green's functions*. The equation is called "relaxed" because it can be solved formally as a functional of source variables without specifying the motion of the source.

Here we have to emphasize that  $h^{\mu\nu}$  plays an important role in gravitational-wave calculations. The spatial components of  $h^{\mu\nu}$ , evaluated far from the source, describe the gravitational waveform and are directly related to the signal which a gravitational-wave detector measures.

The source term in Eq. (5.2),  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$ , is defined to be an *effective* stress-energy pseudotensor as the sum of a matter part  $(T^{\mu\nu})$  and a gravitational part  $(\Lambda^{\mu\nu})$ :

$$16\pi\tau^{\mu\nu} = 16\pi(-g)T^{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^{\mu\nu}, \tag{5.6}$$

where  $T^{\mu\nu}$  is the stress-energy tensor of matter and all possible non-gravitational fields. Assuming the matter source purely made of perfect fluid we have

$$T^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + p g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.7)$$

where p and  $\rho$  are the locally measured pressure and energy density, respectively, and  $u^{\mu}$  is the four-vector of velocity of an element of fluid. The gravitational piece of the effective stress-energy

pseudotensor,  $\Lambda^{\mu\nu}$ , is given by

$$\Lambda^{\mu\nu} = 16\pi(-g)t^{\mu\nu}_{LL} + h^{\mu\alpha}_{,\beta}h^{\nu\beta}_{,\alpha} - h^{\mu\nu}_{,\alpha\beta}h^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.8)$$

where  $t_{LL}^{\mu\nu}$  is the Landau-Lifshitz pseudotensor which is given by

$$16\pi(-g)t_{LL}^{\mu\nu} \equiv g_{\lambda\alpha}g^{\beta\rho}h_{\beta}^{\mu\lambda}h_{,\rho}^{\nu\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\lambda\alpha}g^{\mu\nu}h_{,\rho}^{\lambda\beta}h_{,\beta}^{\rho\alpha} - 2g_{\alpha\beta}g^{\lambda(\mu}h_{,\rho}^{\nu)\beta}h_{,\lambda}^{\rho\alpha} + \frac{1}{8}(2g^{\mu\lambda}g^{\nu\alpha} - g^{\mu\nu}g^{\lambda\alpha})(2g_{\beta\rho}g_{\sigma\tau} - g_{\rho\sigma}g_{\beta\tau})h_{,\lambda}^{\beta\tau}h_{,\alpha}^{\rho\sigma}.$$
(5.9)

To derive the relaxed form of Einstein's equations in Eq. (5.2) from their regular form in Eq. (5.1) the following key identity is useful. This identity is valid in any coordinate system and for any spacetime metric:

$$H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}_{,\alpha\beta} = (-g)(2G^{\mu\nu} + 16\pi t^{\mu\nu}_{LL}), \qquad (5.10)$$

where  $G^{\mu\nu}$  and  $t^{\mu\nu}_{LL}$  are the Einstein tensor and the Landau-Lifshitz pseudotensor, respectively, and

$$H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta} \equiv \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta} - \mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\nu}\mathfrak{g}^{\beta\mu}. \tag{5.11}$$

The tensor  $H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}$  has the same symmetry properties as the Riemann tensor, and if we apply  $\partial_{\alpha\beta}$  operator to it we immediately obtain

$$H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}_{,\alpha\beta} = -\Box_{\eta}h^{\mu\nu} + h^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha\beta}h^{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\beta}h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\alpha}h^{\nu\beta}, \qquad (5.12)$$

which together with identity Eq. (5.10) leads to Eq. (5.2).

Before proceeding, we shall discuss some important points about this relaxed form of the field equations compared to its regular form. Up to this point we have not applied any approximation, neither weak-field nor slow-motion approximation. The relaxed Einstein equations in Eq. (5.2) in harmonic coordinates are *as exact as* the standard Einstein equations in Eq. (5.1).

Eqs. ( note that although Eq. (5.2) takes the form of a simple wave equation in harmonic coordinates and doesn't look as difficult as Eq. (5.1), it is actually still very complicated to solve from many aspects. On the right-hand side of the relaxed equation,  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  is a function of the field,  $h^{\mu\nu}$  and the derivatives (see Eqs. (5.6, 5.8, 5.9)). In addition, there is a second derivative term, namely  $h^{\mu\nu}_{,\alpha\beta}h^{\alpha\beta}$ , which properly belongs on the left-hand side of the equation where the other second derivative terms in the d'Alembertian operator are. In another words, while we do know the formed Green function solutions for  $\Box_{\eta}h^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}$  we do not for  $(\eta^{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu})\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}$ , because we are solving for  $h^{\mu\nu}$  and do not know it before solving the equation. This term causes a deviation from the flat null cones of the background Minkowski spacetime and therefore a modification in the propagation of the field. Fortunately, it has been shown that DIRE recovers the leading manifestations of this effect. Notice that in the regular form of Einstein's equations we have all the geometrical properties of spacetime on the left-hand side and all the matter distribution information (energy-momentum tensor) on the right-hand side. This symmetry does not hold in the relaxed Einstein's equations any more. Generally speaking, by converting to the relaxed form we have not decreased the level of complexity of the equations, we have only changed from a complicated form which we don't know any formalism to solve analytically, to another complicated form for which at least we do have a well-known mechanism for obtaining analytic, if approximate, solutions..

Second, as we mentioned, the right-hand side of Eq. (5.2) depends on  $h^{\mu\nu}$ , and  $h^{\mu\nu}$  is the same quantity for which we are trying to solve the equations. Comparing with the classic concept of wave equation, it means what is waving in the left-hand side of the wave equation also plays a role in the source term on the right-hand side of the field (wave) equations. This means that not only the localized matter source generates gravity but also gravity itself generates gravity which is basically everywhere. This is a consequence of non-linearity of the field equations in general relativity.

Third, since  $\Lambda^{\mu\nu}$  is at least quadratic in h, the relaxed field equations in Eq. (5.2) are very naturally amenable to a perturbative non-linear expansion. If we assume that  $h^{\mu\nu}$  is suitably small everywhere, then iteration methods can be applied to solve these equations with some hope that the solutions might converge (possibly asymptotically) at the higher orders.

Fourth, as an immediate consequence of the harmonic gauge condition, the right-hand side of the relaxed equations Eq. (5.2) is conserved in the sense that  $\tau_{\nu}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . This can be shown to be equivalent to the covariant equations of motion of matter:

$$\tau^{\mu\nu}_{,\nu} = 0 \Leftrightarrow T^{\mu\nu}_{;\nu} = 0, \tag{5.13}$$

where comma and semicolon represent normal partial derivative and covariant derivative operators, respectively.

#### 5.1.2 Source, Near Zone and Radiation Zone

Consider two non-spinning compact objects, for example two black-holes, two neutron stars, or one black-hole and one neutron star, with masses  $m_1$  and  $m_2$ , orbiting around each other and radiating gravitational waves. We assume that the size S of these compact bodies is very small compared to the separation distance r between them ( $S \ll r$ ). According to an observer at the center of mass of the system, the companions are located at the positions  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_2$ , and rotate about the common center of mass (denoted by the small red cross in Fig. 5.1) in orbits with the larger mass having the smaller orbit,  $\mathbf{x}_1$ , and smaller linear velocity,  $\mathbf{v}_1$ . Here we choose the



Figure 5.1: Position of two compact objects  $(m_1, m_2)$  at  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_2$  relative to the coordinate origin, orbiting in quasi-circular orbits around the center of mass of the binary system with velocities  $\mathbf{v}_1$  and  $\mathbf{v}_2$ , respectively. The vector  $\mathbf{x}$  indicates the position of field point relative to the origin. The origin is chosen to be at the center of mass; r is the distance between the masses and R is defined to be the distance between the field point and the center of mass.

center of mass to be at the origin of our coordinate system, i.e.  $x_{CM}^{\mu} = (t, 0, 0, 0)$ . For simplicity. Fig. 5.1 shows the orbits to be circular.

We are mainly interested in solving the field equations for the field at a point close to the source objects, in order to compute the equations of motion of the system. The vector  $\mathbf{x}$  shows the position of the field point relative to the origin. We define R to be the distance between the field point and the center of mass of the binary-system. Since we chose the origin to be at the center of mass, R is equal to  $|\mathbf{x}|$  here. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 5.1. After this point we also assume slow-motion  $(v \ll 1)$  and weak-field  $(u \ll 1)$ . We define three spacetime zones around the center of mass of the binary system: (1) The source zone, which includes any point in the world tube  $\mathcal{T} = \{x^{\mu} \mid R < \mathcal{S}, -\infty < t < \infty\}$ , where  $\mathcal{S}$  is the radius of a sphere that contains all the matter. Any event that happens inside the source area at anytime belongs to this zone. (2) The near zone, which includes any point inside the world tube  $\mathcal{D} = \{x^{\mu} \mid R < \mathcal{R}, -\infty < t < \infty\}$ where  $\mathcal{R} \sim \mathcal{S}/v \sim \lambda/2\pi$ ;  $\lambda$  and v are the wavelength of the radiated gravitational-wave, and the relative velocity of the source bodies, respectively. Note that the near zone includes the source zone. (3) The far zone (radiation zone), which includes all the spacetime outside the near zone, or equivalently  $\mathcal{F} = \{x^{\mu} \mid R > \mathcal{R}, -\infty < t < \infty\}$ . Fig. 5.2 shows these zones in the spacetime around a binary-system source. For most of the evolution, up to the point where the post-Newtonian approximation breaks down,  $\mathcal{R} \gg \mathcal{S}$ .

After defining the near zone and far zone we are ready to go back and discuss the standard



Figure 5.2: Near-zone and far-zone. At one wavelength  $(\lambda)$  away from the source,  $\mathcal{R}$  divides the spacetime around the binary system to two regions: near-zone  $(R < \mathcal{R})$  and far-zone  $(R > \mathcal{R})$ . We treat the field points in different zones a bit differently but in the end, the final result must be independent of  $\mathcal{R}$ . The quantity  $\mathcal{S}$  represents the radial size of the source.



Figure 5.3: Past null cone of a field point. This figure illustrates in 2D how the integration over the whole spacetime for a field point at  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  (see Eq.5.14) reduces to integration only on the past null cone of that particular field point.

solutions of the relaxed Einstein equations in Eq.5.2 which are retarded, flat-spacetime Green functions in their integral form:

$$h^{\mu\nu}(t,\mathbf{x}) = 4 \int \frac{\tau^{\mu\nu}(t',\mathbf{x}') \,\,\delta(t' - [t - |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|])}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^4x'.$$
(5.14)

This integral is taken over all spacetime. But the delta function in the integrand reduces the integral to one over the past null cone C emanating from the field point  $(t, \mathbf{x})$ . That is because the integrand is zero everywhere except when  $t' = t - |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|$ . This is illustrated in Fig. 5.3.

As long as the field point is inside the near zone we can approximately treat the gravitational fields as almost instantaneous functions of the source variables. We can also neglect the retarded solutions or treat them as a small perturbation of instantaneous solutions. However, in the far zone the fully retarded solutions should be evaluated. Anyhow, field point could be either in the near zone or in the far zone. Both of these situations are shown in Fig. 5.4. The intersection of the near-zone world tube  $\mathcal{D}$  and the hypersurface of the past null cone  $\mathcal{C}$  is the region denoted by  $\mathcal{N}$ . We expect that the dominant contribution to the the integral will come from this region, because of the strong effect of the source in this area.

We break the integration of Eq. (5.14) over the whole past null cone into two pieces: (1) Integration over the hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$ , where the points are close to the matter source and the most important effect comes from, (2) Over the rest of the past null cone i.e.  $\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{N}$ , where gravity alone contributes to the integral, so that

$$h^{\mu\nu} = h^{\mu\nu}_{\mathcal{N}} + h^{\mu\nu}_{\mathcal{C}-\mathcal{N}}.$$
 (5.15)

We treat these two pieces of the integral a bit differently. Fig. 5.4 shows the situation in two different cases. In the left we see the case in which the field point is inside the near zone. This is relevant to the case that we want to calculate the equations of motion of the compact objects in a binary-system. The right panel of Fig. 5.4 shows the relevant case for evaluating the gravitational waveform and the energy flux in radiation-zone, when the field point is in the far-zone and very far away from the matter source. Depending on if the field point is in the near zone or in the far zone, and if the integral is taken over hypersurface  $\mathcal{N}$  or hypersurface  $\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{N}$ , we have four possible situations: 1) near-zone field point, near-zone integration 2) near-zone field point, far-zone integration. All of them have been discussed in [274] in detail. To obtain the equations of motion we focus on **near-zone field points**.

In this case, both  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{x}'$  in Eq. 5.14 are within the near-zone, therefore  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'| \leq 2\mathcal{R}$ . The value of  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  varies on a time scale  $S/v \sim \mathcal{R}$ . Thereafter we can do a Taylor expansion in powers of the small quantity  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|$ . We obtain

$$h_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mu\nu}(t,\mathbf{x}) = 4\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \frac{\partial^m}{\partial t^m} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau^{\mu\nu}(t,\mathbf{x}) \mid \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' \mid^{m-1} d^3x,$$
(5.16)

where  $\mathcal{M}$  is shown in Fig. 5.5 which represents the intersection of the hypersurface t = constant and the near-zone word tube  $\mathcal{D}$ . We do not expect the integral in Eq. (5.14) to depend upon the arbitrary boundary  $\mathcal{R}$ . We integrate over the whole past null cone and the final answer of Eq. (5.14) must be independent of where the radial boundary between the near-zone and farzone is located. But, each piece of this integral either  $h_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mu\nu}$  or  $h_{\mathcal{C}-\mathcal{N}}^{\mu\nu}$  individually depends upon  $\mathcal{R}$ .



**Figure 5.4:** Intersectional regions in 3D. Past harmonic null cone C of the field point  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  intersects the near-zone world tube D in the hypersurface N. In the left panel the field point is inside the near-zone while in the right panel the field point is in the far-zone. Region C - N indicates a part of the past null cone that is in far-zone. World tube T presents the source-zone.



Figure 5.5: Switching the region of integration in the near-zone from region  $\mathcal{N}$  to time-independent region  $\mathcal{M}$ . This is because reactions in the near-zone are almost instantaneous.

The only argument that one can make to avoid any inconsistency is that all  $\mathcal{R}$ -dependent terms must cancel between the inner and outer integrals. This cancellation of  $\mathcal{R}$ -dependent terms has been shown explicitly in [190].

Thus, to determine the field  $h^{\mu\nu}$  we don't care about  $\mathcal{R}$ -dependent terms in  $h^{\mu\nu}_{\mathcal{N}}$  and  $h^{\mu\nu}_{\mathcal{C}-\mathcal{N}}$  because they all together will finally cancel out anyway. So, we just keep  $\mathcal{R}$ -independent terms in each expression, then add them up to obtain the overall  $h^{\mu\nu}$ .

It can be shown that for near-zone field points, the outer integral, i.e.  $h_{C-N}^{\mu\nu}$ , can be ignored

until 3PN order. However, for far-zone field points the outer integrals begin to contribute at 2PN order. Will and Wiseman [274] have calculated the contribution of these terms to the gravitational waveform and energy flux up to 2PN order.

#### 5.1.3 Iteration of the Relaxed Einstein Equations

Figure 5.6 schematically shows the algorithm for solving the relaxed Einstein equations by iteration. Iteration is a useful tool here because the field itself  $h^{\mu\nu}$  appears quadratically in the source of the field equation and is assumed to be small. The starting point is  $h_0^{\mu\nu} = 0$ , then construct  $\tau_0^{\mu\nu}(h_0)$  and find  $h_1^{\mu\nu}$ . In another words, starting from N = 1 and knowing  $h_0^{\mu\nu}$  based on our knowledge about  $\tau^{00}$  up to Newtonian order (the only survived component of  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  at this order), in principle we are able to solve the field equation in the next order:  $\Box h_1^{\mu\nu} = -16\pi\tau^{\mu\nu}(h_0^{\mu\nu})$ . This gives us  $h_1^{\mu\nu}$ . We substitute this recent obtained solution,  $h_1^{\mu\nu}$ , to the next-order field equation to get  $h_2^{\mu\nu}$ . In principle, this iterative procedure can be continued until the order, needed to achieve a desired accuracy.



**Figure 5.6:** Iteration Procedure. A simple, algorithmic illustration to show how the method of iteration works to solve the relaxed Einstein field equations in higher post-Newtonian orders by using the lower order solutions.

To derive the equation of motion of the source from the field  $h_N^{\mu\nu}$ , first we have to construct the stress-energy tensor  $T_N^{\mu\nu}$  up to the proper order from the field and then solve  $T_{N;\mu}^{\mu\nu} = 0$  at its *N*-th order. The field  $h_N^{\mu\nu}$  obtained from the *N*-th iteration is a functional of the matter variables. To compute the gravitational field as a function of spacetime one needs to solve the equations of motion  $T^{\mu\nu}_{;\mu} = 0$  to the (N-1)-th order to obtain the matter variables as functions of spacetime. We have given a rough picture of the iteration procedure required to obtain the equations of motion of the source and to determine the gravitational waveform and energy flux via the DIRE approach. In the remaining sections of this chapter we will present some of the details. We will rederive the equations of motion of non-spinning compact binaries in general relativity up to 1PN order via the DIRE approach (This has been fully done up to 2.5PN order plus the 3.5PN order contributions by Pati and Will [190, 191]). Where needed for future reference, we will quote the complete 2PN expressions. We will refer to them in the next part where we generalize the DIRE approach to calculate the equations of motion of non-spinning compact binaries in scalar-tensor theories of gravity up to 2.5PN order.

## 5.2 Formal Structure of Near Zone Fields and Expansion to Higher PN Orders

We introduce a simplified notation for the components of the gravitational field  $h^{\mu\nu}$  and stressenergy tensor  $T^{\mu\nu}$ , to make the coming expressions a bit easier to work with:

$$N \equiv h^{00} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon),$$
  

$$K^{i} \equiv h^{0i} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2}),$$
  

$$B^{ij} \equiv h^{ij} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2}),$$
  

$$B \equiv h^{ii} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2}),$$
(5.17)

and

$$\sigma \equiv T^{00} \left( \sim \mathcal{O}(\rho) \right) + T^{ii} \left( \sim \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon) \right),$$
  

$$\sigma^{i} \equiv T^{0i} \sim \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^{1/2}),$$
  

$$\sigma^{ij} \equiv T^{ij} \sim \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon).$$
(5.18)

where we show the leading order dependence on  $\epsilon$  in the near zone. Recall that  $\epsilon \sim v^2 \sim u \sim \rho/p \ll 1$ .

From the definition Eq. (5.4), one can invert the tensor  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}$  to find  $g_{\alpha\beta}$  in terms of  $h^{\mu\nu}$ . Expanding to the required order, we find,

$$g_{00} = -1 + \frac{1}{2}N\epsilon + (\frac{1}{2}B - \frac{3}{8}N^2)\epsilon^2 + (\frac{5}{16}N^3 - \frac{1}{4}NB + \frac{1}{2}K^jK^j)\epsilon^3 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4),$$
(5.19a)

$$g_{0i} = -K^{i} \epsilon^{3/2} + \frac{1}{2} N K^{i} \epsilon^{5/2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2}), \qquad (5.19b)$$

$$g_{ij} = \delta^{ij} [1 + \frac{1}{2}N\epsilon - (\frac{1}{8}N^2 + \frac{1}{2}B)\epsilon^2] + B^{ij}\epsilon^2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3), \qquad (5.19c)$$

$$(-g) = 1 + N\epsilon - B\epsilon^2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3), \qquad (5.19d)$$

where  $\epsilon$  helps us to keep track of different orders of magnitude for different terms. Note that in Eq. (5.19) we have shown the full metric required for the 2.5PN equations of motion i.e.  $g_{00}$  to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2})$ ,  $g_{0i}$  to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ , and  $g_{ij}$  to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2})$ . However, to obtain the equations of motion to 1.5PN order, determining the components of the metric up to one order less than what is shown above for each component would be enough.

From above equations in Eq. (5.19), also notice that in order to find the metric  $g_{\alpha\beta}$  to the desired order. For the 1PN equations of motion we must obtain N and B to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2})$ ,  $K^i$  to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2})$ , and  $B^{ij}$  to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3/2})$ . Note that we treat  $B^{ij}$  and its trace B differently simply because B appears in  $g_{00}$  linearly.

The next variable that must be evaluated to solve the relaxed Einstein equations is  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$ which is made of two pieces:  $T^{\mu\nu}$  and  $\Lambda^{\mu\nu}$  (see Eq. (5.6)). We leave the components of  $T^{\mu\nu}$ in the form introduced in Eq. (5.18) until the final steps of the calculation. To evaluate the components of  $\Lambda^{\mu\nu}$  in terms of the field components required for calculating equations of motion up to 2.5PN order, we use Eqs. (5.8,5.9) and obtain:

$$\Lambda^{00} = -\frac{7}{8} (\nabla N)^2 + \left[ \frac{5}{8} \dot{N}^2 - \ddot{N}N - 2\dot{N}^{,k}K^k + \frac{1}{2} K^{i,j} (3K^{j,i} + K^{i,j}) + \dot{K}^j N^{,j} - B^{ij} N^{,ij} + \frac{1}{4} \nabla N \cdot \nabla B + \frac{7}{8} N (\nabla N)^2 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^3), \qquad (5.20a)$$

$$\Lambda^{0i} = \left[ N^{,k} (K^{k,i} - K^{i,k}) + \frac{3}{4} \dot{N} N^{,i} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^{5/2}), \qquad (5.20b)$$

$$\Lambda^{ij} = \frac{1}{4} \left[ N^{,i} N^{,j} - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{ij} (\nabla N)^{2} \right] + \left\{ 2K^{k,(i} K^{j),k} - K^{k,i} K^{k,j} - K^{i,k} K^{j,k} + 2N^{,(i} \dot{K}^{j)} + \frac{1}{2} N^{,(i} B^{,j)} - \frac{1}{2} N \left[ N^{,i} N^{,j} - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{ij} (\nabla N)^{2} \right] - \delta^{ij} \left( K^{l,k} K^{[k,l]} + N^{,k} \dot{K}^{k} + \frac{3}{8} \dot{N}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \nabla N \cdot \nabla B \right) \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^{3}), \quad (5.20c)$$

$$\Lambda^{ii} = -\frac{1}{8} (\nabla N)^{2} + \left[ K^{l,k} K^{[k,l]} - N^{,k} \dot{K}^{k} - \frac{1}{4} \nabla N \cdot \nabla B - \frac{9}{8} \dot{N}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} N (\nabla N)^{2} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^{3}). \quad (5.20d)$$

As long as the field point is in the near-zone, we can use the Taylor expansion of the gravitational field introduced in Eq. (5.16) and write the components of  $h^{\mu\nu}$  as integrals over the time-constant region  $\mathcal{M}$  (see Fig. 5.5) and their time derivatives. The near-zone expansions of the field components i.e.  $N, K^i$ , and  $B^{ij}$  are then given by

$$N_{\mathcal{N}} = 4\epsilon \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\tau^{00}(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3x' + 2\epsilon^2 \partial_t^2 \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau^{00}(t, \mathbf{x}') |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'| d^3x' - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon^{5/2} \mathcal{I}^{(3)}(t)$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+\frac{1}{6}\epsilon^{3}\partial_{t}^{4}\int_{\mathcal{M}}\tau^{00}(t,\mathbf{x}')\mid\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'\mid^{3}d^{3}x'\\ &-\frac{1}{30}\epsilon^{7/2} \Big[ (4x^{kl}+2r^{2}\delta^{kl}) \mathcal{I}^{kl}(t) - 4x^{k} \mathcal{I}^{kll}(t) + \mathcal{I}^{kkll}(t) \Big] + N_{\partial\mathcal{M}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{4}), (5.21a) \\ K_{\mathcal{N}}^{i} &= 4\epsilon^{3/2}\int_{\mathcal{M}}\frac{\tau^{0i}(t,\mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|}d^{3}x' + 2\epsilon^{5/2}\partial_{t}^{2}\int_{\mathcal{M}}\tau^{0i}(t,\mathbf{x}')\mid\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'\mid d^{3}x'\\ &+\frac{2}{9}\epsilon^{3}\Big[ 3x^{k} \mathcal{I}^{ik}(t) - \mathcal{I}^{ikk}(t) + 2\epsilon^{mik} \mathcal{J}^{mk}(t) \Big] + K_{\partial\mathcal{M}}^{i} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2}), \quad (5.21b) \\ B_{\mathcal{N}}^{ij} &= 4\epsilon^{2}\int_{\mathcal{M}}\frac{\tau^{ij}(t,\mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|}d^{3}x' - 2\epsilon^{5/2} \mathcal{I}^{ij}(t) + 2\epsilon^{3}\partial_{t}^{2}\int_{\mathcal{M}}\tau^{ij}(t,\mathbf{x}')\mid\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'\mid d^{3}x'\\ &-\frac{1}{9}\epsilon^{7/2}\Big[ 3r^{2} \mathcal{I}^{ij}(t) - 2x^{k} \mathcal{I}^{ijk}(t) - 8x^{k}\epsilon^{mk(i} \mathcal{J}^{m|j)}(t) + 6 \mathcal{M}^{ijkk}(t) \Big]\\ &+B_{\partial\mathcal{M}}^{ij} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{4}), \quad (5.21c) \end{aligned}$$

where we have define the *moments* of the system by

$$\mathcal{I}^Q \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau^{00} x^Q d^3 x \,, \qquad (5.22a)$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{iQ} \equiv \epsilon^{iab} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau^{0b} x^{aQ} d^3 x \,, \qquad (5.22b)$$

$$M^{ijQ} \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau^{ij} x^Q d^3 x \,, \qquad (5.22c)$$

The index Q is a multi-index, such that  $x^Q$  denotes  $x^{i_1} \dots x^{i_q}$ . The boundary terms  $N_{\partial \mathcal{M}}$ ,  $K^i_{\partial \mathcal{M}}$  and  $B^{ij}_{\partial \mathcal{M}}$  can be found in Appendix C of [190], but they will play no role in our analysis because they contribute at higher PN orders than we care about. Looking at 5.21, all integrals are well-behaved such that all integrands are constructed from (1) a specific component of the stress-energy pseudo-tensor  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$ , (2) either a power of  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|$  (Poisson-like potentials and their generalizations) or a multiple combination of spatial coordinates i.e.  $x^i$  (multipole moments), and (3) are integrated over a finite domain. Here we re-emphasize that all near-zone integrals are taken over time-constant region of  $\mathcal{M}$  and we discard any possible  $\mathcal{R}$ -dependent term because it must cancel with a corresponding term from the far-zone integral.

In the near zone, the potentials are either Poisson-like potentials P (the most frequent kind of potential), super-potentials S, or super-duper-potentials SD. For a source f, they are given by the following definitions and satisfy the relevant Poisson equations,

$$P(f) \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x', \qquad \nabla^2 P(f) = -f, \qquad (5.23a)$$

$$S(f) \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} f(t, \mathbf{x}') |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'| d^3 x', \qquad \nabla^2 S(f) = 2P(f), \qquad (5.23b)$$

$$SD(f) \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} f(t, \mathbf{x}') |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3 d^3 x', \qquad \nabla^2 SD(f) = 12S(f).$$
(5.23c)

We also define potentials based on the densities  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma^i$  and  $\sigma^{ij}$ 

$$\Sigma(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi\sigma f), \qquad (5.24a)$$

$$\Sigma^{i}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma^{i}(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^{3}x' = P(4\pi\sigma^{i}f), \qquad (5.24b)$$

$$\Sigma^{ij}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma^{ij}(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi \sigma^{ij} f), \qquad (5.24c)$$

along with the *super-potentials* 

$$X(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sigma(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' | d^3 x' = S(4\pi\sigma f), \qquad (5.25a)$$

$$X^{i}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sigma^{i}(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' | d^{3}x' = S(4\pi\sigma^{i}f), \qquad (5.25b)$$

$$X^{ij}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sigma^{ij}(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' | d^3 x' = S(4\pi \sigma^{ij} f), \qquad (5.25c)$$

and super-duper-potensials

$$Y(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sigma(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' |^3 d^3 x' = SD(4\pi\sigma f).$$
 (5.26a)

Super-duper-potentials begin to show up at 2PN order (only Y at 2PN order and  $Y^i$  and  $Y^{ij}$  at higher orders) while super-potentials begin to contribute at 1PN order. However, Poisson potentials are everywhere; including Newtonian, 1PN, and 2PN terms.

A number of potentials occur sufficiently frequently in the PN expansion that it is easier to redefine them specifically, just to make the calculations easier to follow. At Newtonian order there is the Newtonian potential,

$$U \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi\sigma) = \Sigma(1), \qquad (5.27)$$

At 1PN order, frequent potentials are:

$$V^{i} \equiv \Sigma^{i}(1), \qquad \Phi_{1}^{ij} \equiv \Sigma^{ij}(1), \qquad \Phi_{1} \equiv \Sigma^{ii}(1),$$
  

$$\Phi_{2} \equiv \Sigma(U), \qquad X \equiv X(1). \qquad (5.28)$$

In Eq. (5.21) we have the *implicit* integral form of the components of gravitational field  $h^{\mu\nu}$ in terms of stress-energy pseudo-tensor components. Armed with Eq. (5.20) and starting from Eq. (5.6), we can evaluate the *explicit* form of the near-zone field components in terms of Poissonlike potentials (see Eq. (5.27), Eq. (5.28)) and multiple-moments (see Eq. (5.22)). To do that we need to evaluate the contribution at each order and be very careful about it. The *leading* order of magnitude of each field component is shown in Eq. (5.17) but here we need to keep track of the contribution in each PN order separately. So we use the following useful notation. Notice that in this chapter we will do the calculation up to 1.5PN order but here we show the expansion through 2.5PN order, one PN order beyond what we need for the 1.5PN equations of motion:

$$N = \epsilon (N_0 + \epsilon N_1 + \epsilon^{3/2} N_{1.5} + \epsilon^2 N_2 + \epsilon^{5/2} N_{2.5}) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4), \qquad (5.29a)$$

$$K^{i} = \epsilon^{3/2} (K_{1}^{i} + \epsilon K_{2}^{i} + \epsilon^{3/2} K_{2.5}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{7/2}), \qquad (5.29b)$$

$$B = \epsilon^2 (B_1 + \epsilon^{1/2} B_{1.5} + \epsilon B_2 + \epsilon^{3/2} B_{2.5}) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4), \qquad (5.29c)$$

$$B^{ij} = \epsilon^2 (B_2^{ij} + \epsilon^{1/2} B_{2,5}^{ij} +) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3), \qquad (5.29d)$$

where the subscript on each term indicates the relevant level of PN order in which that particular term leads. For example,  $N_0$  is the leading Newtonian order of the field component N, while  $N_1$ is its leading 1PN contribution, and so on. In other words, in 1PN calculations we do *not* expect any terms except those with the subscript of 1. Consequently, the subscript of the first term in each line shows the PN order in which the relevant field component begins to contribute. For instance, one can read from Eq. (5.29) that B and  $B^{ij}$  show up at 1PN and 2PN for the first time, respectively. From Eq. (5.29) we expect a specific order of magnitude for each subscripted term in these relations, for example  $N_0 \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$  and  $N_1 \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ . In fact, one can check this after evaluating the explicit values of the terms later. Notice that our separate treatment of Band  $B^{ij}$  leads to the slightly awkward notational circumstance that, for example,  $B_2^{ii} = B_1$ .

At this point we are ready to deal with the relaxed field equations Eq. (5.2) at the first level of iteration (Newtonian order). At lowest order in the PN expansion (shown as subscript 0 in Eq. (5.29)), we only need to evaluate  $\tau^{00}$  with  $h_0^{\mu\nu} = 0$ ,  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$ , so that (see Eq. (5.18))

$$\tau^{00} = (-g)T^{00} + \mathcal{O}(\rho\epsilon) = \sigma + \mathcal{O}(\rho\epsilon).$$
(5.30)

Other components of  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  are of higher orders.

As a result, at the Newtonian order the tensorial relaxed Einstein equations reduce to a single equation

$$\Box N_0 = -16\pi\sigma,\tag{5.31}$$

which, with the definition of the Newtonian potential U in Eq. (5.27), has the solution in nearzone

$$N_0 = 4 \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma \, d^3 x'}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} = 4U. \tag{5.32}$$

This result reproduces Newtonian gravity and confirms the fact that general relativity contains Newtonian gravity at its lowest order when post-Newtonian theory is used. In the next step, using 8.2d, Eq. (5.6), Eq. (5.8), and Eq. (5.32) and keeping only the next generation of higher order terms compared to the first survived terms in the first generation i.e. 5.30, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \tau^{00} &= \sigma - \sigma^{ii} + 4 \sigma U - \frac{7}{8\pi} (\nabla U)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^2) \,, \\ \tau^{0i} &= \sigma^i + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^{3/2}) \,, \\ \tau^{ii} &= \sigma^{ii} - \frac{1}{8\pi} (\nabla U)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon^2) \,, \\ \tau^{ij} &= \mathcal{O}(\rho \epsilon) \,. \end{aligned}$$
(5.33)

Substituting into Eqs. (5.21), and calculating terms through 1.5PN order (e.g.  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2})$  in N), we obtain

$$N_1 = 7U^2 - 4\Phi_1 + 2\Phi_2 + 2\ddot{X}, \qquad (5.34a)$$

$$K_1^i = 4V^i,$$
 (5.34b)

$$B_1 = U^2 + 4\Phi_1 - 2\Phi_2, \qquad (5.34c)$$

$$N_{1.5} = -\frac{2}{3} \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{kk}(t), \qquad (5.34d)$$

$$B_{1.5} = -2 \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{kk}(t) . (5.34e)$$

To rederive above equations one needs to use the identities introduced in appendix D of [190], specially the following identity:

$$P(|\nabla U|^2) = -\frac{1}{2}U^2 + \Phi_2.$$
(5.35)

Using Eq. (5.34) in Eq. (5.19) to the appropriate order, the physical metric to 1.5PN order is obtained as

$$g_{00} = -1 + 2U - 2U^2 + \ddot{X} - \frac{4}{3} \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{kk}(t) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3), \qquad (5.36a)$$

$$g_{0i} = -4V^i + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2}),$$
 (5.36b)

$$g_{ij} = \delta_{ij}(1+2U) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2). \qquad (5.36c)$$

and will be needed in deriving the equations of motion later on.

## 5.3 Conversion to the Baryon Density $\rho^*$ and Equations of Motion in Terms of Potentials

We treat the source bodies as pressure-free balls of baryons characterized by the "conserved" baryon mass density  $\rho^*$ , given by

$$\rho^* = mn\sqrt{-g}u^0,\tag{5.37}$$

where *m* is the rest mass per baryon and *n* is the baryon number density. From the conservation of baryon density, expressed in covariant terms by  $(nu^{\mu})_{;\mu} = 0 = ((\sqrt{-g})^{-1}(\sqrt{-g}nu^{\mu})_{,\mu})$ , we see that  $\rho^*$  obeys the non-covariant, but exact, continuity equation (see Fig. 5.7)

$$\frac{\partial \rho^*}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot j = 0, \tag{5.38}$$

where  $j = \rho^* v$ ,  $v^i = u^i/u^0$ , and spatial gradients and dot products use the Cartesian metric. In terms of  $\rho^*$ , the stress-energy tensor is given by

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho^* \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} u^0 v^\mu v^\nu, \qquad (5.39)$$

where  $v^{\mu} = (1, v^i)$ . We define the baryon rest mass as

$$m_A \equiv \int_A \rho^* d^3 x, \tag{5.40}$$

such that

$$\mathbf{x}_A \equiv \frac{1}{m_A} \int_A \rho^* \mathbf{x} \, d^3 x, \tag{5.41}$$

indicates the baryonic center-of-mass. Therefore, the velocity and acceleration of each body are defined by

$$\mathbf{v}_A \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{x}_A}{dt} = \frac{1}{m_A} \int_A \rho^* \mathbf{v} \ d^3 x, \tag{5.42}$$

$$\mathbf{a}_A \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{v}_A}{dt} = \frac{1}{m_A} \int_A \rho^* \mathbf{a} \ d^3 x. \tag{5.43}$$

Using the equations of motion,  $T^{\mu\nu}_{;\mu} = 0$  for each fluid element it is not difficult to show that

$$a^{i} \equiv \frac{dv^{i}}{dt} = -\Gamma^{i}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\nu} + \Gamma^{0}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\nu}v^{i}, \qquad (5.44)$$

where  $\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\mu\nu}$  are the components of the Christoffel symbols computed from the metric via

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\beta} (g_{\beta\mu,\nu} + g_{\beta\nu,\mu} - g_{\mu\nu,\beta}).$$
 (5.45)



Figure 5.7: Illustration of m,  $\rho^*$ , and j.  $\rho^* = dm/dV$  is the amount of m per unit volume (in the box),  $j = \rho^* v$  represents the flux and m is the mass carried by a baryonic particle.

Our task therefore, is to determine the Christoffel symbols through a PN order sufficient for equations of motion valid through 1.5PN order using the 1.5PN accurate expressions of the metric in Eq. (8.21) (different components of  $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$  are needed to different accuracy, depending on the number of factors of velocity which multiply them); re-express the Poisson potentials contained in the metric in terms of  $\rho^*$ , rather than in terms of the "densities"  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma^i$  and  $\sigma^{ij}$ , substitute into Eq. (5.43), and integrate over the A-th body, keeping only terms that do not depend on the bodies' finite size.

We must now convert all potentials from integrals over  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma^i$  and  $\sigma^{ij}$  to integrals over the conserved baryon density  $\rho^*$ , defined by Eq. (5.37). From Eqs. (5.18, 5.39), we find

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho^{*}u^{0}}{\sqrt{-g}} (1 + v^{2}), 
\sigma^{i} = \frac{\rho^{*}u^{0}}{\sqrt{-g}} v^{i}, 
\sigma^{ij} = \frac{\rho^{*}u^{0}}{\sqrt{-g}} v^{i}v^{j},$$
(5.46)

where  $u^0 = (-g_{00} - 2g_{0i}v^i - g_{ij}v^iv^j)^{-1/2}$ . Substituting the expansions for the metric, Eqs. (5.19), and for the field components Eqs. (5.29) from Eq. (5.32) and Eq. (5.34), we obtain, to the order required for the 1.5PN equations of motion,

$$\sigma = \rho^* \left[ 1 + \epsilon \left( \frac{3}{2} v^2 - U_\sigma \right) + O(\epsilon^2) \right], \qquad (5.47a)$$

$$\sigma^{i} = \rho^{*} v^{i} \left[ 1 + O(\epsilon) \right], \qquad (5.47b)$$

$$\sigma^{ij} = O(\epsilon), \qquad (5.47c)$$

$$\sigma^{ii} = \rho^* v^2 \left[ 1 + O(\epsilon) \right].$$
(5.47d)

Substituting these formulae into the definitions for  $U_{\sigma}$  and the other potentials defined in Eqs. (5.28), and iterating successively, we convert all such potentials into new potentials defined using  $\rho^*$ , plus PN corrections. For example, we find that

$$U_{\sigma} = U + \epsilon \left(\frac{3}{2}\Phi_1 - \Phi_2\right) + O(\epsilon^2), \qquad (5.48)$$

$$V_{\sigma}^{i} = V^{i} + \epsilon \left(\frac{1}{2}\Sigma(v^{i}v^{2}) - V_{2}^{i}\right) + O(\epsilon^{2}), \qquad (5.49)$$

where henceforth,  $U, V_2^i, V_2^i, \Phi_1, \Phi_2$ , and  $\Sigma$  are defined in terms of  $\rho^*$  (see Appendix A of [190]).

At this point everything depends on the conserved baryonic density  $\rho^*$ , and we are ready to calculate the acceleration of body-A from Eq. (5.43) and Eq. (5.44) as

$$a_A^i = \frac{1}{m_A} \int_A \rho^* (-\Gamma^i_{\mu\nu} v^\mu v^\nu + \Gamma^0_{\mu\nu} v^\mu v^\nu v^i) d^3x.$$
 (5.50)

To do the above integration, first we have to calculate the integrand, which is equal to  $\rho^*$ times  $a^i$ . The Christoffel symbols are given in terms of the metric components and their derivatives in Eq. (5.45). Metric components are functions of the field components (see Eq. (5.19)), which we already derived as explicit functions of the potentials defined in Eq. (5.28), up to 1.5PN order in Eqs. (5.32, 5.34) (also see Eq. (5.29)). Applying all these and inserting the iterated forms of all potentials, we obtain the acceleration of a given element of matter through 1.5PN order in the general form of

$$a^{i} = \frac{dv^{i}}{dt} = a^{i}_{N} + a^{i}_{1PN} + a^{i}_{1.5PN}, \qquad (5.51)$$

where  $a_{1.5PN}^i = 0$  because the 1.5PN contributions to the metric are all functions of time, which do not survive the gradient used to calculate the Christoffel symbols.

$$a_N^i = U^{,i},$$
 (5.52)

$$a_{1PN}^{i} = v^{2}U^{,i} - 4v^{i}v^{j}U^{,j} - 3v^{i}\dot{U} - 4UU^{,i} + 8v^{j}V^{[i,j]} +4\dot{V}^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\ddot{X}^{,i} + \frac{3}{2}\Phi_{1}^{,i} - \Phi_{2}^{,i}.$$
(5.53)

#### 5.4 Two-Body Equations of Motion

We must now integrate all potentials that appear in the equation of motion, as well as the equation of motion itself given in Eq. (5.51) over the bodies in the binary system. We treat each body as a non-rotating, spherically symmetric fluid ball (as seen in its momentary rest frame), whose characteristic size S is much smaller than the orbital separation ( $S \ll r$ ). We shall discard all terms in the resulting equations that are proportional to positive powers of S: these correspond to multipolar interactions and their relativistic corrections. We also discard all terms that are proportional to negative powers of S: these correspond to self-energy corrections of PN and higher order. We retain only terms that are proportional to  $S^0$ . Such terms will generally depend only on the mass of each body, but it is conceivable that terms could arise that are proportional to  $S^0$ , but that still depend on the internal structure of each body. It can be shown [191] that such terms cannot appear at 1PN order by a simple symmetry argument. At 2PN order, terms of this kind *could* appear in certain non-linear potentials, but in fact vanish identically by a subtler symmetry. At 3PN order, such  $S^0$  structure-dependent terms definitely appear, but whether they survive in the final equations of motion is an open question at present.

Our assumption that the bodies are non-rotating will imply simply that every element of fluid in the body has the same coordinate velocity, so that  $v^i$  can be pulled outside any integral. This assumption can be easily modified in order to deal, for example, with rotating bodies. We also assume that each body is suitably spherical. By this we mean that, in a local inertial frame co-moving with the body and centered at its baryonic center of mass, the baryon density distribution is static and spherically symmetric in the coordinates of that frame.

We shall evaluate the acceleration consistently for body-1; the corresponding equation for body-2 can be obtained by interchange. At the end, we shall find the centre-of-mass and relative equations of motion.

The Newtonian acceleration is straightforward:

$$(a_{1}^{i})_{N} = -(1/m_{1}) \int_{1} \rho^{*} \int \rho^{*\prime} \frac{(x^{i} - x^{i'})}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} d^{3}x' d^{3}x$$

$$= -(1/m_{1}) \int_{1} \int_{1} \rho^{*} \rho^{*\prime} \frac{(x^{i} - x^{i'})}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} d^{3}x d^{3}x' - (1/m_{1}) \int_{1} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \int_{2} \rho^{*\prime} \frac{(x^{i} - x^{i'})}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} d^{3}x',$$

$$(5.54)$$

where  $\rho^*$  and  $\rho^{*'}$  are conserved densities at spatial points  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{x}'$ . The denisty  $\rho^*$  and  $\rho^{*'}$  vanish anywhere outside the bodies. The first term in the last line of Eq. (5.54) in which both integral points  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{x}'$  are in the same body vanishes by symmetry, irrespective of any relativistic flattening or any other effect (Newton's third law). In the second term in which  $\mathbf{x}$  is in body-1 and  $\mathbf{x}'$  is in body-2, we find that all contributions apart from the leading term are of positive powers in  $\mathcal{S}$ , and thus are dropped. This is equivalent to fixing  $\mathbf{x}$  at  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}'$  at  $\mathbf{x}_2$ . The integral result is as easy as

$$(a_1^i)_N = -m_2 \frac{n^i}{r^2},$$
  

$$(a_2^i)_N = +m_1 \frac{n^i}{r^2},$$
(5.55)

with the second equation obtained from the first by the interchange  $1 \rightleftharpoons 2$ . These are the well-known Newtonian equations of motion for body-1 and body-2, re-derived via the post-Newtonian DIRE approach at its lowest order.

The 1PN terms are similarly straightforward. A term such as  $v^2 U^{,i}$  is integrated over body-1 by setting  $v = v_1$  and writing  $U = U_1 + U_2$ . With  $v^2$  pulled outside the integral, the integration is equivalent to that of the Newtonian term in Eq. (5.54), with the result  $v^2 U^{,i} \rightarrow -m_2 v_1^2 n^i / r^2$ . Other 1PN terms involving quadratic powers of velocity  $(v^i \dot{U}, v^j V^{[i,j]}, \Phi_1^{,i})$  and the velocitydependent parts of  $\dot{V}^i$  and  $\ddot{X}^{,i}$ ) are treated similarly.

In the non-linear term  $UU^{,i}$ , the term involving  $U_1U_1^{,i}$  is of order  $\mathcal{S}^i/\mathcal{S}^4$ , where  $\mathcal{S}^i$  represents a vector, like  $(x - x')^i$  that resides entirely within the body. In the two cross terms  $U_1U_2^{,i}$ and  $U_2U_1^{,i}$ ,  $U_1$  and  $U_1^{,i}$  are of order  $1/\mathcal{S}$  and  $\mathcal{S}^i/\mathcal{S}^3$  respectively. It can be shown (see [191] for details) that the only terms in the product that vary overall as  $\mathcal{S}^0$  will have odd numbers of vectors  $\mathcal{S}^i$ , whose integral over body-1 vanishes by spherical symmetry. Only the term from  $U_2U_2^{,i}$  contributes. The result is  $UU^{,i} \to -m_2^2n^i/r^3$ .

In the terms  $\dot{V}^i$  and  $\ddot{X}^{,i}$ , the acceleration  $dv^i/dt$  appears. Working to 1PN order, we must insert the Newtonian equation of motion; but working to 2PN order (or higher), we must insert the 1PN (or higher) equations of motion. For  $\dot{V}^i$ , the result using the Newtonian equation of motion is

$$\dot{V}^{i} = -\int \int \frac{\rho^{*\prime}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} \frac{\rho^{*\prime\prime} (x' - x'')^{i}}{|\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}''|^{3}} d^{3}x' d^{3}x'' + \int \frac{\rho^{*\prime} v^{i\prime} \mathbf{v}' \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} d^{3}x'.$$
(5.56)

The double integral is integrated over body-1 similarly to the term  $UU^{,i}$ , and the velocitydependent term is integrated similarly to the term  $v^2U^{,i}$ . The general result of these considerations is that, at 1PN order, only terms are kept in which, in the quantity  $\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'$ , the two vectors are evaluated at the baryonic center of mass of the two different bodies, respectively, and never within the same body.

The resulting 1PN equation of motion is

$$a_{1(1PN)}^{i} = \frac{m_{2}}{r^{2}} \epsilon \left\{ n^{i} \left[ 4 \frac{m_{2}}{r} + 5 \frac{m_{1}}{r} - v_{1}^{2} + 4(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) - 2v_{2}^{2} + \frac{3}{2} (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} \right] + (v_{1} - v_{2})^{i} (4\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n} - 3\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right\},$$
(5.57)

$$a_{2(1PN)}^{i} = a_{1(1PN)}^{i}$$
 with  $1 \rightleftharpoons 2$ .

Note that as a natural consequence of the interchange  $1 \rightleftharpoons 2$ , we have to also convert  $n^i \to -n^i$ , because the vector **n** is a unit vector from body-2 toward the direction of body-1.

#### 5.5 Relative Equations of Motion

In the previous section we derived the equation of motion up to 1PN order for each star of a compact binary system. In this section we convert the already obtained equations of motion in Section 5.4 to their equivalent equations in the center of mass frame. It is useful to note that the Newtonian equations, given in Eq. (5.55), admit a first integral that corresponds to uniform motion of a "center of mass" quantity, namely

$$m_1 v_1^i + m_2 v_2^i = C^i \,, \tag{5.58}$$

where  $C^i$  is a constant. Choosing the coordinates so that  $C^i = 0$ , we obtain the transformation from individual to relative velocities, to Newtonian order,

$$\begin{aligned}
 v_1^i &= +\frac{m_2}{m} v^i, \\
 v_2^i &= -\frac{m_1}{m} v^i.
 \end{aligned}$$
(5.59)

These expressions can be used in 1PN terms in the equation of motion. Calculating  $a_1^i - a_2^i$ , using Eqs. (5.55, 5.57), and substituting Eqs. (5.59), we obtain the final relative equation of motion through 1PN order as

$$\frac{d^2 \mathbf{X}}{dt^2} = -\frac{m}{r^2} \mathbf{n} + \frac{m}{r^2} \left[ \mathbf{n} A_{PN} + \dot{r} \mathbf{v} B_{PN} \right] \boldsymbol{\epsilon}$$
(5.60)

where  $\mathbf{X} \equiv \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ ,<sup>1</sup>  $\mathbf{v} \equiv \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ ,  $r \equiv |\mathbf{X}|$ ,  $\mathbf{n} \equiv \mathbf{X}/r$ ,  $m \equiv m_1 + m_2$ ,  $\eta \equiv m_1 m_2/m^2$ , and  $\dot{r} = dr/dt$ . The coefficients A and B are given by

$$A_{PN} = -(1+3\eta)v^2 + \frac{3}{2}\eta\dot{r}^2 + 2(2+\eta)m/r, \qquad (5.61a)$$

$$B_{PN} = 2(2 - \eta).$$
 (5.61b)

Equation (5.60) with Eq. (5.61) describes the relative motion of the companions in a compact binary system in general relativity with the accuracy of one order of magnitude in  $\epsilon$  beyond the Newtonian limit, where the components are non-spinning, spherical, very small compared to the separation distance, slowly moving compared to the speed of light, and far away enough

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Notice that  $\mathbf{X}$  is *not* the coordinate of the center of mass.

from each other such that the tidal gravitational field of each body at the other body can be neglected. We showed, in this chapter, how the DIRE method works to order 1PN in GR. To learn how DIRE is applied at 2PN order in general relativity see [190, 191] and at 2PN order in scalar-tensor theories of gravity see part III of this dissertation.

In the following we quote the 2PN and 2.5PN coefficients in the relative equations of motion for an inspiralling compact binary system in general relativity [191]. The reader might compare Eqs. (5.61, 5.62) in general relativity with the corresponding expressions for scalar-tensor theories given by Eqs. (10.13).

$$A_{2PN} = -\eta (3-4\eta)v^4 + \frac{1}{2}\eta (13-4\eta)v^2 m/r + \frac{3}{2}\eta (3-4\eta)v^2 \dot{r}^2 + (2+25\eta+2\eta^2)\dot{r}^2 m/r - \frac{15}{8}\eta (1-3\eta)\dot{r}^4 - \frac{3}{4}(12+29\eta)(m/r)^2, \quad (5.62a)$$

$$B_{2PN} = \frac{1}{2}\eta(15+4\eta)v^2 - \frac{3}{2}\eta(3+2\eta)\dot{r}^2 - \frac{1}{2}(4+41\eta+8\eta^2)m/r, \qquad (5.62b)$$

$$A_{2.5PN} = 3v^2 + \frac{17}{3}m/r, \qquad (5.62c)$$

$$B_{2.5PN} = v^2 + 3m/r, \qquad (5.62d)$$

"The scientist is not a person who gives the right answers, he's one who asks the right questions."

-Claude Lévi-Strauss

**Parameter Estimation** 

We begin this chapter with a general discussion of data analysis methods in gravitational-wave astronomy. We then focus on the matched filtering technique and introduce the basics of this method. We end this chapter with an example to show how matched filtering method can be applied to do parameter estimation for a compact binary source of gravitational-waves. We will use these same methods in Part IV where we apply Fisher matrix analyses to bound the graviton mass and to constrain the deviation from Lorentz symmetry in quantum-mechanical inspired, Lorentz-violating theories of gravity.

#### 6.1 Gravitational-Wave Data Analysis

As we discussed earlier in Chapter 3, the observation of gravitational waves requires a very precise data analysis strategy, which is different from conventional astronomical data analysis in many ways. There are several reasons why this is so. Sathyaprakash and Schutz [214] have listed some of them as:

- Data analysis systems have to carry out *all-sky* searches, because gravitational wave detectors are essentially omni-directional, with their response better than 50% of the root-mean-square over 75% of the sky.
- Interferometer detectors are typically broadband, covering three to four orders of magnitude in frequency. This allows searches to be carried out over a wide range of frequencies, and helps to track sources whose frequency changes rapidly.
- Measuring the polarization of gravitational waves is possible only via data analysis of multiple detectors. Using multiple detectors also helps coincidence analysis and the efficiency of event recognition. Polarization measurement is of fundamental importance and has astrophysical implications too.

- Unlike typical detection techniques for electromagnetic radiation from astronomical sources, most astrophysical gravitational waves are detected coherently, by following the phase of the radiation, rather than just the energy. The phase evolution contains more information than the amplitude does and the signal structure is a rich diagnostic of the underlying physics.
- Detection of gravitational wave is computationally very expensive. Gravitational wave detectors acquire data continuously for many years at the rate of several megabytes per second.

In this chapter we consider the problem of detection of gravitational-wave signals embedded in a background of noise of a detector, and the question of estimation of their parameters. This led data analysts to develop a useful set of tools to search for gravitational-wave signals. A very powerful method to detect a signal in noise that is optimal by several criteria consists of correlating the data with a template that is matched to the expected signal. This *matchedfiltering* technique is a special case of the *maximum likelihood* detection method. In this chapter we review the theoretical foundation of the method and we show how it can be applied to the case of a very general deterministic gravitational-wave signal buried in a *stationary* and *Gaussian* noise. Among all the potential candidates of gravitational-wave sources, inspiralling compact binaries are amongst the most promising. This is a result of the ability to model the phase and amplitude of the signals quite accurately and consequently to achieve maximum signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) by using matched filtering techniques.

Even though gravitational-wave signals have not been detected yet, we can already investigate the performance of the detectors from a parameter estimation point of view. The relevant information is the distribution of the measured values (e.g., component masses, time of coalescence) and the error bounds on their variances. The Fisher information matrix is a convenient tool to obtain these error bounds. More details on the Fisher matrix analysis and the matched filtering technique will be given in Section 6.2. Indeed, in the cases that will interest us, the Fisher information matrix can easily be computed because inspiralling compact binaries can be modeled analytically. The covariance matrix was derived in [79, 114, 154] using Newtonian waveforms, extended to second post-Newtonian order (2PN) [167, 197], and revisited up to 3.5 PN order [11, 12]. The main advantage of the covariance matrix is that once analytical expressions are available, expected error bounds can be calculated quickly for any type of component masses. Moreover, the errors are expected to fall off as the inverse of the SNR. However, the analytical expressions are valid in the strong-signal approximation case only. Since the first detection of gravitational-wave signals is expected to be in a low-SNR regime (below 20), the Fisher information matrix may not be the best tool to estimate error bounds in practice.

There are other methods for estimating errors bounds that are based on simulations, and they should be able to correctly estimate error bounds even at low SNRs. However, these methods are computationally much more intensive compared to the Fisher information matrix formalism. For instance, in [208], the authors use a Bayesian analysis framework (for binary neutron star signals) so as to estimate the signal's parameters and their errors. The posterior integration is carried out using Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) methods. In [19, 22], the authors compared the error bounds given by the Fisher information matrix with those from Monte Carlo simulations. They found that in the case of black-hole neutron-star binaries ((1.4, 10)  $M_{\odot}$ ), the covariance matrix underestimates the error bounds by a factor of 2 at a SNR of 10 (chirp mass errors). This discrepancy vanishes when the SNR is approximately 15 for a Newtonian waveform and 25 for a 1PN waveform. It was also stated that the inclusion of higher order terms would be computationally quite intensive [71].

A very important development was the work by Cutler et al. [78] where it was realized that for the case of coalescing binaries matched filtering was sensitive to very small post-Newtonian effects of the waveform. Thus these effects can be detected. This leads to a much better verification of Einstein's theory of relativity and provides a wealth of astrophysical information that would make a laser interferometric gravitational-wave detector a true astronomical observatory complementary to those utilizing the electromagnetic spectrum.

Figure 6.1 shows a schematic outline of the way in which LIGO and Virgo searches can be broken down. As one moves from left to right on the diagram, waveforms increase in duration, while as one moves from top to bottom, *a priori* waveform definition decreases. Populating the upper left corner is the extreme of an inspiraling compact binary system of two neutron stars in the regime where corrections to Newtonian orbits can be calculated with great confidence. Populating the upper right corner are isolated, known, non-glitching spinning neutron stars with smooth rotational spindown and measured orientation parameters. Populating the lower left corner of the diagram are supernovae, rapid bursts of gravitational radiation for which phase evolution cannot be confidently predicted, and for which it is challenging to make even coarse spectral predictions. At the bottom right one finds a stochastic, cosmological background of radiation for which phase evolution is random, but with a spectrum stationary in time. Between these extremes can live sources on the left such as the merger phases of a BH-BH coalescence. On the right one finds, for example, an accreting neutron star in a low-mass X-ray binary system where fuctuations in the accretion process lead to unpredictable wandering phase.

The matched filtering technique can be applied as long as the waveform is known (gray area in Fig. 6.1). Solving the field equations and obtaining the gravitational waveform as a known expression, one can use it as a template to do matched filtering and hence measure the properties of gravitational source. For instance, in Section 6.3 we show how we can use the matched filtering method to estimate the parameters of a compact binary system, such as the masses and spins of the companions. In Part IV we use the same method to bound the graviton's mass [179, 197] and to constrain the deviation from Lorentz symmetry [179] in alternative theories of gravity.



Figure 6.1: A schematic illustration of different gravitational-wave sources in terms of duration and our knowledge about the waveform [204]. Gray area shows where we can use matched filtering technique with no problem.

#### 6.2 Matched Filtering: Theory

Various work by various authors, including Finn [113] and Cutler and Flanagan [79] have put the theory and measurement of gravitational-wave signals on a firm statistical foundation, rather similar to that underlying the theory of radar detection [138, 253]. Here in this section we introduce the theory of *matched filtering* and parameter estimation for our future purposes in Part IV.

To extract the gravitational-wave signal  $h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta})$  from noisy detector data, we need to be armed with some standard mechanism. When a signal of the form  $h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta})$  has passed through the detectors (a network of detectors), this data analysis mechanism should allow us to determine the value of the source parameters  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  and the measurement error  $\Delta \boldsymbol{\theta} = \boldsymbol{\theta} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ , where  $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$  denotes the true value.

It is useful to define  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$  as the probability that the gravitational-wave signal is characterized by the parameters  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ , where the detector output is s(t) and a signal  $h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta})$  —for any value of the parameters  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ — is present. Finn in [113] has derived an expression for  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$ . The detector output signal is composed of gravitational-wave signal  $h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta})$  and the stationary random (Gaussian) function of detector noise n(t) such that

$$s(t) = h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta}) + n(t). \tag{6.1}$$

Note that being a stationary and Gaussian random process for the detector noise, n(t), is a crucial assumption. Finn shows that

$$p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s) \propto p^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(h(\boldsymbol{\theta}) - s \mid h(\boldsymbol{\theta}) - s\right)\right],\tag{6.2}$$

where  $p^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{\theta})$  is the a priori probability that the signal is characterized by  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  (this represents our prior information regarding the possible value of the parameters) and where the constant of proportionality is independent of  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ . In a given measurement, characterized by the particular detector output s(t), the true values of the source parameters can be estimated by maximizing the value of probability distribution function and locating the parameter  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  at this maximized  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$  which in this case  $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ . This is the so-called maximum-likelihood estimator [253].

The inner product operator  $(\cdot \mid \cdot)$  is defined such that [79]

$$(g \mid h) = 2 \int_0^\infty \frac{\tilde{g}^*(f)\tilde{h}(f) + \tilde{g}(f)\tilde{h}^*(f)}{S_n(f)} df.$$
 (6.3)

The inner product in Eq. (6.3) is defined so that the probability for the noise n(t) to have a particular realization  $n_0(t)$  is given by  $p(n = n_0) \propto \exp[-(n_0 \mid n_0)/2]$ . The noise spectral density  $S_n(f)$  in Eq. (6.3) is twice the Fourier transform of the autocorrelation function of the noise detector

$$S_n(f) = 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} C_n(\tau) e^{2\pi i f \tau} d\tau, \qquad (6.4)$$

which is defined for f > 0 only, and  $C_n(\tau)$  is the *autocorrelation function* of the noise detector

$$C_n(\tau) = \langle n(t)n(t+\tau) \rangle, \tag{6.5}$$

where  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  denotes a time average (It is assumed that the noise has zero mean). All of the statistical properties of the detector noise can be summarized by its autocorrelation function. Notice that in Eq. (6.3) "\*" denotes complex conjugation and "~" shows the Fourier transformation e.g.

$$\tilde{g}(f) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(t)e^{2\pi i f t} dt.$$
(6.6)

We define  $\rho$ , the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) associated with the measurement, to be the norm of the signal  $h(t; \boldsymbol{\theta})$ ,

$$\rho^{2} = (h \mid h) = 4 \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\tilde{h}(f)|^{2}}{S_{n}(f)} df,$$
(6.7)

evaluated at  $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \hat{\theta}$ , where  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$  is maximum and therefore  $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \hat{\theta}$  is the estimated value of the source parameters. In the limit of large values of SNR, to which we henceforth specialize,  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$  will be strongly peaked about this value. We now derive a simplified expression for  $p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s)$  appropriate for this limiting case of high SNR values.

First of all, we assume that  $p^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{\theta})$  is nearly uniform near  $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ . This indicates that the prior information is practically irrelevant to the determination of the source parameters; we shall relax this assumption below. Then, denoting

$$\xi(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \equiv (h(\boldsymbol{\theta}) - s \mid h(\boldsymbol{\theta}) - s), \tag{6.8}$$

we have that  $\xi$  is minimum at  $\theta = \hat{\theta}$ . It follows that this can be expanded as

$$\xi(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \xi(\hat{\theta}) + \frac{1}{2} \,\xi_{,ab}(\hat{\theta}) \Delta \theta^a \Delta \theta^b + \cdots, \qquad (6.9)$$

where  $\Delta \theta^a = \theta^a - \hat{\theta}^a$ , comma represents partial derivative with respect to the parameter  $\theta$  (for example  $\xi_{,a} = \partial \xi / \partial \theta^a$ ), and summation over repeated indices is understood. We assume that  $\rho$  is sufficiently large that the higher-order terms can be neglected. Calculation yields

$$\xi_{,ab} = (h_{,ab} \mid h - s) + (h_{,a} \mid h_{,b}), \tag{6.10}$$

and we again assume that  $\rho$  is large enough that the first term can be neglected (see Cutler and Flanagan [79] for details). Therefore, in the limit of high SNR values, Eq. (6.2) can be well approximated by a Gaussian form distribution as

$$p(\boldsymbol{\theta} \mid s) \propto p^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{ab}\Delta\theta^a \Delta\theta^b\right],$$
 (6.11)

where

$$\Gamma_{ab} = (h_{,a} \mid h_{,b}), \tag{6.12}$$

evaluated at  $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \hat{\theta}$ , is the *Fisher information matrix* [138] that is the most crucial quantity that has to be evaluated in the matched filtering technique. From Eq. (6.11) it can be established that the variance-covariance matrix  $\Sigma^{ab}$  is given by

$$\Sigma^{ab} \equiv \langle \Delta \theta^a \Delta \theta^b \rangle = (\Gamma^{-1})^{ab}. \tag{6.13}$$

Here,  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  denotes an average over the probability distribution function Eq. (6.11), and  $\Gamma^{-1}$  represents the inverse of the Fisher matrix. We define the *measurement error* in the parameter  $\theta^a$  to be

$$\sigma_a = \left\langle (\Delta \theta^a)^2 \right\rangle^{1/2} = \sqrt{\Sigma^{aa}} \tag{6.14}$$

(no summation over repeated indices), and —based on the above defined  $\sigma_a$  and  $\sigma_b$ — the correlation coefficient between parameters  $\theta^a$  and  $\theta^b$  as

$$c^{ab} = \frac{\langle \Delta \theta^a \Delta \theta^b \rangle}{\sigma_a \sigma_b} = \frac{\Sigma^{ab}}{\sqrt{\Sigma^{aa} \Sigma^{bb}}}; \tag{6.15}$$

by definition each  $c^{ab}$  must lie in the range (-1, 1). In the next section, we clarify how to use

the method of matched filtering by giving an example. For a specific SNR value, with knowing (a) the anticipated noise spectral density of a gravitational-wave detector and (b) the waveform template accurate to the appropriate post-Newtonian order, in Section 6.3 we describe how one can use the Fisher matrix approach to calculate  $\sigma_a$  and  $c^{ab}$ .

#### 6.3 Matched Filtering to Parameter Estimation: An Example

In this section we apply the matched filtering Fisher matrix analysis to a specific example. This example has been studied by Poisson and Will [197] and we review it here. The techniques and methods that we show in this example are same as those that we will apply in Part IV of this dissertation.

The detailed expression for the post-Newtonian waveform is complicated: the dependence on the various angles (position of the source in the sky, orientation of the detector, orientation of the polarization axes) is not simple, and the waves have several frequency components given by the harmonics of the orbital frequency (assuming that the orbit is circular [172, 193]). A Fourier domain waveform (the so-called as TaylorF2 template), which is the most often employed PN approximant, is given by

$$\tilde{h}(f) = \mathcal{A}f^{-7/6}e^{i\psi(f)},\tag{6.16}$$

where the amplitude  $\mathcal{A} \propto \mathcal{M}^{5/6}Q(\text{angles})/r$ , (*r* is the distance to the source, *Q* is a function of the various angles mentioned above) and the phase is

$$\psi(f) = 2\pi f t_c - \phi_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + \frac{3}{128} (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{-5/3} \left[ 1 + \frac{20}{9} \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right) (\pi Mf)^{2/3} - 4(4\pi - \beta)(\pi Mf) + 10 \left( \frac{3058673}{1016064} + \frac{5429}{1008} \eta + \frac{617}{144} \eta^2 - \sigma \right) (\pi Mf)^{4/3} \right].$$
(6.17)

Here we introduce all the variables in Eq. (6.17):

- f is the Fourier transform variable. Notice the difference between this variable, f, and the gravitational-wave frequency F in this section.
- $t_c$  and  $\phi_c$  are constants of the problem and represent the time and phase at the time of coalescence, respectively. The explicit functionality of t and  $\Phi$  (the phase  $\Phi(t) = \int 2\pi F(t)dt$ ) in terms of wave frequency F is given by

$$t(F) = t_c - \frac{5}{256} \mathcal{M}(\pi \mathcal{M}F)^{-8/3} \left[ 1 + \frac{4}{3} \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right) (\pi MF)^{2/3} - \frac{8}{5} (4\pi - \beta)(\pi MF) \right. \\ \left. + 2 \left( \frac{3058673}{1016064} + \frac{5429}{1008} \eta + \frac{617}{144} \eta^2 - \sigma \right) (\pi MF)^{4/3} \right],$$
(6.18)

$$\Phi(F) = \phi_c - \frac{1}{16} (\pi \mathcal{M}F)^{-5/3} \left[ 1 + \frac{5}{3} \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right) (\pi MF)^{2/3} - \frac{5}{2} (4\pi - \beta) (\pi MF) \right. \\ \left. + 5 \left( \frac{3058673}{1016064} + \frac{5429}{1008} \eta + \frac{617}{144} \eta^2 - \sigma \right) (\pi MF)^{4/3} \right],$$
(6.19)

where  $\phi_c$  and  $t_c$  are (formally) the values of  $\Phi$  and t at  $F = \infty$ . Of course, the signal can not be allowed to reach arbitrarily high frequencies; it must be cut off at a frequency  $F = F_i$  corresponding to the end of the inspiral. We put  $\pi M F_i = (M/r_i)^{3/2} = 6^{-3/2}$ ;  $r_i = 6M$  is the Schwarzschild radius of the innermost circular orbit for a test mass moving in the gravitational field of a mass  $M^{-1}$ .

•  $\beta$  and  $\sigma$  represent respectively *spin-orbit* and *spin-spin* effects such that

$$\beta = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[ 113(m_i/M)^2 + 75\eta \right] \mathbf{\hat{L}} \cdot \chi_i, \tag{6.20}$$

$$\sigma = \frac{\eta}{48} \left( -247 \, \boldsymbol{\chi}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}_2 + 721 \, \hat{\mathbf{L}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}_1 \hat{\mathbf{L}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}_2 \right). \tag{6.21}$$

where  $\chi_i = \mathbf{S}_i / m_i^2$ ;  $\mathbf{S}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{S}_2$  are the spin angular momentum of each companion, and  $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$  is the unit vector in the direction of total orbital angular momentum.

M (total mass), μ (reduced mass), and M (chirp mass) are three different characteristic masses of the system (all have dimension of mass) in terms of each companion mass i.e. m<sub>1</sub> and m<sub>2</sub> as

$$M \equiv m_1 + m_2, \qquad \mu \equiv \frac{m_1 m_2}{m_1 + m_2}, \qquad \mathcal{M} \equiv \frac{(m_1 m_2)^{3/5}}{(m_1 + m_2)^{1/5}}.$$
 (6.22)

Defining dimensionless, symmetric, mass-ratio parameter  $\eta$  as

$$\eta \equiv \frac{\mu}{M},\tag{6.23}$$

we can rewrite the last equation in Eq. (6.22) as  $\mathcal{M} = \eta^{3/5} M$ .

The main purpose of this section is to estimate the *anticipated* accuracy with which the various parameters such as  $\mathcal{M}, \eta, \beta$ , and  $\sigma$  can be determined during a gravitational-wave measurement.

At this point we have to specify the anticipated noise spectral density of the detector. In this example we just follow Poisson and Will [197] and use the following analytic expression for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strictly speaking, our expression for  $F_i$  is only valid in the limit  $\eta \to 0$ . For simplicity, and because this will not affect our results significantly, we shall ignore the corrections to the innermost circular orbit which are due to the finite value of the mass ratio. These are computed by L.E. Kidder, C.M. Will, and A.G. Wiseman, Phys. Rev. D 47, 3281 (1993) using post-Newtonian theory, and by S. Detweiler and J.K. Blackburn, Phys. Rev. D 46, 2318 (1992) and G.B. Cook, Phys. Rev. D 50, 5025 (1994) using numerical relativity.

LIGO-VIRO-type detectors.

$$S_n(f) = \frac{1}{5} S_0 \left[ (f_0/f)^4 + 2 + 2(f/f_0)^2 \right], \tag{6.24}$$

where  $S_0$  is a normalization constant irrelevant for our purposes, and  $f_0$  the frequency at which  $S_n(f)$  is minimum; we set  $f_0 = 70$ Hz, which is appropriate for advanced LIGO sensitivity [285]. To mimic seismic noise we assume that Eq. (6.24) is valid for f > 10Hz only, and that  $S_n(f) = \infty$  for f < 10Hz. Although Eq. (6.24) is not the most updated analytic expression, it is ideal for our purposes to show the application of the Fisher matrix analysis method. We will use the most updated version of the noise spectral density for different detectors in Part IV.

We now substitute Eq. (6.16) into Eq. (6.7) and calculate the signal-to-noise ratio. We readily obtain

$$\rho^2 = 20\mathcal{A}^2 S_0^{-1} f_0^{-4/3} I(7), \qquad (6.25)$$

where the integrals I(q) represent various moments of the noise spectral density:

$$I(q) \equiv \int_{1/7}^{(6^{3/2}\pi M f_0)^{-1}} \frac{x^{-q/3}}{x^{-4} + 2 + 2x^2} dx,$$
(6.26)

where  $x = f/f_0$  and the minimum and maximum of x in this case is put equal to 1/7 (corresponding to  $f_{\min} = 10$  and  $f_0 = 70$  for LIGO) and  $(6^{3/2}\pi M f_0)^{-1}$  (corresponding to  $f_{max} = f_{\rm ISCO}$ ), respectively.

As the next step toward the computation of the Fisher matrix, we calculate the derivatives of  $\tilde{h}(f)$  with respect to the following seven parameters

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\ln \mathcal{A}, \ f_0 t_c, \ \phi_c, \ \ln \mathcal{M}, \ \ln \eta, \ \beta, \ \sigma).$$
(6.27)

By taking derivatives of the Fourier domain waveform in Eqs. (6.17, 6.16) with respect to all parameters in Eq. (6.27) we obtain

$$\tilde{h}_{,1} = \tilde{h}, \tag{6.28a}$$

$$\tilde{h}_{,2} = 2\pi i (f/f_0) \tilde{h},$$
(6.28b)

$$\tilde{h}_{,3} = -i\tilde{h}, \tag{6.28c}$$

$$\tilde{h}_{,4} = -\frac{5i}{128} (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{-5/3} (1 + A_4 v^2 - B_4 v^3 + C_4 v^4) \tilde{h}, \qquad (6.28d)$$

$$\tilde{h}_{,5} = -\frac{i}{96} (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{-5/3} (A_5 v^2 - B_5 v^3 + C_5 v^4) \tilde{h}, \qquad (6.28e)$$

$$\tilde{h}_{,6} = \frac{3i}{32} \eta^{-3/5} (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{-2/3} \tilde{h}, \qquad (6.28f)$$

$$\tilde{h}_{,7} = -\frac{15i}{64}\eta^{-4/5} (\pi \mathcal{M}f)^{-1/3} \tilde{h}, \qquad (6.28g)$$

where  $v \equiv (\pi M f)^{1/3}$  and the index numbers in the left hand sides of the above equations correspond to different components of  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  in Eq. (6.27), respectively. Notice that  $\tilde{h}_{,1}$  which corresponds to  $\ln \mathcal{A}$  is the only one among the above expressions which does not have an imaginary part <sup>2</sup>. In Eq. (6.28), we also have defined

$$A_4 = \frac{4}{3} \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right), \tag{6.29a}$$

$$B_4 = \frac{8}{5}(4\pi - \beta), \tag{6.29b}$$

$$C_4 = 2\epsilon \left(\frac{3058673}{1016064} + \frac{5429}{1008}\eta + \frac{617}{144}\eta^2 - \sigma\right), \tag{6.29c}$$

and

$$A_5 = \frac{743}{168} - \frac{33}{4}\eta, \tag{6.30a}$$

$$B_5 = \frac{27}{5}(4\pi - \beta), \tag{6.30b}$$

$$C_5 = 18\epsilon \left(\frac{3058673}{1016064} - \frac{5429}{4032}\eta - \frac{617}{96}\eta^2 - \sigma\right).$$
(6.30c)

Finally, the components of  $\Gamma$  can be obtained by evaluating the inner products  $(h_{,a} \mid h_{,b})$ using Eq. (6.3) as

$$\Gamma_{ab} = (h_{,a} \mid h_{,b}) = 2 \int_{f_{min}}^{f_{max}} \frac{\tilde{h}_{,a}^*(f)\tilde{h}_{,b}(f) + \tilde{h}_{,a}(f)\tilde{h}_{,b}^*(f)}{S_n(f)}$$
(6.31)

where different components of  $\tilde{h}_{,a}$  are given by Eqs. (6.28, 6.29, 6.30) and  $S_n(f)$  in this specific example is given by Eq. (6.24). The  $\Gamma_{ab}$ 's can all be expressed in terms of the parameters  $\theta$ , the signal-to-noise ratio  $\rho$ , and the integrals I(q). The resulting expressions are too numerous and lengthy to be displayed here. To double check this example and for our future use, we developed a computer code <sup>3</sup>. Starting with the same initial conditions, we re-produced exactly the results shown in tables II&III of [197].

The variance-covariance matrix  $\Sigma^{ab}$  can now be obtained from Eqs. (6.13), and the measurement errors and correlation coefficients computed from Eqs. (6.14, 6.15). Before doing so, however, we must first state our assumptions regarding the prior information available on the source parameters. We assume the SNR value to be  $\rho = 10$  everywhere and that the companions are spin-less so that  $\beta = \sigma = 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The parameter  $\theta^1 = \ln \mathcal{A}$  is therefore entirely uncorrelated with the other parameters, and we find  $\sigma_1 = \Delta \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{A} = 1/\rho$ ,  $c^{1a} = 0$ , in all cases. We shall no longer be concerned with this parameter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Written in Mathematica©

## PART III

# Motion and Gravitational Radiation in Scalar-Tensor Gravity

- Chapter 7— Introduction and Basics
- Chapter 8— Formal Structure and Expansion of The Near-Zone Fields
- Chapter 9— Matter Source and Equations of motion
- Chapter 10— Equations of Motion for Two Compact Objects
- Chapter 11— Discussion

This part is based on a published paper in Physical Review D. [178] in which we adapt the Newtonian method of DIRE to scalar-tensor theory, coupled with an approach pioneered by Eardley for incorporating the internal gravity of compact, self-gravitating bodies. Explicit equations of motion for non-spinning binary systems (including neutron stars and black holes) are derived to 2.5 post-Newtonian order or  $O(v/c)^5$  beyond Newtonian gravity.

"A scientific truth does not triumph by convincing its opponents and making them see the light, but rather because its opponents eventually die and a new generation grows up that is familiar with it."

-Max Planck

#### Introduction and Basics

#### 7.1 Introduction

The anticipated detection of gravitational waves by a network of ground-based laser-interferometric observatories promises a new way of "listening" to the universe in the high-frequency band. A future space-borne interferometer would open the low-frequency band and pulsar timing arrays may soon begin exploring the nano-Hertz region of the gravitational-wave spectrum. In addition to providing a wealth of astrophysical information, these observations also hold the promise of providing tests of Einstein's theory of general relativity in the strong-field, dynamical regime.

The "inspiralling compact binary"– a binary system of neutron stars or black holes (or one of each) in the late stages of inspiral and coalescence – is a leading potential source for detection. Given the expected sensitivity of the ground-based interferometers, stellar-mass compact binaries could be detected out to hundreds of megaparsecs, while for a space interferometer, inspirals involving supermassive black holes could be heard to cosmological distances.

In order to maximize the detection capability and the science return of these observatories, extremely accurate, theoretically generated "templates" for the gravitational waveform emitted during the inspiral phase must be available. This means that correction terms in the equations of motion and gravitational-wave signal must be calculated to high orders in the post-Newtonian (PN) approximation to general relativity, which, roughly speaking, is an expansion in powers of  $v/c \sim (Gm/rc^2)^{1/2}$  (for a review and references see [214]). Contributions to the waveform from the merger phase of the two objects and from the "ringdown" phase of the final vibrating black hole also play an important role.

The detected gravitational-wave signals can also be used to test Einstein's theory in the radiative regime, particularly for waves emitted by sources characterized by strong-field gravity, such as inspiraling compact binaries. One way to study the potential for this is to check the consistency of a hypothetical observed waveform with the predicted higher-order terms in the general relativistic PN sequence, which depend on very few parameters (only the two masses, for non-spinning, quasi-circular inspirals). Another is to examine the constraints that could be placed on specific alternative theories using gravitational-wave observations [14, 33, 34, 218, 232, 237, 266, 267, 275]. Most of these analyses have incorporated only the dominant effect that distinguishes the chosen theory from general relativity, such as dipole radiation or the wavelength-dependent propagation of a massive graviton (see, however [293]).

Some authors have taken a different approach by proposing parametrized versions of the gravitational waveform model [179, 180, 294], inspired by the parametrized post-Newtonian (PPN) formalism used for solar-system experiments, and analysing the bounds that could be placed on those theory-dependent parameters by various gravitational-wave observations. Yet the authors of these frameworks were limited by the fact that for many alternative theories of gravity, only the leading terms in the waveform model have been derived.

In addition, the existing parametrizations of the gravitational waveform make the implicit assumption that the gravitational wave signal during the inspiral depends only on the masses of the orbiting compact bodies (in the spinless case), and not on their internal structure. This is true in general relativity, which satisfies the Strong Equivalence Principle, but is known to be violated by almost every alternative theory that has ever been studied. In scalar-tensor theory, for example, the internal gravitational binding energy of neutron stars has a definite effect on the motion and gravitational-wave emission, and since the binding energy can amount to as much as 20 percent of the total mass-energy of the body, the effects can be significant. In order to determine the full nature of the gravitational-wave signal in an alternative theory of gravity, the strong internal gravity of each body must be accounted for somehow, even in a PN expansion.

To make the situation even more interesting, binary black holes play a special role within the scalar-tensor class of alternative theories. Based on evidence from a 1972 theorem by Hawking [134], together with known results from first-post-Newtonian theory, it is likely that in a broad class of scalar-tensor theories, *binary black hole motion and gravitational radiation emis*sion are observationally indistinguishable from their GR counterparts. This conjecture will be discussed in more detail later in Chapter 11.

Scalar-tensor gravity is the most popular and well-motivated class of alternative theories to general relativity. Apart from the long history of such theories, dating back more than 50 years to Jordan, Fierz, Brans and Dicke [59], scalar-tensor gravity has been postulated as a possible low-energy limit of string theory. In addition, a wide class of so-called f(R) theories, designed to provide an alternative explanation for the acceleration of the universe to the conventional dark-energy model, can be recast into the form of a scalar-tensor theory (for reviews, see [88, 118]).

Measurements in the solar system and in binary pulsar systems already place strong constraints on key parameters of such theories, notably the coupling parameter  $\omega_0$ . Yet these tests
probe only the lowest-order, first post-Newtonian limit of these theories, some aspects of their strong-field regimes (related to the strong internal gravity of the neutron stars in binary pulsars) and the lowest-order, dipolar aspects of gravitational radiation damping.

These considerations have motivated us to develop the full equations of motion and gravitational waveform for compact bodies in a class of scalar-tensor theories to a high order in the PN sequence.

It should be acknowledged that we do not expect any big surprises. Damour and Esposito-Farèse [85] have shown on general grounds that the available constraints on the scalar-tensor coupling constant  $\omega_0$  derived from solar-system experiments imply that scalar-tensor differences from GR will be small to essentially all PN orders, except for certain regions of scalar-tensor theory space where non-linear effects inside neutron stars, called "spontaneous scalarization", can occur. It is therefore unlikely that we will be able to point to a qualitatively new test of scalar-tensor gravity to be performed with gravitational waves.

Nevertheless we expect to provide a complete and consistent waveform model to an order in the PN approximation comparable to the best models from GR. With this model it will be possible to carry out parameter estimation analyses for gravitational waves from binary inspiral, and to compare the bounds with those from earlier work that either confined attention to the leading dipole term, such as [33], or assumed extreme mass ratios, such as [293].

## 7.2 An Overview

We will use the approach known as Direct Integration of the Relaxed Einstein Equations (DIRE) that we described in Chapter 5. DIRE is based on a framework originally developed by Epstein and Wagoner [108, 251, 252], extended by Will, Wiseman and Pati [190, 191, 274, 278], and applied to numerous problems in post-Newtonian gravity [159, 160, 182, 255, 268, 299]. As we discussed earlier in Chapter 5, DIRE is a self-contained approach in which the Einstein equations are cast into their "relaxed" form of a flat-spacetime wave equation together with a harmonic gauge condition, and are solved formally as a retarded integral over the past null cone of the field point. The "inner", or near-zone part of this integral within a sphere of radius  $\lambda$ , a gravitational wavelength, is approximated in a slow-motion expansion using standard techniques; the "outer" part, extending over the radiation zone, is evaluated using a null integration variable.

DIRE is rather easily adapted to scalar-tensor theories, so that the same methods that have been worked out for GR can be applied here. It is possible that many other theories that generalize the standard action of general relativity in four spacetime dimensions by adding various fields could be cast in a similar form, permitting a systematic study of their predictions for compact binary inspiral beyond the lowest order in the PN approximation. Indeed another motivation for this work is to lay out a template for possible extensions to other theories of gravity, such as the Einstein-Aether theory [152] or TeVeS [27].

Specifically, the theories we address here are described by the action given by Eq. (1.10) that we recall here as

$$S = (16\pi)^{-1} \int \left[ \phi R - \phi^{-1} \omega(\phi) g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi \right] \sqrt{-g} d^4 x + S_m(\mathfrak{m}, g_{\alpha\beta}), \qquad (7.1)$$

where R is the Ricci scalar of the spacetime metric  $g_{\alpha\beta}$ ,  $\phi$  is the scalar field, of which  $\omega$  is a function. Throughout, we use the so-called "metric" or "Jordan" representation, in which the matter action  $S_m$  involves the matter fields  $\mathfrak{m}$  and the metric only;  $\phi$  does not couple directly to the matter (see [84] for example, for a representation of this class of theories in the so-called "Einstein" representation). We exclude the possibility of a potential or mass for the scalar field.

In order to incorporate the internal gravity of compact, self-gravitating bodies, we adopt an approach pioneered by Eardley [100], based in part on general arguments dating back to Robert Dicke, in which one treats the matter energy-momentum tensor as a sum of delta functions located at the position of each body, but assumes that the mass of each body is a function  $M_A(\phi)$  of the scalar field. This reflects the fact that the gravitational binding energy of the body is controlled by the value of the gravitational constant, which is directly related to the value of the background scalar field in which the body finds itself. Consequently, the matter action will have an *effective* dependence on  $\phi$ , and as a result the field equations will depend on the "sensitivity" of the mass of each body to variations in the scalar field, holding the total number of baryons fixed. The sensitivity of body A is defined by

$$s_A \equiv \left(\frac{d\ln M_A(\phi)}{d\ln \phi}\right) \,. \tag{7.2}$$

For neutron stars, the sensitivity depends on the mass and equation of state of the star and is typically of order 0.2; in the weak-field limit,  $s_A$  is proportional to the Newtonian self-gravitational energy per unit mass of the body. From the theorem of Hawking, for stationary black holes, it is known that  $s_{\rm BH} = 1/2$ .

This part of the dissertation (Chapters 7-11) reports the results of a calculation of the explicit equations of motion for binary systems of non-spinning compact bodies, through 2.5PN order, that is, to order  $(v/c)^5$  beyond Newtonian theory. The post-Newtonian corrections at 1PN and 2PN orders are conservative; we obtain from them expressions for the conserved total energy and linear momentum, and obtain the 2-body Lagrangian from which they can be derived. There are also terms in the equations of motion at 1.5PN and 2.5PN orders. These are gravitational-radiation reaction terms. Terms at 1.5PN order do not occur in general relativity (see Section 5.4), but in scalar-tensor theories with compact bodies, they are the result of the emission of *dipole* gravitational radiation. At 2.5PN order, one finds the analogue of the general relativistic quadrupole radiation, together with PN correction effects related to monopole and dipole radiation.

Not surprisingly the expressions for these quantities are complicated, much more so than their counterparts in general relativity. On the other hand, they depend on a relatively small number of parameters, related to the value of  $\omega(\phi)$  far from the system, where  $\phi = \phi_0$ , along with its derivatives with respect to  $\varphi \equiv \phi/\phi_0$ , and the sensitivities  $s_1$  and  $s_2$  of the two bodies, and their derivatives with respect to  $\phi$ . The parameters and their definitions are shown in Table 7.1.

At Newtonian order, the "bare" gravitational coupling constant G is related to the asymptotic value of the scalar field, but for two-body systems of compact objects, the coupling is given by the combination  $G\alpha$ , where

$$\alpha = \frac{3 + 2\omega_0}{4 + 2\omega_0} + \frac{(1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2)}{4 + 2\omega_0},$$
(7.3)

where  $\omega_0 = \omega(\phi_0)$ . At 1PN order there are two body-dependent parameters,  $\bar{\gamma}$  and  $\bar{\beta}_A$ , A = 1, 2(see Table 7.1 for definitions of the parameters). For non-compact objects, where  $s_A \ll 1$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = \gamma - 1$  and  $\bar{\beta}_A = \beta - 1$ , where  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  are precisely the PPN parameters for scalar-tensor theory, as listed in 4.42. At 2PN order, there are two additional parameters  $\delta_A$  and  $\chi_A$ . Most of the parameters in Table 7.1 can be related directly to parameters defined in [84, 85].

Here we will quote the bottom-line result: the two-body equation of motion, expressed in relative coordinates,  $\mathbf{X} \equiv \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ , through 2PN order. This equation is ready-to-use, for example in calculating time derivatives of radiative multipole moments in determining the gravitational-wave signal. The equation has the form

$$\frac{d^{2}\mathbf{X}}{dt^{2}} = -\frac{G\alpha m}{r^{2}}\mathbf{n} + \frac{G\alpha m}{r^{2}} \left[\mathbf{n}(A_{1PN} + A_{2PN}) + \dot{r}\mathbf{v}(B_{1PN} + B_{2PN})\right] \\
+ \frac{8}{5}\eta \frac{(G\alpha m)^{2}}{r^{3}} \left[\dot{r}\mathbf{n}(A_{1.5PN} + A_{2.5PN}) - \mathbf{v}(B_{1.5PN} + B_{2.5PN})\right],$$
(7.4)

where  $r \equiv |\mathbf{X}|$ ,  $\mathbf{n} \equiv \mathbf{X}/r$ ,  $m \equiv m_1 + m_2$ ,  $\eta \equiv m_1 m_2/m^2$ ,  $\mathbf{v} \equiv \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ , and  $\dot{r} = dr/dt$ . We use units in which c = 1 but for reasons to be discussed later, we will not set G = 1, in contrast to the notation used earlier in this dissertation. The leading term is Newtonian gravity. The next group of terms are the conservative terms, of integer PN order, while the final group are dissipative radiation-reaction terms, of half-odd-integer PN order. The coefficients A and B are given explicitly in Eqs. (10.13).

Several things are worth noting about these equations (and indeed about all the two-body equations shown later in the next chapters). In the general relativistic limit  $\omega_0 \to \infty$ , or  $\zeta \to 0$ , the equations (including the 2.5PN terms) reduce to those of general relativity, as

Parameter	Definition
G	$\phi_0^{-1}(4+2\omega_0)/(3+2\omega_0)$
$\zeta$	$1/(4+2\omega_0)$
$\lambda_1$	$(d\omega/darphi)_0 \zeta^2/(1-\zeta)$
$\lambda_2$	$(d^2\omega/darphi^2)_0\zeta^3/(1-\zeta)$
Sensitivities	
$s_A$	$[d\ln M_A(\phi)/d\ln\phi]_0$
$s_A'$	$[d^2 \ln M_A(\phi)/d \ln \phi^2]_0$
$s_A''$	$[d^3\ln M_A(\phi)/d\ln\phi^3]_0$

#### Newtonian

 $\alpha$   $1 - \zeta + \zeta (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2)$ 

post-Newtonian

$ar{\gamma}$	$-2\alpha^{-1}\zeta(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)$
$\bar{\beta}_1$	$\alpha^{-2}\zeta(1-2s_2)^2 \left(\lambda_1(1-2s_1)+2\zeta s_1'\right)$
$\bar{\beta}_2$	$\alpha^{-2}\zeta(1-2s_1)^2 \left(\lambda_1(1-2s_2)+2\zeta s_2'\right)$

#### 2nd post-Newtonian

$ar{\delta}_1$	$\alpha^{-2}\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s_1)^2$
$\bar{\delta}_2$	$\alpha^{-2}\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s_2)^2$
$ar{\chi}_1$	$\alpha^{-3}\zeta(1-2s_2)^3\left[(\lambda_2-4\lambda_1^2+\zeta\lambda_1)(1-2s_1)-6\zeta\lambda_1s_1'+2\zeta^2s_1''\right]$
$ar{\chi}_2$	$\alpha^{-3}\zeta(1-2s_1)^3\left[(\lambda_2-4\lambda_1^2+\zeta\lambda_1)(1-2s_2)-6\zeta\lambda_1s_2'+2\zeta^2s_2''\right]$

**Table 7.1:** Parameters used in the equations of motion at Newtonian, 1PN, and 2PNorders.

determined by many authors [50, 83, 131, 148, 164, 191, 240]. Considering scalar-tensor theories, one might compare the values of coefficients A and B in Eq. (7.4) given in Eqs. (10.13) with their corresponding values in general relativity given in Eqs. (5.61, 5.62). At 1PN order, the equations agree with the standard scalar-tensor equations, both for weakly self-gravitating bodies in the general class of theories [186] (shown within the PPN framework in Sec. 6.2 and 7.3 of [262]), and for arbitrarily compact bodies in pure Brans-Dicke theory (as displayed in Sec. 11.2 of [262]).

Although a number of authors have obtained partial results in scalar-tensor theory at 2PN order, notably the metric sufficient to study light deflection at 2PN order [91, 289], and the generic structure of the 2PN Lagrangian for N compact bodies [85], our explicit formulae for the 2PN and 2.5PN contributions to the two-compact-body equations of motion are new.

The energy loss that results from the 1.5 PN and 2.5 PN terms in the equations of motion is in complete agreement with the energy flux calculated to the corresponding order by Damour and Esposito-Farèse [84].

The other interesting limit is that in which both bodies are black holes. Assuming that Hawking's result that  $s_{\rm BH} = 1/2$  applies equally for binary black holes as for isolated black holes, we find that the parameters  $\bar{\gamma}$ ,  $\bar{\beta}_A$ ,  $\bar{\delta}_A$  and  $\bar{\chi}_A$  all vanish, and  $\alpha = 1 - \zeta = (3 + 2\omega_0)/(4 + 2\omega_0)$ . In this case the equations reduce *identically* to those of general relativity through 2.5PN order, with  $G\alpha m_A$  replacing of  $Gm_A$  for each body. In other words, if each mass is rescaled by  $(4 + 2\omega_0)/(3 + 2\omega_0)$ , the scalar-tensor equations of motion for binary black holes, including the 2.5PN terms, become *identical* to those in general relativity. Again this applies to all the equations of motion and related quantites (total energy, Lagrangian), whether for the individual bodies or for the relative motion. Since the masses of bodies in binary systems are measured purely via the Keplerian dynamics of the system, the rescaling is unmeasurable, and therefore, the dynamics of binary black holes in this class of theories is observationally indistinguishable from the dynamics in general relativity. Assuming, as we believe will be the case, that this is also true for the gravitational wave emission, the conclusion is that gravitational-wave observations of binary black hole systems will be unable to distinguish between these two theories.

If only one member of the binary system is a black hole, then  $\alpha = 1 - \zeta$ , and  $\bar{\gamma} = \bar{\beta}_A = 0$ , so that even at 1PN order, the equations of motion are *identical* to those of general relativity, after rescaling each mass. Only at 1.5PN order and above do differences between the two theories occur for the mixed binary system, because of the non-vanishing of  $S_-$  in the dipole radiation reaction term, and the non-vanishing of  $\bar{\delta}_1$  (if body 1 is the neutron star) in the 2PN terms. However, in this case *all* the deviations from general relativity depend on a single parameter Q, given by

$$Q \equiv \zeta (1 - \zeta)^{-1} (1 - 2s_1)^2 , \qquad (7.5)$$

where  $s_1$  is the sensitivity of the neutron star. In particular, all reference to the parameters  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$  disappears, and the motion through 2.5PN order is identical to that predicted by pure Brans-Dicke theory. If this conclusion holds true for the gravitational-wave emission, then gravitationalwave observations of mixed black-hole neutron-star binaries will be unable to distinguish between Brans-Dicke theory and its generalizations. The only caveat is that, for a given neutron star, generalized scalar-tensor theories can predict very different values of its un-rescaled mass and its sensitivity from those predicted by pure Brans-Dicke. Now we turn to the detailed calculations.

## 7.3 Foundations: Relaxed Field Equations

#### 7.3.1 Field equations and equations of motion

We begin by recasting the field equations of scalar-tensor theory into a form that parallels as closely as possible the "relaxed Einstein equations" used to develop post-Minkowskian and post-Newtonian theory in general relativity. Referring back to Section 5.1.1 will be useful. The original field equations of scalar-tensor theory as derived from the action of Eq. (7.1) take the form of Eqs. (1.11) that we recall here as

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi}{\phi} T_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\omega(\phi)}{\phi^2} \left( \phi_{,\mu}\phi_{,\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi^{,\lambda} \right) + \frac{1}{\phi} \left( \phi_{;\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Box_g \phi \right) , \qquad (7.6a)$$

$$\Box_g \phi = \frac{1}{3+2\omega(\phi)} \left( 8\pi T - 16\pi \phi \frac{\partial T}{\partial \phi} - \frac{d\omega}{d\phi} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi^{,\lambda} \right) , \qquad (7.6b)$$

where  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the stress-energy tensor of matter and non-gravitational fields,  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is the Einstein tensor constructed from the physical metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\phi$  is the scalar field,  $\omega(\phi)$  is a coupling function,  $\Box_g$  denotes the scalar d'Alembertian with respect to the metric, and commas and semicolons denote ordinary and covariant derivatives, respectively. We work throughout in the metric or "Jordan" representation of the theory, in contrast to the "Einstein" representation used, for example in Section 1.3.1 and [84].

Normally, such as for a perfect-fluid source, the matter stress-energy tensor depends only on the matter field variables and the physical metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , not on the scalar field, and accordingly the term  $\partial T/\partial \phi$  does not appear in the field equations. But in dealing with a system of selfgravitating bodies, we will adopt an approach pioneered by Eardley [100]. Because  $\phi$  controls the local value of the gravitational constant in and near each body in this class of theories, the total mass of each body, including its self-gravitational binding energy, may depend on the scalar field. Thus, as long as each body can be regarded as being in stationary equilibrium during its motion, Eardley proposed letting each mass be a function of  $\phi$ , namely  $M_A(\phi)$ . With this assumption,  $T^{\mu\nu}$  takes the form

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x^{\alpha}) = (-g)^{-1/2} \sum_{A} \int d\tau M_{A}(\phi) u^{\mu}_{A} u^{\nu}_{A} \delta^{4}(x^{\alpha}_{A}(\tau) - x^{\alpha})$$
  
$$= (-g)^{-1/2} \sum_{A} M_{A}(\phi) u^{\mu}_{A} u^{\nu}_{A}(u^{0}_{A})^{-1} \delta^{3}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_{A}), \qquad (7.7)$$

where  $\tau$  is proper time measured along the world line of body A and  $u_A^{\mu}$  is its four-velocity. The *indirect* coupling of  $\phi$  to matter via the binding energy is responsible for the term  $\partial T/\partial \phi$  in the field equations.

From the Bianchi identity applied to Eq. (7.6a), the equation of motion is

$$T^{\mu\nu}{}_{;\nu} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial \phi} \phi^{,\mu} \,, \tag{7.8}$$

with the right-hand-side vanishing in the perfect-fluid case. From the compact body form of  $T^{\mu\nu}$  in Eq. (7.7), it can then be shown that the equation of motion for each compact body takes the modified geodesic form

$$u^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}(M_A(\phi)u^{\mu}) = -\frac{dM_A}{d\phi}\phi^{,\mu}, \qquad (7.9)$$

or in terms of coordinate time and ordinary velocities  $v^{\alpha}$ ,

$$\frac{dv^{j}}{dt} + \Gamma^{j}_{\alpha\beta}v^{\alpha}v^{\beta} - \Gamma^{0}_{\alpha\beta}v^{\alpha}v^{\beta}v^{j} = -\frac{1}{M_{A}(u^{0})^{2}}\frac{dM_{A}}{d\phi}(\phi^{,j} - \phi^{,0}v^{j}).$$
(7.10)

These equations of motion could also be derived directly from the effective matter action,  $S_m = \sum_A \int_A M_A(\phi) d\tau$ . Equation (7.7) can equally well be taken to describe a pressureless perfect fluid (dust), simply by letting the mass of each particle be a constant, independent of  $\phi$ .

#### 7.3.2 Relaxed field equations in scalar-tensor gravity

To recast Eq. (7.6a) into the form of a "relaxed" Einstein equation, we recall the discussion of Section 5.1.1. Defining the quantities

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (7.11a)$$

$$H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta} \equiv \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta} - \mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\nu}\mathfrak{g}^{\beta\mu}, \qquad (7.11b)$$

we show that the following is an identity, valid for any spacetime,

$$H^{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}{}_{,\alpha\beta} = (-g)(2G^{\mu\nu} + 16\pi t^{\mu\nu}_{LL}), \qquad (7.12)$$

where  $t_{LL}^{\mu\nu}$  is the Landau-Lifshitz pseudotensor [see Eqs. (5.9) for an explicit formula].

To incorporate scalar-tensor theory into this framework, we assume that, far from any isolated source, the metric takes its Minkowski form  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ , and that the scalar field  $\phi$  tends to a constant value  $\phi_0$ . We define the rescaled scalar field  $\varphi \equiv \phi/\phi_0$ . We next define the conformally transformed metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$  by

$$\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \varphi g_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{7.13}$$

and the gravitational field  $\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}$  by the equation

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} - \tilde{h}^{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{7.14}$$

From Eq. (7.13) it can be shown that this is equivalent to

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \varphi^{-1}(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}) \,. \tag{7.15}$$

We now impose the "Lorentz" gauge condition

$$\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}_{,\nu} = 0,$$
 (7.16)

which is equivalent to

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}{}_{,\nu} = -\varphi^{-2}\varphi_{,\nu}(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \tilde{h}^{\mu\nu})\,. \tag{7.17}$$

Substituting Eqs. (7.6a), (7.6b), (7.14) and (7.16) into (7.12), we can recast the field equation (7.6a) into the form

$$\Box_{\eta}\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu} = -16\pi\tau^{\mu\nu}\,,\tag{7.18}$$

where  $\Box_{\eta}$  is the flat spacetime d'Alembertian with respect to  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ , and where

$$16\pi\tau^{\mu\nu} = 16\pi(-g)\frac{\varphi}{\phi_0}T^{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^{\mu\nu}_S, \qquad (7.19)$$

where

$$\Lambda^{\mu\nu} \equiv 16\pi \left[ (-g)t_{LL}^{\mu\nu} \right] (\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mu\nu}) + \tilde{h}^{\mu\alpha}_{,\beta} \tilde{h}^{\nu\beta}_{,\alpha} - \tilde{h}^{\alpha\beta} \tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}_{,\alpha\beta} , \qquad (7.20a)$$

$$\Lambda_{S}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{(3+2\omega)}{\varphi^{2}} \varphi_{,\alpha} \varphi_{,\beta} \left( \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mu\alpha} \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\nu\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\alpha\beta} \right) , \qquad (7.20b)$$

where the notation  $[(-g)t_{LL}^{\mu\nu}](\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mu\nu})$  denotes that the Landau-Lifshitz piece should be calculated using only  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ , in other words, exactly as in general relativity, except using the conformal metric, rather than the physical metric. The scalar field equation can also be rewritten in terms of a flat-spacetime wave equation, of the form

$$\Box_{\eta}\varphi = -8\pi\tau_s\,,\tag{7.21}$$

where

$$\tau_{s} = -\frac{1}{3+2\omega}\sqrt{-g}\frac{\varphi}{\phi_{0}}\left(T-2\varphi\frac{\partial T}{\partial\varphi}\right) - \frac{1}{8\pi}\tilde{h}^{\alpha\beta}\varphi_{,\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{16\pi}\frac{d}{d\varphi}\left[\ln\left(\frac{3+2\omega}{\varphi^{2}}\right)\right]\varphi_{,\alpha}\varphi_{,\beta}\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(7.22)

In principle, Eqs. (7.11a) and (7.14) can be combined to give  $g_{\mu\nu}$  in terms of  $\varphi$  and  $\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}$ , although in practice, we will express it as a PN expansion. The final result will be the relaxed field equations (7.18) - (7.22) expressed entirely in terms of  $\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\varphi$ , and the matter variables. The next task will be to solve these equations iteratively in a post-Newtonian expansion in the near-zone. Formally the solutions of these wave equations can be expressed using the standard retarded Green function, in the form

$$\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}(t,\mathbf{x}) = 4 \int \frac{\tau^{\mu\nu}(t-|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|,\mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|} d^3x',$$
  

$$\varphi(t,\mathbf{x}) = 2 \int \frac{\tau_s(t-|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|,\mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|} d^3x',$$
(7.23)

where the integration is over the past flat spacetime null cone of the field point  $(t, \mathbf{x})$ . We will expand these integrals in the near-zone, and incorporate a slow-motion, weak-field expansion in terms of a small parameter  $\epsilon \sim v^2 \sim m/r$ ; the strong-field internal gravity effects will be encoded in the functions  $M_A(\phi)$ .

"Science never solves a problem without creating ten more." —George Bernard Shaw

Formal Structure and Expansion of The Near-Zone Fields

# 8.1 Formal Structure of The Near-Zone Fields

Following Eq. (5.17), we reintroduce a simplified notation for the field  $\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}$  and the scalar field  $\varphi$ :

$$N \equiv \tilde{h}^{00} \sim O(\epsilon),$$

$$K^{i} \equiv \tilde{h}^{0i} \sim O(\epsilon^{3/2}),$$

$$B^{ij} \equiv \tilde{h}^{ij} \sim O(\epsilon^{2}),$$

$$B \equiv \tilde{h}^{ii} \equiv \sum_{i} h^{ii} \sim O(\epsilon^{2}),$$

$$\Psi \equiv \varphi - 1 \sim O(\epsilon),$$
(8.1)

where we show the leading order dependence on  $\epsilon$  in the near zone. To obtain the equations of motion to 2.5PN order, we need to determine the components of the physical metric and  $\varphi$  to the following orders:  $g_{00}$  to  $O(\epsilon^{7/2})$ ,  $g_{0i}$  to  $O(\epsilon^3)$ ,  $g_{ij}$  to  $O(\epsilon^{5/2})$ , and  $\varphi$  to  $O(\epsilon^{7/2})$ . From the Eqs. (7.11a, 7.14), one can invert to find  $g_{\mu\nu}$  in terms of  $\tilde{h}^{\mu\nu}$  and  $\varphi$  to the appropriate order in  $\epsilon$ , as in PWI, Eq. (4.2). Expanding to the required order, we find (compare to Eq. (5.19))

$$g_{00} = -1 + \left(\frac{1}{2}N + \Psi\right)\epsilon + \left(\frac{1}{2}B - \frac{3}{8}N^2 - \frac{1}{2}N\Psi - \Psi^2\right)\epsilon^2$$

$$+ \left(\frac{5}{16}N^3 - \frac{1}{4}NB + \frac{1}{2}K^jK^j + \frac{3}{8}N^2\Psi - \frac{1}{2}B\Psi + \frac{1}{2}N\Psi^2 + \Psi^3\right)\epsilon^3 + O(\epsilon^4),$$

$$g_{0i} = -K^i\epsilon^{3/2} + \left(\frac{1}{2}N + \Psi\right)K^i\epsilon^{5/2} + O(\epsilon^{7/2}),$$
(8.2a)
(8.2a)
(8.2b)

$$g_{ij} = \delta^{ij} \left\{ 1 + \left(\frac{1}{2}N - \Psi\right)\epsilon - \left(\frac{1}{8}N^2 + \frac{1}{2}B + \frac{1}{2}N\Psi - \Psi^2\right)\epsilon^2 \right\} + B^{ij}\epsilon^2 + O(\epsilon^3) (8.2c)$$
  
(-g) = 1 + (N - 4\Psi) \epsilon - (B + 4N\Phi - 10\Pmu^2) \epsilon^2 + O(\epsilon^3). (8.2d)

In Eqs. Eqs. ((8.2) we do not distinguish between covariant and contravariant components of quantities such as  $K^i$  or  $B^{ij}$ , since their indices are assumed to be raised or lowered using the Minkowski metric, whose spatial components are  $\delta_{ij}$ .

We now define a set of provisional "densities" following the convention of Blanchet and Damour [45] (given in Eqs. (5.18)), but adding a separate density for the scalar field equation:

$$\sigma_s \equiv -T + 2\varphi \partial T / \partial \varphi \,. \tag{8.3}$$

The second contribution to  $\sigma_s$  will be non-zero only in the case where our system consists of gravitationally bound bodies, whose internal structure could depend on the environmental value of  $\varphi$ .

Because of the way we have formulated the relaxed scalar-tensor equations, the quantity  $\Lambda^{\mu\nu}$  has *exactly* the same form as in Eqs. (5.20) to the 2PN order needed for our work. The additional scalar stress-energy pseudotensor is new and given by

$$\Lambda_{S}^{00} = \frac{3+2\omega_{0}}{2} (\nabla\Psi)^{2} \epsilon + \frac{3+2\omega_{0}}{2} \left\{ N(\nabla\Psi)^{2} - 2\left(1 - \frac{\omega_{0}'}{3+2\omega_{0}}\right) \Psi(\nabla\Psi)^{2} + \dot{\Psi}^{2} \right\} \epsilon^{2} + O(\rho\epsilon^{3}), \qquad (8.4a)$$

$$\Lambda_{S}^{0i} = -(3+2\omega_{0})\dot{\Psi}\Psi^{i}\epsilon^{3/2} + O(\rho\epsilon^{5/2}), \qquad (8.4b)$$

$$\Lambda_{S}^{ij} = (3+2\omega_{0}) \left\{ \Psi^{,i}\Psi^{,j} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ij}(\nabla\Psi)^{2} \right\} \epsilon 
-(3+2\omega_{0}) \left\{ 2\left(1 - \frac{\omega_{0}'}{3+2\omega_{0}}\right)\Psi\left[\Psi^{,i}\Psi^{,j} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ij}(\nabla\Psi)^{2}\right] - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ij}\dot{\Psi}^{2} \right\} \epsilon^{2} 
+O(\rho\epsilon^{3}),$$
(8.4c)
$$\Lambda_{S}^{ii} = -\frac{3+2\omega_{0}}{2}(\nabla\Psi)^{2}\epsilon + (3+2\omega_{0}) \left\{ \left(1 - \frac{\omega_{0}'}{3+2\omega_{0}}\right)\Psi(\nabla\Psi)^{2} + \frac{3}{2}\dot{\Psi}^{2} \right\} \epsilon^{2} 
+O(\rho\epsilon^{3}),$$
(8.4d)

where  $\omega'_0 \equiv (d\omega/d\varphi)_0$ .

The near-zone expansions of the fields  $N, K^i, B^{ij}$  and  $\Psi$  are then given by Eq. (5.21) and

$$\Psi_{\mathcal{N}} = 2\epsilon \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\tau_{s}(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^{3}x' - 2\epsilon^{3/2} \dot{M}_{s} + \epsilon^{2} \partial_{t}^{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau_{s}(t, \mathbf{x}') |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'| d^{3}x' - \frac{1}{3} \epsilon^{5/2} \left( r^{2} \stackrel{(3)}{M_{s}}(t) - 2x^{j} \stackrel{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{j}}(t) + \stackrel{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{kk}}(t) \right) + \frac{1}{12} \epsilon^{3} \partial_{t}^{4} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau_{s}(t, \mathbf{x}') |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3} d^{3}x' - \frac{1}{60} \epsilon^{7/2} \left\{ r^{4} \stackrel{(5)}{M_{s}}(t) - 4r^{2} x^{j} \stackrel{(5)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{j}}(t) + (4x^{kl} + 2r^{2} \delta^{kl}) \stackrel{(5)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{kl}}(t) - 4x^{k} \stackrel{(5)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{kll}}(t) + \stackrel{(5)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{kll}}(t) \right\}$$

$$+\Psi_{\partial\mathcal{M}} + O(\epsilon^4), \qquad (8.5)$$

where the scalar moments  $\mathcal{I}_s^Q$  and  $M_s$  are defined by

$$\mathcal{I}_{s}^{Q} \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau_{s} x^{Q} d^{3}x \,, \qquad (8.6a)$$

$$M_s \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau_s d^3 x \,. \tag{8.6b}$$

Again, the index Q is a multi-index, such that  $x^Q$  denotes  $x^{i_1} \dots x^{i_q}$ . The integrals are taken over a constant time hypersurface  $\mathcal{M}$  at time t out to a radius  $\mathcal{R}$ , which represents the boundary between the near zone and the far zone. The structure of the expansions for  $N_{\mathcal{N}}$ ,  $K_{\mathcal{N}}^{i}$  and  $B_{\mathcal{N}}^{ij}$ is identical to the structure in Chapter 5 because the source  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  satisfies the conservation law  $\tau^{\mu\nu}{}_{,\nu} = 0$ , a consequence of the Lorentz gauge condition. However, no such explicit conservation law applies to  $\tau_s$ ; nevertheless, in a post-Newtonian expansion, we will be able to show, for example, that the term  $\epsilon^{3/2} \dot{M}_s$  actually vanishes to lowest PN order, and thus contributes only beginning at  $\epsilon^{5/2}$  order; the other terms involving time derivatives of  $M_s$  will also be boosted to one higher PN order. The time derivatives of the dipole moments  $\mathcal{I}_s^j$  do *not* vanish in general; this is related to the well-known phenomenon of dipole gravitational radiation that can occur in scalar-tensor theories. The boundary terms  $N_{\partial\mathcal{M}}$ ,  $K_{\partial\mathcal{M}}^i$  and  $B_{\partial\mathcal{M}}^{ij}$  can be found in Appendix C of PWI, but they will play no role in our analysis. As in Chapter 5, we will discard all terms that depend on the radius  $\mathcal{R}$  of the near-zone; these necessarily cancel against terms that arise from integrating over the remainder of the past null cone; those "outer" integrals can be shown to make no contribution to the near zone metric to the PN order at which we are working.

In the near zone, the potentials are Poisson-like potentials and their generalizations. Most were defined in [190], but we will need to define additional potentials associated with the scalar field. For a source f, we use the definition of the Poisson potential P(f) in Eq. (5.23a). We also use the definition of potentials based on the "densities"  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma^i$  and  $\sigma^{ij}$  and  $\sigma_s$  constructed from  $T^{\alpha\beta}$  and from  $T - 2\varphi \partial T / \partial \varphi$  in Eqs. (5.24) plus a new potential

$$\Sigma_s(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma_s(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi\sigma_s f), \qquad (8.7)$$

along with the super- and superduper-potentials defined in Eq. (5.25, 5.26) and their obvious counterparts  $X^i$ ,  $X_s$ , and so on. A number of potentials occur sufficiently frequently in the PN expansion that is it useful to define them specifically. There are the the "Newtonian" potentials,

$$U \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi\sigma) = \Sigma(1) , \qquad (8.8a)$$

$$U_s \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\sigma_s(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi\sigma_s) = \Sigma_s(1) \,.$$
(8.8b)

The potentials needed for the post-Newtonian limit are (compare to Eq. (5.28)):

$$V^{i} \equiv \Sigma^{i}(1), \qquad \Phi_{1}^{ij} \equiv \Sigma^{ij}(1),$$

$$\Phi_{1} \equiv \Sigma^{ii}(1), \qquad \Phi_{1}^{s} \equiv \Sigma_{s}(v^{2}),$$

$$\Phi_{2} \equiv \Sigma(U), \qquad \Phi_{2}^{s} \equiv \Sigma_{s}(U),$$

$$\Phi_{2s} \equiv \Sigma(U_{s}), \qquad \Phi_{2s}^{s} \equiv \Sigma_{s}(U_{s}),$$

$$X \equiv X(1), \qquad X_{s} \equiv X_{s}(1).$$
(8.9)

Useful 2PN potentials include:

$$V_{2}^{i} \equiv \Sigma^{i}(U), \qquad V_{2s}^{i} \equiv \Sigma^{i}(U_{s}), \\ \Phi_{2}^{i} \equiv \Sigma(V^{i}), \qquad Y \equiv Y(1), \\ X^{i} \equiv X^{i}(1), \qquad X_{1} \equiv X^{ii}(1), \\ X_{2} \equiv X(U), \qquad X_{2s} \equiv X(U_{s}), \\ X_{2}^{s} \equiv X_{s}(U), \qquad X_{2s}^{s} \equiv X_{s}(U_{s}), \\ P_{2}^{ij} \equiv P(U^{,i}U^{,j}), \qquad P_{2} \equiv P_{2}^{ii} = \Phi_{2} - \frac{1}{2}U^{2}, \\ P_{2s}^{ij} \equiv P(U^{,i}U^{,j}), \qquad P_{2s} \equiv P_{2s}^{ii} = \Phi_{2s}^{s} - \frac{1}{2}U_{s}^{2}, \\ G_{1} \equiv P(\dot{U}^{2}), \qquad G_{1s} \equiv P(\dot{U}^{2}), \\ G_{2} \equiv P(U\ddot{U}), \qquad G_{2s} \equiv P(U\ddot{U}s), \\ G_{3} \equiv -P(\dot{U}^{,k}V^{k}), \qquad G_{5} \equiv -P(\dot{U}^{,k}V^{k}), \\ G_{6} \equiv P(U^{,ij}V^{j,i}), \qquad G_{5} \equiv -P(\dot{U}^{,k}U^{,k}), \\ G_{6} \equiv P(U^{,ij}\Phi_{1}^{ij}), \qquad G_{6s} \equiv P(U^{,ij}\Phi_{1}^{ij}), \\ G_{7}^{i} \equiv P(U^{,ij}P_{2s}^{ij}), \qquad H^{s} \equiv P(U^{,ij}P_{2}^{ij}), \\ H_{s} \equiv P(U^{,ij}P_{2s}^{ij}). \qquad (8.10)$$

# 8.2 Expansion of Near-Zone Fields to 2.5PN Order

In evaluating the contributions at each order, we shall use the notation defined in 5.29 plus a similar notation for the scalar sector as

$$\Psi = \epsilon (\Psi_0 + \epsilon^{1/2} \Psi_{0.5} + \epsilon \Psi_1 + \epsilon^{3/2} \Psi_{1.5} + \epsilon^2 \Psi_2 + \epsilon^{5/2} \Psi_{2.5}) + O(\epsilon^4), \qquad (8.11)$$

where the subscript on each term indicates the level (1PN, 2PN, 2.5PN, etc.) of its leading contribution to the equations of motion.

#### 8.2.1 Newtonian, 1PN and 1.5PN solutions

At lowest order in the PN expansion, we only need to evaluate  $\tau^{00} = (-g)T^{00}/\phi_0 + O(\rho\epsilon) = \sigma/\phi_0 + O(\rho\epsilon)$  (recall that  $\sigma^{ii} \sim \epsilon\sigma$ ), and  $\tau_s = \sigma_s/[\phi_0(3+2\omega_0)]$ , where  $\omega_0 \equiv \omega(\phi_0)$ . Since both densities have compact support, the outer integrals vanish, and we find

$$N_0 = \frac{4U}{\phi_0}, (8.12)$$

$$\Psi_0 = \frac{2U_s}{\phi_0(3+2\omega_0)}.$$
(8.13)

Consider the case where we are dealing with pure perfect fluids, with no compact bodies having sensitivity factors  $s_A$ . Then to Newtonian order,  $\sigma = \sigma_s$ ,  $U = U_s$ , and the metric to Newtonian order is given by the leading term in Eq. (8.2b),

$$g_{00} = -1 + \left(\frac{1}{2}N + \Psi\right)$$
 (8.14)

$$= -1 + 2\frac{4 + 2\omega_0}{\phi_0(3 + 2\omega_0)}U.$$
(8.15)

We therefore identify the coefficient of U in  $g_{00}$  as the effective Newtonian gravitational coupling constant, G, given by

$$G \equiv \frac{1}{\phi_0} \frac{4 + 2\omega_0}{3 + 2\omega_0}, \qquad (8.16)$$

in agreement with our earlier definition of  $G_{today}$  in Eq. (4.41). However, we will not set G = 1 as is conventional in general relativity, in order to highlight the fact that it is an effective gravitational constant linked to the asymptotic value of  $\phi$ , which could, for example, vary with time as the universe evolves. For future use, we also recall  $\zeta$  and  $\lambda_1$  from Eq. (4.38) and define a new parameter  $\lambda_2$  as

$$\zeta \equiv \frac{1}{4 + 2\omega_0},$$
  

$$\lambda_1 \equiv \frac{(d\omega/d\varphi)_0\zeta}{3 + 2\omega_0},$$
  

$$\lambda_2 \equiv \frac{(d^2\omega/d\varphi^2)_0\zeta^2}{3 + 2\omega_0}.$$
(8.17)

A consequence of these definitions is that

$$\frac{1}{\phi_0} = G(1-\zeta), \frac{1}{\phi_0(3+2\omega_0)} = G\zeta.$$
(8.18)

It is worth pointing out that  $\omega_0$  enters at Newtonian order, via the modified coupling constant G of Eq. (8.16). It is then clear, by virtue of the expansion  $\omega(\phi) = \omega_0 + (d\omega/d\varphi)_0 \Psi + (d^2\omega/d\varphi^2)_0 \Psi^2/2 + \ldots$ , that the parameter  $\lambda_1$  will first contribute at 1PN order,  $\lambda_2$  will first contribute at 2PN order, and so on.

To this order,  $(-g) = 1 + 4GU(1 - \zeta) - 8GU_s\zeta + O(\epsilon^2)$ . Then, through PN order, the required forms for  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  and  $\tau_s$  are given by

$$\tau^{00} = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma - \sigma^{ii} + G(1-\zeta) \left( 4\sigma U - \frac{7}{8\pi} (\nabla U)^2 \right) - G\zeta \left( 6\sigma U_s - \frac{1}{8\pi} (\nabla U_s)^2 \right) \right\} + O(\rho\epsilon^2), \qquad (8.19a)$$

$$\tau^{0i} = G(1-\zeta)\sigma^{i} + O(\rho\epsilon^{3/2}), \qquad (8.19b)$$

$$\tau^{ii} = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma^{ii} - \frac{1}{8\pi} G(1-\zeta) (\nabla U)^2 - \frac{1}{8\pi} G\zeta (\nabla U_s)^2 \right\} + O(\rho \epsilon^2), \qquad (8.19c)$$

$$\tau^{ij} = O(\rho\epsilon), \qquad (8.19d)$$
  
$$\tau_s = G\zeta \Big\{ \sigma_s + 2G(1-\zeta)\sigma_s U - 2G(2\lambda_1+\zeta)\sigma_s U_s + \frac{1}{2}G(\lambda_1-\zeta)(\nabla U_s)^2 \Big\}$$

$$= G\zeta \left\{ \sigma_s + 2G(1-\zeta)\sigma_s U - 2G(2\lambda_1+\zeta)\sigma_s U_s + \frac{1}{2\pi}G(\lambda_1-\zeta)(\nabla U_s)^2 \right\}$$

$$+ O(\rho\epsilon^2).$$

$$(8.19e)$$

Substituting into Eqs. (5.21), and calculating terms through 1.5PN order (e.g.  $O(\epsilon^{5/2})$  in N), we obtain

$$N_{1} = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ 7G(1-\zeta)U^{2} - 4\Phi_{1} + 2G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{2} + 2\ddot{X} - G\zeta U_{s}^{2} - 24G\zeta\Phi_{2s} + 2G\zeta\Phi_{2s}^{s} \right\},$$
(8.20a)

$$K_1^i = 4G(1-\zeta)V^i, (8.20b)$$

$$B_1 = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ G(1-\zeta)U^2 + 4\Phi_1 - 2G(1-\zeta)\Phi_2 + G\zeta U_s^2 - 2G\zeta \Phi_{2s}^s \right\}, \quad (8.20c)$$

$$\Psi_1 = G\zeta \left\{ -2G(\lambda_1 - \zeta)U_s^2 + 4G(1 - \zeta)\Phi_2^s - 4G(\lambda_1 + 2\zeta)\Phi_{2s}^s + \ddot{X}_s \right\}, \quad (8.20d)$$

$$N_{1.5} = -\frac{2}{3} \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{kk}(t) , \qquad (8.20e)$$

$$B_{1.5} = -2 \mathcal{I}^{(6)}_{kk}(t) , \qquad (8.20f)$$

$$\Psi_{1.5} = -2\dot{M}_s(t) + \frac{2}{3}x^j \,\mathcal{I}_s^{(3)}(t) - \frac{1}{3} \,\mathcal{I}_s^{(k)}(t) \quad . \tag{8.20g}$$

In Eq. (8.20g), we have used the fact (to be verified later) that, because of the conservation of baryon number, and assuming that our compact bodies have stationary internal structure,  $M_s(t)$  is constant to the lowest PN order. Thus, rather than contributing to  $\Psi_{0.5}$  as shown in Eq. (8.5), the term  $-2\dot{M}_s$  contributes to  $\Psi_{1.5}$ ; similarly the term in  $\Psi_{1.5}$  involving three time derivatives of  $M_s$  actually contributes to  $\Psi_{2.5}$ . The physical metric to 1.5PN order is then given by

$$g_{00} = -1 + 2G(1-\zeta)U + 2G\zeta U_s - 2G^2(1-\zeta)^2 U^2 - 2G^2\zeta(\zeta+\lambda_1)U_s^2 -4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)UU_s + 4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)\Phi_2^s - 12G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)\Phi_{2s} -4G^2\zeta(2\zeta+\lambda_1)\Phi_{2s}^s + G(1-\zeta)\ddot{X} + G\zeta\ddot{X}_s -\frac{4}{3}\mathcal{I}^{kk}(t) - 2\dot{M}_s(t) + \frac{2}{3}x^j\mathcal{I}_s^{(3)}(t) - \frac{1}{3}\mathcal{I}_s^{(k)}(t) + O(\epsilon^3), \qquad (8.21a)$$

$$g_{0i} = -4G(1-\zeta)V^i + O(\epsilon^{5/2}),$$
 (8.21b)

$$g_{ij} = \delta_{ij} \left[ 1 + 2G(1-\zeta)U - 2G\zeta U_s \right] + O(\epsilon^2).$$
(8.21c)

## 8.2.2 2PN and 2.5PN solutions

At 2PN and 2.5PN order, we obtain, from Eqs. (7.19), (5.8) and (8.4),

$$\tau^{ij} = G(1-\zeta)\sigma^{ij} + \frac{1}{4\pi}G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2} \left[ U^{,i}U^{,j} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ij}(\nabla U)^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi}G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta) \left[ U^{,i}_{s}U^{,j}_{s} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ij}(\nabla U_{s})^{2} \right] + O(\rho\epsilon^{2}), \qquad (8.22a)$$
  
$$\tau^{0i} = G(1-\zeta)\sigma^{i} + G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2} \left( 4\sigma^{i}U + \frac{2}{\pi}U^{,j}V^{[j,i]} + \frac{3}{4\pi}\dot{U}U^{,i} \right)$$

$$-G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\left(6\sigma^{i}U_{s}+\frac{1}{4\pi}\dot{U}_{s}U_{s}^{,i}\right)+O(\rho\epsilon^{5/2}).$$
(8.22b)

Outer integrals and boundary terms contribute nothing, so we obtain

$$B_{2}^{ij} = 4G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{1}^{ij} + G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2} \left[ 4P_{2}^{ij} - \delta^{ij}(2\Phi_{2} - U^{2}) \right] + G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta) \left[ 4P_{2s}^{ij} - \delta^{ij}(2\Phi_{2s}^{s} - U_{s}^{2}) \right], \qquad (8.23a)$$

$$K_{2}^{i} = G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2} \left( 8V_{2}^{i} - 8\Phi_{2}^{i} + 8UV^{i} + 16G_{7}^{i} \right) + 2G(1-\zeta)\ddot{X}^{i} - G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta) \left[ 24V_{2s}^{i} + 4P(\dot{U}_{s}U_{s}^{,i}) \right], \qquad (8.23b)$$

$$B_{2.5}^{ij} = -2 \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{\mathcal{I}^{ij}}(t) , \qquad (8.23c)$$

$$K_{2.5}^{i} = \frac{2}{3} x^{k} \mathcal{I}^{ik}(t) - \frac{2}{9} \mathcal{I}^{ikk}(t) + \frac{4}{9} \epsilon^{mik} \mathcal{J}^{mk}(t) . \qquad (8.23d)$$

All solutions obtained so far must be substituted into Eqs. (7.19), (7.22), (5.8) and (8.4) to obtain  $\tau^{00}$ ,  $\tau^{ii}$  and  $\tau_s$  to the required order,

$$\begin{split} \pi^{00} &= G(1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma - \sigma^{ii} + G(1-\zeta) \left( 4\sigma U - \frac{7}{8\pi} (\nabla U)^2 \right) - G\zeta \left( 6\sigma U_s - \frac{1}{8\pi} (\nabla U_s)^2 \right) \right\} \\ &+ G^2(1-\zeta)^2 \left\{ \sigma \left[ 7G(1-\zeta) U^2 - 8\Phi_1 + 2G(1-\zeta) \Phi_2 + 2\vec{X} \right] - 4\sigma^{ii} U \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ \frac{5}{2} \dot{U}^2 - 4U\dot{U} - 8\dot{U}^{,k} V^k + 2V^{ij} (3V^{j,i} + V^{i,j}) + 4V^{j} U^{,j} - 4U^{,ij} \Phi_1^{ij} + 8\nabla U \cdot \nabla \Phi_1 \\ &- \frac{7}{2} \nabla U \cdot \nabla \vec{X} - G(1-\zeta) \left( 4\nabla U \cdot \nabla \Phi_2 + 10U (\nabla U)^2 + 4U^{,ij} P_2^{ij} \right) \right] \right\} \\ &+ G^2 \zeta (1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma \left[ G(6\lambda_1 - 1 + 19\zeta) U_s^2 - G(1-\zeta) (24UU_s + 24\Phi_{2s} + 12\Phi_2^s) \right. \\ &+ 2G(6\lambda_1 + 1 + 11\zeta) \Phi_{2s}^s - 3\vec{X}_s \right] + 6\sigma^{ii} U_s \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ G(1-\zeta) \left( 2U (\nabla U_s)^2 + 4U_s \nabla U \cdot \nabla U_s + 42\nabla U \cdot \nabla \Phi_{2s} + 2\nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \Phi_2^s \right) \right] \right\} \\ &+ G(1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma \left[ \frac{4}{3} \frac{(3)}{T^{k}} (t) + 6\dot{M}_s(t) - 2x^j \frac{T_s^2}{T_s^2}(t) + \frac{T_s^3}{T_s^k}(t) \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} U^{,ij} \frac{T^{ij}}{T^{ij}}(t) + \frac{1}{12\pi} U_s^j \frac{T^{ij}}{T_s^2}(t) \right\} \\ &+ O(\rho e^3), \\ \tau^{ii} = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ \sigma^{ii} - \frac{1}{8\pi} G(1-\zeta) (\nabla U)^2 - \frac{1}{8\pi} G\zeta (\nabla U_s)^2 \right\} \\ &+ G^2(1-\zeta)^2 \left\{ 4\sigma^{ii} U - \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ \frac{9}{2} \dot{U}^2 + 4V^{ij} V^{ij,j} + 4\dot{V}^{ij} U^{,j} + \frac{1}{2} \nabla U \cdot \nabla \vec{X} \right] \right\} \\ &- G^2 \zeta (1-\zeta) \left\{ 6\sigma^{ii} U_s - \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ \frac{3}{2} \dot{U}_s^2 - G(1-\zeta) (2\nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \Phi_2^s - 6\nabla U \cdot \nabla \Phi_{2s}) \right] \right\} \\ &+ 2G(\lambda_1 + 2\zeta) \nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \Phi_{2s}^s - \frac{1}{2} \nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \vec{X}_s \right] \right\} - \frac{1}{12\pi} G(1-\zeta) (U^{ij} J_s^{(i)}(t) + O(\rho e^3), (8.24b) \right] \\ \tau_s = G\zeta \left\{ \sigma_s + 2G(1-\zeta) \sigma_s U - 2G(2\lambda_1 + \zeta) \sigma_s U_s + \frac{1}{2\pi} G(\lambda_1 - \zeta) (\nabla U_s)^2 \right\} \\ &+ G^2 \zeta \sigma_s \left\{ G(1-\zeta) \left[ 2(1-\zeta) U^2 - 4(2\lambda_1 + \zeta) (UU_s + \Phi_2^s) - 12\zeta \Phi_{2s} \right] - (1-\zeta) (4\Phi_1 - \vec{X}) \right\} \\ &+ G(20\lambda_1^2 - 4\lambda_2 + 6\zeta\lambda_1 + 2\zeta^2) U_s^2 + 4G(2\lambda_1 + \zeta) (\lambda_1 + 2\zeta) \Phi_{2s}^s - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta) \vec{X}_s \right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{8\pi} G^2 \zeta \left\{ (1-\zeta) (8U\ddot{U}_s + 16V^j \dot{U}_s^j + 8\Phi_1^{ij} U_s^{,ij}) + 4(\lambda_1 - \zeta) (\dot{U}_s^2 - \nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \vec{X}_s) \right\} \\ &- G(1-\zeta) \left[ 16(\lambda_1 - \zeta) \nabla U_s \cdot \nabla \Phi_2^s - 8(1 - \zeta) U_s^{,ij} P_s^{,ij} = 8\zeta U_s^{,ij} P_s^{,ij} \right] \end{aligned}$$

$$+16G(\lambda_{1}+2\zeta)(\lambda_{1}-\zeta)\nabla U_{s}\cdot\nabla\Phi_{2s}^{s}-8G(\lambda_{2}-4\lambda_{1}^{2}+4\zeta\lambda_{1}-\zeta^{2})U_{s}(\nabla U_{s})^{2}\bigg\}$$
$$+G\bigg\{\sigma_{s}\left[\frac{2}{3}\zeta\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}}(t)\right]+\frac{1}{3}(2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)\left(6\dot{M}_{s}(t)-2x^{j}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{j}_{s}}(t)+\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}_{s}}(t)\right)\right]$$
$$+\frac{1}{2\pi}\zeta U_{s}^{ij}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{ij}}(t)+\frac{1}{3\pi}(\lambda_{1}-\zeta)U_{s}^{j}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{j}_{s}}(t)\bigg\}+O(\rho\epsilon^{3}).$$
(8.24c)

Substituting into Eqs. (5.21a), (5.21c) and (8.5) and evaluating terms through  $O(\epsilon^{7/2})$ , and verifying that the outer integrals and surface terms make no  $\mathcal{R}$ -independent contributions, we obtain,

$$D_{2} = G(1-\zeta) \left\{ 2X_{1} + G(1-\zeta) \left[ UX + 4V - 2(X) - 3Z(V) + 10Z(U) - 3Z(V) + 10Z(U) - X_{2s} - 20G_{1} + 8G_{4} + 16G_{5} \right] \right\} + G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta) \left\{ U_{s}\ddot{X}_{s} - 24\Sigma^{ii}(U_{s}) - \Sigma_{s}(\ddot{X}_{s}) - \ddot{X}_{2s}^{s} + 4G_{1s} + G(1-\zeta) \left[ 4U_{s}\Phi_{2}^{s} - 12U\Phi_{2s} + 12\Sigma(\Phi_{2s}) - 4\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2}^{s}) - 4\Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) + 12\Sigma(UU_{s}) \right] + 4G(\lambda_{1} + 2\zeta) \left[ \Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) + \Sigma_{s}(U_{s}^{2}) - U_{s}\Phi_{2s}^{s} \right] \right\},$$

$$(8.25b)$$

$$\Psi_{2} = G\zeta \left\{ \frac{1}{12} \frac{Y_{s}}{Y_{s}} + G(1-\zeta) \left[ 2\Sigma_{s}(\ddot{X}) - 8\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{1}) - 8G_{2s} + 16G_{3s} - 8G_{6s} + 2\ddot{X}_{2}^{s} \right] -2G(\lambda_{1}+2\zeta) \left[ \Sigma_{s}(\ddot{X}_{s}) + \ddot{X}_{2s}^{s} \right] - 2G(\lambda_{1}-\zeta)U_{s}\ddot{X}_{s} - 8G^{2}(1-\zeta)(\lambda_{1}+2\zeta) \left[ \Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2}^{s}) + \Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) \right] +8G^{2}(\lambda_{1}+2\zeta) \left[ (\lambda_{1}-\zeta)U_{s}\Phi_{2s}^{s} + (\lambda_{1}+2\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) \right] - 8G^{2}(1-\zeta)(\lambda_{1}-\zeta)U_{s}\Phi_{2}^{s} +G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}(4\Sigma_{s}(U^{2}) - 8H^{s}) - G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)(24\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}) + 8H_{s}^{s}) -\frac{4}{3}G^{2}(\lambda_{2}-4\lambda_{1}^{2}+4\zeta\lambda_{1}-\zeta^{2})U_{s}^{3} - 4G^{2}(\lambda_{2}-4\lambda_{1}^{2}-5\zeta\lambda_{1}-4\zeta^{2})\Sigma_{s}(U_{s}^{2}) \right\}, \qquad (8.25c)$$

$$N_{2.5} = -\frac{1}{15} (2x^{kl} + r^2 \delta^{kl}) \mathcal{I}^{(5)}(t) + \frac{2}{15} x^k \mathcal{I}^{(5)}(t) - \frac{1}{30} \mathcal{I}^{(5)}(t) + G(1-\zeta) \left[ \frac{16}{3} \mathcal{U} \mathcal{I}^{(3)}(t) - 4X^{kl} \mathcal{I}^{(3)}(t) \right]$$

$$+24U\dot{M}_{s}(t) - 8(x^{k}U - X^{k})\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{k}(t)} + 4U\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{kk}(t)} - \frac{2}{3}X_{s}^{k}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{k}(t)}\bigg], \qquad (8.25d)$$

$$B_{2.5} = -\frac{1}{3}r^2 \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{kk}(t) + \frac{2}{9}x^k \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{kll}(t) + \frac{8}{9}x^k \epsilon^{mkj} \mathcal{J}^{(4)}_{mj}(t) - \frac{2}{3} \mathcal{M}^{(3)}_{kkll}(t) + \frac{2}{3}G(1-\zeta)X^{,k}_s \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_s(t), \qquad (8.25e)$$

$$\Psi_{2.5} = -\frac{1}{30} (2x^{kl} + r^2 \delta^{kl}) \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(5)}(t) + \frac{1}{15} x^k \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(5)}(t) - \frac{1}{60} \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(5)}(t) + \frac{1}{15} r^2 x^k \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(5)}(t) - \frac{1}{3} r^2 \, \mathcal{M}_s^{(3)}(t) \\ + G\zeta \Big[ \frac{4}{3} U_s \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(3)}(t) - 2X_s^{kl} \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(1)}(t) \Big] + \frac{4}{3} G(\lambda_1 + 2\zeta) X_s^{kl} \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(1)}(t) \\ + \frac{2}{3} G(2\lambda_1 + \zeta) U_s \Big[ 6\dot{M}_s(t) - 2x^k \, \mathcal{I}_s^{(5)}(t) + \mathcal{I}_s^{(3)}(t) \Big] \,.$$

$$(8.25f)$$

"In questions of science, the authority of a thousand is not worth the humble reasoning of a single individual."

—Galileo Galilei

Matter Source and Equations of motion

# 9.1 Energy-Momentum Tensor and The Conserved Density

We now must expand the effective energy-momentum tensor, Eq. (7.7) in a PN expansion to the required order, including the  $\phi$  dependence of the masses  $M_A$ . We first expand  $M_A(\phi)$  about the asymptotic value  $\phi_0$ :

$$M_A(\phi) = M_{A0} + \delta\phi \left(\frac{dM_A}{d\phi}\right)_0 + \frac{1}{2}\delta\phi^2 \left(\frac{d^2M_A}{d\phi^2}\right)_0 + \frac{1}{6}\delta\phi^3 \left(\frac{d^3M_A}{d\phi^3}\right)_0 + \dots$$
(9.1)

We then define the dimensionless "sensitivities"

$$s_{A} \equiv \left(\frac{d\ln M_{A}(\phi)}{d\ln\phi}\right)_{0},$$
  

$$s'_{A} \equiv \left(\frac{d^{2}\ln M_{A}(\phi)}{d(\ln\phi)^{2}}\right)_{0},$$
  

$$s''_{A} \equiv \left(\frac{d^{3}\ln M_{A}(\phi)}{d(\ln\phi)^{3}}\right)_{0}.$$
(9.2)

Note that the definition of  $s'_A$  used in [265] and [5] has the opposite sign from our definition. Recalling that  $\phi = \phi_0(1 + \Psi)$  we can write

$$M_{A}(\phi) = m_{A} \left[ 1 + s_{A}\Psi + \frac{1}{2}(s_{A}^{2} + s_{A}' - s_{A})\Psi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}(s_{A}'' + 3s_{A}'s_{A} - 3s_{A}' + s_{A}^{3} - 3s_{A}^{2} + 2s_{A})\Psi^{3} + O(\Psi^{4}) \right]$$
  
$$\equiv m_{A} \left[ 1 + S(s_{A};\Psi) \right], \qquad (9.3)$$

where we define the constant mass for each body  $m_A \equiv M_{A0}$  and the definition of  $\mathcal{S}(s_A; \Psi)$  is clearly given above in terms of the sensitivities. In general relativity, neglecting pressure, the stress energy tensor can be written as (see Eqs. (5.39))

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} u^{\mu} u^{\nu} / u^0, \qquad (9.4)$$

where  $\rho^*$  is identified as the "baryonic", or "conserved" mass density,  $\rho^* = mn\sqrt{-g} u^0$ , where n is the number density of baryons, and m is the rest mass per baryon. It satisfies an exact continuity equation  $\partial \rho^* / \partial t + \nabla \cdot (\rho^* \mathbf{v}) = 0$ , and implies that the baryonic mass of any isolated body is constant. Here we identify the "baryons" as our compact point masses with constant mass  $m_A$ , so that

$$\rho^* = \sum_A m_A \delta^3(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_A), \qquad (9.5)$$

Thus, we can rewrite Eq. (7.7) in the form

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} u^0 v^\mu v^\nu \left[ 1 + \mathcal{S}(s; \Psi) \right] , \qquad (9.6)$$

where  $\rho^*$  is given by Eq. (5.37), and where we have substituted  $u^{\mu} = u^0 v^{\mu}$ , with  $v^{\mu} = dx^{\mu}/dt = (1, \mathbf{v})$  being the ordinary velocity. We have dropped the subscript from the variable s in S because it will be assigned a label A wherever the delta function that is implicit in  $\rho^*$  corresponds to body A. Thus, we arrive at a conversion from the  $\sigma$ -densities of Eq. (5.18) to  $\rho^*$ , given by

$$\sigma = \rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} u^0 (1+v^2) \left[1 + \mathcal{S}(s;\Psi)\right],$$
  

$$\sigma^i = \rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} u^0 v^i \left[1 + \mathcal{S}(s;\Psi)\right],$$
  

$$\sigma^{ij} = \rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} u^0 v^i v^j \left[1 + \mathcal{S}(s;\Psi)\right].$$
(9.7)

To convert  $\sigma_s$ , recall that

$$T = g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} = -\rho^*(-g)^{-1/2}(u^0)^{-1} \left[1 + \mathcal{S}(s;\Psi)\right], \qquad (9.8)$$

and that  $\varphi = 1 + \Psi$ ,  $\partial/\partial \varphi = \partial/\partial \Psi$ . Consequently

$$\sigma_s = -T + 2\varphi \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varphi}$$
  
=  $\rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} (u^0)^{-1} \left[ 1 + S - 2(1+\Psi) \frac{\partial S}{\partial \Psi} \right]$   
=  $\rho^* (-g)^{-1/2} (u^0)^{-1} \left[ (1-2s) + S_s(s;\Psi) \right].$  (9.9)

Defining

$$\begin{array}{rcl} a_s & \equiv & s^2 + s' - \frac{1}{2}s \,, \\ a_{s}{}' & \equiv & s'' + 2ss' - \frac{1}{2}s' \,, \end{array}$$

Chapter 9. Matter Source and Equations of motion

$$b_s \equiv a_s' - a_s + sa_s \,, \tag{9.10}$$

we can write

$$S(s; \Psi) = s\Psi + \frac{1}{4}(2a_s - s)\Psi^2 + O(\Psi^3),$$
  

$$S_s(s; \Psi) = -2a_s\Psi - b_s\Psi^2 + O(\Psi^3).$$
(9.11)

Substituting the expansion for the metric, Eq. (8.2), and for the metric potentials, Eq. (5.29), we obtain to the 2.5PN order required for the equations of motion,

$$\sigma = \rho^* \left[ 1 + \epsilon \left( \frac{3}{2} v^2 - G(1-\zeta) U_{\sigma} + G\zeta(5+2s) U_{s\sigma} \right) + \epsilon^2 \left( \frac{7}{8} v^4 + \frac{5}{2} G^2 (1-\zeta)^2 U_{\sigma}^2 \right) \right] + \frac{1}{2} G(1-\zeta) v^2 U_{\sigma} - 4G(1-\zeta) v^i V_{\sigma}^i + \frac{3}{2} (5+2s) G\zeta v^2 U_{s\sigma} - (5+2s) G^2 \zeta (1-\zeta) U_{\sigma} U_{s\sigma} + \frac{1}{2} (15+18s+4a_s) G^2 \zeta^2 U_{s\sigma}^2 + \frac{3}{4} B_1 - \frac{1}{4} N_1 + \frac{1}{2} (5+2s) \Psi_1 \right) + \epsilon^{5/2} \left( 2N_{1.5} + \frac{1}{2} (5+2s) \Psi_{1.5} \right) + O(\epsilon^3) \right],$$

$$(9.12a)$$

$$\sigma^{i} = \rho^{*} v^{i} \left[ 1 + \epsilon \left( \frac{1}{2} v^{2} - G(1 - \zeta) U_{\sigma} + G\zeta(5 + 2s) U_{s\sigma} \right) + O(\epsilon^{2}) \right], \qquad (9.12b)$$

$$\sigma^{ij} = \rho^* v^i v^j \left[ 1 + O(\epsilon) \right], \qquad (9.12c)$$

$$\sigma^{ii} = \rho^* v^2 \left[ 1 + \epsilon \left( \frac{1}{2} v^2 - G(1 - \zeta) U_\sigma + G\zeta(5 + 2s) U_{s\sigma} \right) + O(\epsilon^2) \right], \qquad (9.12d)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_s &= \rho^* \left[ (1-2s) - \epsilon \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (1-2s) v^2 + 3G(1-\zeta)(1-2s) U_\sigma - 3G\zeta \left( 1-2s - \frac{4}{3} a_s \right) U_{s\sigma} \right\} \\ &+ \epsilon^2 \left\{ -\frac{1}{8} (1-2s) v^4 + \frac{21}{2} G^2 (1-\zeta)^2 (1-2s) U_\sigma^2 - \frac{1}{2} G(1-\zeta)(1-2s) v^2 U_\sigma \right. \\ &+ 4G(1-\zeta)(1-2s) v^i V_\sigma^i - \frac{3}{2} G\zeta \left( (1-2s) - \frac{4}{3} a_s \right) v^2 U_{s\sigma} \\ &- 9G^2 \zeta (1-\zeta) \left( 1-2s - \frac{4}{3} a_s \right) U_\sigma U_{s\sigma} + \frac{3}{2} G^2 \zeta^2 \left( 1-2s - 8a_s - \frac{8}{3} b_s \right) U_{s\sigma}^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} (1-2s) B_1 - \frac{3}{4} (1-2s) N_1 + \frac{3}{2} \left( 1-2s - \frac{4}{3} a_s \right) \Psi_1 \right\} \\ &+ \epsilon^{5/2} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} \left( 1-2s - \frac{4}{3} a_s \right) \Psi_{1.5} \right\} + O(\epsilon^3) \right], \end{aligned}$$

where  $U_{\sigma}$ ,  $U_{s\sigma}$  and  $V_{\sigma}^{i}$  are defined in terms of the  $\sigma$ -densities.

Substituting these formulas into the definitions of  $U_{\sigma}$ ,  $U_{s\sigma}$  and the other potentials defined in terms of  $\sigma$ , we can convert all potentials into new versions defined in terms of  $\rho^*$ , plus PN corrections. For example, we find that the "Newtonian" potentials  $U_\sigma$  and  $U_{s\sigma}$  become

$$\begin{split} U_{\sigma} &= U + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{3}{2} \Phi_{1} - G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{2} + 6G\zeta\Phi_{2s} - G\zeta\Phi_{2s}^{s} \right\} \\ &+ \epsilon^{2} \left\{ \frac{7}{8} \Sigma(v^{4}) + \frac{5}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma(\Phi_{1}) + \frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma(v^{2}U) - 4G(1-\zeta)\Sigma(v^{i}V^{i}) \right. \\ &- \frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma(\ddot{X}) - G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Sigma(\Phi_{2}) + \frac{3}{2}G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Sigma(U^{2}) + 9G\zeta\Sigma(v^{2}U_{s}) \\ &- \frac{3}{2}G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(v^{2}U_{s}) + \frac{1}{2}G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{1}^{s}) - 3G\zeta\Sigma(\Phi_{1}^{s}) + 3G\zeta\Sigma(\ddot{X}_{s}) - \frac{1}{2}G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(\ddot{X}_{s}) \\ &- G^{2}\zeta(1+12\lambda_{1}+5\zeta)\Sigma(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(1-17\zeta-6\lambda_{1})\Sigma(U_{s}^{2}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}G^{2}\zeta(11\zeta-2\lambda_{1})\Sigma_{s}(U_{s}^{2}) - 6G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(UU_{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) \\ &+ 2G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s}^{2}) - 6G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(\Phi_{2}^{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2}^{s}) - 24G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma(\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s})) \\ &+ 4G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma_{s}(\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s})) \right\} \\ &+ \epsilon^{5/2} \left\{ -\frac{4}{3} T^{kk}(t) U - \frac{1}{6} T^{kk}_{s}(t) (6U - U_{s}) + \frac{1}{3} T^{(4)}_{s}(t) (6x^{j}U - x^{j}U_{s} - 6X^{j} + X_{s}^{j}) \\ &- \dot{M}_{s}(t)(6U - U_{s}) \right\} + O(\epsilon^{3}), \\ U_{s\sigma} &= U_{s} + \epsilon \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \Phi_{1}^{s} - 3G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{2}^{s} + 3G\zeta\Phi_{2s}^{s} - 4G\zeta\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s}) \right\} \\ &+ \epsilon^{2} \left\{ -\frac{1}{8}\Sigma_{s}(v^{4}) - \frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{1}) - \frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(v^{2}U) + 4G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(v^{i}V^{i}) \\ &- \frac{3}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\ddot{X}) + G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2}) + \frac{11}{2}G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Sigma_{s}(U^{2}) - \frac{3}{2}G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(v^{2}U_{s}) \\ &+ 2G\zeta\Sigma(a_{s}v^{2}U_{s}) - \frac{3}{2}G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{1}^{s}) + 2G\zeta\Sigma(a_{s}\Phi_{s}^{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{s}^{s}) \\ &+ 4G^{2}\zeta(2\lambda_{1} + \zeta)\Sigma(a_{s}\Phi_{2s}^{s}) + G^{2}\zeta(1 - 4\zeta - 6\lambda_{1})\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) - 4G^{2}\zeta(4\zeta - \lambda)\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s}^{2}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(a_{s}UU_{s}) - 12G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma_{s}(\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s})) - 3G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) \\ &+ 12G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(a_{s}UU_{s}) - 12G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma_{s}(\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s})) - 3G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) \\ &+ 2G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(a$$

$$+4G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma(a_{s}\Phi_{2}^{s})+16G^{2}\zeta^{2}\Sigma(a_{s}\Sigma(a_{s}U_{s}))\bigg\}$$
  
+ $\epsilon^{5/2}\bigg\{-\frac{1}{6}\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}(t)(3U_{s}-4\Sigma(a_{s}))+\frac{1}{3}\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}(t)(3x^{j}U_{s}-4x^{j}\Sigma(a_{s})-3X_{s}^{,j}+4X(a_{s})^{,j})$   
 $-\dot{M}_{s}(t)(3U_{s}-4\Sigma(a_{s}))\bigg\}+O(\epsilon^{3}),$  (9.14)

while the relevant PN potentials become

$$\Phi_{1\sigma} = \Phi_1 + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \Sigma(v^4) - G(1-\zeta) \Sigma(v^2 U) + 6G\zeta \Sigma(v^2 U_s) - G\zeta \Sigma_s(v^2 U_s) \right\} + O(\epsilon^2), \qquad (9.15)$$

$$\Phi_{2\sigma} = \Phi_2 + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{3}{2} \Sigma(v^2 U) + \frac{3}{2} \Sigma(\Phi_1) - G(1-\zeta) \Sigma(U^2) - G(1-\zeta) \Sigma(\Phi_2) + 6G\zeta \Sigma(UU_s) - G\zeta \Sigma_s(UU_s) + 6G\zeta \Sigma(\Phi_{2s}) - G\zeta \Sigma(\Phi_{2s}^s) \right\} + O(\epsilon^2), \quad (9.16)$$

$$\Phi_{2\sigma}^{s} = \Phi_{2}^{s} + \epsilon \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{s}(v^{2}U) + \frac{3}{2} \Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{1}) - 3G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(U^{2}) - G(1-\zeta)\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2}) + 3G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(UU_{s}) - 4G\zeta\Sigma(a_{s}UU_{s}) + 6G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}) - G\zeta\Sigma_{s}(\Phi_{2s}^{s}) \right\} + O(\epsilon^{2}), \quad (9.17)$$

$$\Phi_{2s\sigma} = \Phi_{2s} + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{3}{2} \Sigma(v^2 U_s) - \frac{1}{2} \Sigma(\Phi_1^s) - G(1-\zeta) \Sigma(UU_s) - 3G(1-\zeta) \Sigma(\Phi_2^s) + 6G\zeta \Sigma(U_s^2) - G\zeta \Sigma_s(U_s^2) + 3G\zeta \Sigma(\Phi_{2s}^s) - 4G\zeta \Sigma(\Sigma(a_s U_s)) \right\} + O(\epsilon^2), \quad (9.18)$$

$$\Phi_{2s\sigma}^{s} = \Phi_{2s}^{s} + \epsilon \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{s} (v^{2} U_{s}) - \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{s} (\Phi_{1}^{s}) - 3G(1-\zeta) \Sigma_{s} (UU_{s}) - 3G(1-\zeta) \Sigma_{s} (\Phi_{2}^{s}) \right. \\ \left. + 3G\zeta \Sigma_{s} (U_{s}^{2}) - 4G\zeta \Sigma (a_{s} U_{s}^{2}) + 3G\zeta \Sigma_{s} (\Phi_{2s}^{s}) - 4G\zeta \Sigma_{s} (\Sigma(a_{s} U_{s})) \right\} \\ \left. + O(\epsilon^{2}) , \right\}$$

$$(9.19)$$

$$\ddot{X}_{\sigma} = \ddot{X} + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{3}{2} \ddot{X}(v^2) - G(1-\zeta) \ddot{X}(U) + 6G\zeta \ddot{X}(U_s) - G\zeta \ddot{X}_s(U_s) \right\} + O(\epsilon^2), \quad (9.20)$$
  
$$\ddot{X}_{s\sigma} = \ddot{X}_s + \epsilon \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \ddot{X}_s(v^2) - 3G(1-\zeta) \ddot{X}_s(U) + 3G\zeta \ddot{X}_s(U_s) - 4G\zeta \ddot{X}(a_sU_s) \right\}$$

$$+O(\epsilon^2), \tag{9.21}$$

$$V_{\sigma}^{i} = V^{i} + \epsilon \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \Sigma(v^{i} v^{2}) - G(1-\zeta) V_{2}^{i} + 6G\zeta V_{2s}^{i} - G\zeta \Sigma_{s}(v^{i} U_{s}) \right\} + O(\epsilon^{2}), \qquad (9.22)$$

where all potentials are now defined in terms of the density  $\rho^*$ , and including, where needed, the sensitivity factors s,  $a_s$  and  $b_s$ . In manipulating these expressions, we have made use of the identities, valid for any function f,  $\Sigma(sf) = [\Sigma(f) - \Sigma_s(f)]/2$  and  $\Sigma(x^i f) = x^i \Sigma(f) - X^{,i}(f)$ . The potentials U and  $U_s$  will henceforth be given by

$$U = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x',$$
  

$$U_s = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{(1 - 2s(\mathbf{x}'))\rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x'.$$
(9.23)

In some cases we will use the same notation as before, to avoid a proliferation of hats, tildes or subscripts. We redefine the  $\Sigma$ , X and Y potentials by

$$\Sigma(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi \rho^* f), \qquad (9.24a)$$

$$\Sigma^{i}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\rho^{*}(t, \mathbf{x}')v'^{i}f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^{3}x' = P(4\pi\rho^{*}v^{i}f), \qquad (9.24b)$$

$$\Sigma^{ij}(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}')v'^i v'^j f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3 x' = P(4\pi \rho^* v^i v^j f), \qquad (9.24c)$$

$$\Sigma_s(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \frac{(1 - 2s(\mathbf{x}'))\rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}')f(t, \mathbf{x}')}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} d^3x' = P(4\pi(1 - 2s)\rho^*f), \quad (9.24d)$$

$$X(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' | d^3 x', \qquad (9.24e)$$

$$Y(f) \equiv \int_{\mathcal{M}} \rho^*(t, \mathbf{x}') f(t, \mathbf{x}') | \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' |^3 d^3 x', \qquad (9.24f)$$

and their obvious counterparts  $X^i$ ,  $X^{ij}$ ,  $X_s$ ,  $Y^i$ ,  $Y^{ij}$ ,  $Y_s$ , and so on. With this new convention, all the potentials defined in Eqs. (8.10) can be redefined appropriately.

# 9.2 Equations of Motion in Terms of Potentials

Pulling together all the potentials expressed in terms of  $\rho^*$ , inserting into the metric, Eq. (8.2), calculating the Christoffel symbols, we obtain from Eq. (7.10) the equation of motion

$$dv^{i}/dt = a_{N}^{i} + \epsilon a_{PN}^{i} + \epsilon^{3/2} a_{1.5PN}^{i} + \epsilon^{2} a_{2PN}^{i} + \epsilon^{5/2} a_{2.5PN}^{i} + O(\epsilon^{3}), \qquad (9.25)$$

where

$$a_N^i = G(1-\zeta)U^{,i} + G\zeta(1-2s)U^{,i}_s, \qquad (9.26)$$

$$\begin{aligned} a_{PN}^{i} &= v^{2} \left[ G(1-\zeta)U^{,i} - G\zeta(1-2s)U^{,i}_{s} \right] - 4G(1-\zeta)v^{i}v^{j}U^{,j} - v^{i} \left[ 3G(1-\zeta)\dot{U} - G\zeta(1-2s)\dot{U}_{s} \right] \\ &- 4G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}UU^{,i} - 4G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)UU^{,i}_{s} - 2G^{2}\zeta \left[ \lambda_{1}(1-2s) + 2\zeta s' \right] U_{s}U^{,i}_{s} \\ &+ 8G(1-\zeta)v^{j}V^{[i,j]} + 4G(1-\zeta)\dot{V}^{i} + \frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\ddot{X}^{,i} + \frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)\ddot{X}^{,i}_{s} \\ &+ \frac{3}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{1}^{,i} - \frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)\Phi_{1}^{s,i} - G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Phi_{2}^{,i} - G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Phi_{2}^{s,i} \\ &- G^{2}\zeta \left[ 1-\zeta + (2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s) \right] \Phi_{2s}^{s,i} - 4G^{2}\zeta^{2}(1-2s)\Sigma^{,i}(a_{s}U_{s}) \,, \end{aligned}$$
(9.27)

$$a_{1.5PN}^{i} = \frac{1}{3}(1-2s) \frac{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{i}},$$
(9.28)

$$\begin{split} a_{2PN}^{i} &= 4G(1-\zeta)v^{i}v^{j}v^{k}V^{j,k} + v^{2}v^{i}\left[G(1-\zeta)\dot{U} - G\zeta(1-2s)\dot{U}_{s}\right] \\ &+ v^{i}v^{j}\left[4G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}\Phi_{2}^{,j} + 4G^{2}\zeta(1-\zeta)\Phi_{2s}^{s}{}^{,j} - 2G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{1}^{,j} - 2G(1-\zeta)\ddot{X}{}^{,j}\right] \\ &+ v^{j}v^{k}\left[2G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{1}^{jk,i} - 4G(1-\zeta)\Phi_{1}^{ij,k} + 2G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}P_{2}^{jk,i} - 4G^{2}(1-\zeta)^{2}P_{2}^{ij,k}\right] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+2G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)P_{2s}^{k,i}-4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)P_{2s}^{i,k}\right]\\ &+v^2\left[-\frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Phi_1^i+\frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)\Phi_1^{s,i}-G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Phi_2^j+G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Phi_2^{s,i}\right.\\ &-G^2\zeta\left[1-\zeta-(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)\right]\Phi_{s}^{s,i}+2G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta s'\right]U_sU_s^{i,i}\right.\\ &+4G^2\zeta^2(1-2s)\Sigma^i(a_sU_s)+\frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)X^i-\frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)X_s^i\right]\\ &+v^i\left[3G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Phi_2-G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Phi_2^s+G^2\zeta\left[3(1-\zeta)-(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)\right]\Phi_{2s}^s\right.\\ &-4G^2\zeta^2(1-2s)\Sigma(a_sU_s)-2G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta s'\right]U_sU_s-\frac{1}{2}G(1-\zeta)\Phi_1\\ &-\frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)\Phi_1^s-\frac{3}{2}G(1-\zeta)X_s+\frac{1}{2}G\zeta(1-2s)X_s^{i,j}\\ &+4G^2(1-\zeta)^2V_sU^k+4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)V^kU_s^k\right]\\ &+v^i\left[8G^2(1-\zeta)^2V_s^{i,j}+8G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)\Sigma^{i,j}(v^{i,j}U_s)-16G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Phi_2^{i,j,j}+4G(1-\zeta)X^{i,j,j}\right]\\ &+v^j\left[8G^2(1-\zeta)^2U_s^{i,j}+8G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)P_sU^{i,j,j}+16G^2(1-\zeta)^2U_sU^{i,j,j}\right]\\ &+v^j\left[8G^2(1-\zeta)^2U_s^{i,j}+8G^2(1-\zeta)Y^{i,j,j}+4G(1-\zeta)X^{i,j,j}\right]\\ &+4G^2(1-\zeta)\Sigma^{i,j}(v^{i,j})+8G^2(1-\zeta)Y^{i,j,j}+4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)V^{j,j,j}\right]\\ &+d^2G^2(1-\zeta)^2U_s^{i,j,j}+8G^2(1-\zeta)Y^{i,j,j,j}+4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)V^{j,j,j}\\ &-4G(1-\zeta)\Phi_1^{i,j}+4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)Y_s^{i,j,j}+2G(1-\zeta)X^{i,j,j}+\frac{3}{4}G(1-\zeta)X^{i,j,j}\\ &+\frac{1}{4}G\zeta(1-2s)X_s^{i,j}(v^2)+2G(1-\zeta)\Sigma^{i,j}(v^2)+\frac{7}{8}G^2(1-\zeta)\Sigma^{i,j}(v^3)-\frac{1}{8}G\zeta(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v^3)\\ &+\frac{1}{2}G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v^2U)+2G^2\zeta^2(1-2s)\Sigma^{i,j}(v_a)-4G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Sigma^{i,j}(v^1V)\\ &+\frac{2}{3}G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v^2U)+2G^2\zeta^2(1-2s)\Sigma^{i,j}(v_a)-\frac{3}{2}G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v_a)\\ &+\frac{2}{3}G^2(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v^2U)+2G^2\zeta^2(1-2s)\Sigma^{i,j}(v_a)-\frac{3}{2}G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma_s^{i,j}(v_a)\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}+G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta_s'\right]U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}-4G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Phi_1^{i,j}U_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}+G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta_s'\right]U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}-4G^2(1-\zeta)^2\Phi_1^{i,j}U_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}+G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta_s'\right]U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}-4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}+G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta_s'\right]U_sU_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U_s\Phi_1^{i,j}+G^2\zeta\left[\lambda_1(1-2s)+2\zeta_s'\right]U_sU_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)^2U_sU_s^{i,j}-2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)X_sU_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)^2U_sU_s^{i,j}-2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-\zeta)U_sU_sU_s^{i,j}\\ &+2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)^2U_sU_s^{i,j}-2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)U_$$

$$\begin{split} -8G^2(1-\zeta)^2\dot{\Phi}_2^i &-6G^2(1-\zeta)^2G_1^i + 2G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)G_{1s}^i - 4G^2(1-\zeta)^2G_2^i \\ -4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)G_{2s}^i + 8G^2(1-\zeta)^2G_3^i + 8G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)G_{3s}^i + 8G^2(1-\zeta)^2G_4^i \\ -4G^2(1-\zeta)^2G_6^i - 4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s)G_{6s}^i + 16G^2(1-\zeta)^2\dot{G}_7^i - 4G^2\zeta(1-\zeta)\dot{P}(\dot{U}_sU_s^i) \\ +4G^3(1-\zeta)^3U\Phi_2^i + 4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[1-\zeta + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)]U\Phi_{2s}^{i}^i \\ +4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)U\Phi_2^{s,i} + 2G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']U_s\Phi_2^{s,i} \\ +16G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)(1-2s)U\Sigma^i(a_sU_s) + 8G^3\zeta^2[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']U_s\Phi_2^{i}(a_sU_s) \\ +2G^3\zeta(2\lambda_1+\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Phi_2^sU_s^i + 8G^3\zeta^2[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Sigma(a_sU_s)U_s^i \\ +2G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Phi_2^sU_s^i + 8G^3\zeta^2[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Phi_{2s}^sU_s^i \\ +2G^3\zeta\{2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s) + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Phi_{2s}^sU_s^i \\ +2G^3\zeta\{2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-2s) + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']\Phi_{2s}^sU_s^i \\ +4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)\Phi_2U_s^i + 8G^3(1-\zeta)^3U^2U^i + 8G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)U^2U_s^i \\ +G^3\zeta[(8\lambda_1^2 - 2\zeta\lambda_1 - 2\lambda_2)(1-2s) + 12\lambda_1\zeta s' - 4\zeta^2s'']U_s^2U_s^i \\ +8G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s']UU_sU_s^i - G^3(1-\zeta)^3\Sigma^i(\Phi_2) - G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2\Sigma^i(\Phi_{2s}^s) \\ -G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)\Sigma_i^i(a_s\Phi_2^s) + 4G^3\zeta^2(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)[\Sigma_s^i(a_{2s}^s) \\ -G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)\Sigma_i^i(a_s\Phi_2^s) + 4G^3\zeta^2(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)[\Sigma_s^i(a_s\Phi_2^s) \\ +16G^3\zeta^3(1-2s)\Sigma^i(a_s\Omega_{as}) + 4G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)(1-\zeta) + \zeta(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)]\Sigma_s^i(\Sigma(a_sU_s)) \\ +\frac{3}{2}G^3(1-\zeta)^3\Sigma^i(U^2) + \frac{3}{2}G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)\Sigma_s^i(U^2) + G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2\Sigma^i(U_s^2) \\ +\frac{1}{2}G^3\zeta\{(2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-\zeta) + (1-2s)[\zeta(1-\zeta) + \zeta(2\lambda_1+1) + 16\lambda_1^2 - 4\lambda_2]\}\Sigma_s^i(U_s^2) \\ +G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[1-\zeta + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)]\Sigma_s^i(U_sU) + 2G^3\zeta^2[1-\zeta + 6\lambda_1(1-2s)]\Sigma^i(a_sU_s^2) \\ +G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)[1-\zeta + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)(1-2s)]\Sigma_s^i(U_sU) + 2G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)P_2^{iy}U_s^j \\ -4G^3\zeta^3(1-2s)\Sigma^i(b_sU_s^2) + 4G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)(1-2s)\Sigma^i(a_sU_sU) \\ -4G^3\zeta^1(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)P_{2s}^{iy}U_s^j - 4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)P_2^{iy}U_s^j \\ -4G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)(1-2s)P_{2s}^{iy}U_s^j - 4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2(1-2s)P_s^{iy}(s) \\ -4G^3\zeta^2(1-\zeta)(1-2s)P_{2s}^{iy}U_s^j - 4G^3\zeta(1-\zeta)^2H_s^i, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} a_{2.5PN}^{i} &= \frac{3}{5} x^{j} \left( \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{ij} - \frac{1}{3} \delta^{ij} \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{kk} \right) + 2v^{j} \mathcal{I}^{(4)}_{ij} + 2 \left[ G(1-\zeta)U^{,j} + G\zeta(1-2s)U^{,j}_{s} \right] \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{ij} \\ &+ \frac{4}{3} \left[ G(1-\zeta)U^{,i} + G\zeta(1-2s)U^{,i}_{s} \right] \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{kk} - \left[ G(1-\zeta)X^{,ijk} + G\zeta(1-2s)X^{,ijk}_{s} \right] \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{jk} \\ &- \frac{2}{15} \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{ijj} + \frac{2}{3} \epsilon^{qij} \mathcal{J}^{(4)}_{qj} - \frac{1}{15} (1-2s)x^{j} \left( \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{s} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{ij} \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{s} \right) + \frac{1}{15} (1-2s) \left( x^{i}x^{j} + \frac{1}{2}r^{2} \delta^{ij} \right) \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{s} \\ &+ \frac{1}{30} (1-2s) \mathcal{I}^{(5)}_{s} - \frac{1}{3} v^{2} (1-2s) \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{s} - \frac{4}{3} G(1-\zeta) (1-2s) U \mathcal{I}^{(3)}_{s} \end{aligned}$$

$$+\frac{1}{6}v^{i}(1-2s)\left(2x^{j}\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(4)}-\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(4)}-6\ddot{M}_{s}\right) -\frac{1}{3}(1-2s)x^{i}\overset{(3)}{M_{s}} \\ -\frac{1}{6}G\left\{\left[1-\zeta+(4\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s)+4\zeta s'\right]U_{s}^{,i}+4\zeta(1-2s)\Sigma^{,i}(a_{s})\right\}\left(2x^{j}\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}-\mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}-6\dot{M}_{s}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{3}G\left\{\left[1-\zeta+(4\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s)+4\zeta s'\right]U_{s}+4\zeta(1-2s)\Sigma(a_{s})\right\}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{i}} \\ +\frac{1}{3}G\left\{\left[1-\zeta+(2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s)\right]X_{s}^{,ij}+4\zeta(1-2s)X_{s}^{,ij}(a_{s})\right\}\overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}_{s}^{j}}\right\}.$$
(9.30)

We next turn to the problem of expressing these equations explicitly in terms of positions and velocities of each body in a two-body system.

"Science is a way of thinking much more than it is a body of knowledge." —Carl Sagan

# Equations of Motion for Two Compact Objects

10

We now wish to calculate the equation of motion for a member of a compact binary system. To do this, we integrate  $\rho^* dv^i/dt$  over body 1, and substitute Eq. (9.25) and then Eqs. (9.26) – (9.30). We follow closely the methods already detailed in Chapter 5 based on [191] (hereafter referred to as PWII) for evaluating the integrals of the various potentials, and so we will not repeat those details here. Readers should consult Sec. III and Appendices B, C, and D of PWII for details. In structural terms almost all of the potentials that appear in the 2PN terms in scalar-tensor theory also appear in general relativity, apart from the differences in the types of densities that generate the potentials, for example  $U_s$  vs. U,  $X_s$  vs. X,  $\Phi_{2s}^s$  vs.  $\Phi_2$ , and so on. The only 2PN term that does not appear in GR involves the potential  $P(\dot{U}_s U_s^{i})$ , but this can be evaluated using the methods described in Chapter 5.

Similarly, at 2.5PN order most of the moments that appear here also appear in GR, only a few, notably the scalar monopole and dipole moments  $M_s$  and  $\mathcal{I}_s^i$  are new. Particularly new is the appearance of a 1.5PN order term generated by the scalar dipole moment; this, of course, is the radiation-reaction counterpart of the well-known dipole gravitational radiation prediction of scalar-tensor theories.

### 10.1 Conservative 1PN and 2PN Terms

We begin with the conservative Newtonian, 1PN and 2PN terms. The results are, at Newtonian and 1PN orders.

$$a_{1(PN)}^{i} = -\frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}}n^{i} + \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}}n^{i} \left\{ -(1+\bar{\gamma})v_{1}^{2} - (2+\bar{\gamma})(v_{2}^{2} - 2\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) + \frac{3}{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} + \left[4 + 2\bar{\gamma} + 2\bar{\beta}_{1}\right]\frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r} + \left[5 + 2\bar{\gamma} + 2\bar{\beta}_{2}\right]\frac{G\alpha m_{1}}{r} \right\}$$

$$+\frac{G\alpha m_2}{r^2} (v_1 - v_2)^i \left[ (4 + 2\bar{\gamma}) \mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} - (3 + 2\bar{\gamma}) \mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n} \right],$$
  
$$a_{2(PN)}^i = \{ 1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \ \mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n} \}, \qquad (10.1)$$

where  $r \equiv |\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2|$ ,  $\mathbf{n} \equiv (\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2)/r$ , and where the parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\bar{\gamma}$ , and  $\bar{\beta}_A$  are defined in Table 7.1. Note that under the interchange  $(1 \rightleftharpoons 2)$ ,  $\mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n}$ . At 2PN order, we find

$$\begin{split} a_{1(2PN)}^{i} &= \frac{Gam_{2}}{r^{2}} n^{i} \bigg\{ -(2+\bar{\gamma}) [v_{2}^{4} - 2v_{2}^{2}((\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})) + ((\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2}))^{2} + 3(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}((\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2}))] \\ &+ \frac{3}{2}(1+\bar{\gamma})v_{1}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} + \frac{3}{2}(3+\bar{\gamma})v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} - \frac{15}{8}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{4} \\ &+ \frac{Gam_{2}}{r} \bigg( 2(2+\bar{\gamma})[v_{2}^{2} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})] - 2\bar{\beta}_{1}v_{1}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\left((2+\bar{\gamma})^{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{2}\right) [(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})] \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\left((6-\bar{\gamma})(2+\bar{\gamma}) + 8\bar{\beta}_{1} - 4\bar{\delta}_{2}\right)(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} \bigg) \\ &+ \frac{Gam_{1}}{r} \bigg( \frac{1}{4}\left(5 + 4\bar{\beta}_{2}\right) \left[v_{2}^{2} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})\right] - \frac{1}{4}\left(15 + 8\bar{\gamma} + 4\bar{\beta}_{2}\right)v_{1}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\left(17 + 18\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 16\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1}\right)(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\left(39 + 26\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1}\right)\left[(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})\right] \bigg) \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\frac{G^{2}a^{2}m_{1}^{2}}{r^{2}}\left(57 + 44\bar{\gamma} + 9\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 16(3 + \bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} - 8\bar{\chi}_{2}\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\frac{G^{2}a^{2}m_{1}m_{2}}{r^{2}}\left(69 + 48\bar{\gamma} + 8\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 8(3 + \bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_{2} + 2(15 + 4\bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_{1} - 48\bar{\gamma}^{-1}\bar{\beta}_{1}\bar{\beta}_{2}\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\frac{G^{2}a^{2}m_{2}^{2}}{r^{2}}\left(9(2 + \bar{\gamma})^{2} + 16(2 + \bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_{1} + 4\bar{\delta}_{2} - 8\bar{\chi}_{1}\right)\bigg\} \\ &+ \frac{Gam_{2}}{r^{2}}\left(v_{1}^{i} - v_{2}^{i}\right)\bigg\{2(2 + \bar{\gamma})\left[v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n}) + (\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n}) - \frac{3}{2}(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}\right] \\ &+ (1 + \bar{\gamma})v_{1}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n}) - (5 + 3\bar{\gamma})v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n}) + \frac{3}{2}(3 + 2\bar{\gamma})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{3} \\ &+ \frac{Gam_{1}}{4r}\bigg((55 + 40\bar{\gamma} + 2\bar{\gamma}^{2} - 16\bar{\beta}_{2} + 8\bar{\delta}_{1})\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n} - (63 + 40\bar{\gamma} + 2\bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 8\bar{\delta}_{1})\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n}\bigg) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\frac{Gam_{2}}{r}\bigg(((2 + \bar{\gamma})^{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{2})\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n} + (4 - \bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\beta}_{1} - 4\bar{\delta}_{2})\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n}\bigg)\bigg\}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\bar{\delta}_A$  and  $\bar{\chi}_A$  are defined in Table 7.1.

It is straightforward to show that these equations of motion can be derived from a two-body Lagrangian, given by

$$\begin{split} L &= -m_{1} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{2} v_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{8} v_{1}^{4} - \frac{1}{16} v_{1}^{6} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{G\alpha m_{1} m_{2}}{r} \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_{1} m_{2}}{r} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (3 + 2\bar{\gamma}) v_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} (7 + 4\bar{\gamma}) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) - \frac{1}{4} (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - \frac{1}{2} (1 + 2\bar{\beta}_{2}) \frac{G\alpha m_{1}}{r} \right\} \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_{1} m_{2}}{r} \left\{ \frac{1}{8} (7 + 4\bar{\gamma}) \left[ v_{1}^{4} - v_{1}^{2} (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} \right] - (2 + \bar{\gamma}) v_{1}^{2} ((\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})) + \frac{1}{8} ((\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}))^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} (15 + 8\bar{\gamma}) v_{1}^{2} v_{2}^{2} + \frac{3}{16} (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} + \frac{1}{4} (3 + 2\bar{\gamma}) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_{1}}{r} \left[ \frac{1}{8} \left( 2 + 12\bar{\gamma} + 7\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 8\bar{\beta}_{2} - 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) v_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left( 14 + 20\bar{\gamma} + 7\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\beta}_{2} - 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) v_{2}^{2} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \left( 7 + 16\bar{\gamma} + 7\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\beta}_{2} - 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) - \frac{1}{4} \left( 14 + 12\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} \left( 28 + 20\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left( 4 + 4\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{G^{2}\alpha^{2}m_{1}^{2}}{r^{2}} \left[ 1 + \frac{2}{3}\bar{\gamma} + \frac{1}{6}\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 2\bar{\beta}_{2} + \frac{2}{3}\bar{\delta}_{1} - \frac{4}{3}\bar{\chi}_{2} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} \frac{G^{2}\alpha^{2}m_{1}m_{2}}{r^{2}} \left[ 19 + 8\bar{\gamma} + 8\bar{\beta}_{1} + 8\bar{\beta}_{2} - 32\bar{\gamma}^{-1}\bar{\beta}_{1}\bar{\beta}_{2} \right] \right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{8}G\alpha m_{1}m_{2} \left[ 2(7 + 4\bar{\gamma})\mathbf{a}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) + \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{1}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} - (7 + 4\bar{\gamma})\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{1}v_{2}^{2} \right] \\ &+ \{1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n}\}. \end{split}$$

As in general relativity, the Lagrangian contains acceleration-dependent terms at 2PN order, and thus the Euler-Lagrange equations are  $(d^2/dt^2)(\delta L/\delta a^i) - (d/dt)(\delta L/\delta v^i) + \delta L/\delta x^i = 0$ . The equations of motion (absent radiation-reaction terms) admit the usual conserved quantities. The energy is given to 2PN order by

$$\begin{split} E &= m_1 \left( \frac{1}{2} v_1^2 + \frac{3}{8} v_1^4 + \frac{5}{16} v_1^6 \right) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{G\alpha m_1 m_2}{r} \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_1 m_2}{r} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (3 + 2\bar{\gamma}) v_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} (7 + 4\bar{\gamma}) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2) - \frac{1}{4} (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) + \frac{1}{2} (1 + 2\bar{\beta}_2) \frac{G\alpha m_1}{r} \right\} \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_1 m_2}{r} \left\{ \frac{3}{8} (7 + 4\bar{\gamma}) v_1^4 - \frac{1}{8} (13 + 8\bar{\gamma}) v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{8} (55 + 28\bar{\gamma}) v_1^2 ((\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)) + \frac{1}{8} (17 + 8\bar{\gamma}) ((\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2))^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} (31 + 16\bar{\gamma}) v_1^2 v_2^2 + \frac{3}{16} (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 + \frac{1}{4} (3 + 2\bar{\gamma}) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} (13 + 8\bar{\gamma}) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 - \frac{1}{8} (9 + 4\bar{\gamma}) v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) + \frac{3}{8} \mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^3 \\ &+ \frac{G\alpha m_1}{r} \left[ -\frac{1}{8} \left( 12 - 4\bar{\gamma} - 7\bar{\gamma}^2 - 8\bar{\beta}_2 + 4\bar{\delta}_1 \right) v_1^2 + \frac{1}{8} \left( 14 + 20\bar{\gamma} + 7\bar{\gamma}^2 + 4\bar{\beta}_2 - 4\bar{\delta}_1 \right) v_2^2 \right] \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{4} \left( 12\bar{\gamma} + 7\bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\beta}_{2} - 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) \left( \mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2} \right) - \frac{1}{4} \left( 13 + 12\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) \left( \mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) \left( \mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{8} \left( 58 + 36\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} - 8\bar{\beta}_{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) \left( \mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left( 4 + 4\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^{2} + 4\bar{\delta}_{1} \right) \left( \mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right)^{2} \right] \\ - \frac{1}{2} \frac{G^{2} \alpha^{2} m_{1}^{2}}{r^{2}} \left[ 1 + \frac{2}{3} \bar{\gamma} + \frac{1}{6} \bar{\gamma}^{2} + 2\bar{\beta}_{2} + \frac{2}{3} \bar{\delta}_{1} - \frac{4}{3} \bar{\chi}_{2} \right] \\ - \frac{1}{8} \frac{G^{2} \alpha^{2} m_{1} m_{2}}{r^{2}} \left[ 19 + 8\bar{\gamma} + 8\bar{\beta}_{1} + 8\bar{\beta}_{2} - 32\bar{\gamma}^{-1}\bar{\beta}_{1}\bar{\beta}_{2} \right] \right\} \\ + \left\{ 1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \ \mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n} \right\}, \tag{10.4}$$

while the total momentum is given by

$$P^{j} = m_{1}v_{1}^{j}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}v_{1}^{2} + \frac{3}{8}v_{1}^{4}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\frac{G\alpha m_{1}m_{2}}{r}\left[v_{1}^{j} + n^{j}(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})\right] \\ + \frac{G\alpha m_{1}m_{2}}{r}v_{1}^{j}\left\{\frac{1}{8}(5 + 4\bar{\gamma})v_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{8}(7 + 4\bar{\gamma})\left(2(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) - v_{2}^{2}\right) - \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{8}(13 + 8\bar{\gamma})\left((\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} - (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}\right) - (3 + 2\bar{\gamma} - \bar{\beta}_{2})\frac{G\alpha m_{1}}{r} + \frac{1}{2}(7 + 4\bar{\gamma})\frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r}\right\} \\ \left. + \frac{G\alpha m_{1}m_{2}}{r}n^{j}(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})\left\{-\frac{1}{8}(9 + 4\bar{\gamma})v_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}(7 + 4\bar{\gamma})\left(2(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2}) - v_{2}^{2}\right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{3}{8}\left((\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2} + (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}(29 + 16\bar{\gamma})\frac{G\alpha m_{1}}{r} - \frac{1}{4}(9 + 8\bar{\gamma} - 8\bar{\beta}_{1})\frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r}\right\} \\ \left. + \left\{1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \mathbf{n} \rightarrow -\mathbf{n}\right\}.$$

$$(10.5)$$

## 10.2 Radiation-Reaction Terms

At 1.5PN order, the leading dipole radiation reaction term is given by

$$a_{1(1.5PN)}^{i} = \frac{1}{3}(1-2s_{1}) \mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)},$$
  

$$a_{2(1.5PN)}^{i} = \frac{1}{3}(1-2s_{2}) \mathcal{I}_{s}^{(3)}.$$
(10.6)

Because we will be working to 2.5PN order, the scalar dipole moment  $\mathcal{I}_s^i$  must be evaluated to post-Newtonian order, and when time derivatives of that moment generate an acceleration, the post-Newtonian equations of motion must be inserted. Explicit two-body expressions for  $\mathcal{I}_s^i$  and the other moments needed for the radiation-reaction terms are provided in an Appendix. In addition to evaluating the direct 2.5PN terms from Eq. (9.30) for two bodies, we must include the 1.5PN contributions to the accelerations that occur in the 1PN terms  $\dot{V}^i$ ,  $\ddot{X}^{,i}$  and  $\ddot{X}_s^{,i}$  that appear in Eq. (9.27). At 2.5PN order, the final two-body expressions take the form

$$\begin{aligned} a_{1(2.5PN)}^{i} &= \frac{3}{5} x_{1}^{j} \left( \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{ij}} - \frac{1}{3} \delta^{ij} \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}} \right) + 2 v_{1}^{j} \overset{(4)}{\mathcal{I}^{ij}} - \frac{1}{3} \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}} n^{i} \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}} - 3 \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}} n^{i} n^{j} n^{k} \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{jk}} - \frac{2}{15} \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{ijj}} \\ &+ \frac{2}{3} \epsilon^{qij} \overset{(4)}{\mathcal{J}^{qj}} - \frac{1}{15} (1 - 2s_{1}) x_{1}^{j} \left( \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{ij}_{s}} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{ij} \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}_{s}} \right) + \frac{1}{15} (1 - 2s_{1}) \left( x_{1}^{i} x_{1}^{j} + \frac{1}{2} r_{1}^{2} \delta^{ij} \right) \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{j}_{s}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{30} (1 - 2s_{1}) \overset{(5)}{\mathcal{I}^{ijj}_{s}} + \frac{1}{6} v_{1}^{i} (1 - 2s_{1}) \left( 2x_{1}^{j} \overset{(4)}{\mathcal{I}^{s}_{s}} - \overset{(4)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}_{s}} - 6 \overset{(3)}{M_{s}} \right) - \frac{1}{3} (1 - 2s_{1}) x_{1}^{i} \overset{(3)}{M_{s}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}} n^{i} \left\{ 1 - 2s_{2} - 4\bar{\gamma}^{-1} \left[ (1 - 2s_{1}) \bar{\beta}_{1} + (1 - 2s_{2}) \bar{\beta}_{2} \right] \right\} \left( 2x_{1}^{j} \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{j}_{s}} - \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{kk}_{s}} - 6 \overset{(3)}{M_{s}} \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{6} \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r^{2}} n^{i} n^{i} n^{j} (1 - 2s_{2}) (1 - 8\bar{\beta}_{2}/\bar{\gamma}) \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{j}_{s}} - \frac{1}{6} \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r} (1 - 2s_{1}) (1 - 8\bar{\beta}_{1}/\bar{\gamma}) \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{i}_{s}} \\ &- \frac{1}{3} v_{1}^{2} (1 - 2s_{1}) \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{i}_{s}} + \frac{1}{3} \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r} (s_{1} - s_{2}) (7 + 4\bar{\gamma}) \overset{(3)}{\mathcal{I}^{i}_{s}}, \\ a_{2(2.5PN)}^{i} &= \{1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \mathbf{n} \rightarrow -\mathbf{n}\}. \end{aligned}$$

We shall defer calculating the moments and their time derivatives explicitly until the next subsection, where we obtain the relative equation of motion.

## 10.3 Relative Equation of Motion

We now wish to find the equation of motion for the relative separation  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ , through 2.5PN order. We take the PN contributions to the equation of motion for body 1 and body 2 and calculate  $d^2\mathbf{x}/dt^2 = \mathbf{a}_1 - \mathbf{a}_2$ . We must then express the individual velocities  $\mathbf{v}_1$  and  $\mathbf{v}_2$  that appear in post-Newtonian terms in terms of  $\mathbf{v} \equiv \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ . Since velocity-dependent terms show up at 1PN order, we need to find the transformation from  $\mathbf{v}_1$  and  $\mathbf{v}_2$  to  $\mathbf{v}$  to 1.5PN order so as to keep all corrections through 2.5PN order. To do this we make use of the momentum conservation law which the momentum is given in Eq. (10.5). But because of the contributions of dipole radiation reaction at 1.5PN order, the momentum is not strictly conserved because of the recoil of the system in response to the radiation of linear momentum at dipole order. By combining Eqs. (10.5) and (10.6), it is straightforward to show that the following quantity is constant through 1.5PN order:

$$m_1 v_1^i (1 + \frac{v_1^2}{2}) - \frac{G\alpha m_1 m_2}{2r} \left[ v_1^i + n^i (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right] + \frac{m_1}{3} (1 - 2s_1) \ddot{\mathcal{I}}_s^i + \{ 1 \rightleftharpoons 2, \mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n} \} = C^i . (10.8)$$

Setting  $C^i = 0$  and combining this with the definition of  $\mathbf{v}$ , we find that

$$v_1^i = +\frac{m_2}{m}v^i + \delta^i$$
123

Chapter 10. Equations of Motion for Two Compact Objects

$$v_2^i = -\frac{m_1}{m}v^i + \delta^i, (10.9)$$

where

$$\delta^{i} = \frac{1}{2}\eta\psi\left[\left(v^{2} - \frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)v^{i} - \frac{G\alpha m}{r^{2}}\dot{r}x^{i}\right] - \frac{2}{3}\zeta\eta\mathcal{S}_{-}(\mathcal{S}_{+} + \psi\mathcal{S}_{-})\left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^{2}n^{i} + O(\epsilon^{2}), \quad (10.10)$$

where m and  $\eta$  are the total mass and reduced mass ratio,  $\psi = \delta m/m = (m_1 - m_2)/m$ , and

$$S_{-} \equiv -\alpha^{-1/2}(s_{1} - s_{2}),$$
  

$$S_{+} \equiv \alpha^{-1/2}(1 - s_{1} - s_{2}).$$
(10.11)

We also need to evaluate the multipole moments that appear in the radiation-reaction terms to the appropriate order, and then calculate their time derivatives, inserting the equations of motion to the appropriate order as required. Explicit formulae for the moments are displayed in Appendix A.2. Combining all the various PN contributions consistently, we arrive finally at the relative equation of motion through 2.5PN order, as given in Eq. (10.12) i.e.

$$\frac{d^{2}\mathbf{X}}{dt^{2}} = -\frac{G\alpha m}{r^{2}}\mathbf{n} + \frac{G\alpha m}{r^{2}} \left[\mathbf{n}(A_{1PN} + A_{2PN}) + \dot{r}\mathbf{v}(B_{1PN} + B_{2PN})\right] + \frac{8}{5}\eta \frac{(G\alpha m)^{2}}{r^{3}} \left[\dot{r}\mathbf{n}(A_{1.5PN} + A_{2.5PN}) - \mathbf{v}(B_{1.5PN} + B_{2.5PN})\right], \quad (10.12)$$

where again  $r \equiv |\mathbf{X}|$ ,  $\mathbf{n} \equiv \mathbf{X}/r$ ,  $m \equiv m_1 + m_2$ ,  $\eta \equiv m_1 m_2/m^2$ ,  $\mathbf{v} \equiv \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ , and  $\dot{r} = dr/dt$ . Here we display the coefficients A and B as:

$$A_{1PN} = -(1+3\eta+\bar{\gamma})v^2 + \frac{3}{2}\eta\dot{r}^2 + 2(2+\eta+\bar{\gamma}+\bar{\beta}_+-\psi\bar{\beta}_-)\frac{G\alpha m}{r}, \qquad (10.13a)$$
  
$$B_{1PN} = 2(2-\eta+\bar{\gamma}), \qquad (10.13b)$$

$$A_{2PN} = -\eta(3-4\eta+\bar{\gamma})v^4 + \frac{1}{2} \left[\eta(13-4\eta+4\bar{\gamma})-4(1-4\eta)\bar{\beta}_+ + 4\psi(1-3\eta)\bar{\beta}_-\right]v^2 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} \\ -\frac{15}{8}\eta(1-3\eta)\dot{r}^4 + \frac{3}{2}\eta(3-4\eta+\bar{\gamma})v^2\dot{r}^2 \\ + \left[2+25\eta+2\eta^2+2(1+9\eta)\bar{\gamma}+\frac{1}{2}\bar{\gamma}^2-4\eta(3\bar{\beta}_+-\psi\bar{\beta}_-)+2\bar{\delta}_++2\psi\bar{\delta}_-\right]\dot{r}^2 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} \\ - \left[9+\frac{87}{4}\eta+(9+8\eta)\bar{\gamma}+\frac{1}{4}(9-2\eta)\bar{\gamma}^2+(8+15\eta+4\bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_+-\psi(8+7\eta+4\bar{\gamma})\bar{\beta}_- \\ +(1-2\eta)(\bar{\delta}_+-2\bar{\chi}_+)+\psi(\bar{\delta}_-+2\bar{\chi}_-)-24\eta\frac{\bar{\beta}_1\bar{\beta}_2}{\bar{\gamma}}\right] \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^2, \quad (10.13c)$$

$$B_{2PN} = \frac{1}{2}\eta(15 + 4\eta + 8\bar{\gamma})v^2 - \frac{3}{2}\eta(3 + 2\eta + 2\bar{\gamma})\dot{r}^2 \qquad (10.13d)$$
  
$$-\frac{1}{2}\left[4 + 41\eta + 8\eta^2 + 4(1 + 7\eta)\bar{\gamma} + \bar{\gamma}^2 - 8\eta(2\bar{\beta}_+ - \psi\bar{\beta}_-) + 4\bar{\delta}_+ + 4\psi\bar{\delta}_-\right]\frac{G\alpha m}{r},$$
  
$$A_{1.5PN} = \frac{5}{2}\zeta S_-^2, \qquad (10.13e)$$

124
$$B_{1.5PN} = \frac{5}{6} \zeta S_{-}^2 \,. \tag{10.13f}$$

$$A_{2.5PN} = a_1 v^2 + a_2 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} + a_3 \dot{r}^2, \qquad (10.13g)$$

$$B_{2.5PN} = b_1 v^2 + b_2 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} + b_3 \dot{r}^2, \qquad (10.13h)$$

where in the two last equations

$$a_{1} = 3 - \frac{5}{2}\bar{\gamma} + \frac{15}{2}\bar{\beta}_{+} + \frac{5}{8}\zeta S_{-}^{2}(9 + 4\bar{\gamma} - 2\eta) + \frac{15}{8}\zeta \psi S_{-}S_{+}, \qquad (10.14a)$$

$$17 - 35 - 95 = 5 - 25 = 5$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{17}{3} + \frac{35}{6}\bar{\gamma} - \frac{95}{6}\bar{\beta}_{+} - \frac{5}{24}\zeta S_{-}^{2} \left[135 + 56\bar{\gamma} + 8\eta + 32\bar{\beta}_{+}\right] + 30\zeta S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{-}\beta_{+} + S_{+}\beta_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) \\ -\frac{5}{8}\zeta \psi S_{-} \left(S_{+} - \frac{32}{3}S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-} + 16\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) - 40\zeta \left(\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right)^{2}, \quad (10.14b)$$

$$a_{3} = \frac{25}{8} \left[ 2\bar{\gamma} - \zeta S_{-}^{2} (1 - 2\eta) - 4\bar{\beta}_{+} - \zeta \psi S_{-} S_{+} \right], \qquad (10.14c)$$

$$b_1 = 1 - \frac{5}{6}\bar{\gamma} + \frac{5}{2}\bar{\beta}_+ - \frac{5}{24}\zeta S_-^2(7 + 4\bar{\gamma} - 2\eta) + \frac{5}{8}\zeta \psi S_- S_+, \qquad (10.14d)$$

$$b_{2} = 3 + \frac{5}{2}\bar{\gamma} - \frac{5}{2}\bar{\beta}_{+} - \frac{5}{24}\zeta S_{-}^{2} \left[23 + 8\bar{\gamma} - 8\eta + 8\bar{\beta}_{+}\right] + \frac{10}{3}\zeta S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) \\ - \frac{5}{8}\zeta \psi S_{-} \left(S_{+} - \frac{8}{3}S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-} + \frac{16}{3}\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right), \qquad (10.14e)$$

$$b_3 = \frac{5}{8} \left[ 6\bar{\gamma} + \zeta S_-^2 (13 + 8\bar{\gamma} + 2\eta) - 12\bar{\beta}_+ - 3\zeta \psi S_- S_+ \right] .$$
(10.14f)

Here the subscripts "+" and "-" on various parameters denote sums and differences, so that, for a chosen parameter  $\tau_i$  we define

$$\begin{aligned}
\tau_{+} &\equiv \frac{1}{2}(\tau_{1} + \tau_{2}), \\
\tau_{-} &\equiv \frac{1}{2}(\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}).
\end{aligned}$$
(10.15)

where  $\tau$  can be either  $\bar{\beta}$ ,  $\bar{\delta}$ , or  $\bar{\chi}$ . However, note that  $\mathcal{S}_+$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_-$  are already defined in Eqs. (10.11) explicitly.

Comparing relative equations of motion in scalar-tensor theories i.e. Eqs. (10.13) with their correspondin expressions in general relativity i.e. Eqs. (5.61, 5.62), it clearly shows that scalar-tensor geavity gives general relativistic expressions plus some extra terms.

#### 10.4 Energy Loss Rate

We now wish to evaluate the rate of energy loss that is induced by the radiation-reaction terms in the equations of motion. Because those equations of motion contain both 1.5PN as well as 2.5PN contributions, we will have not only the normal "quadrupole" order contributions to the energy loss rate analogous to those that appear in general relativity, but also dipole contributions that are in principle larger by a factor of  $1/v^2$ . Since the conventional "counter" for keeping track of contributions to the waveform and energy flux in the wave-zone denotes the GR quadrupole terms as "Newtonian" or 0PN order, the dipole terms will, by this reckoning, be of -1PN order.

To evaluate the energy loss correctly through "Newtonian" order, we first express the conserved energy in relative coordinates to 1PN order. Using the transformations (10.9) and (10.10)to 1PN order, we obtain

$$E = \frac{1}{2}\mu v^2 - \mu \frac{G\alpha m}{r} + \frac{3}{8}\mu(1-3\eta)v^4 + \frac{1}{2}\mu \frac{G\alpha m}{r} \left[ (3+2\bar{\gamma}+\eta)v^2 + \eta\dot{r}^2 \right] + \frac{1}{2}\mu \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^2 (1+2\bar{\beta}_+ - 2\psi\bar{\beta}_-) . \quad (10.16)$$

We then calculate dE/dt, inserting the 1.5PN and 2.5PN acceleration terms into the leading term  $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{a}$ , and inserting only the 1.5PN terms wherever accelerations occur in the time derivative of the 1PN terms.

Beginning with the leading term, and expressing the 1.5PN acceleration in the form  $\mathbf{a}_{1.5PN} = (D/r^3)(3\dot{r}\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{v})$ , where  $D = 4\eta\zeta(G\alpha m)^2\mathcal{S}_-^2/3$ , we find for the -1PN term  $(dE/dt)_{-1PN} = \mu(D/r^3)(3\dot{r}^2 - v^2)$ . This can be simplified by exploiting the identity

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\dot{r}}{r^2}\right) = \frac{v^2 - 3\dot{r}^2 + \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{a}}{r^3} \,. \tag{10.17}$$

Thus  $(v^2 - 3\dot{r}^2)/r^3$  can be written as the total time derivative of a quantity that can be absorbed as a 1.5PN correction to the definition of E, leaving  $(dE/dt)_{-1PN} = \mu(D/r^3)(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{a})$ . Inserting the Newtonian acceleration for  $\mathbf{a}$ , we obtain

$$(dE/dt)_{-1PN} = -\frac{4}{3}\zeta \frac{\mu\eta}{r} \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^3 \mathcal{S}_{-}^2.$$
(10.18)

This is in agreement with earlier calculations of the energy flux due to dipole gravitational radiation [100, 265].

However, since we are working to Newtonian order in the energy loss, we also need to include the 1PN contributions to the acceleration that appears in Eq. (10.17), yielding a contribution given by  $\mu D(G\alpha m/r^4)(A_{1PN} + \dot{r}^2 B_{1PN})$ , where  $A_{1PN}$  and  $B_{1PN}$  are given by Eqs. (10.13b). We then combine this with the other Newtonian order terms generated from dE/dt, leading to an expression of the general form

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = -\frac{8}{15} \frac{\mu\eta}{r} \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^2 \left[ p_1 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} v^2 + p_2 \frac{G\alpha m}{r} \dot{r}^2 + p_3 v^2 \dot{r}^2 + p_4 \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^2 + p_5 v^4 + p_6 \dot{r}^4 \right]$$
(10.19)

We now use an identity derived from the Newtonian equations of motion,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{v^{2s}\dot{r}^p}{r^q}\right) = \frac{v^{2s-2}\dot{r}^{p-1}}{r^{q+1}}\left(pv^4 - pv^2\frac{G\alpha m}{r} - (p+q)v^2\dot{r}^2 - 2s\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\dot{r}^2\right).$$
 (10.20)

This is applicable at this PN order provided that the integers s and p are non-negative,  $q \ge 2$ and 2s + p + 2q = 7. Using the three possible cases (s, p, q) = (1, 1, 2), (0, 3, 2), (0, 1, 3), we can freely manipulate the values of three of the six coefficients  $p_i$  in Eq. (10.19). The idea is to combine terms on the right-hand-side of Eq. (10.19) into a total time derivative, to move that to the left-hand-side and then to absorb it into a meaningless redefinition of E (see for example, [149, 150] for discussion). Thus one can easily arrange for  $p_4$ ,  $p_5$  and  $p_6$  to vanish. It then turns out that the coefficient  $p_3$  of the term proportional to  $v^2\dot{r}^2$  is proportional to the combination of the 2.5PN equation-of-motion coefficients  $5a_1 + 3a_3 - 15b_1 - 5b_3$ . An inspection of Eqs. (10.14) reveals that this combination miraculously vanishes. Pulling everything together, we obtain the final expression for the energy loss rate,

$$(dE/dt)_{0PN} = -\frac{8}{15} \frac{\mu\eta}{r} \left(\frac{G\alpha m}{r}\right)^3 \left(\kappa_1 v^2 - \kappa_2 \dot{r}^2\right) , \qquad (10.21)$$

where

$$\kappa_{1} = 12 + 5\bar{\gamma} - 5\zeta S_{-}^{2} (3 + \bar{\gamma} + 2\bar{\beta}_{+}) + 10\zeta S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) 
+ 10\zeta \psi S_{-}^{2}\bar{\beta}_{-} - 10\zeta \psi S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) , 
\kappa_{2} = 11 + \frac{45}{4}\bar{\gamma} - 40\bar{\beta}_{+} - 5\zeta S_{-}^{2} \left[17 + 6\bar{\gamma} + \eta + 8\bar{\beta}_{+}\right] + 90\zeta S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) 
+ 40\zeta \psi S_{-}^{2}\bar{\beta}_{-} - 30\zeta \psi S_{-} \left(\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) - 120\zeta \left(\frac{S_{+}\bar{\beta}_{+} + S_{-}\bar{\beta}_{-}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right)^{2} . \quad (10.22)$$

These results are in complete agreement with the total energy flux to -1PN and 0PN orders, as calculated by Damour and Esposito-Farèse [84].<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Thanks to Michael Horbatsch for his invaluable help in verifying this agreement.

"Science, my lad, is made up of mistakes, but they are mistakes which it is useful to make, because they lead little by little to the truth." —Jules Verne, Journey to the Center of the Earth

> **11** Discussion

We have used the DIRE approach based on post-Minkowskian theory to derive the explicit equations of motion in a general class of massless scalar-tensor theories of gravity for compact binary systems through 2.5PN order. Here we discuss the results, and compare our work with related work on scalar-tensor gravity and equations of motion.

#### 11.1 General Remarks and Comparison with Other Results

We begin by noting that, not surprisingly, the expressions are considerably more complicated than the corresponding general relativistic expressions (compare Eqs. (10.12, 10.13) with Eqs. (5.60, ??) and Eqs. (1.2, 1.3, 5.4) in PWII). Given that the results depend on the function  $\omega(\phi)$  and its first and second derivatives, on the masses of each body, and on the sensitivities of each body and their derivatives, it is somewhat remarkable that the final equations of motion depend on a rather small number of parameters, as shown in the right-hand column of Table 7.1. The parameter  $\alpha$  combines with G to yield an effective two-body Newtonian coupling constant. It is not a universal constant, as it depends symmetrically on the sensitivities of each body. The parameter  $\bar{\gamma}$  and the body-dependent parameter  $\bar{\beta}_A$  govern the post-Newtonian corrections, while the body-dependent parameters  $\bar{\delta}_A$  and  $\bar{\chi}_A$  govern the 2PN corrections. In the radiation-reaction terms, the sensitivities  $s_A$  occur explicitly along with  $\bar{\gamma}$  and  $\bar{\beta}_A$ .

The relative simplicity of the parameters at 1PN and 2PN orders has been noted before. Damour and Esposito-Farèse [84, 85] (DEF hereafter) studied a class of multi-scalar-tensor theories, but worked in the Einstein representation, where the gravitational action was pure general relativity, augmented by a free action for the scalar fields. This is a non-metric representation of the theory, since the scalar field(s) couple to normal matter via a function  $A(\varphi)$  (here we will

This work	DEF	TEGP	PPN limit
$G\alpha$	$G_{12}$	$\mathcal{G}_{12}$	1
$ar{\gamma}$	$ar{\gamma}_{12}$	$\frac{3}{2}(\mathcal{B}_{12}/\mathcal{G}_{12}-1)$	$\gamma - 1$
$ar{eta}_1$	$\beta_{22}^1$	$\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{D}_{122}/\mathcal{G}_{12}^2-1)$	$\beta-1$
$ar{eta}_2$	$\beta_{11}^2$	$\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{D}_{211}/\mathcal{G}_{12}^2-1)$	$\beta-1$
$ar{\delta}_1$	—	—	_
$ar{\delta}_2$	—	—	_
$ar{\chi}_1$	$-\frac{1}{4}\epsilon_{222}^{1}$	—	—
$ar{\chi}_2$	$-\frac{1}{4}\epsilon_{111}^2$	—	—
$\bar{\gamma}^{-1}\bar{\beta}_1\bar{\beta}_2$	$-\frac{1}{2}\zeta_{1212}$	—	—

**Table 11.1:** Dictionary of parameters used in the equations of motion. DEF refers to Ref. [84, 85]; TEGP refers to Sec. 11.3 of Ref. [265]; PPN refers to the parametrized post-Newtonian limit of weakly gravitating bodies

focus on a single scalar field). For a compact body with mass  $\tilde{m}(\varphi)$  (using the Eardley ansatz), the effective matter action depends on the product  $A(\varphi)\tilde{m}(\varphi)$ . The scalar field  $\phi$  of our Jordan representation is given by  $\phi = A(\varphi)^{-2}$ , and  $3 + 2\omega(\phi) = (d \ln A/d\varphi)^{-2}$ . Using a diagrammatic approach, DEF showed that the important quantities involved derivatives of  $A(\varphi)\tilde{m}(\varphi)$  with respect to  $\varphi$ , and consequently (in our language)  $\omega$  and  $s_A$  and their derivatives always combined in specific ways, leading to relatively few parameters. Table 11.1 gives a dictionary that translates from our parameters to those of DEF for the case of two bodies. Interestingly, our parameters  $\bar{\delta}_A$  do not appear in DEF's list, so far as we could tell.

In the 1PN limit, Will [265] wrote down a general N-body Lagrangian for compact selfgravitating bodies that could span a wide class of metric theories of gravity that embody post-Galilean invariance (so-called "semi-conservative" theories of gravity), and that have no "Whitehead" potential in the post-Newtonian limit. Comparing our Lagrangian of scalar-tensor theory with the 2-body limit of Eq. (11.62) of [265], we can translate between our parameters and the coefficients  $\mathcal{G}_{ab}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}_{ab}$ , and  $\mathcal{D}_{abc}$  of [265], as shown in Table 11.1.

The factor  $1 - 2s_A$  appears throughout these equations. This quantity is often called the "scalar charge" of the object. From the point of view of the Einstein representation of scalartensor theory, it is easy to see how this factor arises. The scalar field appears in the gravitational part of the action only in a kinetic term  $g^{\mu\nu}\varphi_{,\mu}\varphi_{,\nu}$  (we assume that there is no potential  $V(\varphi)$ ). It does not couple to gravity other than via the metric in the kinetic term. The effective matter action for a compact body depends on the product  $A(\varphi)M(\varphi)$ . Varying this product with respect to  $\varphi$  yields the quantity

$$A(\varphi)M(\varphi)\left(\frac{d\ln A}{d\varphi} + \frac{d\ln M}{d\ln\phi}\frac{d\ln\phi}{d\varphi}\right)\delta\varphi = A(\varphi)M(\varphi)\frac{d\ln A}{d\varphi}(1-2s)\delta\varphi, \qquad (11.1)$$

where we used the fact that  $\ln \phi = -2 \ln A(\varphi)$ . Thus the factor 1 - 2s and its derivatives naturally control the source of the scalar field, as can be seen clearly in Eq. (9.12e). Defining a scalar charge for body A in a two-body system by

$$q_A \equiv \alpha^{-1/2} (1 - 2s_A) \,, \tag{11.2}$$

we see that the quantities  $S_{\pm}$  are given by

$$S_{+} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{1} + q_{2}),$$
  

$$S_{-} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{1} - q_{2}).$$
(11.3)

The scalar charge, or sensitivity of a given body depends on its internal structure. For weakly gravitating bodies,  $s \approx -\Omega/M \ll 1$ , where  $\Omega \equiv -(1/2)G \int \int \rho^* \rho'^* |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{-1} d^3x d^3x'$  is the Newtonian self-gravitational binding energy. For neutron stars, values of the sensitivities range from 0.1 to 0.3, depending on the mass and equation of state of the body [276, 297] and can vary dramatically, depending on the specific form of  $\omega(\phi)$  [84].

#### 11.2 Weakly Self-Gravitating Systems

In the post-Newtonian limit with weakly self-gravitating systems, the sensitivities  $s_i$  are themselves of order  $\epsilon$ . If one is working purely at 1PN order, then the effects of sensitivities in the 1PN terms of Eq. (10.1) will be of 2PN order. So the only effect of the bodies' sensitivities in this case will come from the coefficient  $\alpha$  in the Newtonian term. Consider a specific example: body 1 with sensitivity  $s_1$  resides in the field of body 2, with sensitivity zero. The acceleration of body 1 is then given by

$$\mathbf{a}_1 = -\frac{Gm_2}{r^2} n^i (1 - 2\zeta s_1) \,, \tag{11.4}$$

and thus the body's Newtonian acceleration will depend on its internal structure, a violation of the Strong Equivalence Principle, commonly known as the Nordtvedt effect. In the PPN framework [265], the Nordtvedt effect is normally expressed in terms of  $\Omega$ . Alternatively, since  $M \approx m_0 + \Omega$ , we have that  $\Omega/M = d \ln M/d \ln G$ . Taking into account Eq. (8.16), we can connect the sensitivity s to  $\Omega$  by

$$s = \left(\frac{d\ln M}{d\ln G}\right)_0 \left(\frac{d\ln G}{d\ln \phi}\right)_0 = -\frac{\Omega}{M} \left[1 + 4\Lambda(2 + \omega_0)\right], \qquad (11.5)$$

where

$$\Lambda \equiv \frac{\phi_0 (d\omega/d\phi)_0}{(4+2\omega_0)^2 (3+2\omega_0)}$$
(11.6)

is the parameter defined in TEGP (see Eqs. (5.36) and (5.38)) such that the PPN parameter  $\beta = 1 + \Lambda$  in scalar-tensor theory (note the relationship between  $\phi_0$  and G, which is set equal to unity in TEGP). We also have that  $\gamma = 1 - 2\zeta$ . We can then express the acceleration of body 1 as

$$\mathbf{a}_1 = -\frac{Gm_2}{r^2} \mathbf{n} \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{1}{2+\omega_0} + 4\Lambda \right) \frac{\Omega_1}{m_1} \right].$$
(11.7)

The coefficient in front of  $\Omega_1/m_1$  is precisely  $4\beta - \gamma - 3$ , as in the standard PPN framework.

In the 1PN terms in Eq. (10.1), for weakly self-gravitating systems, it is easy to see from Table 7.1 that in the limit  $s_i \to 0$ ,  $\alpha \to 1$ , the parameters  $\bar{\gamma}$  and  $\bar{\beta}_i$  tend to the PPN parameters  $\gamma - 1$  and  $\beta - 1$ , respectively, as shown in Table 11.1, and thus our equations of motion at 1PN order agree with the standard ones for "point" masses in scalar-tensor theory.

The radiation-reaction results can also be compared with existing work. The -1PN energy loss due to dipole gravitational radiation reaction, Eq. (10.18) is in complete agreement with calculations of the dipole energy flux [100, 264, 265]. In comparing Eq. (10.18) with Eqs. (10.84) and (10.136) of [265], the additional factor of  $[1 + 4\Lambda(2 + \omega_0)]^2$  arises from the relation (11.5) between s and  $\Omega/M$ .

For weakly self-gravitating bodies, the Newtonian-order energy loss simplifies by virtue of setting all sensitivities equal to zero. In this case, with  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = -2\zeta$ ,  $\bar{\beta}_+ = \beta - 1 = \Lambda$ ,  $\bar{\beta}_- = 0$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_- = 0$ , and  $\mathcal{S}_+ = 1$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned}
\kappa_1 &= 12 - \frac{5}{2 + \omega_0}, \\
\kappa_2 &= 11 - \frac{45}{2}\zeta - 40\Lambda - 30\Lambda^2/\zeta \\
&= 11 - \frac{45}{8 + 4\omega_0} \left[ 1 + \frac{8}{9} \left( \frac{2\Lambda}{\zeta} \right) + \frac{1}{3} \left( \frac{2\Lambda}{\zeta} \right)^2 \right].
\end{aligned}$$
(11.8)

These agree completely with Eq. (10.136) of [265].

#### 11.3 Binary Black Holes

Roger Penrose was probably the first to conjecture, in a talk at the 1970 Fifth Texas Symposium, that black holes in Brans-Dicke theory are identical to their GR counterparts [242]. Motivated by this remark, Thorne and Dykla showed that during gravitational collapse to form a black hole, the Brans-Dicke scalar field is radiated away, in accord with Price's theorem, leaving only its constant asymptotic value, and a GR black hole [242]. Hawking [134] proved on general grounds that stationary, asymptotically flat black holes in vacuum in BD are the black holes of GR. The basic idea is that black holes in vacuum with non-singular event horizons cannot

support scalar "hair". Hawking's theorem was extended to the class of f(R) theories that can be transformed into generalized scalar-tensor theories by Sotiriou and Faraoni [235].

For a stationary single body, it is clear from Eq. (9.12e) that, if s = 1/2 and all its derivatives vanish, the only solution for the scalar field is  $\phi \equiv \phi_0$ , and hence the equations reduce to those of general relativity. In the Einstein representation, this corresponds to  $A(\varphi)M(\varphi) = \text{constant}$ , so that the scalar field decouples from any source, and thus must be either constant or singular. Consequently, stationary black holes are characterized by s = 1/2.

Another way to see this is to note that, because all information about the matter that formed the black hole has vanished behind the event horizon, the only scale on which the mass of the hole can depend is the Planck scale, and thus  $M \propto M_{Planck} \propto G^{-1/2} \propto \phi^{1/2}$ . Hence s = 1/2.

If  $s_A = 1/2$  for each black hole in a binary system, then, as we discussed in the introduction, all the parameters  $\bar{\gamma}$ ,  $\bar{\beta}_A$ ,  $\bar{\delta}_A$ ,  $\bar{\chi}_A$ , and  $S_{\pm}$  vanish identically, and  $\alpha = 1 - \zeta$ . But since  $\alpha$  appears only in the combination with  $G\alpha m_A$ , a simple rescaling of each mass puts all equations into complete agreement with those of general relativity, through 2.5PN order.

But is  $s_A = 1/2$  really true for binary black holes? If the orbital timescale is long compared to the dynamical (quasinormal mode) timescale of each black hole, then it is plausible to assume that Hawking's theorem holds for each black hole, at least up to some PN order. On the other hand, one could imagine a situation where each hole is distorted by the tidal forces from the companion hole, or where gravitational radiation flowing across the event horizons disrupts the stationarity needed for Hawking's theorem. In PN language, these kinds of effects are known to be of an order higher than the 2.5PN order achieved in this paper, so perhaps some non-GR effects might emerge at sufficiently high PN order. Can a perturbation of the scalar field be supported sufficiently by strong gravity or by time varying fields to make any difference? Or, without matter to support it, does any scalar perturbation get radiated away on a quasinormalmode timescale, which is short compared to the orbital timescale, except during the merger of the two black holes? Preliminary evidence from numerical relativity supports the latter scenario: Healy et al. [135] introduced a very large Brans-Dicke type scalar field into the initial data of a binary black hole merger and found that, while the field affected the inspiral while it lasted, it was radiated away rather quickly, although it was not possible from the numerical data to fully quantify this.

It should be pointed out that there *are* ways to induce scalar hair on a black hole. One is to introduce a potential  $V(\phi)$ , which, depending on its form, can help to support a non-trivial scalar field outside a black hole. Another is to introduce matter. A companion neutron star is an obvious choice, and such a binary system in scalar-tensor theory is clearly different from its general relativistic counterpart (see the next subsection). Another possibility is a distribution of cosmological matter that can support a time-varying scalar field at infinity. This possibility has been called "Jacobson's miracle hair-growth formula" for black holes, based on work by Jacobson [145, 151]. Whether it is possible to incorporate such ideas into our approach is a subject for future work.

These considerations motivate us to formulate a conjecture along the following lines: Consider a scalar-tensor theory of gravity with no potential for the scalar field, and consider two black holes with non-singular event horizons in a vacuum (no normal matter), asymptotically flat spacetime with  $\phi$  at spatial infinity constant in time. Following an initial transient period short compared to the orbital period, the orbital evolution and gravitational radiation from the binary system are identical to those predicted by GR, after a mass rescaling, independent of the initial scalar field configuration. Aspects of this conjecture could be addressed by numerical simulations that extend the work of [135]. It may also be possible to address it partially by generalizing Hawking's theorem to a situation that is not strictly stationary, but yet still retains some symmetry, such as a helical Killing vector. This will be the subject of future work.

#### 11.4 Black-Hole Neutron-Star Binary Systems

Finally, we note the unusual circumstance that, if only one of the members of the binary system, say body 2, is a black hole, with  $s_2 = 1/2$ , then  $\alpha = 1 - \zeta$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = \bar{\beta}_A = 0$ , and hence, through 1PN order, the motion is again identical to that in general relativity. This result is actually implicit in the post-Newtonian equations of motion for compact binaries in Brans-Dicke theory displayed in Eq. (11.91) of [265], but was never stated explicitly there.

At 1.5PN order, dipole radiation reaction kicks in, since  $s_1 < 1/2$ . In this case,  $S_- = S_+ = \alpha^{-1/2}(1-2s_1)/2$ , and thus the 1.5PN coefficients in the relative equation of motion (10.12) take the form

$$A_{1.5PN} = \frac{5}{8}Q,$$
  

$$B_{1.5PN} = \frac{5}{24}Q,$$
(11.9)

where

$$Q \equiv \frac{\zeta}{1-\zeta} (1-2s_1)^2 = \frac{1}{3+2\omega_0} (1-2s_1)^2.$$
(11.10)

At 2PN order,  $\bar{\chi}_A = \bar{\delta}_2 = 0$ , but  $\bar{\delta}_1 = Q \neq 0$ . In this case, the 2PN coefficients in (10.12) take the form

$$A_{2PN} = A_{2PN}^{GR} + Q \frac{G\alpha m_1}{r} \left[ \dot{r}^2 - \frac{G\alpha m_1}{r} \right],$$
  

$$B_{2PN} = B_{2PN}^{GR} - 2Q \frac{G\alpha m_1}{r}.$$
(11.11)

Finally, the 2.5PN coefficients in Eq. (10.13h) have the form

$$a_{1} = 3 + \frac{5}{32}Q(9 - 2\eta + 3\psi),$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{17}{3} - \frac{5}{96}Q(135 + 8\eta + 3\psi),$$

$$a_{3} = -\frac{25}{32}Q(1 - 2\eta + \psi),$$

$$b_{1} = 1 - \frac{5}{96}Q(7 - 2\eta - 3\psi),$$

$$b_{2} = 3 - \frac{5}{96}Q(23 - 8\eta + 3\psi),$$

$$b_{3} = \frac{5}{32}Q(13 + 2\eta - 3\psi),$$
(11.12)

while the coefficients in the energy loss rate simplify to

$$\kappa_1 = 12 - \frac{15}{4}Q,$$
  

$$\kappa_2 = 11 - \frac{5}{4}Q(17 + \eta).$$
(11.13)

We find, somewhat surprisingly, that the motion of a mixed compact binary system through 2.5PN order differs from its general relativistic counterpart only by terms that depend on a single parameter Q, as defined by Eq. (11.10). Furthermore, all reference to the parameters  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$ , related to derivatives of the coupling function  $\omega(\phi)$ , has disappeared, in other words, the motion of mixed compact binary systems in general scalar-tensor theories through 2.5PN order is formally identical to that in standard Brans-Dicke theory. The only way that a generalized scalar-tensor theory affects the motion differently than pure Brans-Dicke theory is through the value of the un-rescaled mass  $m_1$  and the sensitivity  $s_1$  for a neutron star of a given central density and total number of baryons.

The general conclusions reached in this work about binary black holes and mixed binaries in scalar-tensor gravity were obtained from the near-zone gravitational fields. If these conclusions continue to hold for the gravitational-wave signal, then gravitational-wave observations of binary black holes will be unable to distinguish between general relativity and scalar-tensor theories, and observations of mixed black-hole neutron-star binaries will be essentially unable to distinguish between general scalar-tensor theories and Brans-Dicke theory (Fig. 11.1 illustrates this fact). The radiative part of this problem, which will involve a derivation of the gravitational waveform to 2PN order, together with the energy flux, will be the subject of future work.



**Figure 11.1:** For three different combinations of neutron-stars and black-holes in a binary system, this figure shows how the equations of motion can be able to distinguish between general relativity, Brans-Dicke theory, and general scalar-tensor theories of gravity. In the case of BH-BH all three theories are indistinguishable. For a BH-NS binary, the equations of motion in Brans-Dicke theory and general scalar-tensor theories are equivalent but both differ from GR. A binary system of two neutron-star is the only case where GR, BD, and ST each gives different equations of motion.

## PART IV

# Constraining Lorentz-Violating, Modified Dispersion Relations with Gravitational Waves

- Chapter 12— Introduction and Foundations
- Chapter 13— Gravitational Waves in Lorentz-Violating Gravity
- Chapter 14— Parameter Estimation in Lorentz-Violating Gravity

This part is based on a published paper in Physical Review D. [179] in which we construct a parametrized dispersion relation that can reproduce a range of known Lorentz-violating predictions and investigate their impact on the propagation of gravitational waves. We show how such corrections map to the waveform observable and to the parametrized post-Einsteinian framework, proposed to model a range of deviations from General Relativity. Given a gravitational-wave detection, the lack of evidence for such corrections could then be used to place a constraint on Lorentz violation. The constraints we obtain are tightest for dispersion relations that scale with small power of the graviton's momentum and deteriorate for a steeper scaling.

"Science may be described as the art of systematic oversimplification." — Karl R. Popper

# 12Introduction and Foundations

In this chapter we first start with a brief introduction to declare the possibility of testing alternative theories of gravity by studying gravitational-wave signals emitted from inspiralling compact binary sources. Second, we propose a general, parametrized dispersion relation for Lorentzviolating theories which will be useful to do parameter estimation of the source and bounding the parameters of this modified dispersion relation, specially the parameter that presents the deviation from Lorentz symmetry. We also give an overview on the next following chapters of this part. The obtained bounds on the mass of graviton and on the deviation from Lorentz symmetry are also summarized.

#### 12.1 Introduction

After a century of experimental success, Einstein's fundamental theories, ie. the special theory of relativity and the General theory of Relativity (GR), are beginning to be questioned. As an example, consider the observation of ultra-high-energy cosmic rays. In relativity, there is a threshold of  $\sim 5 \times 10^{19}$  eV (GZK limit) for the amount of energy that charged particles can carry, while cosmic rays have been detected with higher energies [40]. On the theoretical front, theories of quantum gravity also generically predict a deviation from Einstein's theory at sufficiently large energies or small scales. In particular, Lorentz violation seems ubiquitous in such theories. These considerations motivate us to study the effects of Lorentz violation on gravitational wave observables.

Einstein's theory will soon be put to the test through a new type of observation: gravitationalwaves. Such waves are (far-field) oscillations of spacetime that encode invaluable and detailed information about the source that produced them. For example, the inspiral, merger and ringdown of compact objects (black holes or neutron stars) are expected to produce detectable waves that will access horizon-scale curvatures and energies. Gravitational waves may thus provide new hints as to whether Einstein's theory remains valid in this previously untested regime. For more details about gravitational-waves see Chapter 3.

Gravitational-wave detectors are today a reality. As we mentioned earlier in Chapter 3, ground-based interferometers, such as the Advanced Laser Interferometer Gravitational Observatory (Ad. LIGO) [1, 132, 285] and Advanced Virgo [288], are currently being updated, and are scheduled to begin data acquisition by 2015. Second generation detectors, such as the Einstein Telescope (ET) [200, 282] and the Laser Interferometer Space Antenna (LISA) [199, 281], are also being planned for the next decade. Recent budgetary constraints in the United States have cast doubt on the status of LISA, but the European Space Agency is still considering a descoped, LISA-like mission (an NGO, or New Gravitational Observatory). The detection of gravitational waves is, of course, not a certainty, as the astrophysical event rate is highly uncertain. However, there is consensus that advanced ground detectors should observe a few gravitational-wave events by the end of this decade.



Figure 12.1: Event A is emission of a gravitational-wave signal from an inspiralling binary source with the wavelength of  $\lambda_A$ . We detect this signal at A'. After  $\Delta t_e$ another signal is emitted by the same source at point B in the spacetime, at a time closer to the merger. The wavelength of this signal,  $\lambda_B$ , is shorter therefore it travels faster than the first signal. We detect this second signal at B'. Notice that  $\Delta t_e > \Delta t_a$ 

Some alternative gravity theories endow the graviton with a mass [265]. Massive gravitons would travel slower than the speed of light, but most importantly, their speed would depend on their energy or wavelength. Since gravitational waves emitted by compact binary inspirals chirp in frequency, gravitons emitted in the early inspiral will travel more slowly than those emitted close to merger, leading to a frequency-dependent gravitational-wave dephasing, compared to the phasing of a massless general relativistic graviton. This fact is shown schematically in Fig. 12.1. If such a dephasing is not observed, then one could place a constraint on the graviton mass [267].

A Lorentz-violating graviton dispersion relation leaves an additional imprint on the propagation of gravitational waves, irrespective of the generation mechanism. Thus a bound on the dephasing effect could also bound the degree of Lorentz violation.

Note that our use of the term "graviton" is not meant to imply that geavitational-wave detectors will observe individual gravitons. The detected waves are perfectly classical, i.e. they contain enourmous numbers of gravitons. In this work, we construct a framework to study the impact of a Lorentz-violating dispersion relation on the propagation of gravitational waves. We begin by proposing a generic, but quantum-gravitational inspired, modified dispersion relation, given by

$$E^{2} = p^{2}c^{2} + m_{a}^{2}c^{4} + \mathbb{A}p^{\alpha}c^{\alpha}, \qquad (12.1)$$

where  $m_g$  is the mass of the graviton and  $\mathbb{A}$  and  $\alpha$  are two Lorentz-violating parameters that characterize the GR deviation ( $\alpha$  is dimensionless while  $\mathbb{A}$  has dimensions of  $[\text{energy}]^{2-\alpha}$ ). We will assume that  $\mathbb{A}/(cp)^{2-\alpha} \ll 1$ . When either  $\mathbb{A} = 0$  or  $\alpha = 0$ , the modification reduces to that of a massive graviton. When  $\alpha = (3, 4)$ , one recovers predictions of certain quantum-gravitation inspired models. This modified dispersion relation introduces Lorentz-violating deviations in a continuous way, such that when the parameter  $\mathbb{A}$  is taken to zero, the dispersion relation reduces to that of a simple massive graviton.

The dispersion relation of Eq. (12.1) modifies the gravitational waveform observed at a detector by correcting the phase with certain frequency-dependent terms. In the stationaryphase approximation (SPA), the Fourier transform of the waveform is corrected by a term of the form  $\zeta(\mathbb{A})u^{\alpha-1}$ , where  $u = \pi \mathcal{M}f$  is a dimensionless measure of the gravitational-wave frequency with  $\mathcal{M}$  being the "chirp mass". We show that such a modification can be easily mapped to the recently proposed parametrized post-Einsteinian framework (ppE) [75, 294] for an appropriate choice of ppE parameters.

In deriving the gravitational-wave Fourier transform we must assume a functional form for the waveform as emitted at the source so as to relate the time of arrival at the detector to the gravitational-wave frequency. In principle, this would require a prediction for the equations of motion and gravitational-wave emission for each Lorentz violating theory under study. However few such theories have reached a sufficient state of development to produce such predictions. On the other hand, it is reasonable to assume that the predictions will be not too different from those of general relativity. For example, Will argued [267] that for a theory with a massive graviton, the differences would be of order  $(\lambda/\lambda_g)^2$ , where  $\lambda$  is the gravitational wavelength, and  $\lambda_g$  is the graviton Compton wavelength, and  $\lambda_g \gg \lambda$  for sources of interest. Similar behavior might be expected in Lorentz violating theories. The important phenomenon is the accumulation of dephasing over the enormous propagation distances from source to detector, not the small differences in the source behavior. As a result, we will use the standard general relativistic wave generation framework for the source waveform.

#### 12.2 An Overview

With this new waveform model described in the previous section, we then carry out a simplified (angle-averaged) Fisher-matrix analysis to estimate the accuracy to which the parameter  $\zeta(\mathbb{A})$  could be constrained as a function of  $\alpha$ , given a gravitational-wave detection consistent with general relativity. We perform this study with a waveform model that represents a non-spinning, quasi-circular, compact binary inspiral, but that deviates from general relativity only through the effect of the modified dispersion relation on the propagation speed of the waves, via Eq. (12.1).

To illustrate our results, we show in Table 12.1 the accuracy to which Lorentz-violation in the  $\alpha = 3$  case could be constrained, as a function of system masses and detectors for fixed signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). The case  $\alpha = 3$  is a prediction of "doubly special relativity". The bounds on the graviton mass are consistent with previous studies [14, 33, 158, 267, 275, 291] (for a recent summary of current and proposed bounds on  $m_g$  see [36]). The table here means that given a gravitational-wave detection consistent with GR,  $m_g$  and A would have to be smaller than the numbers on the third and fourth columns respectively.

Detector	$m_1$	$m_2$	$m_g(eV)$	$\mathbb{A}(eV^{-1})$
Ad. LIGO	1.4	1.4	$3.71\times10^{-22}$	$7.36\times10^{-8}$
SNR (or $\rho$ ) = 10	1.4	10	$3.56\times10^{-22}$	$3.54\times10^{-7}$
	10	10	$3.51\times10^{-22}$	$6.83\times10^{-7}$
ET	10	10	$2.99\times10^{-23}$	$2.32\times 10^{-8}$
SNR (or $\rho$ ) = 50	10	100	$4.81 \times 10^{-23}$	$1.12\times 10^{-6}$
	100	100	$6.67\times10^{-23}$	$3.34\times10^{-6}$
NGO	$10^{4}$	$10^{4}$	$3.05\times10^{-25}$	$2.16\times 10^{-2}$
SNR (or $\rho$ ) = 100	$10^{4}$	$10^{5}$	$2.46\times10^{-25}$	0.147
	$10^{5}$	$10^{5}$	$2.03\times10^{-25}$	0.189
	$10^{5}$	$10^{6}$	$2.09\times10^{-25}$	9.57
	$10^{6}$	$10^{6}$	$1.49 \times 10^{-25}$	23.2

**Table 12.1:** Accuracy to which graviton mass and the Lorentz-violating parameter  $\mathbb{A}$  could be constrained for the  $\alpha = 3$  case, given a gravitational-wave detection consistent with GR. The first column lists the masses of the objects considered, the instrument analyzed and the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR).

Let us now compare these bounds with current constraints. The mass of the graviton has been constrained dynamically to  $m_g \leq 7.6 \times 10^{-20}$  eV through binary pulsar observations of the orbital period decay and statically to  $4.4 \times 10^{-22}$  eV with Solar System constraints (see e.g. [36]). We see then that even with the inclusion of an additional A parameter, the projected gravitational wave bounds on  $m_g$  are still interesting. The quantity A has not been constrained in the gravitational sector. In the electromagnetic sector, the dispersion relation of the photon has been constrained: for example, for  $\alpha = 3$ ,  $\mathbb{A} \leq 10^{-25} \text{ eV}^{-1}$  using TeV  $\gamma$ -ray observations [39]. One should note, however, that such bounds on the photon dispersion relation are independent of those we study here, as in principle the photon and the graviton dispersion relations need not be tied together.

We must stress that, in this work, we only deal with Lorentz-violating corrections to the gravitational wave dispersion relation, and thus, we deal only with *propagation effects* and not with *generation effects*. Generation effects will in principle be very important, possible leading to the excitation of additional polarizations, as well as modifications to the quadrupole expressions. Such is the case in several modified gravity theories, such as Einstein-Aether theory and Hořava-Lifshitz theory [27, 28, 53, 90, 115, 141, 153, 184, 189, 201, 210, 211, 290]. Generically studying the generation problem, however, is difficult, as there does not exist a general Lagrangian density that can capture all Lorentz-violating effects. Instead, one would have the gargantuan task of solving the generation problem within each specific theory.

The goal of this piece of work, instead, is to consider generic Lorentz-violating effects in the dispersion relation and focus only on the propagation of gravitational waves. This will then allow us to find the corresponding ppE parameters that represent Lorentz-violating propagation. Thus, if future gravitational wave observations peak at these ppE parameters, then one could suspect that some sort of Lorentz-violation could be responsible for such deviations from General Relativistic. Future work will concentrate on the generation problem.

The remainder of this part deals with the details of the calculations and is organized as follows. In Chapter 13, we introduce and motivate the modified dispersion relation, given by Eq. (12.1), and derive from it the gravitational-wave speed as a function of energy and the new Lorentz-violating parameters. In the same chapter, Section 13.2, we study the propagation of gravitons in a cosmological background as determined by the modified dispersion relation and graviton speed. We find the relation between emission and arrival times of the gravitational waves, which then allows us in Section 13.3 to construct a *restricted* post-Newtonian gravitational waveform to 3.5 PN order in the phase  $[\mathcal{O}(v/c)^7]$ . We also discuss the connection to the ppE framework. In Chapter 14, we calculate the Fisher information matrix for Ad. LIGO, ET and a LISA-like mission and determine the accuracy to which the compact binary's parameters can be measured, including a bound on the graviton and Lorentz-violating Compton wavelengths. In secion 14.4 we present some conclusions and discuss possible avenues for future research.

"We know very little, and yet it is astonishing that we know so much, and still more astonishing that so little knowledge can give us so much power."

-Bertrand Russell

#### Gravitational Waves in Lorentz-Violating Gravity

13

In this chapter we study how some specific properties of gravitational-waves change in Lorentz violating theories of gravity. We are specifically interested in how modifications in the speed of propagation affect the observed waveforms. Knowing about these modifications is required to do parameter estimation analyses for Lorentz violating theories in the next chapter. In this chapter we also show how one can map the calculations to the parametrized post-Einsteinian formalism.

#### 13.1 The Speed of Gravitational Waves

#### 13.1.1 Massive Graviton Theories

In general relativity, gravitational waves travel at the speed of light c because the gauge boson associated with gravity, the graviton, is massless. Modified gravity theories, however, predict modifications to the gravitational-wave dispersion relation, which would in turn force the waves to travel at speeds different than c. The most intuitive, yet purely phenomenological modification one might expect is to introduce a mass for the graviton, following the special relativistic relation

$$E^2 = p^2 c^2 + m_a^2 c^4 \,. \tag{13.1}$$

From this dispersion relation, together with the definition  $v/c \equiv p/p^0$ , or  $v \equiv c^2 p/E$ , one finds the graviton speed [267]

$$\frac{v_g^2}{c^2} = 1 - \frac{m_g^2 c^4}{E^2},\tag{13.2}$$

where  $m_g$ ,  $v_g$  and E are the graviton's rest mass, velocity and energy.

#### 13.1.2 Lorentz-Violating Theories

Different alternative gravity theories may predict different dispersion relations from Eq. (13.1). A few examples of such relations include the following:

- Double Special Relativity Theory [6-8, 177]:  $E^2 = p^2 c^2 + m_g^2 c^4 + \eta_{dsrt} E^3 + \ldots$ , where  $\eta_{dsrt}$  is a parameter of the order of the Planck length.
- Extra-Dimensional Theories [226]:  $E^2 = p^2 c^2 + m_g^2 c^4 \alpha_{\text{edt}} E^4$ , where  $\alpha_{\text{edt}}$  is a constant related to the square of the Planck length;
- Hořava-Lifshitz Theory [53, 142, 143, 244]:  $E^2 = p^2 c^2 + (\kappa_{hl}^4 \mu_{hl}^2/16) p^4 + \dots$ , where  $\kappa_{hl}$  and  $\mu_{hl}$  are constants of the theory;
- Theories with Non-Commutative Geometries [121–123]:  $E^2 g_1^2(E) = m_g^2 c^4 + p^2 c^2 g_2^2(E)$  with  $g_2 = 1$  and  $g_1 = (1 \sqrt{\alpha_{\text{ncg}}\pi}/2) \exp(-\alpha_{\text{ncg}} E^2/E_p^2)$ , with  $\alpha_{\text{ncg}}$  a constant.

For more details about each of the alternative theories listed above, see Chapter 2. Of course, the list above is just representative of a few models, but there are many other examples where the graviton dispersion relation is modified [29, 30]. In general, a modification of the dispersion relation will be accompanied by a change in either the Lorentz group or its action in real or momentum space. Lorentz-violating effects of this type are commonly found in quantum gravitational theories, including loop quantum gravity [55] and string theory [67, 239].

Modifications to the standard dispersion relation are usually suppressed by the Planck scale, so one might wonder why one should study them. Recently, Collins, et al. [73, 74] suggested that Lorentz violations in perturbative quantum field theories could be dramatically enhanced when one regularizes and renormalizes them. This is because terms that would vanish upon renormalization due to Lorentz invariance do not vanish in Lorentz-violating theories, leading to an enhancement after renormalization [120].

Although this is an appealing argument, we prefer here to adopt a more agnostic viewpoint and simply ask the following question: What type of modifications would enter gravitationalwave observables because of a modified dispersion relation and to what extent can these deviations be observed or constrained by current and future gravitational-wave detectors? In view of this, we postulate the parametrized dispersion relation of Eq. (12.1).

One can see that this model-independent dispersion relation can be easily mapped to all the ones described above, in the limit where E and p are large compared to  $m_g$ , but small compared to the Planck energy  $E_p$ . More precisely, we have

• Double Special Relativity:  $\mathbb{A} = \eta_{\text{dsrt}}$  and  $\alpha = 3$ .

- Extra-Dim. Theories:  $\mathbb{A} = -\alpha_{\text{edt}}$  and  $\alpha = 4$ .
- Hořava-Lifshitz:  $\mathbb{A} = \kappa_{\rm hl}^4 \mu_{\rm hl}^2/16$  and  $\alpha = 4$ , but with  $m_q = 0$ .
- Non-Commutative Geometries:  $\mathbb{A} = 2\alpha_{ncg}/E_p^2$  and  $\alpha = 4$ , after renormalizing  $m_g$  and c.

Of course, for different values of  $(\mathbb{A}, \alpha)$  we can parameterize other Lorentz-violating corrections to the dispersion relation. One might be naively tempted to think that a  $p^3$  or  $p^4$  correction to the above dispersion relation will induce a 1.5 or 2PN correction to the phase relative to the massive graviton term. This, however, would be clearly wrong, as p is the graviton's momentum, not the momentum of the members of a binary system.

With this modified dispersion relation the modified graviton speed takes the form

$$\frac{v_g^2}{c^2} = 1 - \frac{m_g^2 c^4}{E^2} - \mathbb{A}E^{\alpha - 2} \left(\frac{v}{c}\right)^{\alpha} . \tag{13.3}$$

To first order in  $\mathbb{A}$ , this can be written as

$$\frac{v_g^2}{c^2} = 1 - \frac{m_g^2 c^4}{E^2} - \mathbb{A}E^{\alpha - 2} \left(1 - \frac{m_g^2 c^4}{E^2}\right)^{\alpha/2}, \qquad (13.4)$$

and in the limit  $E \gg m_g$  it takes the form

$$\frac{v_g^2}{c^2} = 1 - \frac{m_g^2 c^4}{E^2} - \mathbb{A}E^{\alpha - 2} \,. \tag{13.5}$$

Notice that if  $\mathbb{A} > 0$  or if  $m_g^2 c^4 / E^2 > |\mathbb{A}| E^{\alpha-2}$ , then the graviton travels slower than light speed. On the other hand, if  $\mathbb{A} < 0$  and  $m_g^2 c^4 / E^2 < |\mathbb{A}| E^{\alpha-2}$ , then the graviton would propagate faster than light speed.

#### 13.2 Propagation of Gravitational Waves

We now consider the propagation of gravitational waves that satisfy the modified dispersion relation of Eq. (12.1). Since we may consider sources at very great distances, we must consider the propagation in a cosmologycal background spacetime. Consider the Friedman-Robertson-Walker background

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t)[d\chi^{2} + \Sigma^{2}(\chi)(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi^{2})], \qquad (13.6)$$

where a(t) is the scale factor with units of length, and  $\Sigma(\chi)$  is equal to  $\chi$ , sin  $\chi$  or sinh  $\chi$  if the universe is spatially flat, closed or open, respectively. Here and henceforth, we use units with G = c = 1, where a useful conversion factor is  $1M_{\odot} = 4.925 \times 10^{-6}$  s = 1.4675 km.

In a cosmological background, we will assume that the modified dispersion relation takes the form

$$g_{\mu\nu}p^{\mu}p^{\nu} = -m_g^2 - \mathbb{A} \mid p \mid^{\alpha}, \qquad (13.7)$$

where  $|p| \equiv (g_{ij}p^ip^j)^{1/2}$ . Consider a graviton emitted radially at  $\chi = \chi_e$  and received at  $\chi = 0$ . By virtue of the  $\chi$  independence of the  $t - \chi$  part of the metric, the component  $p_{\chi}$  of its 4momentum is constant along its worldline. Using  $E = p^0$ , together with Eq. (13.7) and the relations

$$\frac{p^{\chi}}{E} = \frac{d\chi}{dt}, \quad p^{\chi} = a^{-2}p_{\chi}, \tag{13.8}$$

we obtain

$$\frac{d\chi}{dt} = -\frac{1}{a} \left[ 1 + \frac{m_g^2 a^2}{p_\chi^2} + \mathbb{A} \left( \frac{a}{p_\chi} \right)^{2-\alpha} \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}},\tag{13.9}$$

where  $p_{\chi}^2 = a^2(t_e)(E_e^2 - m_g^2 - \mathbb{A} \mid p_e \mid^{\alpha})$ . The overall minus sign in the above equation is included because the graviton travels from the source to the observer.

Expanding to first order in  $(m_g/E_e) \ll 1$ , and  $\mathbb{A}/p^{2-\alpha} \ll 1$  and integrating from emission time  $(\chi = \chi_e)$  to arrival time  $(\chi = 0)$ , we find

$$\chi_{e} = \int_{t_{e}}^{t_{a}} \frac{dt}{a(t)} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{m_{g}^{2}}{a^{2}(t_{e})E_{e}^{2}} \int_{t_{e}}^{t_{a}} a(t)dt - \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{A} \left( a(t_{e})E_{e} \right)^{\alpha-2} \int_{t_{e}}^{t_{a}} a(t)^{1-\alpha}dt.$$
(13.10)

Consider gravitons emitted at two different times  $t_e$  and  $t'_e$ , with energies  $E_e$  and  $E'_e$ , and received at corresponding arrival times ( $\chi_e$  is the same for both). Assuming  $\Delta t_e \equiv t_e - t'_e \ll a/\dot{a}$ , then

$$\Delta t_a = (1+Z) \left[ \Delta t_e + \frac{D_0}{2\lambda_g^2} \left( \frac{1}{f_e^2} - \frac{1}{f_e'^2} \right) + \frac{D_\alpha}{2\lambda_A^{2-\alpha}} \left( \frac{1}{f_e^{2-\alpha}} - \frac{1}{f_e'^{2-\alpha}} \right) \right], \qquad (13.11)$$

where  $Z \equiv a_0/a(t_e) - 1$  is the cosmological redshift, and where we have defined

$$\lambda_{\mathbb{A}} \equiv h \, \mathbb{A}^{1/(\alpha-2)} \,, \tag{13.12}$$

and where  $m_g/E_e = (\lambda_g f_e)^{-1}$ , with  $f_e$  the emitted gravitational-wave frequency,  $E_e = h f_e$  and  $\lambda_g = h/m_g$  the graviton Compton wavelength. Notice that when  $\alpha = 2$ , then the  $\mathbb{A}$  correction vanishes. Notice also that  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  always has units of length, irrespective of the value of  $\alpha$ . The

distance measure  $D_{\alpha}$  is defined by

$$D_{\alpha} \equiv \left(\frac{1+Z}{a_0}\right)^{1-\alpha} \int_{t_e}^{t_a} a(t)^{1-\alpha} dt$$
(13.13)

where  $a_0 = a(t_a)$  is the present value of the scale factor. For a dark energy-matter dominated universe  $D_{\alpha}$  and the luminosity distance  $D_L$  have the form

$$D_{\alpha} = \frac{(1+Z)^{1-\alpha}}{H_0} \int_0^Z \frac{(1+z')^{\alpha-2} dz'}{\sqrt{\Omega_M (1+z')^3 + \Omega_\Lambda}},$$
(13.14)

$$D_L = \frac{1+Z}{H_0} \int_0^Z \frac{dz'}{\sqrt{\Omega_M (1+z')^3 + \Omega_\Lambda}},$$
(13.15)

where  $H_0 \approx 72 \text{ km s}^{-1} \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$  is the value of the Hubble parameter today and  $\Omega_M = 0.3$  and  $\Omega_{\Lambda} = 0.7$  are the matter and dark energy density parameters, respectively.

Before proceeding, let us comment on the time shift found above in Eq. (13.11). First, notice that this equation agrees with the results of [267] in the limit  $\mathbb{A} \to 0$ . Moreover, in the limit  $\alpha \to 0$ , our results map to those of [267] with the relation  $\lambda_g^{-2} \to \lambda_g^{-2} + \lambda_{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}$ . Second, notice that in the limit  $\alpha \to 2$ , the  $(a(t_e)E_e)^{2-\alpha}$  in Eq. (13.10) goes to unity and the  $\mathbb{A}$  correction becomes frequency independent. This makes sense, since in that case the Lorentz-violating correction we have introduced acts as a renormalization factor for the speed of light.

#### 13.3 Modified Waveform in the Stationary Phase Approximation

We consider the gravitational-wave signal generated by a non-spinning, quasi-circular inspiral in the post-Newtonian approximation. In this scheme, one assumes that orbital velocities are small compared to the speed of light ( $v \ll 1$ ) and gravity is weak ( $m/r \ll 1$ ). Neglecting any amplitude corrections (in the so-called *restricted* PN approximation), the plus- and cross-polarizations of the metric perturbation can be represented as

$$h(t) \equiv A(t)e^{-i\Phi(t)}, \qquad (13.16)$$

$$\Phi(t) \equiv \Phi_c + 2\pi \int_{t_c}^t f(t)dt, \qquad (13.17)$$

where A(t) is an amplitude that depends on the gravitational-wave polarization (see e.g. Eq. (3.2) in [267]), while f(t) is the observed gravitational-wave frequency, and  $\Phi_c$  and  $t_c$  are a *fiducial* phase and fiducial time, respectively, sometimes called the coalescence phase and time.

The Fourier transform of Eq. (13.16) can be obtained analytically in the stationary-phase approximation, where we assume that the phase is changing much more rapidly than the amplitude [95, 292]. We then find

$$\tilde{h}(f) = \frac{\tilde{A}(t)}{\sqrt{\dot{f}(t)}} e^{i\Psi(f)}, \qquad (13.18)$$

where f is the gravitational-wave frequency at the detector and

$$\tilde{A}(t) = \frac{4}{5} \frac{\mathcal{M}_e}{a_0 \Sigma(\kappa_e)} (\pi \mathcal{M}_e f_e)^{2/3}, \qquad (13.19)$$

$$\Psi(f) = 2\pi f t_c - \Phi_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + 2\pi \int_{f_c}^{f} (t - t_c) df.$$
(13.20)

In these equations,  $\mathcal{M}_e = \eta^{3/5} m$  is the *chirp* mass of the source, where  $\eta = m_1 m_2 / (m_1 + m_2)$  is the symmetric mass ratio.

We can now substitute Eq. (13.11) into Eq. (13.20) to relate the time at the detector to that at the emitter. Assuming that  $\alpha \neq 1$ , we find

$$\Psi_{\alpha \neq 1}(f) = 2\pi f \bar{t}_c - \bar{\Phi}_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + 2\pi \int_{f_{ec}}^{f_e} (t_e - t_{ec}) df_e - \frac{\pi D_0}{f_e \lambda_g^2} - \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)} \frac{\pi D_\alpha}{f_e^{1-\alpha} \lambda_{\mathbb{A}}^{2-\alpha}}, (13.21)$$

while for  $\alpha = 1$ , we find

$$\Psi_{\alpha=1}(f) = 2\pi f \bar{\bar{t}}_c - \bar{\bar{\Phi}}_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + 2\pi \int_{f_{ec}}^{f_e} (t_e - t_{ec}) df_e - \frac{\pi D_0}{f_e \lambda_g^2} + \frac{\pi D_1}{\lambda_A} \ln\left(\frac{f_e}{f_{ec}}\right) . \quad (13.22)$$

The quantities  $(\bar{t}_c, \bar{\bar{t}}_c)$  and  $(\bar{\phi}_c, \bar{\bar{\phi}}_c)$  are new coalescence times and phases, into which constants of integration have been absorbed.

We can relate  $t_e - t_{ec}$  to  $f_e$  by integrating the frequency chirp equation for non-spinning, quasi-circular inspirals from general relativity [267]:

$$\frac{df_e}{dt_e} = \frac{96}{5\pi \mathcal{M}_e^2} (\pi \mathcal{M}_e f_e)^{11/3} \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4}\eta\right) (\pi M f_e)^{2/3} + 4\pi (\pi M f_e) \right], \quad (13.23)$$

where we have kept terms up to 1PN order. In the calculations that follow, we actually account for corrections up to 3.5PN order, although we don't show these higher-order terms here (they can be found e.g. in [61]).

After absorbing further constants of integration into  $(\bar{t}_c, \bar{\Phi}_c, \bar{\bar{t}}_c, \bar{\bar{\Phi}}_c)$ , dropping the bars, and re-expressing everything in terms of the *measured* frequency f at the detector [note that  $\dot{f}^{1/2}$  =

 $(df_e/dt_e)^{1/2}/(1+Z)]$ , we obtain

$$\tilde{h}(f) = \begin{cases} \tilde{A}(f)e^{i\Psi(f)}, & \text{for } 0 < f < f_{max} \\ 0, & \text{for } f > f_{max}, \end{cases}$$
(13.24)

with the definitions

$$\tilde{A}(f) \equiv \epsilon \mathcal{A} u^{-7/6}, \qquad \mathcal{A} = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{30}} \frac{\mathcal{M}^2}{D_L}, \qquad (13.25)$$
$$\Psi(f) = \Psi_{\rm GR}(f) + \delta \Psi(f),$$

$$\Psi_{\rm GR}(f) = 2\pi f t_c - \Phi_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + \frac{3}{128} u^{-5/3} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[ c_n + \ell_n \ln(u) \right] u^{n/3}, \qquad (13.26)$$

where the numerical coefficient  $\epsilon = 1$  for LIGO and ET, but  $\epsilon = \sqrt{3}/2$  for a LISA-like mission (because when one angle-averages, the resulting geometric factors depend slightly on the geometry of the detector). The coefficients  $(c_n, \ell_n)$  can be read up to n = 7 in Appendix A.3. In these equations,  $u \equiv \pi \mathcal{M} f$  is a dimensionless frequency, while  $\mathcal{M}$  is the measured chirp mass, related to the source chirp mass by  $\mathcal{M} = (1 + Z)\mathcal{M}_e$ . The frequency  $f_{max}$  represents an upper cut-off frequency where the PN approximation fails.

The dephasing caused by the propagation effects takes a slightly different form depending on whether  $\alpha \neq 1$  or  $\alpha = 1$ . In the general  $\alpha \neq 1$  case, we find

$$\delta \Psi_{\alpha \neq 1}(f) = -\beta u^{-1} - \zeta u^{\alpha - 1}, \qquad (13.27)$$

where the parameters  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  are given by

$$\beta \equiv \frac{\pi^2 D_0 \mathcal{M}}{\lambda_g^2 (1+Z)},\tag{13.28}$$

$$\zeta_{\alpha \neq 1} \equiv \frac{\pi^{2-\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)} \frac{D_{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}^{2-\alpha}} \frac{\mathcal{M}^{1-\alpha}}{(1+Z)^{1-\alpha}} \,. \tag{13.29}$$

In the special  $\alpha = 1$  case, we find

$$\delta \Psi_{\alpha=1}(f) = -\beta u^{-1} + \zeta_{\alpha=1} \ln(u) , \qquad (13.30)$$

where  $\beta$  remains the same, while

$$\zeta_{\alpha=1} = \frac{\pi D_1}{\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}} \,, \tag{13.31}$$

and we have re-absorbed a factor into the phase of coalescence.

As before, notice that in the limit  $\mathbb{A} \to 0$ , Eq. (13.27) reduces to the results of [267] for

a massive graviton. Also note that, as before, in the limit  $\alpha \to 0$ , we can map our results to those of [267] with  $\lambda_g^{-2} \to \lambda_g^{-2} + \lambda_{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}$ , i.e. in this limit, the mass of the graviton and the Lorentzviolating  $\mathbb{A}$  term become 100% degenerate. In the limit  $\alpha \to 2$ , Eq. (13.11) becomes frequencyindependent, which then implies that its integral, Eq. (13.20), becomes linear in frequency, which is consistent with the  $\alpha \to 2$  limit of Eq. (13.27). Such a linear term in the gravitationalwave phase can be reabsorbed through a redefinition of the time of coalescence, and thus is not observable. This is consistent with the observation that the dispersion relation with  $\alpha = 2$  is equivalent to the standard massive graviton one with a renormalization of the speed of light. When  $\alpha = 1$ , Eq. (13.11) leads to a 1/f term, whose integral in Eq. (13.20) leads to a  $\ln(f)$ term, as shown in Eq. (13.22). Finally, notice that, in comparision with the phasing terms that arise in the PN approximation to standard general relativity, these corrections are effectively of  $(1+3\alpha/2)$ PN order, which implies that the  $\alpha = 0$  term leads to a 1PN correction as in [267], the  $\alpha = 1$  case leads to a 2.5PN correction, the  $\alpha = 3$  case leads to a 5.5PN correction and  $\alpha = 4$ leads to a 7PN correction. This suggests that the accuracy to constrain  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  will deteriorate very rapidly as  $\alpha$  increases.

#### 13.4 Connection with the PPE Framework

Recently, there has been an effort to develop a framework suitable for testing for deviations from general relativity in gravitational-wave data. In analogy with the parametrized post-Newtonian (PPN) framework [187, 260, 261, 265, 269, 272], the parametrized post-Einsteinian (ppE) framework [75, 247, 294] suggests that we deform the gravitational-wave observable away from our GR expectations in a well-motivated, parametrized fashion. In terms of the Fourier transform of the waveform observable in the SPA, the simplest ppE meta-waveform is

$$\tilde{h}_{\rm ppE}(f) = \tilde{A}_{\rm GR} \left( 1 + \alpha_{\rm ppE} u^{a_{\rm ppE}} \right) e^{i\Psi_{\rm GR}(f) + i\beta_{\rm ppE} u^{a_{\rm ppE}}}, \qquad (13.32)$$

where  $(\alpha_{ppE}, a_{ppE}, \beta_{ppE}, b_{ppE})$  are ppE, theory parameters. Notice that in the limit  $\alpha_{ppE} \to 0$  or  $\beta_{ppE} \to 0$ , the ppE waveform reduces exactly to the SPA GR waveform. The proposal is then to match-filter with template families of this type and allow the data to select the best-fit ppE parameters to determine whether they are consistent with GR.

We can now map the ppE parameters to those obtained from a generalized, Lorentz-violating dispersion relation:

$$\alpha_{\rm ppE} = 0 \qquad \beta_{\rm ppE} = -\zeta \qquad b_{\rm ppE} = \alpha - 1.$$
(13.33)

Quantum-gravity inspired Lorentz-violating theories suggest modified dispersion exponents  $\alpha = 3 \text{ or } 4$ , to leading order in  $E/m_g$ , which then implies ppE parameters  $b_{ppE} = 2$  and 3. Therefore, if

after a gravitational wave has been detected, a Bayesian analysis with ppE templates is performed that leads to values of  $b_{ppE}$  that peak around 2 or 3, this would indicate the possible presence of Lorentz violation [75]. Notice however that the  $\alpha = 1$  case cannot be recovered by the ppE formalism without generalizing it to include  $\ln u$  terms. Such effects are analogous to memory corrections in PN theory.

At this point, we must spell out an important caveat. The values of  $\alpha$  that represent Lorentz violation for quantum-inspired theories ( $\alpha = 3, 4$ ) correspond to very high PN order effects, i.e. a relative 5.5 or 7 PN correction respectively. Any gravitational-wave test of Lorentz violation that wishes to constrain such steep momentum dependence would require a very accurate (high PN order) modeling of the general relativistic waveform itself. In the next chapter, we will employ 3.5 PN accurate waveforms, which are the highest-order known, and then ask how well  $\zeta$  and  $\beta$  can be constrained. Since we are neglecting higher than 3.5 PN order terms in the template waveforms, we are neglecting also any possible correlations or degeneracies between these terms and the Lorentz-violating terms. Therefore, any estimates made in the next section are at best optimistic bounds on how well gravitational-wave measurements could constrain Lorentz violation.

"We are trying to prove ourselves wrong as quickly as possible, because only in that way can we find progress."

-Richard Feynman

### Parameter Estimation in Lorentz-Violating Gravity

14

In this chapter, we perform a simplified Fisher analysis, following the method outlined for compact binary inspiral in [79, 114, 197], to get a sense of the bounds one could place on  $\lambda_g$  and  $\lambda_A$  given a gravitational-wave detection that is consistent with general relativity. We begin by summarizing some of the basic ideas behind a Fisher analysis, introducing some notation. We then apply this analysis to an Adv. LIGO detector, an ET detector and a LISA-like mission.

#### 14.1 Fisher-Matrix Parameter Estimation Method

Based on the Fisher matrix method that we reviewed in Chapter 6, we will work with an angleaveraged response function, so that the templates depend only on the following parameters:

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\ln \mathcal{A}, \Phi_c, f_0 t_c, \ln \mathcal{M}, \ln \eta, \beta, \zeta), \qquad (14.1)$$

where each component of the vector  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  is dimensionless. We recall that  $\mathcal{A}$  is an overall amplitude that contains information about the gravitational-wave polarization and the beam-pattern function angles. The quantities  $\Phi_c$  and  $t_c$  are the phase and time of coalescence, where  $f_0$  is a frequency characteristic of the detector, typically a "knee" frequency, or a frequency at which  $S_n(f)$  is a minimum. The parameters  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\eta$  are the chirp mass and symmetric mass ratio (see the definitions in Eq. (6.22)), which characterize the compact binary system under consideration. The parameters  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  describe the massive graviton and Lorentz-violating terms respectively.

Recalling Eq. (6.7), the SNR value for the templates in Eq. (13.24) is simply

$$\rho = 2 \epsilon \mathcal{A} (\mathcal{M}\pi)^{-7/6} f_0^{-2/3} I(7)^{1/2} S_0^{-1/2}, \qquad (14.2)$$

where we have redefined the integrals I(q) from Eqs. (6.26) (written specifically for Ad. LIGO) to a more general case as

$$I(q) \equiv \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{-q/3}}{g(x)} dx,$$
(14.3)

with  $x \equiv f/f_0$ . The quantity g(x) is the rescaled power spectral density, defined via  $g(x) \equiv S_h(f)/S_0$  for the detector in question, and  $S_0$  is an overall constant. When computing the Fisher matrix, we will replace the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}$  in favor of the SNR, using Eq. (14.2). This will then lead to bounds on  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  that depend on the SNR and on a rescaled version of the moments  $J(q) \equiv I(q)/I(7)$ .

In the next sections, we will carry out the integrals in Eq. (14.3), but we will approximate the limits of integration by certain  $x_{\min}$  and  $x_{\max}$  [33]. The maximum frequency will be chosen to be the smaller of a certain instrumental maximum threshold frequency and that associated with a gravitational wave emitted by a particle in an innermost-stable circular orbit (ISCO) around a Schwarzschild black hole (BH):  $f_{\max} = 6^{-3/2} \pi^{-1} \eta^{3/5} \mathcal{M}^{-1}$ . The maximum instrumental frequency will be chosen to be  $(10^5, 10^3, 1)$  Hz for Ad. LIGO, ET and LISA-like, respectively. The minimum frequency will be chosen to be the larger of a certain instrumental minimum threshold frequency and, in the case of a space mission, the frequency associated with a gravitational wave emitted by a test-particle one year prior to reaching the ISCO. The minimum instrumental frequency will be chosen to be  $(10, 1, 10^{-5})$  Hz for Ad. LIGO, ET and a LISA-like mission, respectively.

Once the Fisher matrix has been calculated, we will invert it using a Cholesky decomposition to find the variance-covariance matrix, the diagonal components of which give us a measure of the accuracy to which parameters could be constrained. Let us then define the upper bound we could place on  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  as  $\Delta\beta \equiv \Delta^{1/2}/\rho$  and  $\Delta\zeta \equiv \overline{\Delta}^{1/2}/\rho$ , where  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  are numbers. Combining these definitions with Eqs. (13.28) and (13.29), we find, for  $\alpha \neq 1$ , the bounds:

$$\lambda_g > \sqrt{\frac{\rho D_0 \mathcal{M}}{(1+Z)}} \frac{\pi}{\Delta^{1/4}}, \qquad (14.4)$$

$$\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}^{\alpha-2} < \frac{|1-\alpha|}{\pi^{2-\alpha}} \frac{\bar{\Delta}^{1/2}}{D_{\alpha}\rho} \frac{\mathcal{M}^{\alpha-1}}{(1+Z)^{\alpha-1}}, \qquad (14.5)$$

Notice that the direction of the bound on  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  itself depends on whether  $\alpha > 2$  or  $\alpha < 2$ ; but because  $\mathbb{A} = (\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}/h)^{\alpha-2}$ , all cases yield an upper bound on  $\mathbb{A}$ . For the case  $\alpha = 1$ , we find

$$\lambda_{\mathbb{A}_{\alpha=1}} > \frac{\pi D_1}{\bar{\Delta}^{1/2}} \rho \,, \tag{14.6}$$

In the remaining sections, we set  $\beta = 0$  and  $\zeta = 0$  in all partial derivatives when computing the Fisher matrix, since we derive the error in estimating  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  about the nominal or *a priori* general relativity values,  $(\beta, \zeta) = (0, 0)$ .

#### 14.2 Detector Spectral Noise Densities

We model the Ad. LIGO spectral noise density via [180]

$$\frac{S_h(f)}{S_0} = \begin{cases} 10^{16} - 4(xf_0 - 7.9)^2 + 2.4 \times 10^{-62}x^{-50} + 0.08x^{-4.69} \\ +123.35\left(\frac{1 - 0.23x^2 + 0.0764x^4}{1 + 0.17x^2}\right), & f \ge f_s, \\ \infty, & f < f_s, \end{cases}$$
(14.7)

Here,  $f_0 = 215$  Hz,  $S_0 = 10^{-49}$  Hz<sup>-1</sup>, and  $f_s = 10$  Hz is a low-frequency cutoff below which  $S_h(f)$  can be considered infinite for all practical purposes

The initial ET design postulated the spectral noise density [180]

$$\frac{S_h(f)}{S_0} = \begin{cases} \left[ a_1 x^{b_1} + a_2 x^{b_2} + a_3 x^{b_3} + a_4 x^{b_4} \right]^2, & f \ge f_s \\ \infty, & f < f_s, \end{cases}$$
(14.8)

where  $f_0 = 100 \,\text{Hz}, \, S_0 = 10^{-50} \,\text{Hz}^{-1}, \, f_s = 1 \,\text{Hz}$ , and

$$a_{1} = 2.39 \times 10^{-27}, \quad b_{1} = -15.64,$$

$$a_{2} = 0.349, \quad b_{2} = -2.145,$$

$$a_{3} = 1.76, \quad b_{3} = -0.12,$$

$$a_{4} = 0.409, \quad b_{4} = 1.10. \quad (14.9)$$

The classic LISA design had an approximate spectral noise density curve that could be modeled via (see eg. [23, 33]):

$$S_h(f) = \min\left\{\frac{S_h^{\text{NSA}}(f)}{e\left(-\kappa T_{\text{mission}}^{-1} dN/df\right)}, S_h^{\text{NSA}}(f) + S_h^{\text{gal}}(f)\right\} + S_h^{\text{ex-gal}}(f).$$

where

$$S_{h}^{\text{NSA}}(f) = \left[9.18 \times 10^{-52} \left(\frac{f}{1 \text{ Hz}}\right)^{-4} + 1.59 \times 10^{-41} + 9.18 \times 10^{-38} \left(\frac{f}{1 \text{ Hz}}\right)^{2}\right] \text{Hz}^{-1}.$$
 (14.10)

$$S_h^{\text{gal}}(f) = 2.1 \times 10^{-45} \left(\frac{f}{1 \text{ Hz}}\right)^{-7/3} \text{ Hz}^{-1},$$
 (14.11)

$$S_h^{\text{ex-gal}}(f) = 4.2 \times 10^{-47} \left(\frac{f}{1 \text{ Hz}}\right)^{-7/3} \text{ Hz}^{-1}.$$
 (14.12)



Figure 14.1: ET spectral noise density curves for the classic design (dotted) and the new design (solid).

and

$$\frac{dN}{df} = 2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ Hz}^{-1} \left(\frac{1 \text{ Hz}}{f}\right)^{11/3}; \qquad (14.13)$$

with  $\Delta f = T_{\text{mission}}^{-1}$  the bin size of the discretely Fourier transformed data for a classic LISA mission lasting a time  $T_{\text{mission}}$  and  $\kappa \simeq 4.5$  the average number of frequency bins that are lost when each galactic binary is fitted out. Recently, the designs of LISA and ET have changed somewhat. The new spectral noise density curves can be computed numerically [32, 139, 213] and are plotted in Fig. 14.1, and Fig. 14.2. Notice that the bucket of the NGO noise curve has shifted to higher frequency, while the new ET noise curve is more optimistic than the classic one at lower frequencies. The spikes in the latter are due to physical resonances, but these will not affect the analysis. In the remainder of this chapter, we will use the *new* ET and NGO noise curves to estimate parameters.

#### 14.3 Results

We plot the bounds that can be placed on  $\zeta$  by using different detectors in Fig. 14.3, Fig. 14.4, and Fig. 14.5 as a function of the  $\alpha$  parameter. Fig. 14.3 corresponds to the bounds placed with Ad. LIGO and  $\rho = 10$  ( $D_L \sim 160$  Mpc,  $Z \sim 0.036$  for a double neutron-star inspiral), Fig. 14.4



**Figure 14.2:** LISA spectral noise density curves for the classic design (dotted) and the new NGO design (solid).

corresponds to ET and  $\rho = 50$  ( $D_L \sim 2000$  Mpc,  $Z \sim 0.39$  for a double  $10M_{\odot}$  BH inspiral) and Fig. 14.5 corresponds to NGO and  $\rho = 100$  ( $D_L \sim 20,000$  Mpc,  $Z \sim 2.5$  for a double  $10^5 M_{\odot}$ BH inspiral). When  $\alpha = 0$  or  $\alpha = 2$ ,  $\zeta$  cannot be measured at all, as it becomes 100% correlated with either standard massive graviton parameters. Thus we have drawn vertical lines in those cases. As the figures clearly show, the accuracy to which  $\zeta$  can be measured deteriorates rapidly as  $\alpha$  becomes larger. In fact, once  $\alpha > 4$ , we find that  $\zeta$  cannot be confidently constrained anymore because the Fisher matrix becomes non-invertible (its condition number exceeds  $10^{16}$ ).

Attempting to constrain values of  $\alpha > 5/3$  becomes problematic not just from a data analysis point of view, but also from a fundamental one. The PN templates that we have constructed contain general relativity phase terms up to 3.5 PN order. Such terms scale as  $u^{2/3}$ , which corresponds to  $\alpha = 5/3$ . Therefore, trying to measure values of  $\alpha \ge 5/3$  without including the corresponding 4PN and higher-PN order terms is not well-justified. We have done so here, neglecting any correlations between these higher order PN terms and the Lorentz-violating terms, in order to get a rough sense of how well Lorentz-violating modifications could be constrained.

The bounds on  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  are converted into a lower bound on  $\lambda_g$  and and upper bound on  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  in Table 14.1 for  $\alpha = 3$  and binary systems with different component masses. Given a gravitationalwave detection consistent with general relativity, this table says that  $\lambda_g$  and  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  would have to be larger and smaller than the numbers in the seventh and eight columns of the table respectively.



**Figure 14.3:** Bounds on the parameter  $\zeta$  for different values of  $\alpha$ , using AdLIGO and  $\rho = 10$ . Vertical lines at  $\alpha = (0, 2)$  show where the  $\zeta$  correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for systems with different masses.

In addition, this table also shows the accuracy to which standard binary parameters could be measured, such as the time of coalescence, the chirp mass and the symmetric mass ratio, as well as the correlation coefficients between parameters. Different clusters of numbers correspond to constraints with Ad. LIGO (top), New ET (middle) and NGO (bottom) (see caption for further details; specifically, notice the different units for the numbers in each section of the table)

Although our results, presented in Fig. 14.3, Fig. 14.4, and Fig. 14.5, suggest bounds on  $\zeta$  of  $\mathcal{O}(10^3 - 10^5)$  for the  $\alpha = 3$  case, the dimensional bounds in Table 14.1 suggest a strong constraint on  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$ . This is because in converting from  $\zeta$  to  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  one must divide by the  $D_3$  distance measure. This distance is comparable to (but smaller than) the luminosity distance, and thus, the longer the graviton propagates the more sensitive the constraints are to possible Lorentz violations. Second, notice that the accuracy to which many parameters can be determined, e.g.  $t_c$ ,  $\Delta \mathcal{M}$ , and  $\Delta \eta$ , degrades with total mass because the number of observed gravitational-wave cycles decreases. Third, notice that the bound on the graviton Compton wavelength is not greatly affected by the inclusion of an additional parameter in the  $\alpha = 3$  case, and is comparable to the one obtained in [267] for LIGO. In fact, we have checked that in the absence of  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  we recover Table II in [267].

We now consider how these bounds behave as a function of the mass ratio. Figure 14.6 plots the bound on the graviton Compton wavelength and Fig. 14.7 plots the Lorentz-violating


**Figure 14.4:** Bounds on the parameter  $\zeta$  for different values of  $\alpha$ , using ET and  $\rho = 50$ . Vertical lines at  $\alpha = (0, 2)$  show where the  $\zeta$  correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for systems with different masses.



**Figure 14.5:** Bounds on the parameter  $\zeta$  for different values of  $\alpha$ , using NGO and  $\rho = 100$ . Vertical lines at  $\alpha = (0, 2)$  show where the  $\zeta$  correction becomes 100% degenerate with other parameters. Figure contains several curves that show the bound for systems with different masses.

Detector	$m_1$	$m_2$	$\Delta \phi_c$	$\Delta t_c$	$\Delta \mathcal{M}/\mathcal{M}$	$\Delta \eta / \eta$	$\Delta \lambda_g$	$\Delta\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$	$c_{\mathcal{M}\eta}$	$c_{\mathcal{M}eta}$	$c_{\etaeta}$	$c_{\mathcal{M}\zeta}$	$c_{\eta\zeta}$	$c_{eta\zeta}$
Ad. LIGO	1.4	1.4	3.61	1.80	0.0374%	6.80%	3.34	0.911	-0.962	-0.991	0.989	-0.685	0.803	0.740
	1.4	10	3.34	9.99	0.267%	12.8%	3.48	4.36	-0.977	-0.993	0.917	-0.830	0.923	0.875
	10	10	4.16	31.0	2.40%	72.2%	3.53	8.40	-0.978	-0.994	0.995	-0.874	0.947	0.915
$\mathrm{ET}$	10	10	0.528	1.59	0.0174%	1.70%	4.15	0.0286	-0.952	-0.986	0.988	-0.742	0.875	0.813
	10	100	1.12	44.5	0.259%	6.67%	2.58	1.38	-0.974	-0.993	0.993	-0.872	0.951	0.915
	100	100	5.23	203	4.03%	67.6%	1.86	4.12	-0.983	-0.995	0.996	-0.914	0.969	0.947
NGO	$10^{4}$	$10^{4}$	0.264	1.05	0.00124%	0.368%	4.06	0.266	-0.957	-0.990	0.986	-0.636	0.761	0.687
	$10^{4}$	$10^{5}$	0.264	5.42	0.00434%	0.383%	5.04	1.81	-0.955	-0.991	0.984	-0.757	0.884	0.809
	$10^5$	$10^{5}$	0.295	9.54	0.0163%	1.33%	6.12	2.33	-0.944	-0.983	0.986	-0.749	0.891	0.823
	$10^{5}$	$10^{6}$	0.351	142	0.0574%	2.03%	5.93	118	-0.961	-0.990	0.989	-0.938	0.942	0.891
	$10^{6}$	$10^{6}$	0.415	228	0.138%	5.33%	8.30	286	-0.956	-0.986	0.990	-0.820	0.935	0.885

Table 14.1: Root-mean-squared errors for source parameters, the corresponding bounds on  $\lambda_g$  and  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$ , and the correlation coefficients, for the case  $\alpha = 3$  and for systems with different masses in units of  $M_{\odot}$ . The top cluster uses the Ad. LIGO  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 10$ ,  $\lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{12}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-16}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in msecs. The middle cluster uses the ET  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 50$ ,  $\lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{13}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-15}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in msecs. The bottom cluster uses a NGO  $S_n(f)$ ,  $\rho = 100$ ,  $\lambda_g$  is in units of  $10^{15}$  km,  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  is in units of  $10^{-10}$  km and  $\Delta t_c$  is in secs.

Compton wavelength  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  as a function of  $\eta$  both for Ad. LIGO and  $\alpha = 3$ , with systems of different total mass. Notice that, in general, both bounds improve for comparable mass systems, even though the SNR is kept fixed.



Figure 14.6: Bounds on  $\lambda_g$  as a function of  $\eta$  for different total masses. This is for Ad. LIGO, with the SNR of  $\rho = 10$  and assuming alternative theories in which  $\alpha = 3$ .

With all of this information at hand, it seems likely that gravitational-wave detection would provide useful information about Lorentz-violating graviton propagation. For example, if a Bayesian analysis were carried out, once a gravitational wave is detected, and the ppE parameters peaked around  $b_{ppE} = 2$  or 3, this could possibly indicate the presence of some degree of Lorentz violation. Complementarily, if no deviation from general relativity is observed, then one could constrain the magnitude of A to interesting levels, considering that no bounds exist to date.

#### 14.4 Conclusions and Discussion

We studied whether Lorentz symmetry-breaking in the propagation of gravitational waves could be measured with gravitational waves from non-spinning, compact binary inspirals. We considered modifications to a massive graviton dispersion relation that scale as  $\mathbb{A}p^{\alpha}$ , where p is the graviton's momentum while  $\mathbb{A}$  and  $\alpha$  are phenomenological parameters. We found that such a modification introduces new terms in the gravitational-wave phase due to a delay in the propagation: waves emitted at low frequency, early in the inspiral, travel slightly slower than those



**Figure 14.7:** Bounds on  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  as a function of  $\eta$  for different total masses. This is for Ad. LIGO, with the SNR of  $\rho = 10$  and assuming alternative theories in which  $\alpha = 3$ .

emitted at high frequency later. This results in an offset in the relative arrival times at a detector, and thus, a frequency-dependent phase correction. We mapped these new gravitational-wave phase terms to the recently proposed ppE scheme, with ppE phase parameters  $b_{ppE} = \alpha - 1$ .

We then carried out a simple Fisher analysis to get a sense of the accuracy to which such dispersion relation deviations could be measured with different gravitational-wave detectors. We found that indeed, both the mass of the graviton and additional dispersion relation deviations could be constrained. For values of  $\alpha > 4$ , there is not enough information in the waveform to produce an invertible Fisher matrix. Certain values of  $\alpha$ , like  $\alpha = 0$  and 2, also cannot be measured, as they become 100% correlated with other system parameters.

In deriving these bounds, we have made several approximations that force us to consider them only as rough indicators that gravitational waves can be used to constrain generic Lorentzviolation in gravitational-wave propagation. For example, we have not accounted for precession or eccentricity in the orbits, the merger phase of the inspiral, the spins of the compact objects or carried out a Bayesian analysis. We expect the inclusion of these effects to modify and possibly worsen the bounds presented above by roughly an order of magnitude, based on previous results for bounds on the mass of the graviton [14, 34, 158, 237, 267, 275, 291]. However, the detection of N gravitational waves would lead to a  $\sqrt{N}$  improvement in the bounds [36], while the modeling of only the Lorentz-violating term, without including the mass of the graviton, would also increase the accuracy to which  $\lambda_{\mathbb{A}}$  could me measured [75].

Future work could concentrate on carrying out a more detailed data analysis study, using Bayesian techniques. In particular, it would be interesting to compute the evidence for a general relativity model and a modified dispersion relation model, given a signal consistent with general relativity, to see the betting-odds of the signal favoring GR over the non-GR model. A similar study was already carried out in [75], but there a single ppE parameter was considered. Another interesting avenue for future research would be to consider whether there are any theories (quantum-inspired or not) that predict fractional  $\alpha$  powers or values of  $\alpha$  different from 3 or 4.

### APPENDICES

## Я Evaluations

#### A.1 Basic Facts

$$\mathbf{n}^{i} \equiv \frac{(\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{x}_{2})^{i}}{|\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{x}_{2}|} \tag{A.1}$$

$$r \equiv |\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2| \tag{A.2}$$



(a) Inspirallig binary system configuration

(b) The location of field points relative to the origin and relative to each other

Figure A.1: A shematic configuration of an inspiralling compact binary system and the related integral variables

$$\mathbf{a}_2^i = \alpha m_1 \frac{\mathbf{n}^i}{r^2}, \quad \mathbf{a}_1^i = -\alpha m_2 \frac{\mathbf{n}^i}{r^2} \tag{A.3}$$

$$\mathbf{a}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n} = \alpha \frac{m_1}{r^2} \tag{A.4}$$

$$\mathbf{a}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} = -\alpha \frac{m_2}{r^2} \tag{A.5}$$

$$\mathbf{a}_2 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2 = \frac{\alpha m_1(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} \tag{A.6}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) = \alpha \frac{m_1}{r^2} + \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2) - \mathbf{v}_2^2 - (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) + (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r}$$
(A.7)

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{2}^{i} = \frac{\alpha m_{1}}{r^{3}} (\mathbf{v}_{1}^{i} - \mathbf{v}_{2}^{i}) - 3 \frac{\alpha m_{1}}{r^{3}} \left( (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right) \mathbf{n}^{i}$$
(A.8)

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n} = -2 \frac{\alpha m_1}{r^3} \left[ (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right]$$
(A.9)

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_2 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2 = \frac{\alpha m_1}{r^3} \left( (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2) - v_2^2 \right) - 3 \frac{\alpha m_1}{r^3} \left[ (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 \right]$$
(A.10)

$$\ddot{\mathbf{a}}_{2}^{i} = -\alpha m_{1} \left[ \frac{\mathbf{a}_{2}^{i} - \mathbf{a}_{1}^{i}}{r^{3}} + \frac{6}{r^{4}} (\mathbf{v}_{1}^{i} - \mathbf{v}_{2}^{i}) \left( (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right) - \frac{15}{r^{4}} \left( (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right)^{2} \mathbf{n}^{i} + \frac{3}{r^{3}} \left( (\mathbf{a}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{a}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right) \mathbf{n}^{i} + \frac{3}{r^{4}} (v_{1} - v_{2})^{2} \mathbf{n}^{i} \right] (A.11)$$

$$\ddot{\mathbf{a}}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n} = -\alpha m_{1} \left[ \frac{2}{r^{3}} \left( (\mathbf{a}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{a}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right) - \frac{9}{r^{4}} \left( (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \right)^{2} + \frac{3}{r^{4}} (v_{1} - v_{2})^{2} \right] (A.12)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right) = -\frac{1}{r^2}(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \tag{A.13}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right) = -\frac{3}{r^4}(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \tag{A.14}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{1}{r^5}\right) = -\frac{5}{r^6}(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) \tag{A.15}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{n} = \frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2}{|\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2|}\right) = \frac{\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2}{r} - \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}) - (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r}\mathbf{n}$$
(A.16)

$$\frac{1}{A} = \frac{1}{2r} (1 - \frac{\epsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{4r^2} \epsilon^2 + \dots)$$
 (A.17)

$$\frac{1}{A^2} = \frac{1}{4r^2} \left( 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{r} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{\epsilon^2}{r^2} + \cdots \right)$$
(A.18)

$$\frac{1}{A^3} = \frac{1}{8r^3} \left(1 - \frac{3}{2}\frac{\epsilon}{r} + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\epsilon^2}{r^2} + \cdots\right)$$
(A.19)

$$\partial_k \,\partial_i'' \partial_j''' \ln A = -\left(\frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{a}^i \mathbf{a}^k}{|\mathbf{a}|}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{b}^j + \mathbf{c}^j}{A^2}\right) - \left(\frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{b}^j \mathbf{b}^k}{|\mathbf{b}|}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{a}^i - \mathbf{c}^i}{A^2}\right) \\ + \left(\frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^i \mathbf{c}^j}{|\mathbf{c}|}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{b}^k}{A^2}\right) + \frac{2}{A^3} (\mathbf{a}^i - \mathbf{c}^i) (\mathbf{b}^j + \mathbf{c}^j) (\mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{b}^k), \quad (A.20)$$

$$\partial_{k} \partial_{i}^{\prime\prime\prime\prime} \ln A = -\frac{1}{A} \left\{ \frac{\mathbf{b}^{i}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{b}^{j} \mathbf{b}^{k}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{b}^{j}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{b}^{i} \mathbf{b}^{k}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{b}^{k}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{b}^{i} \mathbf{b}^{j}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) \right\} - \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{b}^{i} \mathbf{b}^{k}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{b}^{j} + \mathbf{c}^{j}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{b}^{i} \mathbf{b}^{j}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{b}^{j} \mathbf{b}^{k}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{b}^{i} + \mathbf{c}^{i}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k}}{A^{2}} \right) + \frac{2}{A^{3}} \left( \mathbf{b}^{i} + \mathbf{c}^{i} \right) \left( \mathbf{b}^{j} + \mathbf{c}^{j} \right) \left( \mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k} \right),$$
(A.21)

$$\partial_{k} \partial_{i}^{\prime\prime} \partial_{j}^{\prime\prime} \ln A = -\frac{1}{A} \left\{ \frac{\mathbf{a}^{i}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{a}^{j} \mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{a}^{i} \mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^{i} \mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) \right\} - \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{a}^{i} \mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{j} - \mathbf{c}^{j}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^{i} \mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{a}^{j} \mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i}}{A^{2}} \right) - \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) \left( \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k}}{A^{2}} \right) + \frac{2}{A^{3}} \left( \mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \right) \left( \mathbf{a}^{j} - \mathbf{c}^{j} \right) \left( \mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k} \right),$$
(A.22)

$$\partial_i'' \partial_j''' \ln A = -\frac{1}{A} \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^i \mathbf{c}^j}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) - \frac{(\mathbf{a}^i - \mathbf{c}^i)(\mathbf{b}^j + \mathbf{c}^j)}{A^2}, \tag{A.23}$$

$$\partial_k \partial_j^{\prime\prime\prime} \ln A = -\frac{1}{A} \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{b}^j \mathbf{b}^k}{|\mathbf{b}|} + \frac{1}{A^2} (\mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{b}^k) (\mathbf{b}^j + \mathbf{c}^j),$$
(A.24)

$$\partial_{k}^{\prime\prime\prime}\partial_{i}^{\prime\prime}\partial_{j}^{\prime\prime}\ln A = \frac{1}{A} \left[ \frac{\mathbf{c}^{i}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{c}^{j}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) + \frac{\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) + \frac{\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) \right] \\ + (\frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) (\frac{\mathbf{c}^{j} - \mathbf{a}^{j}}{A^{2}}) + (\frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) (\frac{\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k}}{A^{2}}) \\ + (\frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{c}^{j}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) (\frac{\mathbf{c}^{i} - \mathbf{a}^{i}}{A^{2}}) + (\frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^{i}\mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|}) (\frac{\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k}}{A^{2}}) \\ - \frac{2}{A^{3}} (\mathbf{c}^{i} - \mathbf{a}^{i}) (\mathbf{c}^{j} - \mathbf{a}^{j}) (\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k})$$
(A.25)

$$\partial_{k}^{\prime\prime}\partial_{j}^{\prime\prime}\ln A = \frac{1}{A} \left[ \frac{\mathbf{a}^{i}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{a}^{j}\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{a}^{i}\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^{i}\mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} \right) \right] \\ - \frac{\mathbf{c}^{i}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{c}^{j}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) \right] \\ + \frac{1}{A^{2}} \left[ \left( \mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \right) \left( \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{a}^{j}\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} + \frac{\delta^{jk} - \mathbf{c}^{j}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) + \left( \mathbf{a}^{j} - \mathbf{c}^{j} \right) \left( \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{a}^{i}\mathbf{a}^{k}}{|\mathbf{a}|} + \frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) \\ + \left( \mathbf{a}^{k} - \mathbf{c}^{k} \right) \left( \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^{i}\mathbf{a}^{j}}{|\mathbf{a}|} + \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^{i}\mathbf{c}^{j}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) \right] + \frac{2}{A^{3}} (\mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i}) (\mathbf{a}^{j} - \mathbf{c}^{j}) (\mathbf{a}^{k} + \mathbf{b}^{k}), \quad (A.26)$$

and,

$$\partial_{i}^{\prime\prime} \partial_{k}^{\prime\prime\prime} \partial_{l}^{\prime\prime\prime} \ln A = -\frac{1}{A} \left\{ \frac{\mathbf{c}^{i}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{kl} - \mathbf{c}^{k} \mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) + \frac{\mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{il} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) + \frac{\mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|} (\frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|}) \right\} + \left(\frac{\delta^{kl} - \mathbf{b}^{k} \mathbf{b}^{l}}{|\mathbf{b}|} \right) (\frac{\mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i}}{A^{2}}) - \left(\frac{\delta^{ik} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{k}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) (\frac{\mathbf{b}^{l} + \mathbf{c}^{l}}{A^{2}}) + \left(\frac{\delta^{kl} - \mathbf{c}^{k} \mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) (\frac{\mathbf{a}^{i} - \mathbf{c}^{i}}{A^{2}}) - \left(\frac{\delta^{il} - \mathbf{c}^{i} \mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) (\frac{\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k}}{A^{2}}) + \left(\frac{\delta^{kl} - \mathbf{c}^{k} \mathbf{c}^{l}}{|\mathbf{c}|} \right) (\frac{\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k}}{A^{2}}) + \frac{2}{A^{3}} (\mathbf{c}^{i} - \mathbf{a}^{i}) (\mathbf{b}^{k} + \mathbf{c}^{k}) (\mathbf{b}^{l} + \mathbf{c}^{l}), \qquad (A.27)$$

where

$$A \equiv |\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{b}| + |\mathbf{c}|,\tag{A.28}$$

and

$$\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'', \qquad \mathbf{a}^{i} = \frac{(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'')^{i}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''|}$$
$$\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''', \qquad \mathbf{b}^{i} = \frac{(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''')^{i}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'''|}$$
$$\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}''', \qquad \mathbf{c}^{i} = \frac{(\mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}''')^{i}}{|\mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}'''|}.$$
(A.29)

Using the following straghtforward relations help following the procedure to obtain above results.

$$\partial_k A = \mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{b}^k, \quad \partial_k'' A = -\mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{c}^k, \quad \partial_k''' A = -(\mathbf{b}^k + \mathbf{c}^k), \tag{A.30}$$

$$\partial_k \frac{1}{A} = -\frac{\mathbf{a}^n + \mathbf{b}^n}{A^2}, \qquad \partial_k'' \frac{1}{A} = \frac{\mathbf{a}^k - \mathbf{c}^k}{A^2}, \qquad \partial_k''' \frac{1}{A} = \frac{\mathbf{b}^n + \mathbf{c}^n}{A^2}, \tag{A.31}$$

$$\partial_k \frac{1}{A^2} = -2(\frac{\mathbf{a}^k + \mathbf{b}^k}{A^3}), \quad \partial_k'' \frac{1}{A^2} = 2(\frac{\mathbf{a}^k - \mathbf{c}^k}{A^3}), \quad \partial_k''' \frac{1}{A^2} = 2(\frac{\mathbf{b}^k + \mathbf{c}^k}{A^3}), \quad (A.32)$$

and

$$\partial_i \mathbf{a}^j = \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{a}^i \mathbf{a}^j}{|\mathbf{a}|}, \quad \partial_i \mathbf{b}^j = \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{b}^i \mathbf{b}^j}{|\mathbf{b}|}, \quad \partial_i \mathbf{c}^j = 0,$$
(A.33)

$$\partial_i'' \mathbf{a}^j = \frac{-\delta^{ij} + \mathbf{a}^i \mathbf{a}^j}{|\mathbf{a}|}, \quad \partial_i'' \mathbf{c}^j = \frac{\delta^{ij} - \mathbf{c}^i \mathbf{c}^j}{|\mathbf{c}|}, \quad \partial_i'' \mathbf{b}^j = 0, \tag{A.34}$$

$$\partial_i^{\prime\prime\prime} \mathbf{b}^j = \frac{-\delta^{ij} + \mathbf{b}^i \mathbf{b}^j}{|\mathbf{b}|}, \quad \partial_i^{\prime\prime\prime} \mathbf{c}^j = \frac{-\delta^{ij} + \mathbf{c}^i \mathbf{c}^j}{|\mathbf{c}|}, \quad \partial_i^{\prime\prime\prime} \mathbf{a}^j = 0.$$
(A.35)

#### A.2 Multipole Moments for Two-Body Systems

Here we evaluate the multipole moments that appear in the radiation reaction expressions (10.6) and (10.7) to the order required to obtain 2.5PN-accurate contributions. The scalar dipole moment  $\mathcal{I}_s^i$  in Eq. (10.6) must be evaluated to 1PN order. Substituting  $\tau_s$  from Eq. (8.19e) and  $\sigma_s$  from Eq. (9.12e) to 1PN order into Eq. (8.6a), we obtain

$$\mathcal{I}_{s}^{i} = G\zeta m_{1}x_{1}^{i}(1-2s_{1})\left[1 - \frac{1}{2}v_{1}^{2} - \frac{G\alpha m_{2}}{r}\left(1 - 4\frac{\bar{\beta}_{1}}{\bar{\gamma}}\right)\right] + (1 \rightleftharpoons 2).$$
(A.36)

Most of the multipole moments that appear in the 2.5PN expressions (10.7) can be evaluated to the lowest PN order, so that we may write

$$\mathcal{I}^{ij} = G(1-\zeta) \left( m_1 x_1^{ij} + m_2 x_2^{ij} \right) , \qquad (A.37a)$$

$$\mathcal{I}^{ijk} = G(1-\zeta) \left( m_1 x_1^{ijk} + m_2 x_2^{ijk} \right) , \qquad (A.37b)$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{qj} = G(1-\zeta)\epsilon^{qab} \left( m_1 v_1^b x_1^{aj} + m_2 v_2^b x_2^{aj} \right) , \qquad (A.37c)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{s}^{ij} = G\zeta \left( m_{1}(1-2s_{1})x_{1}^{ij} + m_{2}(1-2s_{2})x_{2}^{ij} \right), \qquad (A.37d)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{s}^{ijk} = G\zeta \left( m_{1}(1-2s_{1})x_{1}^{ijk} + m_{2}(1-2s_{1})x_{2}^{ijk} \right) .$$
 (A.37e)

The exception to this rule is the scalar monopole moment  $M_s = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \tau_s d^3 x$ ; formally it contributes at 0.5PN order, as can be seen in Eq. (8.5), but its leading contribution is constant in time, and hence it is the 1PN correction that matters. Inserting  $\tau_s$  and  $\sigma_s$  from Eqs. (8.19e) and (9.12e) to 1PN order, we obtain

$$M_s = G\zeta m_1 (1 - 2s_1) \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{2}v_1^2 - \frac{G\alpha m_2}{r} \left( 1 - 4\frac{\bar{\beta}_1}{\bar{\gamma}} \right) \right] + (1 \rightleftharpoons 2).$$
 (A.38)

Since the first term is constant, it can be dropped.

#### A.3 Phase of the Gravitational Waveform to 3.5PN order

The phasing expression of Eq. (6.17) was valid to 2PN order. Here we quote the full expression, which has been calculated through 3.5PN order, as in Eq. (3.18) in [61]

$$\begin{split} \psi_{3.5}^{(F2)}(f) &= 2\pi f t_c - \phi_c - \frac{\pi}{4} + \frac{3}{128 \eta v^5} \left[ 1 + \frac{20}{9} \left( \frac{743}{336} + \frac{11}{4} \eta \right) v^2 - 16\pi v^3 \right] \\ &+ 10 \left( \frac{3058673}{1016064} + \frac{5429}{1008} \eta + \frac{617}{144} \eta^2 \right) v^4 + \pi \left( \frac{38645}{756} - \frac{65}{9} \eta \right) \left\{ 1 + 3 \ln \left( \frac{v}{v_{\rm lso}} \right) \right\} v^5 \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{11583231236531}{4694215680} - \frac{640}{3} \pi^2 - \frac{6848 \gamma}{21} - \frac{6848}{21} \ln \left( 4 v \right) \right. \\ &+ \left( -\frac{15737765635}{3048192} + \frac{2255 \pi^2}{12} \right) \eta + \frac{76055}{1728} \eta^2 - \frac{127825}{1296} \eta^3 \right\} v^6 \\ &+ \pi \left( \frac{77096675}{254016} + \frac{378515}{1512} \eta - \frac{74045}{756} \nu^2 \right) v^7 \end{split}$$

where  $v = (\pi M f)^{1/3}$ , and  $\gamma = 0.577216\cdots$  is the Euler constant.

# B

#### **B.1** Sample Derivations and Evaluations

#### **B.1.1** Integration of 1PN potentials

At 1PN order, the integration is straightforward. We consider a particular example

$$\int_{1} \rho^{*} \Phi_{1,i} d^{3}x = -\int_{1} \rho^{*} \int \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x.$$
(B.1)

Since we are interested in integration over body 1, the coordinate x only needs to be integrated over body 1 instead of the entire space beacuase  $\rho^*$  is zero everywhere else. There is, however, no such restriction on  $\rho^{*'}$ , and the x' coordinate is to be evaluated over bodies 1 and 2, as these are the only bodies in the problem. Therefore, the integral splits into two integrals, one over each body.

$$-\int_{1}^{} \rho^{*} \int \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x = -\int_{1}^{} \rho^{*} \int_{1}^{} \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x - \int_{1}^{} \rho^{*} \int_{2}^{} \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x.$$
(B.2)

We consider these two pieces indivisually. First, the integral with both the x and x' coordinates evaluated over body 1 is a self-integral over body 1. With  $v = v_1 + \bar{v}'$ , we have

$$-\int_{1} \rho^{*} \int_{1} \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x$$

$$= \int_{1} \frac{\rho^{*} \rho^{*'} (v_{1}^{2} + 2v_{1} \cdot \bar{v}' + \bar{v}'^{2})}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' d^{3}x$$
  
$$= 2v_{1}^{i} H_{1}^{ij} + t_{1}^{j}.$$
(B.3)

where

$$t_1^j = \int_1 \frac{\rho^* \rho^{*'} \bar{v}^{\prime 2} (x - x')^j}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} d^3 x' d^3 x, \qquad (B.4)$$

$$H_1^{ij} = \int_1 \frac{\rho^* \rho^{*'} \bar{v}^{\prime i} (x - x')^j}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} d^3 x' d^3 x.$$
(B.5)

The integral that involves  $v_1^2$  is zero because by symmetry the integral is automatically zero.

The second integral of Eq. (B.2) is integrated with x ranging over body 1 and x' over body 2. Let  $\mathbf{v}' = \mathbf{v}_2 + \bar{\mathbf{v}}'$ , so we have

$$\int_{1} \rho^{*} \int_{2} \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{3}} (x - x')_{j} d^{3}x' = \int_{1} \rho^{*} \int_{2} \rho^{*'} (v_{2}^{2} + 2v_{2} \cdot \bar{v}' + \bar{v}'^{2}) \frac{n_{j}}{r^{2}} d^{3}x' d^{3}x$$
$$= m_{1}m_{2}v_{2}^{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{2}} + 2m_{1}\mathcal{I}_{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{2}}, \qquad (B.6)$$

where we have approximated  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|$  as r, the distance of separation between the two bodies, and  $n^i$  is a unit vector in the direction of  $\mathbf{x_1} - \mathbf{x_2}$ . Note that the second term, involving  $v_2 \cdot \bar{v}'$  integrates to zero because  $\int_2 \rho^{*'} \bar{v}' d^3 x = 0$  by the definition of center of mass. Combining Eq. (B.3) and Eq. (B.6), we have

$$\int_{1} \rho^* \Phi_{1,i} d^3 x = -2v_1^2 H_1^{ij} - t_1^j - m_1 m_2 v_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^2} - 2m_1 \mathcal{I}_2 \frac{n^j}{r^2}.$$
(B.7)

If the integral involves an additional coordinate x'' and an additional conserved density  $\rho^{*''}$ , there will be 4 integrals from all combinations of permutating  $\rho^{*'}$  and  $\rho^{*''}$  between bodies 1 and 2.

#### B.1.2 Integration of 2PN potentials - part I

At 2PN order, there are many more terms to integrate in the equation of motion than at 1PN order (compare the number of terms between Eq. (10.1) and Eq. (10.2)), and it is much work to include all possible combinations of permutating the various  $\rho^*$  between bodies 1 and 2. Therefore, we neglect terms that involve any self-integrals, and only consider terms that involve the masses and velocities of the bodies, and the distance of separation between them. First we

express the integrals in terms of the conserved densities, velocities, and the coordinates. Then, if (a) for each coordinate, a corresponding conserved density also appears, and (b) there are no "triangle" terms in any of the denominators, then there is no problem of divergence, and the integration is straightforward. We simply associate x with body 1, then assign the coordinates x' and x'' to either body 1 or body 2 in such a way that all distances that appear in denominators of the integral are a difference between a coordinate associated with body 1 and a coordinate associated with body 2. There should be no distance in any denominators of the integral that is a difference between two coordinates associated with the same body. Such terms would be singular in the point mass limit, and our procedure is to discard such terms. For example,

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j U V_{j,i} d^3 x = -\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \frac{\rho^{*'}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} \frac{\rho^{*''} v_j''(x - x'')_i}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} d^3 x'' d^3 x' d^3 x = -m_2^2 \frac{v_1 \cdot v_2}{r^3} n^i (B.8)$$
  
$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \Phi_{2,j}^i d^3 x = -\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \rho^{*'} \frac{(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')_j}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} \frac{\rho^{*''} v_j''}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} d^3 x'' d^3 x' d^3 x = -m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1 \cdot n}{r^3} v_1^i (B.9)$$

where in the first example both x' and x'' are associated with body 2, but in the second example, x' is associated with body 2 while x'' is associated with body 1.

#### B.1.3 Integration of 2PN potentials - part II

Not all terms in Eq. (10.2) can be integrated by the method described in the last section. Potentials such as  $P_2^{ij}$  and related potentials such as H,  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  have to be integrated with the use of the integral

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x_a}|^{-1} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x_b}|^{-1} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x_c}|^{-1} d^3 x = -\ln(|\mathbf{x_a} - \mathbf{x_b}| + |\mathbf{x_b} - \mathbf{x_c}| + |\mathbf{x_a} - \mathbf{x_c}|) + 1.$$
(B.10)

Using this integral, integration of  $P^{ij}_{2,k}$  becomes

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* P^{ij}{}_{2,k} &= \frac{1}{4\pi m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \partial_k \left( U'_{,i} U'_{,j} \mid \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' \mid^{-1} \right) d^2 x \ d^3 x' \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \partial_k \partial_i'' \partial_j''' \frac{\rho^{*''} \rho^{*'''}}{\mid \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' \mid \mid \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}'' \mid \mid \mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}''' \mid} d^3 x \ d^3 x' \ d^3 x'' \ d^3 x''' \ d^3 x''' \\ &= -\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \rho^{*''} \rho^{*'''} \partial_k \partial_i'' \partial_j''' \ln(\mid \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'' \mid + \mid \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''' \mid + \mid \mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}''' \mid) d^3 x \ d^3 x'' \ d^3 x'' \ d^3 x''' \ d^3 x'' \ d^3 x''' \ d^3 x'''' \ d^3 x''' \ d^3 x'''$$

where  $\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}''$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'''$ ,  $\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{x}'' - \mathbf{x}'''$ , A = + |a| + |b||c|, and the hat notation denotes a unit vector. We then integrate Eq. (B.11) over all possibilities by associating the coordinates x'' and x''' with bodies 1 and 2 in turn, and keep only finite terms. The coordinate x is associated with body 1, so when the coordinates x'' and x''' are both assigned to body 1, the result is a self integral, which we discard. Now, if we assign the coordinate x'' to body 1 and x''' to body 2, then  $\mathbf{a} \to 0$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{r}$ , and  $\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{r}$ , where  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ . Special care is needed in taking the limit of  $|\mathbf{a}| \to 0$  as ther emay be finite terms associated with the limit. For example, let  $|\mathbf{a}| = \varepsilon \ll |\mathbf{r}|$ and  $r = |\mathbf{r}|$  and consider the term  $|\mathbf{a}|^{-1} A^{-2} (\delta^{ik} - \hat{a}^i \hat{a}^k) (\hat{b}^j + \hat{c}^j)$ ,

$$|\mathbf{a}|^{-1} A^{-2} (\delta^{ik} - \hat{a}^{i} \hat{a}^{k}) (\hat{b}^{j} + \hat{c}^{j}) = \frac{1}{(2r+\varepsilon)^{2}\varepsilon} (\delta^{ik} - \hat{a}^{i} \hat{a}^{k}) (2n^{j})$$

$$\simeq \frac{1}{4\varepsilon r^{2}} \left( 1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{r} + \frac{3}{4} (\frac{\varepsilon}{r})^{2} + \cdots \right) (\delta^{ik} - \varepsilon^{2}) (2n^{j})$$

$$= -\frac{n^{j}}{2r^{3}} \delta^{ik}, \qquad (B.12)$$

where we have discarded terms that diverge as  $\varepsilon^{-1}$  as well as terms that tend to zero in the limit of  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Note that although, to the leading order, the term  $|\mathbf{a}|^{-1} A^{-2} (\delta^{ik} - \hat{a}^i \hat{a}^k) (\hat{b}^j + \hat{c}^j)$  diverges as  $\varepsilon^{-1}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , there is a finit contribution to the integral that we could not have obtained had we naively, and incorrectly, discarded the entire term.

Repeating the process of associating the coordinates x'' and x''' to bodies 1 and 2, the final result of  $\int P_{2,k}^{ij}$  becomes

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int \rho^* P_{2,k}^{ij} d^3 x = m_1 m_2 \frac{1}{4r^3} (4n_i n_j n_k - \delta^{kj} n_i - \delta^{ij} n_k - 2\delta^{ik} n_j) 
+ m_1 m_2 \frac{1}{4r^3} (4n_i n_j n_k - \delta^{ik} n_j - \delta^{ij} n_k - 2\delta^{kj} n_i) 
+ m_2^2 \frac{1}{4r^3} (-4n_i n_j n_k + \delta^{ik} n_j + \delta^{jk} n_i + 2\delta^{ij} n_k),$$
(B.13)

where the first line of Eq. (B.13) is obtained by associating x'' with body 1 and x''' with body 2, so that  $\mathbf{a} \to 0$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{r}$ , and  $\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{r}$ . The second line of the equation is obtained by associating x'' with body 2 and x''' with body 1, so that  $\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{r}$ ,  $\mathbf{b} \to 0$ , and  $\mathbf{c} = -\mathbf{r}$ . Finally, the third line of the equation is obtained by associating both x'' and x''' with body 2, so that  $\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{r}$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{r}$ , and  $\mathbf{c} \to 0$ .

For potentials  $P_{2,k}^{ij}$ , the procedure of integration is similar. One difference is that, once Eq. (B.10) is used to simplify the integral, we may need to take derivatives with respect to different coordinates than the ones taken in  $P_{2,k}^{ij}$ . Another difference is that many integrals have quantities such as  $\mathbf{v}''$ , and so we assign them to the appropriate bodies consistent with the assignment of the associated coordinates, for example,  $(\mathbf{x}'')$  for the case with  $\mathbf{v}''$ .

#### B.1.4 Integration of 2PN potentials - part III

Of all the potentials at 2PN order, the potential  $H \equiv P(U^{ij}P_2^{ij})$  most difficult to integrate it is "doubly triangular". Although the principle of integration is same as that in Appendix A.1, there is no closed form expression such as Eq. (B.10) that simplifies the "triangular" potentials, and the integration must be carried out on mathematical software. We first simplify H by partial integration

$$H = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \frac{d^{3}x'}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} (U_{,jk}P_{2}^{jk})$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^{3}x' \left[ \partial_{j}' \left( \frac{1}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} U_{,k}P_{2}^{jk} \right) - \partial_{j}' \left( \frac{1}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} \right) U_{,k}P_{2}^{jk} - \frac{1}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} U_{,k} \left( \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{2,k} - \frac{1}{2} U U_{,k} - \Sigma(U_{,k}) \right) \right], \qquad (B.14)$$

where we have used the formula

$$\partial_j P_2^{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{2,i} - \frac{1}{2} U U_{,i} - \Sigma(U_{,i}).$$
(B.15)

The first term of Eq. (B.14) vanishes because it can be converted to surface integral at infinity. So the 2PN potential that we need to integrate becomes

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* H_{,j} d^3 x = \frac{1}{4\pi m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \left[ \partial_j \partial_i \left( \frac{1}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} \right) U_{,k} P_2^{jk} + \frac{(x - x')_j}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^3} U_{,k} \left( \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{2,k} - \frac{1}{2} U U_{,k} - \Sigma(U_{,k}) \right) \right]$$
(B.16)

The second term of Eq. (B.16) involving  $U_{,k}\Phi_{2,k}$  can be integrated using the methods of Appendix A.1, but all other terms in the equation have to be integrated using a mathematical software. As an example we consider the third term of Eq. (B.16)

$$\frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{1} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' \frac{(x-x')_{j}}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^{3}} UU_{,k}^{2} = \frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{1} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' \frac{(x-x')_{j}}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^{3}} \left( \frac{m_{1}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|} + \frac{m_{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{2}|} \right) \qquad (B.17)$$

$$\times \left( \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{4}} + \frac{m_{2}^{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{4}} + 2\frac{m_{1}m_{2}(\mathbf{y}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{2})}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{3}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{3}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{1} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' \frac{(x-x')_{j}}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^{3}} \left[ \frac{m_{1}^{3}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{5}} + \frac{m_{1}m_{2}^{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}||\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{4}} + 2\frac{m_{1}^{2}m_{2}(\mathbf{y}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{2})}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{4}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{3}} + \frac{m_{1}^{2}m_{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{4}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|} + \frac{m_{2}^{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{5}} + 2\frac{m_{1}m_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{y}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{2})}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{3}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{4}} \right],$$

where  $\mathbf{y}_1 = \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{y}_2 = \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}_2$ , and we use a point mass expression for U. Since the coordinate  $\mathbf{x}'$  is not assigned to either body, the potentials U and  $U_{,k}$ , which are functions of  $\mathbf{x}'$ , are then the sum of the potential form each body. Of the six terms in Eq. (B.17), the first term involves solely  $\mathbf{y}_1$  and is a self-integral, which we discard. The second term becomes

$$\frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' \frac{(x-x')_{j}}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^{3}} \frac{m_{1}m_{2}^{2}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}||\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{4}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' m_{1}m_{2}^{2} \frac{y_{1}^{j}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{4}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{4}} \\
= +\frac{1}{4\pi m_{1}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \rho^{*} d^{3}x \, d^{3}x' m_{1}m_{2}^{2} \frac{y_{2}^{j}}{|\mathbf{y}_{1}|^{2}|\mathbf{y}_{2}|^{6}} \\
= -\frac{m_{1}m_{2}^{2}}{2} n_{j} \int_{z=\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{\theta=0}^{\pi} z^{2} dz \sin \theta d\theta \frac{z \cos \theta}{z^{6}(z^{2}-2zr \cos \theta+r^{2})} \\
= -\frac{m_{1}m_{2}^{2}}{2} n_{j} \int_{z=\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{u=-1}^{1} \frac{u \, dz \, du}{z^{3}(z^{2}-2zr u+r^{2})}, \quad (B.18)$$

where we first note that since  $\mathbf{x}$  is assigned to body 1,  $(x - x')_j / |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x'}|^3$  is simply  $-y_1^j / |\mathbf{y}_1|^3$ . We next perform a partial integration and discard the surface term. The partial integration is not always necessary and is done in this case to avoid having Maple crash. We then make the substitution  $z = |\mathbf{y}_2|$  and express  $|\mathbf{y}_1|$  in terms of z and the distance of separation between the two bodies  $r = |\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2|$ . We also choose the  $(z, \theta, \phi)$  spherical coordinate system such that the  $\theta = 0$  axis is parallel to  $\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ , and integrate over the azimuthal angle  $\phi$ . Since the integral in Eq. (B.18) must in the end be proportional to n (the only vector in the problem), we need only to evaluate the projection of the integral onto the z-axis. This integral can be done either by hand or using a mathematics software package, and we used Maple 14 for our calculations. We first integrate over u from -1 to 1; because the result contains terms proportional to  $(z^2 - r^2)^{-k}$ , we then integrate z from  $\varepsilon$  to r and from r to infinity. While one can show that the integral over  $z \sim r$  is non-singular, splitting the integral avoids having Maple crash. We then expand the result in powers of  $\varepsilon$ , and discard all terms proportional to  $\varepsilon^{-2}$ ,  $\varepsilon^{-1}$ , and  $\varepsilon^k$ , and keep only the terms independent of  $\varepsilon$ . For the integral in Eq. (B.18), we obtain the following result,

$$-\frac{m_1 m_2^2}{2} n_j \int_{z=\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{u=-1}^{1} \frac{u \, dz \, d\theta}{z^3 (z^2 - 2zru + r^2)} = m_1 m_2^2 \left( -\frac{2}{3} \frac{1}{r^3 \varepsilon} + \frac{4}{15} \frac{\varepsilon}{r^5} + \frac{2}{35} \frac{\varepsilon^3}{r^7} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^5) \right) n^j$$
(B.19)

Therefore, the contribution of the integral in Eq. (B.18) to Eq. (B.17) is zero.

As another example, we consider the third term of Eq. (B.17).

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{m_1^2 m_2}{2\pi m_1} \int_1 \rho^* d^3 x \, d^3 x' \frac{(x-x')_j}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^3} \frac{\mathbf{y}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2}{|\mathbf{y}_1|^4 |\mathbf{y}_2|^3} &= -\frac{m_1^2 m_2}{2\pi} \int_1 \rho^* d^3 x \, d^3 x' \frac{y_1^i \, (\mathbf{y}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2)}{|\mathbf{y}_1|^7 |\mathbf{y}_2|^3} \\ &= -m_1^2 m_2 n_j \int_{z=\varepsilon}^\infty \int_{\theta=0}^\pi z^2 dz \sin \theta d\theta \frac{z \cos \theta (z^2 + rz \cos \theta)}{z^7 (z^2 + 2zr \cos \theta + r^2)^{3/2}} \end{aligned}$$

$$= -m_1^2 m_2 n_j \int_{z=\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{u=-1}^{1} dz \, du \frac{u(z+r\,u)}{z^3 (z^2+2zru+r^2)^{3/2}}$$
  
=  $m_1^2 m_2 n_j \left(\frac{1}{3r^2\varepsilon^2} - \frac{3}{5}\frac{1}{r^4}\right).$  (B.20)

where we make similar substitutions as the previous example, except this time we let  $z = |\mathbf{y}_1|$ , and note that  $\mathbf{y}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2 = z \cdot (z+r) = z^2 = rz \cos\theta$  because r is projected onto the z axis. Note that integration by parts is *not* necessary for this example, and that the final result is exact. Since we only keep terms that are independent of  $\varepsilon$ , the contribution of this terms to Eq. (B.17) is  $-(3/5)m_1^2m_2n_j/r^4$ . Repeating this procedure for all terms in Eq. (B.17), we obtain the final result

$$\frac{1}{4\pi m_1} \int_1 \rho^* d^3 x \frac{(x-x')_j}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|^3} U U_{,k}^2 d^3 x' = \left(\frac{1}{2}m_2^2 - \frac{1}{2}m_1^2m_2\right) \frac{n_j}{r^4}.$$
 (B.21)

#### B.2 Results of Integration of 2PN Potentials

In this section we give the results of integration of 2PN potentials that appear in Chapter 8 and Chapter 9. The integrated results of individual terms of Eq. (10.2) are:

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k v^j V^j_{,k} d^3 x = -4m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i, \tag{B.22}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \dot{U} v^2 v^i d^3 x = m_2 v_1^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i, \tag{B.23}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \dot{U}_s(1-2s)v^2 v^i d^3x = -(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)m_2 v_1^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i, \qquad (B.24)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i v^j \Phi_{1,j} d^3 x = 2m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i, \qquad (B.25)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^j \Phi_{2,j} d^3 x = -4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^i, \tag{B.26}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^j \Phi^s_{2s,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^i, \tag{B.27}$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i v^j \ddot{X}_{,j} d^3x = 2m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i - 6m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2 (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^i + 4m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}) (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^2} v_1^i,$$
(B.28)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k \Phi_{1,j}^{ik} d^3 x = -2m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)^2}{r^2} n^j, \tag{B.29}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k \Phi_{1,i}^{jk} d^3 x = 4m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j, \tag{B.30}$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k P_{2,j}^{ik} d^3 x = 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j -2m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \qquad (B.31)$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k P_{2s,j}^{ik} d^3 x = \left\{ 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\}$$
  
  $\times (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) + \left\{ -2m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\} (1 - 2s_2)^2, \quad (B.32)$ 

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k P_{2,i}^{jk} d^3 x = -8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 5m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - m_2^2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \quad (B.33)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i v^k P_{2s,i}^{jk} d^3 x = \left\{ -8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 5m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\}$$
$$\times (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) + \left\{ 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - m_2^2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\} (1 - 2s_1)^2, \quad (B.34)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^2 \Phi_{1,j} d^3 x = \frac{1}{2}m_2 v_1^2 v_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^2},\tag{B.35}$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) v^2 \Phi_{1,j}^s d^3 x = -\frac{1}{2} (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_2 v_1^2 v_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^2}, \tag{B.36}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^2 \Phi_{2,j} d^3 x = m_1 m_2 v_1^2 \frac{n^j}{r^3},\tag{B.37}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) v^2 \Phi_{2,j}^s d^3 x = -(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2 v_1^2 \frac{n^j}{r^3}, \tag{B.38}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [1-\zeta - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s)] v^2 \Phi^s_{2s,j} d^3x = [1-\zeta - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s_1)](1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2 v_1^2 \frac{n^j}{r^3},$$
(B.39)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1-2s) + 2\zeta s'] v^2 U_s U_{s,j} d^3 x = -2[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + 2\zeta s'_1](1-2s_2)^2 m_2^2 v_1^2 \frac{n^j}{r^3}, \quad (B.40)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) v^2 [\Sigma(a_s U_s)]_{,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)^2 a_{s2} m_1 m_2 v_1^2 \frac{n^j}{r^3}, \tag{B.41}$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^2 \ddot{X}_{,j} d^3 x = -\frac{1}{2} m_2 \frac{v_1^2 v_2^2}{r^2} n^j + \frac{3}{2} m_2 \frac{v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^2} n^j - m_2 \frac{v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j, \tag{B.42}$$

\_

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s)v^2 \ddot{X}_{s,j} d^3x = \left\{ \frac{1}{2}m_2 \frac{v_1^2 v_2^2}{r^2} n^j - \frac{3}{2}m_2 \frac{v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^2} n^j + m_2 \frac{v_1^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.43)$$

$$\frac{3}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \dot{\Phi}_2 d^3 x = -3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 6m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \tag{B.44}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s)v^j \dot{\Phi}_2^s d^3x = \left\{ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.45)$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [3(1-\zeta) - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s)] v^j \dot{\Phi}_{2s}^s d^3x = \left\{ -m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\} \\ \times [3(1-\zeta) - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s_1)](1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.46)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^j \dot{\Sigma}(a_s \ U_s) d^3x = \left\{ 4m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 8m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j \right\} \times a_{s2} \ (1 - 2s_1)^2, \ (B.47)$$
$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1 - 2s) + 2\zeta s'] v^j U_s \dot{U}_s d^3x = -2[\lambda_1(1 - 2s_1) + 2\zeta s'_1](1 - 2s_2)^2 m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \ (B.48)$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \dot{\Phi}_1 d^3 x = -\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - \frac{1}{2} m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^j, \tag{B.49}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s)v^j \dot{\Phi}_1^s d^3x = \left\{-\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - \frac{1}{2} m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^j\right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2),$$
(B.50)

$$-\frac{3}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j \ddot{X} d^3 x = 3\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 3\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j -\frac{9}{2} m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^j + \frac{9}{2} m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^3}{r^2} v_1^j, \tag{B.51}$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) v^j \ddot{X}_s d^3 x = \left\{ -\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + \alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + \frac{3}{2} m_2 v_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_1^j - \frac{3}{2} m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^3}{r^2} v_1^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.52)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j V^i U_{,i} d^3 x = -4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \tag{B.53}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^j V^i U_{s,i} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_2) \ m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \tag{B.54}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i V^j U_{,i} d^3 x = -8m - 2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.55}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) v^i V^j U_{s,i} d^3 x = -8m - 2^2 (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.56}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_{1}}\int_{1}\rho^{*}v_{i}\dot{P}_{2}^{ij}d^{3}x = -24m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 32m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 5m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 11m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} + m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 2m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} + m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}, \quad (B.57)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_{1}}\int_{1}^{n} \rho^{*} v_{i} \dot{P}_{2s}^{ij} d^{3}x = \left\{-24m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 32m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 5m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 11m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} - 8m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}\right\} \times (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ + \left\{m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 2m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{1}^{j} + m_{2}^{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}\right\} \times (1 - 2s_{2})^{2}, \quad (B.58)$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v_i \ddot{X}_{,i}^j = 2\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 2\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 6\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 10\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j - 4\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 2m_2 \frac{v_2^2(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j - 4m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j + 6m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j, \quad (B.59)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_{1}}\int_{1}^{\infty} \rho^{*} v_{i} \ddot{X}_{,j}^{i} = -2\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + 2\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}} n^{j} + 6\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\ -10\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} n^{j} + 4\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} + 2m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{2}} n^{j} \\ +4m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{2}} v_{2}^{j} - 6m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{2}} n^{j}, \quad (B.60)$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i V_{3,i}^j d^3 x = -2m_2 \frac{v_2^2 (\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j, \tag{B.61}$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i V_{3,j}^i d^3 x = 2m_2 \frac{v_2^2(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^2} n^j,$$
(B.62)

$$-\frac{8}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i \Phi_{2,i}^j d^3x = 8m_1m_2\frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3}v_1^j, \tag{B.63}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i \Phi^i_{2,j} d^3 x = -8m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^i, \tag{B.64}$$

$$\frac{16}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i G_{7,i}^j d^3 x = 4\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 6\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 2\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 4\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + 2\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - \alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j$$

$$-5\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j + m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 2m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \quad (B.65)$$

$$-\frac{16}{m_{1}}\int_{1}^{\infty} \rho^{*} v^{i} G_{7,j}^{i} d^{3}x = -4\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + 3\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} + \alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\ -4\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} n^{j} - 2\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} + \alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\ +5\alpha \ m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} + 4m_{2}^{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} n^{j} - m_{2}^{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} \\ -m_{2}^{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} - 2m_{2}^{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}} n^{j}, \ (B.66)$$

$$-\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i P(\dot{U}_s U_s^{[j]})^{,i]} d^3x = m_1 m_2 (1 - 2s_1) (1 - 2s_2) \left\{ \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} + m_2^2 (1 - 2s_2)^2 \left\{ \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j \right\}, \quad (B.67)$$

$$-\frac{8}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{j,i} d^3 x = 8m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j,$$
(B.68)

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{i,j} d^3 x = -8m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.69}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{2,i}^j d^3 x = -4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.70}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{2,j}^i d^3 x = 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.71}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{2s,i}^{s\,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.72}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i U V_{2s,j}^{s\,i} d^3x = 4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \, m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.73}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* v^i \dot{\Phi}_1^{ij} d^3x = -4\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 4\alpha \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 4m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j,$$
(B.74)

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \Phi_2 U_{,j} d^3 x = -4m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.75}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \Phi_{2s}^s U_{,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.76}$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2\mathbf{a}_s - s - 2s^2)] \Phi_2^s U_{s,j} d^3x = -2[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2\mathbf{a}_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.77)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \left[ 2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-s) + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2a_s - s - 2s^2)] \right] \Phi_{2s}^s U_{s,j} d^3 x = -2 \left[ 2\zeta(1-\zeta)(1-s_1) + (2\lambda_1+\zeta)[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] \right] \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_s)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \quad (B.78)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) \Phi_2 U_{s,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.79}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1 (1-2s) + \zeta (2\mathbf{a}_s - s - 2s^2)] \,\Sigma(a_s \, U_s) U_{s,j} d^3 x = -8[\lambda_1 (1-2s_1) + \zeta (2\mathbf{a}_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] \,a_{s2} \,(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.80}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{6,j} d^3 x = 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} - 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \quad (B.81)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{6s,j} d^3 x = \left\{ 16m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} - 8m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 4m_1m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 2m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2), \quad (B.82)$$

$$\frac{3}{4m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \ddot{X}_{1,j} d^3 x = \frac{3}{2} m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} - \frac{3}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j + \frac{3}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j + \frac{15}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - \frac{9}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j - 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - \frac{3}{4} m_2 \frac{v_2^4}{r^2} n^j - \frac{3}{2} m_2 \frac{v_2^2(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j + \frac{9}{4} m_2 \frac{v_2^2(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^2} n^j,$$
(B.83)

$$-\frac{1}{4m_{1}}\int_{1}^{1}\rho^{*}\ddot{X}(v^{2})_{s,j}d^{3}x = -\frac{1}{3}\left\{\frac{3}{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{15}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - \frac{9}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 3m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} - \frac{3}{4}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{4}}{r^{2}}n^{j} - \frac{3}{2}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{2}}v_{2}^{j} + \frac{9}{4}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{2}}n^{j}\right\} \times (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}), \quad (B.84)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* U\ddot{X}_{,j} d^3x = 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j,$$
(B.85)

$$-\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) \ U \ddot{X}_{s,j} d^3x = \left\{ 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \tag{B.86}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1 (1-2s) + \zeta (2 a_s - s - 2s^2)] U_s \ddot{X}_{s,j} d^3 x = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j \right\} \times [\lambda_1 (1-2s_1) + \zeta (2 a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2, \quad (B.87)$$

$$\frac{9}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(Uv^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{9}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.88}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [3(1-\zeta) - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s)] [\Sigma_s(U_s v^2)]_{,j} d^3x = \frac{1}{2} [3(1-\zeta) - (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s_1)] (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j,$$
(B.89)

$$-\frac{3}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma_s(Uv^2)]_{,j}d^3x = \frac{3}{2}(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)\ m_1m_2\frac{v_2^2}{r^3}n^j,\tag{B.90}$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(a_s \, U_s \, v^2)]_{,j} d^3 x = -2(1-2s_1)^2 a_{s2} \, m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.91}$$

$$-\frac{6}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* U\Phi_{1,j}d^3x = 6m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3}n^j,$$
(B.92)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) U \Phi_{1,j}^s d^3 x = -2(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.93}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2a_s - s - 2s^2)] U_s \Phi^s_{1,j} d^3x = -[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)](1-2s_2)^2 m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j,$$
(B.94)

$$\frac{3}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(U^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{3}{2} m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.95}$$

$$\frac{3}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma_s(U^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{3}{2} (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.96}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(U_s^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -(1-2s_1)^2 m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.97}$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma_s(U_s^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{1}{2} (1-2s_1)^3 (1-2s_2) \ m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.98}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma_s(UU_s)]_{,j} d^3x = -(1-2s_1)^2 (1-2s_2) \ m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.99}$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma(a_s \ U_s^2)]_{,j} d^3x = -2a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)^3 m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.100}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma(b_s \ U_s^2)]_{,j} d^3x = 4b_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)^3 m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.101}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma(a_s \ UU_s)]_{,j} d^3x = -4a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)^2 m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.102}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* U \Phi_{2,j} d^3 x = -4m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.103}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s)] U \Phi_{2s,j}^s d^3 x = -4 [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s_1)] (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.104)  

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1 - 2s) U \Phi_{2,j}^s d^3 x = -4(1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.105)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2a_s - s - 2s^2)] U_s \Phi_{2,j}^s d^3x = -2[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.106)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1 (1-2s) + \zeta (2a_s - s - 2s^2)] U_s \Phi^s_{2s,j} d^3x = -2[\lambda_1 (1-2s_1) + \zeta (2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \quad (B.107)$$

$$\frac{16}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) U[\Sigma(a_s \ U_s)]_{,j} d^3x = -16 \ a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.108}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1 (1-2s) + \zeta (2a_s - s - 2s^2)] U_s[\Sigma(a_s \ U_s)]_{,j} d^3 x = -8[\lambda_1 (1-2s_1) + \zeta (2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] \times a_{s2} (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.109}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_{1}}\int_{1}\rho^{*}\ddot{X}_{2,j}d^{3}x = -\frac{1}{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} +4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} -m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} + 2m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}, \qquad (B.110)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_{1}}\int_{1}\rho^{*}(1-2s)\ddot{X}(a_{s}\ U_{s})_{,j}d^{3}x = 4\left\{-\frac{1}{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} + 2m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}\right\} \times a_{s2}(1-2s_{1})^{2}, \quad (B.111)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_{1}}\int_{1}\rho^{*}(1-2s)\ddot{X}_{2,j}^{s}d^{3}x = \left\{-\frac{1}{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}}n^{j} + m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} + 2m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}\right\} \times (1-2s_{1})(1-2s_{2}), \quad (B.112)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_{1}}\int_{1}\rho^{*}[1-\zeta+(2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s)]\ddot{X}_{2s,j}^{s}d^{3}x = \left\{-\frac{1}{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2}\frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{3}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}n^{j} - 4m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} + \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}\frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}}n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j} + 2m_{1}m_{2}\frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{n})}{r^{3}}v_{2}^{j}\right\}$$
$$\times \left[1-\zeta+(2\lambda_{1}+\zeta)(1-2s_{1})\right](1-2s_{1})(1-2s_{2}), \quad (B.113)$$

$$\frac{1}{24m_{1}} \int_{1} \rho^{*} \ddot{Y}_{,j} d^{3}x = -\frac{15}{8}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{4}}{r^{2}} n^{j} + \frac{9}{4}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{2}} n^{j} - \frac{3}{8}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{4}}{r^{2}} n^{j} + \frac{3}{2}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{3}}{r^{2}} v_{2}^{j} \\ -\frac{3}{2}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{2}} v_{2}^{j} + \frac{1}{4}m_{1}^{2}m_{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - 3m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\ +4m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + \frac{3}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + \frac{1}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\ +\frac{3}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} - \frac{1}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} - \frac{7}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} + \frac{5}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j}, \quad (B.114)$$

$$\frac{1}{24m_{1}} \int_{1} \rho^{*} \ddot{Y}_{s,j} d^{3}x = \left\{ -\frac{15}{8}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{4}}{r^{2}} n^{j} + \frac{9}{4}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{2}} n^{j} - \frac{3}{8}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{4}}{r^{2}} n^{j} \right. \\
\left. + \frac{3}{2}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{3}}{r^{2}} v_{2}^{j} - \frac{3}{2}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{2}} v_{2}^{j} + \frac{1}{4}m_{1}^{2}m_{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{1}m_{2}^{2} \frac{n^{j}}{r^{4}} \\
\left. - 3m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} - m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})}{r^{3}} n^{j} + 4m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} n^{j} \\
\left. - m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + \frac{3}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{1}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + \frac{1}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{v_{2}^{2}}{r^{3}} n^{j} + \frac{3}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} \\
\left. - \frac{1}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{1}^{j} - \frac{7}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} + \frac{5}{4}m_{1}m_{2} \frac{(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^{3}} v_{2}^{j} \right\} \\
\times (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}), \qquad (B.115)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \ddot{X} U_{,j} d^3 x = -2m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j, \qquad (B.116)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s)\ddot{X}U_{s,j}d^3x = \left\{-2m_1m_2^2\frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_2^2\frac{v_2^2}{r^3}n^j - 2m_2^2\frac{(\mathbf{v}_2\cdot\mathbf{n})^2}{r^3}n^j\right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2),$$
(B.117)

$$-\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1 (1-2s) + \zeta (2a_s - s - 2s^2)] \ddot{X}_s U_{s,j} d^3 x = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ -2m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times [\lambda_1 (1-2s_1) + \zeta (2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2, \quad (B.118)$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \ddot{X}^j d^3 x = -2m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 4m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 6m_2 \frac{v_2^2 (\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j - 6m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^3}{r^2} v_2^j -10m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 6m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 6m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 42m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j - 12m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 12m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 6m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 30m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j, \quad (B.119)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(V_i v^i)]_{,j} d^3x = 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j, \qquad (B.120)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma_s(V_i v^i)]_{,j} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.121}$$

$$\frac{16}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \dot{G}_7^j d^3 x = -2m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 12m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 5m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j \\ -16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j - 6m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j + 4m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j \\ -2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j \\ +4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \quad (B.122)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_{1}} \int_{1} \rho^{*} \dot{P}(\dot{U}_{s}U_{s}^{,i}) d^{3}x = 4 \left\{ -\frac{m_{1}m_{2}}{4r^{3}} \left( -4v_{2}^{2}n^{j} - 8(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{2}^{j} + 16(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ -\frac{m_{1}m_{2}}{4r^{3}} \left( 2v_{1}^{2}n^{j} + 6(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{1}^{j} - 12(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ -\frac{m_{2}^{2}}{4r^{3}} \left( 2(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{2}^{j} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{2})^{2} \frac{\alpha m_{1}^{2}m_{2}}{2r^{4}} n^{j}(1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ +\frac{\alpha m_{1}m_{2}^{2}}{2r^{4}} n^{j}(1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ -\frac{m_{1}m_{2}}{4r^{3}} \left( 3(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})n^{j} + 3(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{2}^{j} + 2(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{1}^{j} - 12(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ + \frac{m_{1}m_{2}}{r^{3}} \left( (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{2})n^{j} + (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{1}^{j} + (\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{2}^{j} - 4(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{1})(1 - 2s_{2}) \\ -\frac{m_{2}^{2}}{4r^{3}} \left( v_{2}^{2}n^{j} + (\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})v_{2}^{j} - 2(\mathbf{v}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{n})^{2}n^{j} \right) (1 - 2s_{2})^{2} \right\}, \quad (B.123)$$

Calculations

$$-\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*[\Sigma(\Phi_2)]_{,j}d^3x = m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.124}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(\Phi_{2s}^s)]_{,j} d^3x = (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.125}$$

$$-\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma_s(\Phi_2)]_{,j}d^3x = (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)\ m_1m_2^2\frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.126}$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \left[ (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)[1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s)] - \zeta(1 - \zeta)(1 - 2s) \right] [\Sigma_s(\Phi_{2s}^s)]_{,j} d^3x$$
  
=  $- \left[ (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)[1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s_1)] - \zeta(1 - \zeta)(1 - 2s_1) \right]$   
 $\times (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \qquad (B.127)$ 

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s)] \left[ \Sigma_s(\Phi_2^s) \right]_{,j} d^3x = -[1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s_1)] (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.128)

$$4\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma(a_s \ \Phi_2^s)]_{,j}d^3x = -4a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1m_2^2\frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.129}$$

$$4\frac{1}{m_1}\int_{1}\rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma(a_s \Phi_{2s}^s)]_{,j}d^3x = -4a_{s2} (1-2s_1)^2(1-2s_2) m_1m_2^2\frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
 (B.130)

$$16\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma(a_s \ \Sigma(a_s \ U_s))]_{,j} d^3x = -16a_{s1} \ a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \quad (B.131)$$

$$4\frac{1}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* [1-\zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s)] \left[ \sum_s (\sum (a_s \ U_s)) \right]_{,j} d^3x = -4[1-\zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1-2s_1)] a_{s1}(1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.132)

$$-\frac{8}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* U \dot{V}_j \ d^3x = -8m_1m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} - 8m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.133}$$

$$-\frac{6}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{1,j} d^3 x = -12m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j + 6m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j,$$
(B.134)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{1s,j} d^3 x = -\frac{1}{3} \Biggl\{ -12m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 3m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j + 6m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 3m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j \Biggr\} \times (1 - 2s_2), \qquad (B.135)$$

$$-\frac{3}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^*[\Sigma(\Phi_1)]_{,j}d^3x = \frac{3}{2}m_1m_2\frac{v_1^2}{r^3}n^j,$$
(B.136)

$$-\frac{3}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma_s(\Phi_1)]_{,j}d^3x = \frac{3}{2}(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)\ m_1m_2\frac{v_1^2}{r^3}n^j,\tag{B.137}$$

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(a_s \, \Phi_1^s)]_{,j} d^3 x = -2(1-2s_1)^2 \, m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j, \tag{B.138}$$

$$\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s)] [\Sigma_s(\Phi_1^s)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{1}{2} (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2) \ m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j, \ (B.139)$$

$$\frac{7}{8m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(v^4)]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{7}{8} m_2 \frac{v_2^4}{r^2} n^j, \tag{B.140}$$

$$-\frac{1}{8m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)[\Sigma_s(v^4)]_{,j}d^3x = \frac{1}{8}(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)\ m_2\frac{v_2^4}{r^2}n^j,\tag{B.141}$$

$$-\frac{8}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \dot{\Phi}_2^j d^3x = 8m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j, \qquad (B.142)$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{3,j} d^3 x = -36m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + 10m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 10m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 24m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \quad (B.143)$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) G_{3s,j} d^3 x = \left\{ -36m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j + 10m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 10m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 24m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.144)$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* V_i V_{i,j} d^3 x = -8m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \qquad (B.145)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* H_{,j} d^3 x = -8m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} - m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \qquad (B.146)$$

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* H_{s,j} d^3x &= -4 \bigg\{ \frac{1}{5} (1-2s_1)(s_1-s_2) m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{4} (1-2s_2)^2 m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4} \bigg\}, \\ (B.147) \\ -\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) H_{,j}^s d^3x &= -4(1-2s_1) \bigg\{ -\frac{1}{5} (s_1-s_2) m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2(1-2s_2) m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{4} (1-2s_2) m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4} \bigg\}, \\ (B.148) \\ -\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) H_{s,j}^s d^3x &= -4(1-2s_1) \bigg\{ 2(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{4} (1-2s_2)^3 m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4} \bigg\}, \\ (B.149) \end{aligned}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{2,j} d^3 x = 2m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j$$
$$-4m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j + 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j$$
$$-6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \quad (B.150)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) \ G_{2s,j} d^3 x = \left\{ 2m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 2m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j + 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 2m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j + 12m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j - 6m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2), \quad (B.151)$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* G_{4,j} d^3 x = 16m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} n^j - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_1^j - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v}_2)}{r^3} n^j - 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j - 8m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 4m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \quad (B.152)$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* V_j \dot{U} d^3 x = 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.153}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)V_j \dot{U}_s d^3x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.154}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* U^2 U_{,j} d^3 x = -8m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.155}$$

$$\frac{8}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) U^2 U_{s,j} d^3 x = -8(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \tag{B.156}$$

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [2\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2a_s - s - 2s^2)] U U_s U_{s,j} d^3x = -4[2\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2 m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
(B.157)

$$-\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [(8\lambda_1^2 - 2\zeta\lambda_1 - 2\lambda_2)(1 - 2s) + 6\lambda_1\zeta(2a_s - s - 2s^2) + \zeta^2(2a_s + 12s \ a_s - 4b_s - s - 2s^2 - 8s^3)] U_s^2 U_{s,j} d^3x = [(8\lambda_1^2 - 2\zeta\lambda_1 - 2\lambda_2)(1 - 2s_1) + 6\lambda_1\zeta(2a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2) + \zeta^2(2a_{s1} + 12s_1 \ a_{s1} - 4b_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2 - 8s_1^3)] (1 - 2s_2)^3 \ m_2^3 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \quad (B.158)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* P_2^{ij} U_{,i} d^3x = -4m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.159}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* P_{2s}^{ij} U_{,i} d^3x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) \ m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4},\tag{B.160}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s)P_2^{ij}U_{s,i}d^3x = -4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2)m_1m_2^2\frac{n^j}{r^4},$$
 (B.161)

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) P_{2s}^{ij} U_{s,i} d^3 x = -4(1-2s_1)^2 (1-2s_2)^2 m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4}, \qquad (B.162)$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \Phi_1^{ij} U_{,i} d^3x = 4m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.163}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* (1-2s)\Phi_1^{ij} U_{s,i} d^3x = 4(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_2^2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j,$$
(B.164)

$$\frac{4}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \dot{V}_2^j d^3 x = 4m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j, \tag{B.165}$$

$$-\frac{4}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \dot{V}_{2s}^{s\,j} d^3x = -\left\{4m_1^2 m_2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} - 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 8m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j\right\} (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2),$$
(B.166)

$$\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* \dot{V}_3^j d^3 x = 4m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^3} v_2^j + 2m_1 m_2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j + 2m_2 \frac{v_2^2(\mathbf{v}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n})}{r^2} v_2^j, \tag{B.167}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1}\int_1 \rho^* [\Sigma(\ddot{X})]_{,j} d^3x = -\frac{1}{2}m_1m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{2}m_1m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3}n^j - \frac{1}{2}m_1m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3}n^j, \qquad (B.168)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma_s(\ddot{X})]_{,j} d^3x = \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j -\frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times (1-2s_1)(1-2s_2),$$
(B.169)

$$-\frac{1}{2m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s)] [\Sigma_s(\ddot{X}_s)]_{,j} d^3x = \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j - \frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times [1 - \zeta + (2\lambda_1 + \zeta)(1 - 2s_1)] (1 - 2s_1)(1 - 2s_2), \quad (B.170)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* (1-2s) [\Sigma(a_s \ \ddot{X}_s)]_{,j} d^3x = 4 \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2^2 \frac{n^j}{r^4} + \frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{v_1^2}{r^3} n^j -\frac{1}{2} m_1 m_2 \frac{(\mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n})^2}{r^3} n^j \right\} \times a_{s2} \ (1-2s_1)^2, \tag{B.171}$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^* \Phi_1 U_{,j} d^3 x = 2m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \qquad (B.172)$$

$$-\frac{2}{m_1}\int_1 \rho^*(1-2s) \Phi_1 U_{s,j} d^3x = 2(1-2s_1)(1-2s_2) m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j, \qquad (B.173)$$

$$\frac{1}{m_1} \int_1 \rho^* [\lambda_1(1-2s) + \zeta(2 a_s - s - 2s^2)] (1-2s) \Phi_1^s U_{s,j} d^3 x = -[\lambda_1(1-2s_1) + \zeta(2 a_{s1} - s_1 - 2s_1^2)] (1-2s_2)^2 m_2^2 \frac{v_2^2}{r^3} n^j.$$
(B.174)
## Bibliography

- ABBOTT, B., ET AL. LIGO: The Laser Interferometer Gravitational-Wave Observatory. Rept. Prog. Phys. 72 (2009), 076901.
- [2] ACERNESE, F., ET AL. Virgo report. VIR-0027A09, 2009.
- [3] ADELBERGER, E. New tests of einstein's equivalence principle and newton's inverse-square law. Class. Quantum Grav. 18 (2001), 2397–2405.
- [4] ALSING, J., BERTI, E., HORBATSCH, M., AND MANOLIDIS, D. Unpublished. in preparation, 2013.
- [5] ALSING, J., BERTI, E., WILL, C. M., AND ZAGLAUER, H. Gravitational radiation from compact binary systems in the massive Brans-Dicke theory of gravity. *Physical Review* D.85, 6 (Mar. 2012), 064041.
- [6] AMELINO-CAMELIA, G. Testable scenario for relativity with minimum length. *Physics Letters B 510* (June 2001), 255–263.
- [7] AMELINO-CAMELIA, G. Doubly special relativity. Nature 418 (2002), 34–35.
- [8] AMELINO-CAMELIA, G. Doubly-Special Relativity: Facts, Myths and Some Key Open Issues. *ArXiv e-prints* (Mar. 2010).
- [9] ANDERSSON, N. The road to gravitational-wave astronomy. Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 66 (Apr. 2011), 239–248.
- [10] ANDO, M., ISHIDOSHIRO, K., YAMAMOTO, K., YAGI, K., KOKUYAMA, W., TSUBONO, K., AND TAKAMORI, A. Torsion-bar antenna for low-frequency gravitational-wave observations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105 (Oct 2010), 161101.

- [11] ARUN, K. G., IYER, B. R., SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S., AND SUNDARARAJAN, P. A. Erratum: Parameter estimation of inspiralling compact binaries using 3.5 post-Newtonian gravitational wave phasing: The nonspinning case [Phys. Rev. D 71, 084008 (2005)]. *Physical Review D.72*, 6 (Sept. 2005), 069903.
- [12] ARUN, K. G., IYER, B. R., SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S., AND SUNDARARAJAN, P. A. Parameter estimation of inspiralling compact binaries using 3.5 post-Newtonian gravitational wave phasing: The nonspinning case. *Physical Review D.71*, 8 (Apr. 2005), 084008.
- [13] ARUN, K. G., AND PAI, A. Tests of General Relativity and Alternative Theories of Gravity Using Gravitational Wave Observations. *International Journal of Modern Physics* D 22 (Jan. 2013), 41012.
- [14] ARUN, K. G., AND WILL, C. M. Bounding the mass of the graviton with gravitational waves: effect of higher harmonics in gravitational waveform templates. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 26*, 15 (Aug. 2009), 155002.
- [15] ASHTEKAR, A., BOJOWALD, M., AND LEWANDOWSKI, J. Mathematical structure of loop quantum cosmology. ArXiv General Relativity and Quantum Cosmology e-prints (Apr. 2003).
- [16] ASTONE, P., ET AL. Increasing the Bandwidth of Resonant Gravitational Antennas: The Case of Explorer. *Physical Review Letters 91*, 11 (Sept. 2003), 111101.
- [17] ASTONE, P., ET AL. Results of the IGEC-2 search for gravitational wave bursts during 2005. *Physical Review D.76*, 10 (Nov. 2007), 102001.
- [18] AYLOTT, B., ET AL. Testing gravitational-wave searches with numerical relativity waveforms: results from the first Numerical INJection Analysis (NINJA) project. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 26*, 16 (Aug. 2009), 165008.
- [19] BABAK, S., BALASUBRAMANIAN, R., CHURCHES, D., COKELAER, T., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. A template bank to search for gravitational waves from inspiralling compact binaries: I. Physical models. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 23* (Sept. 2006), 5477–5504.
- [20] BAESSLER, S., HECKEL, B., ADELBERGER, E., GUNDLACH, J., SCHMIDT, U., AND SWANSON, H. Improved test of the equivalence principle for gravitational self-energy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83 (1999), 3585–3588.
- [21] BAIERLEIN, R. Testing General Relativity with Laser Ranging to the Moon. Physical Review 162 (Oct. 1967), 1275–1287.

- [22] BALASUBRAMANIAN, R., SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S., AND DHURANDHAR, S. V. Erratum: Gravitational waves from coalescing binaries: Detection strategies and Monte Carlo estimation of parameters [Phys. Rev. D 53, 3033 (1996)]. *Physical Review D.54* (July 1996), 1860.
- [23] BARACK, L., AND CUTLER, C. LISA capture sources: Approximate waveforms, signal-tonoise ratios, and parameter estimation accuracy. *Phys. Rev. D69* (2004), 082005.
- [24] BARRANCO, J., BERNAL, A., DEGOLLADO, J. C., DIEZ-TEJEDOR, A., MEGEVAND, M., ALCUBIERRE, M., NÚÑEZ, D., AND SARBACH, O. Schwarzschild Black Holes can Wear Scalar Wigs. *Physical Review Letters 109*, 8 (Aug. 2012), 081102.
- [25] BAUMGARTE, T. W., AND SHAPIRO, S. L. Numerical Relativity: Solving Einstein's Equations on the Computer. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, June 2010.
- [26] BEKENSTEIN, J. D. Novel "no-scalar-hair" theorem for black holes. Phys. Rev. D 51 (Jun 1995), R6608–R6611.
- [27] BEKENSTEIN, J. D. Relativistic gravitation theory for the modified Newtonian dynamics paradigm. *Physical Review D.70*, 8 (Oct. 2004), 083509.
- [28] BELLUCCI, S., CAPOZZIELLO, S., DE LAURENTIS, M., AND FARAONI, V. Position and frequency shifts induced by massive modes of the gravitational wave background in alternative gravity. *Physical Review D.79*, 10 (May 2009), 104004.
- [29] BEREZHIANI, Z., COMELLI, D., NESTI, F., AND PILO, L. Spontaneous Lorentz Breaking and Massive Gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 99 (2007), 131101.
- [30] BEREZHIANI, Z., COMELLI, D., NESTI, F., AND PILO, L. Exact Spherically Symmetric Solutions in Massive Gravity. JHEP 0807 (2008), 130.
- [31] BERGSHOEFF, E. A., HOHM, O., AND TOWNSEND, P. K. New massive gravity. In *The Twelfth Marcel Grossmann Meeting* (2009), World Scientific, pp. 2329–2331.
- [32] BERTI, E. Data provided by.
- [33] BERTI, E., BUONANNO, A., AND WILL, C. M. Estimating spinning binary parameters and testing alternative theories of gravity with LISA. *Physical Review D.71*, 8 (Apr. 2005), 084025.
- [34] BERTI, E., BUONANNO, A., AND WILL, C. M. Testing general relativity and probing the merger history of massive black holes with LISA. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 22* (Sept. 2005), 943.

- [35] BERTI, E., CARDOSO, V., GUALTIERI, L., HORBATSCH, M., AND SPERHAKE, U. Numerical simulations of single and binary black holes in scalar-tensor theories: circumventing the no-hair theorem. ArXiv e-prints (Apr. 2013).
- [36] BERTI, E., GAIR, J., AND SESANA, A. Graviton mass bounds from space-based gravitational-wave observations of massive black hole populations. ArXiv e-prints (July 2011).
- [37] BERTOTTI, B., IESS, L., AND TORTORA, P. A test of general relativity using radio links with the Cassini spacecraft. *Nature*425 (Sept. 2003), 374–376.
- [38] BERTOTTI, B., IESS, L., AND TORTORA, P. A test of general relativity using radio links with the cassini spacecraft. *Nature* 425 (2003), 374–376.
- [39] BILLER, S., BRESLIN, A., BUCKLEY, J., CATANESE, M., CARSON, M., ET AL. Limits to quantum gravity effects from observations of TeV flares in active galaxies. *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 83 (1999), 2108–2111.
- [40] BIRD, D. J., ET AL. Detection of a cosmic ray with measured energy well beyond the expected spectral cutoff due to cosmic microwave radiation. Astrophys. J. 441 (1995), 144–150.
- [41] BLAIR, D. G., ET AL. Advanced Gravitational Wave Detectors. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012.
- [42] BLANCHET, L. Second-post-Newtonian generation of gravitational radiation. *Physical Review D.51* (Mar. 1995), 2559–2583.
- [43] BLANCHET, L., AND DAMOUR, T. Radiative gravitational fields in general relativity. I -General structure of the field outside the source. Royal Society of London Philosophical Transactions Series A 320 (Dec. 1986), 379–430.
- [44] BLANCHET, L., AND DAMOUR, T. Tail-transported temporal correlations in the dynamics of a gravitating system. *Physical Review D.37* (Mar. 1988), 1410–1435.
- [45] BLANCHET, L., AND DAMOUR, T. Post-Newtonian generation of gravitational waves. Annales de L'Institut Henri Poincare Section Physique Theorique 50 (1989), 377–408.
- [46] BLANCHET, L., AND DAMOUR, T. Hereditary effects in gravitational radiation. *Physical Review D.46* (Nov. 1992), 4304–4319.
- [47] BLANCHET, L., DAMOUR, T., ESPOSITO-FARÈSE, G., AND IYER, B. R. Gravitational Radiation from Inspiralling Compact Binaries Completed at the Third Post-Newtonian Order. *Physical Review Letters 93*, 9 (Aug. 2004), 091101.

- [48] BLANCHET, L., DAMOUR, T., AND IYER, B. R. Gravitational waves from inspiralling compact binaries: Energy loss and waveform to second-post-Newtonian order. *Physical Review D.51* (May 1995), 5360–5386.
- [49] BLANCHET, L., DAMOUR, T., IYER, B. R., WILL, C. M., AND WISEMAN, A. G. Gravitational-Radiation Damping of Compact Binary Systems to Second Post-Newtonian Order. *Physical Review Letters* 74 (May 1995), 3515–3518.
- [50] BLANCHET, L., FAYE, G., AND PONSOT, B. Gravitational field and equations of motion of compact binaries to 5/2 post-Newtonian order. *Physical Review D.58*, 12 (Dec. 1998), 124002.
- [51] BLANCHET, L., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. Signal analysis of gravitational wave tails. Classical and Quantum Gravity 11 (Nov. 1994), 2807–2831.
- [52] BLANCHET, L., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. Detecting a Tail Effect in Gravitational-Wave Experiments. *Physical Review Letters* 74 (Feb. 1995), 1067–1070.
- [53] BLAS, D., AND SANCTUARY, H. Gravitational Radiation in Horava Gravity. *Phys. Rev.* D84 (2011), 064004.
- [54] BOJOWALD, M. Loop Quantum Cosmology. Living Reviews in Relativity 8 (Dec. 2005), 11.
- [55] BOJOWALD, M., AND HOSSAIN, G. M. Loop quantum gravity corrections to gravitational wave dispersion. *Physical Review D.77*, 2 (Jan. 2008), 023508-+.
- [56] BONDI, H., VAN DER BURG, M. G. J., AND METZNER, A. W. K. Gravitational Waves in General Relativity. VII. Waves from Axi-Symmetric Isolated Systems. *Royal Society of London Proceedings Series A 269* (Aug. 1962), 21–52.
- [57] BRAGINSKII, V. B., CAVES, C. M., AND THORNE, K. S. Laboratory experiments to test relativistic gravity. *Physical Review D.15* (Apr. 1977), 2047–2068.
- [58] BRANS, C., AND DICKE, R. H. Mach's principle and a relativistic theory of gravitation. *Phys. Rev.* 124 (1961), 925–935.
- [59] BRANS, C. H. Gravitation and cosmology: Proceedings of the third international meeting on gravitation and cosmology. In AIP Conf. Proc. (2008), vol. 1083, p. 34.
- [60] BRUNETTI, M., COCCIA, E., FAFONE, V., AND FUCITO, F. Gravitational wave radiation from compact binary systems in the Jordan-Brans-Dicke theory. *Physical Review D.59*, 4 (Feb. 1999), 044027.

- [61] BUONANNO, A., IYER, B. R., OCHSNER, E., PAN, Y., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. Comparison of post-Newtonian templates for compact binary inspiral signals in gravitational-wave detectors. *Physical Review D.80*, 8 (Oct. 2009), 084043.
- [62] BURGAY, M., D'AMICO, N., POSSENTI, A., MANCHESTER, R. N., LYNE, A. G., JOSHI, B. C., MCLAUGHLIN, M. A., KRAMER, M., SARKISSIAN, J. M., CAMILO, F., KALOGERA, V., KIM, C., AND LORIMER, D. R. An increased estimate of the merger rate of double neutron stars from observations of a highly relativistic system. *Nature 426* (Dec. 2003), 531–533.
- [63] CARROLL, S. M. Spacetime and Geometry: An Introduction to General Relativity. Addison-Wesley Professional, San Francisco, 2003.
- [64] CAVENDISH, H. unpublished manuscript. 1784.
- [65] CHANDRASEKHAR, S. The Post-Newtonian Equations of Hydrodynamics in General Relativity. The Astrophysical Journal142 (Nov. 1965), 1488.
- [66] CHOUDHURY, S. R., JOSHI, G. C., MAHAJAN, S., AND MCKELLAR, B. H. J. Probing large distance higher dimensional gravity from lensing data. *Astroparticle Physics 21* (Aug. 2004), 559–563.
- [67] CHOUHA, P. R., AND BRANDENBERGER, R. H. T-Duality and the Spectrum of Gravitational Waves. ArXiv High Energy Physics - Theory e-prints (Aug. 2005).
- [68] CLIFTON, T. Alternative Theories of Gravity. PhD thesis, University of Cambridge, Oct. 2006.
- [69] CLIFTON, T., BARROW, J. D., AND SCHERRER, R. J. Constraints on the variation of G from primordial nucleosynthesis. *Physical Review D.71*, 12 (June 2005), 123526.
- [70] COC, A. Big-Bang Nucleosynthesis: lithium problems and scalar-tensor theories of gravity. In Origin of Matter and Evolution of Galaxies (July 2006), S. Kubono, W. Aoki, T. Kajino, T. Motobayashi, and K. Nomoto, Eds., vol. 847 of American Institute of Physics Conference Series, pp. 25–30.
- [71] COKELAER, T. Parameter estimation of inspiralling compact binaries in ground-based detectors: comparison between Monte Carlo simulations and the Fisher information matrix. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 25*, 18 (Sept. 2008), 184007.
- [72] COLLINS, H. Gravity's Shadow: The Search for Gravitational Waves. University of Chicago Press, 2004.
- [73] COLLINS, J., PEREZ, A., AND SUDARSKY, D. Lorentz Invariance Violation and its Role in Quantum Gravity Phenomenology. ArXiv High Energy Physics - Theory e-prints (Feb. 2006).

- [74] COLLINS, J., PEREZ, A., SUDARSKY, D., URRUTIA, L., AND VUCETICH, H. LORENTZ Invariance and Quantum Gravity: An Additional Fine-Tuning Problem? *Physical Review Letters* 93, 19 (Nov. 2004), 191301–+.
- [75] CORNISH, N., SAMPSON, L., YUNES, N., AND PRETORIUS, F. Gravitational Wave Tests of General Relativity with the Parameterized Post-Einsteinian Framework. ArXiv e-prints (2011).
- [76] CREIGHTON, J. D. E., AND ANDERSON, W. G. Gravitational-Wave Physics and Astronomy: An Introduction to Theory, Experiment and Data Analysis. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2011.
- [77] CROWDER, J., AND CORNISH, N. J. Beyond lisa: Exploring future gravitational wave missions. *Phys. Rev. D* 72 (Oct 2005), 083005.
- [78] CUTLER, C., APOSTOLATOS, T. A., BILDSTEN, L., FINN, L. S., FLANAGAN, E. E., KENNEFICK, D., MARKOVIC, D. M., ORI, A., POISSON, E., SUSSMAN, G. J., AND THORNE, K. S. The Last Three Minutes: Issues in Gravitational Wave Measurements of Coalescing Compact Binaries. ArXiv Astrophysics e-prints (Aug. 1992).
- [79] CUTLER, C., AND FLANAGAN, É. E. Gravitational waves from merging compact binaries: How accurately can one extract the binary's parameters from the inspiral waveform\? *Physical Review D.49* (Mar. 1994), 2658–2697.
- [80] CUTLER, C., HISCOCK, W. A., AND LARSON, S. L. LISA, binary stars, and the mass of the graviton. *Phys. Rev. D67* (2003), 024015.
- [81] CUTLER, C., AND THORNE, K. S. An overview of gravitational-wave sources. ArXiv General Relativity and Quantum Cosmology e-prints (2002).
- [82] DAMOUR, T. Binary Systems as Test-beds of Gravity Theories. ArXiv e-prints (Apr. 2007).
- [83] DAMOUR, T., AND DERUELLE, N. Radiation reaction and angular momentum loss in small angle gravitational scattering. *Physics Letters A* 87 (Dec. 1981), 81–84.
- [84] DAMOUR, T., AND ESPOSITO-FARESE, G. Tensor-multi-scalar theories of gravitation. Classical and Quantum Gravity 9 (Sept. 1992), 2093–2176.
- [85] DAMOUR, T., AND ESPOSITO-FARÈSE, G. Testing gravity to second post-Newtonian order: A field-theory approach. *Physical Review D.53* (May 1996), 5541–5578.
- [86] DAMOUR, T., AND IYER, B. Post-newtonian generation of gravitational waves. ii. the spin moments. Annales de L'Institut Henri Poincare Section Physique Theorique 54 (1991), 115.

- [87] DAMOUR, T., AND PICHON, B. Big bang nucleosynthesis and tensor-scalar gravity. *Phys-ical Review D.59*, 12 (June 1999), 123502.
- [88] DE FELICE, A., AND TSUJIKAWA, S. f(R) Theories. *Living Reviews in Relativity 13* (June 2010), 3.
- [89] DE RHAM, C., GABADADZE, G., AND TOLLEY, A. J. Resummation of Massive Gravity. *Physical Review Letters* 106, 23 (June 2011), 231101.
- [90] DE RHAM, C., AND TOLLEY, A. J. Gravitational waves in a codimension two braneworld. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2 (Feb. 2006), 3.
- [91] DENG, X.-M., AND XIE, Y. 2pn light propagation in the scalar-tensor theory: an *n*-point-masses case. *Physical Review D.86*, 044007 (2012).
- [92] DETWEILER, S. Pulsar timing measurements and the search for gravitational waves. The Astrophysical Journal234 (Dec. 1979), 1100–1104.
- [93] DIMOPOULOS, S., GRAHAM, P. W., HOGAN, J. M., KASEVICH, M. A., AND RAJEN-DRAN, S. Atomic gravitational wave interferometric sensor. *Phys. Rev. D* 78 (Dec 2008), 122002.
- [94] D'INVERNO, R. A. Introducing Einstein's Relativity. Oxford University Press, 1992.
- [95] DROZ, S., KNAPP, D. J., POISSON, E., AND OWEN, B. J. Gravitational waves from inspiraling compact binaries: Validity of the stationary phase approximation to the Fourier transform. *Phys. Rev. D59* (1999), 124016.
- [96] DUSEL. http://sanfordlab.org.
- [97] DVALI, G., GABADADZE, G., AND PORRATI, M. 4D gravity on a brane in 5D Minkowski space. *Physics Letters B* 485 (July 2000), 208–214.
- [98] DYSON, F. J. The world on a string, review of the fabric of the cosmos: Space, time, and the texture of realitive by brian greene,. New York Review of Books 51, 8 (May 2004).
- [99] DYSON, F. W., EDDINGTON, A. S., AND C., D. A determination of the deflection of light by the sun's gravitational field, from observations made at the total eclipse of 29 may 1919. *Philos. Trans. Royal Soc. London 220A*, 291-333 (1920).
- [100] EARDLEY, D. M. Observable effects of a scalar gravitational field in a binary pulsar. The Astrophysical Journal196 (Mar. 1975), L59–L62.
- [101] EARDLEY, D. M., LEE, D. L., AND LIGHTMAN, A. P. Gravitational-wave observations as a tool for testing relativistic gravity. *Phys. Rev. D8*, 10 (Nov 1973), 3308–3321.

- [102] EARDLEY, D. M., LEE, D. L., LIGHTMAN, A. P., WAGONER, R. V., AND WILL, C. M. Gravitational-wave observations as a tool for testing relativistic gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 30, 18 (Apr 1973), 884–886.
- [103] EDDINGTON, A. S. The mathematical theory of relativity. Cambridge University Press, 1923.
- [104] EINSTEIN, A. Näherungsweise Integration der Feldgleichungen der Gravitation. Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften (Berlin), Seite 688-696. (1916), 688-696.
- [105] EMIR GUMRUKCUOGLU, A., KUROYANAGI, S., LIN, C., MUKOHYAMA, S., AND TANA-HASHI, N. Gravitational wave signal from massive gravity. *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 29, 23 (Dec. 2012), 235026.
- [106] ENRICO CALLONI AT HTTP://WWW.ICRA.IT. talk on mg12, paris. on behalf of the Virgo collaboration, July 2009.
- [107] EÖTVÖS, R. V. . Mathematische und Naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn 8, 65 (1890).
- [108] EPSTEIN, R., AND WAGONER, R. V. Post-Newtonian generation of gravitational waves. *The Astrophysical Journal197* (May 1975), 717–723.
- [109] EVERITT, C., DEBRA, D., PARKINSON, B., TURNEAURE, J., CONKLIN, J., ET AL. Gravity Probe B: Final Results of a Space Experiment to Test General Relativity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 106 (2011), 221101.
- [110] EVERITT, C. W. F. The gyroscope experiment. I: General description and analysis of gyroscope performance. In *Experimental Gravitation* (1974), B. Bertotti, Ed., p. 331.
- [111] FARAONI, V., AND GUNZIG, E. Einstein frame or Jordan frame? ArXiv Astrophysics e-prints (Oct. 1999).
- [112] FINN, L., AND SUTTON, P. J. Bounding the mass of the graviton using binary pulsar observations. *Physical Review D* 65, 4 (2002).
- [113] FINN, L. S. Detection, measurement, and gravitational radiation. *Physical Review D.46* (Dec. 1992), 5236–5249.
- [114] FINN, L. S., AND CHERNOFF, D. F. Observing binary inspiral in gravitational radiation: One interferometer. *Physical Review D.47* (Mar. 1993), 2198–2219.
- [115] FOSTER, B. Z. Strong field effects on binary systems in Einstein-aether theory. *Physical Review D.76*, 8 (Oct. 2007), 084033.

- [116] FRADKIN, E. S., AND TSEYTLIN, A. A. Quantum string theory effective action. Nuclear Physics B 261 (1985), 1–27.
- [117] FREISE, A., AND STRAIN, K. A. Interferometer techniques for gravitational-wave detection. Living Reviews in Relativity 13, 1 (2010).
- [118] FUJH, Y., AND MAEDA, K. The Scalar-Tensor Theory of Gravitation. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [119] GAIR, J. R., VALLISNERI, M., LARSON, S. L., AND BAKER, J. G. Testing General Relativity with Low-Frequency, Space-Based Gravitational-Wave Detectors. ArXiv e-prints (Dec. 2012).
- [120] GAMBINI, R., RASTGOO, S., AND PULLIN, J. Small Lorentz violations in quantum gravity: do they lead to unacceptably large effects? *ArXiv e-prints* (June 2011).
- [121] GARATTINI, R. Modified Dispersion Relations and Noncommutative Geometry lead to a finite Zero Point Energy. ArXiv e-prints (Feb. 2011).
- [122] GARATTINI, R., AND MANDANICI, G. Modified Dispersion Relations lead to a finite Zero Point Gravitational Energy. *Phys. Rev. D83* (2011), 084021.
- [123] GARATTINI, R., AND MANDANICI, G. Particle propagation and effective space-time in Gravity's Rainbow. *Physical Review D.85*, 023507 (2011).
- [124] GARAY, L. J., AND GARCÍA-BELLIDO, J. Jordan-Brans-Dicke quantum wormholes and Coleman's mechanism. *Nuclear Physics B* 400 (July 1993), 416–434.
- [125] GASPERINI, M. On the response of gravitational antennas to dilatonic waves. *Physics Letters B 470* (Dec. 1999), 67–72.
- [126] GILVARRY, J. J., AND MULLER, P. M. Possible Variation of the Gravitational Constant over the Elements. *Physical Review Letters* 28 (June 1972), 1665–1669.
- [127] GOLDBERGER, W. D., AND ROTHSTEIN, I. Z. Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects. *Phys. Rev. D* 73 (May 2006), 104029.
- [128] GOLDHABER, A. S., AND NIETO, M. M. Mass of the graviton. *Physical Review D.9* (Feb. 1974), 1119–1121.
- [129] GRISHCHUK, L. P. EDITED BY MASON, J. Update on Gravitational wave Research., 2004, p. 281.
- [130] GRISHCHUK, L., LIPUNOV, V., POSTNOV, K., PROKHOROV, M., AND SATHYAPRAKASH,
  B. Gravitational wave astronomy: In Anticipation of first sources to be detected. *Phys. Usp.* 44 (2001), 1–51.

- [131] GRISHCHUK, L. P., KOPEIKIN, S. M., KOVALEVSKY, J., AND BRUMBERG, V. A., Eds. Relativity in Celestial Mechanics and Astrometry. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1986.
- [132] HARRY, G. M., AND THE LIGO SCIENTIFIC COLLABORATION. Advanced LIGO: the next generation of gravitational wave detectors. *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 27, 8 (Apr. 2010), 084006-+.
- [133] HARTLE, J. B. Gravity An Introduction to Einstein's General Relativity. Addison Wesley, San Francisco, 2003.
- [134] HAWKING, S. W. Black holes in the Brans-Dicke: Theory of gravitation. Communications in Mathematical Physics 25 (June 1972), 167–171.
- [135] HEALY, J., BODE, T., HAAS, R., PAZOS, E., LAGUNA, P., SHOEMAKER, D. M., AND YUNES, N. Late Inspiral and Merger of Binary Black Holes in Scalar-Tensor Theories of Gravity. ArXiv e-prints (Dec. 2011).
- [136] HELLINGS, R. W., AND DOWNS, G. S. Upper limits on the isotropic gravitational radiation background from pulsar timing analysis. *The Astrophysical Journal265* (Feb. 1983), L39–L42.
- [137] HELLINGS, R. W., AND NORDTVEDT, JR., K. Vector-metric theory of gravity. *Physical Review D.7* (1973), 3593–602.
- [138] HELSTROM, C. Statistical Theory of Signal Detection. Pergamon, Oxford, England, 1968.
- [139] HILD, S., ET AL. Sensitivity studies for third-generation gravitational wave observatories. Classical and Quantum Gravity 28, 9 (May 2011), 094013-+.
- [140] HINTERBICHLER, K. Theoretical aspects of massive gravity. Reviews of Modern Physics 84 (Apr. 2012), 671–710.
- [141] HOHMANN, M. Propagation of gravitational waves in multimetric gravity. ArXiv e-prints (May 2011).
- [142] HORAVA, P. Membranes at Quantum Criticality. JHEP 0903 (2009), 020.
- [143] HORAVA, P. Quantum Gravity at a Lifshitz Point. Phys. Rev. D79 (2009), 084008.
- [144] HORBATSCH, M. W., AND BURGESS, C. P. Semi-analytic stellar structure in scalar-tensor gravity. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics8 (Aug. 2011), 27.
- [145] HORBATSCH, M. W., AND BURGESS, C. P. Cosmic black-hole hair growth and quasar OJ287. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics5 (May 2012), 10.
- [146] HOUGH, J., ROWAN, S., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. The search for gravitational waves. Journal of Physics B Atomic Molecular Physics 38 (May 2005), 497.

- [147] HUGHSTON, L., AND TOD, K. P. Introduction to General Relativity. Cambridge University Press, 1991.
- [148] ITOH, Y., FUTAMASE, T., AND ASADA, H. Equation of motion for relativistic compact binaries with the strong field point particle limit: The second and half post-Newtonian order. *Physical Review D.63*, 6 (Mar. 2001), 064038.
- [149] IYER, B. R., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation reaction for two-body systems. *Physical Review Letters* 70 (Jan. 1993), 113–116.
- [150] IYER, B. R., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation reaction for two-body systems: Nonspinning bodies. *Physical Review D.52* (Dec. 1995), 6882–6893.
- [151] JACOBSON, T. Primordial Black Hole Evolution in Tensor-Scalar Cosmology. Physical Review Letters 83 (Oct. 1999), 2699–2702.
- [152] JACOBSON, T., AND MATTINGLY, D. Gravity with a dynamical preferred frame. *Physical Review D.64*, 2 (July 2001), 024028.
- [153] JACOBSON, T., AND MATTINGLY, D. Einstein-aether waves. Physical Review D.70, 2 (July 2004), 024003.
- [154] JARANOWSKI, P., AND KROLAK, A. Optimal solution to the inverse problem for the gravitational wave signal of a coalescing compact binary. *Physical Review D.49* (Feb. 1994), 1723–1739.
- [155] JARANOWSKI, P., AND KRÓLAK, A. Gravitational-wave data analysis. formalism and sample applications: The gaussian case. *Living Reviews in Relativity* 8, 3 (2005).
- [156] JENET, F., ET AL. The North American Nanohertz Observatory for Gravitational Waves. ArXiv e-prints (Sept. 2009).
- [157] JONES, D. I. Bounding the mass of the graviton using eccentric binaries. Astrophys.J. 618 (2004), L115–L118.
- [158] KEPPEL, D., AND AJITH, P. Constraining the mass of the graviton using coalescing black-hole binaries. *Phys. Rev. D82* (2010), 122001.
- [159] KIDDER, L. E. Coalescing binary systems of compact objects to (post)<sup>5/2</sup>-Newtonian order. V. Spin effects. *Physical Review D.52* (July 1995), 821–847.
- [160] KIDDER, L. E., WILL, C. M., AND WISEMAN, A. G. Spin effects in the inspiral of coalescing compact binaries. *Physical Review D.47* (May 1993), 4183.
- [161] KOCSIS, B., HAIMAN, Z., AND MENOU, K. Premerger Localization of Gravitational Wave Standard Sirens with LISA: Triggered Search for an Electromagnetic Counterpart. The Astrophysical Journal684 (Sept. 2008), 870–887.

- [162] KOESTLER, A. The Sleepwalkers: A History of Man's Changing Vision of the Universe. The Macmillan Company, 1959.
- [163] KOPEIKIN, S., EFROIMSKY, M., AND KAPLAN, G. Relativistic Celestial Mechanics of the Solar System. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Sept. 2011.
- [164] KOPEIKIN, S. M. General Relativistic Equations of Binary Motion for Extended Bodies with Conservative Corrections and Radiation Damping. *Soviet Astronomy29* (Oct. 1985), 516.
- [165] KRAMER, M., STAIRS, I. H., MANCHESTER, R. N., MCLAUGHLIN, M. A., LYNE, A. G., FERDMAN, R. D., BURGAY, M., LORIMER, D. R., POSSENTI, A., D'AMICO, N., SARKISSIAN, J. M., HOBBS, G. B., REYNOLDS, J. E., FREIRE, P. C. C., AND CAMILO, F. Tests of General Relativity from Timing the Double Pulsar. *Science 314* (Oct. 2006), 97–102.
- [166] KREUZER, L. B. Experimental measurement of the equivalence of active and passive gravitational mass. *Phys. Rev.* 169 (1968), 1007–12.
- [167] KRÓLAK, A., KOKKOTAS, K. D., AND SCHÄFER, G. Estimation of the post-Newtonian parameters in the gravitational-wave emission of a coalescing binary. *Physical Review D.52* (Aug. 1995), 2089–2111.
- [168] KURODA, K. Status of LCGT. Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010), 084004.
- [169] LASKY, P. D., SOTANI, H., AND GIANNIOS, D. Structure of Neutron Stars in Tensor-Vector-Scalar Theory. *Phys. Rev. D78* (2008), 104019.
- [170] LEHNER, L. TOPICAL REVIEW: Numerical relativity: a review. Classical and Quantum Gravity 18 (Sept. 2001), 25.
- [171] LIGO. Advanced ligo anticipated sensivity curves. Report T0900288, January 2009.
- [172] LINCOLN, C. W., AND WILL, C. M. Coalescing binary systems of compact objects to (post)<sup>5/2</sup>-Newtonian order: Late-time evolution and gravitational-radiation emission. *Physical Review D.42* (Aug. 1990), 1123–1143.
- [173] LIPA, J. A., FAIRBANK, W. M., AND EVERITT, C. W. F. The gyroscope experiment. -II: Development of the London-moment gyroscope and of cryogenic technology for space. In *Experimental Gravitation* (1974), B. Bertotti, Ed., p. 361.
- [174] LOBO, J. A. Spherical GW Detectors and Geometry. In Second Edoardo Amaldi Conference on Gravitational Wave Experiments (1998), E. Coccia, G. Veneziano, and G. Pizzella, Eds., p. 168.

- [175] MAGGIORE, M., AND NICOLIS, A. Detection strategies for scalar gravitational waves with interferometers and resonant spheres. *Physical Review D.62*, 2 (July 2000), 024004.
- [176] MAGGOIRE, M. Gravitational Waves, vol. Vollume 1, Theory and Experiments. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- [177] MAGUEIJO, J., AND SMOLIN, L. Lorentz Invariance with an Invariant Energy Scale. *Physical Review Letters* 88, 19 (May 2002), 190403-+.
- [178] MIRSHEKARI, S., AND WILL, C. M. Compact binary systems in scalar-tensor gravity: Equations of motion to 2.5 post-newtonian order. *Phys. Rev. D* 87 (Apr 2013), 084070.
- [179] MIRSHEKARI, S., YUNES, N., AND WILL, C. M. Constraining Lorentz-violating, modified dispersion relations with gravitational waves. *Physical Review D.85*, 2 (Jan. 2012), 024041.
- [180] MISHRA, C. K., ARUN, K. G., IYER, B. R., AND SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S. Parametrized tests of post-Newtonian theory using Advanced LIGO and Einstein Telescope. *Phys. Rev.* D82 (2010), 064010.
- [181] MISNER, C., THORNE, K., AND WHEELER, J. Gravitation. W. H. Freeman, 1973.
- [182] MITCHELL, T., AND WILL, C. M. Post-newtonian gravitational radiation and equations of motion via direct integration of the relaxed einstein equations. v. evidence for the strong equivalence principle to second post-newtonian order. *Physical Review D.75*, 124025 (04 2007).
- [183] MORRISON, D., AND HILL, H. A. Current uncertainty in the ratio of active-to-passive gravitational mass. *Physical Review D 8* (1973), 2731–3.
- [184] MÜLLER, D., ALVES, M. E. S., AND DE ARAUJO, J. C. N. Gravitational Waves from Isotropisation process in Quadratic Gravity. ArXiv e-prints (Mar. 2011).
- [185] NORDTVEDT, K. Equivalence Principle for Massive Bodies. II. Theory. *Physical Review* 169 (May 1968), 1017–1025.
- [186] NORDTVEDT, JR., K. Post-Newtonian Metric for a General Class of Scalar-Tensor Gravitational Theories and Observational Consequences. *The Astrophysical Journal161* (Sept. 1970), 1059.
- [187] NORDTVEDT, JR., K., AND WILL, C. M. Conservation Laws and Preferred Frames in Relativistic Gravity. II. Experimental Evidence to Rule Out Preferred-Frame Theories of Gravity. *The Astrophysical Journal* 177 (Nov. 1972), 775.
- [188] NUTKU, Y. The Post-Newtonian Equations of Hydrodynamics in the Brans-Dicke Theory. The Astrophysical Journal155 (Mar. 1969), 999.

- [189] PANI, P., BERTI, E., CARDOSO, V., AND READ, J. Compact stars in alternative theories of gravity: Einstein-Dilaton-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. *Physical Review D.84*, 10 (Nov. 2011), 104035.
- [190] PATI, M. E., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation and equations of motion via direct integration of the relaxed Einstein equations: Foundations. *Physical Review D.62*, 12 (Dec. 2000), 124015.
- [191] PATI, M. E., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation and equations of motion via direct integration of the relaxed Einstein equations. II. Two-body equations of motion to second post-Newtonian order, and radiation reaction to 3.5 post-Newtonian order. *Physical Review D.65*, 10 (May 2002), 104008.
- [192] PAULOS, M. F., AND TOLLEY, A. J. Massive Gravity theories and limits of ghost-free bigravity models. *Journal of High Energy Physics 9* (Sept. 2012), 2.
- [193] PETERS, P. C. Gravitational radiation and the motion of two point masses. *Phys. Rev.* 136 (1964), B1224.
- [194] PETERS, P. C., AND MATHEWS, J. Gravitational Radiation from Point Masses in a Keplerian Orbit. *Physical Review 131* (July 1963), 435–440.
- [195] PITKIN, M., REID, S., ROWAN, S., AND HOUGH, J. Gravitational wave detection by interferometry (ground and space). *Living Reviews in Relativity* 14, 5 (2011).
- [196] POISSON, E. Measuring black-hole parameters and testing general relativity using gravitational-wave data from space-based interferometers. *Phys. Rev. D54* (1996), 5939– 5953.
- [197] POISSON, E., AND WILL, C. M. Gravitational waves from inspiraling compact binaries: Parameter estimation using second-post-Newtonian waveforms. *Physical Review D.52* (July 1995), 848–855.
- [198] POISSON, E., AND WILL, C. M. *Gravity: Newtonian, Post-Newtonian, Relativistic.* to be published by Cambridge University Press, 2014. an in-press book.
- [199] PRINCE, T. LISA: The Laser Interferometer Space Antenna. American Astronomical Society Meeting 202 (May 2003), 3701.
- [200] PUNTURO, M., ABERNATHY, M., ACERNESE, F., ALLEN, B., ANDERSSON, N., ET AL. The Einstein Telescope: A third-generation gravitational wave observatory. *Class. Quant. Grav.* 27 (2010), 194002.
- [201] RADICELLA, N., AND TARTAGLIA, A. Massive gravitational waves from the Cosmic Defect theory. In American Institute of Physics Conference Series (June 2010), J.-M. Alimi &

A. Fuözfa, Ed., vol. 1241 of American Institute of Physics Conference Series, pp. 1128–1133.

- [202] RASTALL, P. Generalization of the Einstein Theory. Physical Review D.6 (Dec. 1972), 3357–3359.
- [203] REASENBERG, R. D., SHAPIRO, I. I., MACNEIL, P. E., GOLDSTEIN, R. B., BREIDEN-THAL, J. C., BRENKLE, J. P., CAIN, D. L., KAUFMAN, T. M., KOMAREK, T. A., AND ZYGIELBAUM, A. I. Viking relativity experiment - Verification of signal retardation by solar gravity. *The Astrophysical Journal234* (Dec. 1979), L219–L221.
- [204] RILES, K. Gravitational waves: Sources, detectors and searches. Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 68, 01 (2013).
- [205] ROBERTSON, H. P. Relativity and Cosmology. In Space Age Astronomy (1962), A. J. Deutsch and W. B. Klemperer, Eds., p. 228.
- [206] ROSEN, N. A bi-metric theory of gravitation. General Relativity and Gravitation 4 (1973), 435–47.
- [207] ROSEN, N. A theory of gravitation. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 84 (1974), 455-73.
- [208] RÖVER, C., MEYER, R., AND CHRISTENSEN, N. Bayesian inference on compact binary inspiral gravitational radiation signals in interferometric data. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 23* (Aug. 2006), 4895–4906.
- [209] RYAN, F. D. Gravitational waves from the inspiral of a compact object into a massive, axisymmetric body with arbitrary multipole moments. *Phys. Rev. D52* (1995), 5707–5718.
- [210] SAGI, E. Preferred frame parameters in the tensor-vector-scalar theory of gravity and its generalization. *Physical Review D.80*, 4 (Aug. 2009), 044032.
- [211] SAGI, E. Propagation of gravitational waves in the generalized tensor-vector-scalar theory. *Physical Review D.81*, 6 (Mar. 2010), 064031.
- [212] SANTIAGO, D. I., KALLIGAS, D., AND WAGONER, R. V. Nucleosynthesis constraints on scalar-tensor theories of gravity. *Physical Review D.56* (Dec. 1997), 7627–7637.
- [213] SATHYAPRAKASH, B. Data provided by.
- [214] SATHYAPRAKASH, B. S., AND SCHUTZ, B. F. Physics, Astrophysics and Cosmology with Gravitational Waves. *Living Reviews in Relativity* 12 (Mar. 2009), 2.
- [215] SATO, S., ET AL. DECIGO: The Japanese space gravitational wave antenna. Journal of Physics Conference Series 154, 1 (Mar. 2009), 012040.

- [216] SAULSON, P. R. Fundamentals of Interferometric Gravitational Wave Detector. World Scientific, Singapore, 1994.
- [217] SAZHIN, M. V. Possibility of detecting superlong gravitational waves. Astronomicheskii Zhurnal 55 (Feb. 1978), 65–68.
- [218] SCHARRE, P. D., AND WILL, C. M. Testing scalar-tensor gravity using space gravitational-wave interferometers. *Physical Review D.65*, 4 (Feb. 2002), 042002.
- [219] SCHIFF, L. I. Motion of a gyroscope according to einstein's theory of relativity. Proc. nat. Acad. Sci. (USA) 46 (1960), 871–82.
- [220] SCHIFF, L. I. On Experimental Tests of the General Theory of Relativity. American Journal of Physics 28 (Apr. 1960), 340–343.
- [221] SCHIFF, L. I. Possible new test of general relativity theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 4 (1960), 215–17.
- [222] SCHIFF, L. I., AND EHLERS, J. Comparison of Theory and Observation in General Relativity. Defense Technical Information Center, 1967, p. 105.
- [223] SCHUTZ, B. F. Determining the Hubble constant from gravitational wave observations. *Nature 323* (Sept. 1986), 310.
- [224] SCHUTZ, B. F. Gravitational wave astronomy. Classical and Quantum Gravity 16 (Dec. 1999), A131–A156.
- [225] SCHUTZ, B. F. A First Course in General Relativity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 2009.
- [226] SEFIEDGAR, A. S., NOZARI, K., AND SEPANGI, H. R. Modified dispersion relations in extra dimensions. *Physics Letters B* 696 (Jan. 2011), 119–123.
- [227] SHAPIRO, I. I. Solar system tests of general relativity: recent results and present plans. In General Relativity and Gravitation, 1989 (1990), N. Ashby, D. F. Bartlett, and W. Wyss, Eds., p. 313.
- [228] SHAPIRO, I. I., KING, R. W., AND COUNSELMAN, III, C. C. Verification of the Principle of Equivalence for Massive Bodies. In *Bulletin of the American Astronomical Society* (June 1976), vol. 8 of *Bulletin of the American Astronomical Society*, p. 431.
- [229] SHAPIRO, I. I., PETTENGILL, G. H., ASH, M. E., INGALLS, R. P., CAMPBELL, D. B., AND DYCE, R. B. Mercury's perihelion advance: Determination by radar. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 28 (Jun 1972), 1594–1597.

- [230] SHAPIRO, S., DAVIS, J., LEBACH, D., AND GREGORY, J. Measurement of the solar gravitational deflection of radio waves using geodetic very-long-baseline interferometry data, 1979–1999. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 92 (2004).
- [231] SOLDNER, J. G. V. On the deflection of a light ray from its rectilinear motion, by the attraction of a celestial body at which it nearly passes by. *Berliner Astronomisches Jahrbuch* (1804), 161–172.
- [232] SOPUERTA, C. F., AND YUNES, N. Extreme- and intermediate-mass ratio inspirals in dynamical Chern-Simons modified gravity. *Physical Review D.80*, 6 (Sept. 2009), 064006.
- [233] SOTIRIOU, T. P. f(R) gravity and scalar tensor theory. Classical and Quantum Gravity 23 (Sept. 2006), 5117–5128.
- [234] SOTIRIOU, T. P., AND FARAONI, V. f(R) theories of gravity. Reviews of Modern Physics 82 (Jan. 2010), 451–497.
- [235] SOTIRIOU, T. P., AND FARAONI, V. Black Holes in Scalar-Tensor Gravity. *Physical Review Letters 108*, 8 (Feb. 2012), 081103.
- [236] STAIRS, I. H. Testing General Relativity with Pulsar Timing. Living Reviews in Relativity 6 (Sept. 2003), 5.
- [237] STAVRIDIS, A., AND WILL, C. M. Bounding the mass of the graviton with gravitational waves: Effect of spin precessions in massive black hole binaries. *Physical Review D.80*, 4 (Aug. 2009), 044002.
- [238] STEPHANI, H. General Relativity: An Introduction to the Theory of the Gravitational Field, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [239] SZABO, R. J. Quantum gravity, field theory and signatures of noncommutative spacetime. General Relativity and Gravitation 42 (Jan. 2010), 1–29.
- [240] T. DAMOUR, S. W. H., AND ISRAEL, W., Eds. 300 Years of Gravitation. Cambridge University Press, London, 1987.
- [241] TEAM:, T. M. E. Gravitational deflection of-light: solar eclipse of 30 june 1973 i. description of procedures and final results. Astronomical Journal 81 (1976), 452.
- [242] THORNE, K. S., AND DYKLA, J. J. Black Holes in the Dicke-Brans Theory of Gravity. *The Astrophysical Journal166* (June 1971), L35.
- [243] TYSON, J. A., AND GIFFARD, R. P. Gravitational-wave astronomy. Annual Review of Astronomy and Astrophysics16 (1978), 521–554.

- [244] VACARU, S. I. Modified Dispersion Relations in Horava-Lifshitz Gravity and Finsler Brane Models. ArXiv e-prints (Oct. 2010).
- [245] VAN DAM, H., AND VELTMAN, M. Massive and mass-less yang-mills and gravitational fields. Nuclear Physics B 22, 2 (1970), 397 – 411.
- [246] VERRIER, U. L. Lettre de m. le verrier à m. faye sur la théorie de mercure et sur le mouvement du périhélie de cette planète. Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'Académie des sciences (Paris) 49 (1859), 379–383.
- [247] VIGELAND, S., YUNES, N., AND STEIN, L. Bumpy Black Holes in Alternate Theories of Gravity. *Phys.Rev. D83* (2011), 104027.
- [248] VISSER, M. Mass for the graviton. Gen. Rel. Grav. 30 (1998), 1717–1728.
- [249] WAGONER, R. V. Resonant-Mass Detection of Tensor and Scalar Waves. In *Relativistic Gravitation and Gravitational Radiation* (1997), J.-A. Marck and J.-P. Lasota, Eds., p. 419.
- [250] WAGONER, R. V., AND KALLIGAS, D. Scalar-Tensor Theories and Gravitational Radiation. In *Relativistic Gravitation and Gravitational Radiation* (1997), J.-A. Marck and J.-P. Lasota, Eds., p. 433.
- [251] WAGONER, R. V., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation from orbiting point masses. *The Astrophysical Journal*210 (Dec. 1976), 764–775.
- [252] WAGONER, R. V., AND WILL, C. M. Erratum: Post-Newtonian Gravitational Radiation from Orbiting Point Masses. *The Astrophysical Journal* (Aug. 1977), 984.
- [253] WAINSTEIN, L., AND ZUBAKOV, V. Extraction of Signals from Noise. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1962.
- [254] WALD, R. General Relativity. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1984.
- [255] WANG, H., AND WILL, C. M. Post-newtonian gravitational radiation and equations of motion via direct integration of the relaxed einstein equations. iv. radiation reaction for binary systems with spin-spin coupling. *Physical Review D.75*, 064017 (2007).
- [256] WEBER, J. Evidence for Discovery of Gravitational Radiation. Physical Review Letters 22 (June 1969), 1320–1324.
- [257] WEBER, J. Anisotropy and Polarization in the Gravitational-Radiation Experiments. *Physical Review Letters* 25 (July 1970), 180–184.
- [258] WEINBERG, S. Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity. John Wiley & Sons, 1972.

- [259] WEN, L., AND SCHUTZ, B. F. Coherent network detection of gravitational waves: the redundancy veto. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 22* (Sept. 2005), 1321.
- [260] WILL, C. M. Theoretical Frameworks for Testing Relativistic Gravity. II. Parametrized Post-Newtonian Hydrodynamics, and the Nordtvedt Effect. *The Astrophysical Journal163* (Feb. 1971), 611.
- [261] WILL, C. M. Relativistic Gravity to the Solar System. 111. Experimental Disproof of a Class of Linear Theories of Gravitation. *The Astrophysical Journal* 185 (Oct. 1973), 31–42.
- [262] WILL, C. M. The theoretical tools of experimental gravitation. In *Experimental Gravita*tion (1974), B. Bertotti, Ed., p. 1.
- [263] WILL, C. M. A test of post-Newtonian conservation laws in the binary system PSR 1913+16. The Astrophysical Journal205 (May 1976), 861–867.
- [264] WILL, C. M. Gravitational radiation from binary systems in alternative metric theories of gravity - Dipole radiation and the binary pulsar. *The Astrophysical Journal*214 (June 1977), 826–839.
- [265] WILL, C. M. Theory and Experiment in Gravitational Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, Mar. 1993.
- [266] WILL, C. M. Testing scalar-tensor gravity with gravitational-wave observations of inspiralling compact binaries. *Physical Review D.50* (Nov. 1994), 6058–6067.
- [267] WILL, C. M. Bounding the mass of the graviton using gravitational-wave observations of inspiralling compact binaries. *Phys. Rev. D57* (1998), 2061–2068.
- [268] WILL, C. M. Post-Newtonian gravitational radiation and equations of motion via direct integration of the relaxed Einstein equations. III. Radiation reaction for binary systems with spinning bodies. *Physical Review D.71*, 8 (Apr. 2005), 084027.
- [269] WILL, C. M. The confrontation between general relativity and experiment. *Living Reviews in Relativity 9*, 3 (2006).
- [270] WILL, C. M. Resource Letter PTG-1: Precision Tests of Gravity. American Journal of Physics 78 (Dec. 2010), 1240–1247.
- [271] WILL, C. M. Finally, results from Gravity Probe B. Physics Online Journal 4 (May 2011), 43.
- [272] WILL, C. M., AND NORDTVEDT, JR., K. Conservation Laws and Preferred Frames in Relativistic Gravity. I. Preferred-Frame Theories and an Extended PPN Formalism. *The Astrophysical Journal177* (Nov. 1972), 757.

- [273] WILL, C. M., AND NORDTVEDT, K. J. Conservation Laws and Preferred Frames in Relativistic Gravity. I. Preferred-Frame Theories and an Extended PPN Formalism. *The Astrophysical Journal177* (Nov. 1972), 757–+.
- [274] WILL, C. M., AND WISEMAN, A. G. Gravitational radiation from compact binary systems: Gravitational waveforms and energy loss to second post-Newtonian order. *Physical Review D.54* (Oct. 1996), 4813–4848.
- [275] WILL, C. M., AND YUNES, N. Testing alternative theories of gravity using LISA. Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004), 4367.
- [276] WILL, C. M., AND ZAGLAUER, H. W. Gravitational radiation, close binary systems, and the Brans-Dicke theory of gravity. *The Astrophysical Journal346* (Nov. 1989), 366–377.
- [277] WILLIAMS, J. G., DICKE, R. H., BENDER, P. L., ALLEY, C. O., CURRIE, D. G., CARTER, W. E., ECKHARDT, D. H., FALLER, J. E., KAULA, W. M., AND MULHOL-LAND, J. D. New test of the equivalence principle from lunar laser ranging. *Physical Review Letters 36* (Mar. 1976), 551–554.
- [278] WISEMAN, A. G. Coalescing binary systems of compact objects to (post)<sup>5/2</sup>-Newtonian order. II. Higher-order wave forms and radiation recoil. *Physical Review D.46* (Aug. 1992), 1517–1539.
- [279] WISEMAN, A. G. Coalescing binary systems of compact objects to (post)<sup>5/2</sup>-Newtonian order. IV. The gravitational wave tail. *Physical Review D.48* (Nov. 1993), 4757–4770.
- [280] WISEMAN, A. G., AND WILL, C. M. Christodoulou's nonlinear gravitational-wave memory: Evaluation in the quadrupole approximation. *Physical Review D.44* (Nov. 1991), 2945.
- [281] www.esa.int/science/lisa, lisa.jpl.nasa.gov. LISA.
- [282] www.et-gw.eu. Einstein Telescope.
- [283] www.geo600.uni-hannover.de. Geo600.
- [284] www.gw-indigo.org. INDIGO.
- [285] www.ligo.caltech.edu. LIGO.
- [286] www.nsf.gov. LIGO Fact Sheet at NSF.
- [287] www.tamago.mtk.nao.ac.jp. Tama.
- [288] www.virgo.infn.it. VIRGO.

- [289] XIE, Y., NI, W.-T., DONG, P., AND HUANG, T.-Y. Second post-newtonian approximation of scalar-tensor theory of gravity. Advances in Space Research 43, 1 (04 2009).
- [290] YAGI, K., STEIN, L. C., YUNES, N., AND TANAKA, T. Post-Newtonian, Quasi-Circular Binary Inspirals in Quadratic Modified Gravity. ArXiv e-prints (Oct. 2011).
- [291] YAGI, K., AND TANAKA, T. Constraining alternative theories of gravity by gravitational waves from precessing eccentric compact binaries with LISA. *Physical Review D.81*, 6 (Mar. 2010), 064008–+.
- [292] YUNES, N., ARUN, K., BERTI, E., AND WILL, C. M. Post-Circular Expansion of Eccentric Binary Inspirals: Fourier-Domain Waveforms in the Stationary Phase Approximation. *Phys. Rev. D80* (2009), 084001.
- [293] YUNES, N., PANI, P., AND CARDOSO, V. Gravitational waves from quasicircular extreme mass-ratio inspirals as probes of scalar-tensor theories. *Physical Review D.85*, 10 (May 2012), 102003.
- [294] YUNES, N., AND PRETORIUS, F. Fundamental Theoretical Bias in Gravitational Wave Astrophysics and the Parameterized Post-Einsteinian Framework. *Phys. Rev. D80* (2009), 122003.
- [295] YUNES, N., AND SIEMENS, X. Gravitational wave tests of general relativity with groundbased detectors and pulsar timing arrays. *ArXiv e-prints: 1304.3473* (April 2013).
- [296] YUNES, N., AND SPERGEL, D. N. Double-binary-pulsar test of Chern-Simons modified gravity. *Physical Review D.80*, 4 (Aug. 2009), 042004.
- [297] ZAGLAUER, H. W. Neutron stars and gravitational scalars. The Astrophysical Journal393 (July 1992), 685–696.
- [298] ZAKHAROV, V. I. Linearized gravitation theory and the graviton mass. JETP Lett. 12 (1970), 312.
- [299] ZENG, J., AND WILL, C. M. Application of energy and angular momentum balance to gravitational radiation reaction for binary systems with spin-orbit coupling. *General Relativity and Gravitation 39*, 10 (04 2007), 1661.